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    Chapter 1 
 
      
 
    Friday 13th October, 1972 
 
    HMNB Clyde 
 
    Faslane, Gare Loch 
 
    Scotland 
 
      
 
    “ALL LINES HAVE GONE ASHORE, SIR!” 
 
    “Very good,” thirty-eight-year-old Captain Noel Haggard acknowledged, standing tall in the cold, clammy cockpit atop HMS Courageous’s high sail.  It was crowded twenty feet above the casing beneath the boat’s periscope and communications masts: with the Pilot – the navigation officer – two lookouts and a yeoman ready to operate a hand-held signal lamp acting as ‘topside speaker’, repeating every command to the control room, for company.  “Warn the engine room to be ready to go slow ahead, if you please.” 
 
    Out in the Gare Loch, hidden in the night, two patrol boats including one armed with 20-millimetre cannons and heavy machine guns loitered, ready to escort the submarine down to the narrows between Rhu and Limekiln Points above Helensburgh, thence out into the Firth of Clyde where civilian traffic, particularly at night, and the nuclear boats coming out of or returning either to the Gare Loch, or Loch Ang to the west, mixed uneasily with the lumbering, unhandy whales of the 1st and the 3rd Submarine Squadrons. 
 
    The Courageous and her sisters were out and out ‘pig boats’ on the surface, their ‘up top’ handling further impaired by the modifications to their propulsion systems, the latter a direct result of the findings of the Board of Inquiry into the loss of HMS Cassandra.  The class leader, the Churchill's experimental pump jet propulsion installation had been scrapped and the four-bladed, traditional single propellors of the Courageous and the Conqueror replaced by larger, much-slower rotating and therefore quieter, seven sickle-bladed screws which in forward motion turned against the leading edges of each element.  The diameter of the new screws was such that when the boat was on the surface the upper twenty-five percent of its blades thrashed at thin air.  Of course, the pay-off was underwater performance, by producing the same thrust at significantly lower revolutions the new ‘skewback’ propeller markedly reduced the boat’s sound profile even at relatively high speeds.  Given that the C class boats had already been, in nuclear hunter-killer (SSN) terms, as quiet as church mice, this was a thing many in the Silent Service were very, very smug about. 
 
    It was just sad that it had taken the loss of the Cassandra and so many of their brother submariners’ lives for the Navy to put its house in order.  Both Churchill and Courageous had re-joined the fleet in the last twelve months, Conqueror would follow in the new year, and while the Dreadnought and the Warspite were in dockyard hands for long-planned year-long refits, Valiant, the second oldest boat in the nuclear fleet had also been restored to the operations roster. In the meantime, two new boats, the Swiftsure and the Tiger, were under construction at the nationalised Vickers Engineering Yard at Barrow-in-Furness, respectively seventy-four and sixty-eight percent completed.  Moreover, the orders for two further ‘Swiftsures’, the Trafalgar and the Turbulent, had already been signed, their construction to commence as soon as the first two vessels of the class cleared their slipways.  All in all, the undersea fleet was back in harness and steadily growing in strength; with the first of the four seven-thousand-ton ballistic missile boats, the Hood, presently exercising in the Atlantic having successfully test-fired two unarmed Polaris A-3s off Florida under the supervision of the US Navy earlier that autumn.  HMS Nelson would follow her in the spring, with the Anson and the Prince of Wales due to launch in 1973 and 1974 respectively. 
 
    The fact that the Undersea Fleet Program had, thus far, survived the brutal defence cuts which had decimated the surface fleet would, in practically any other navy, almost certainly have caused a schism.  As it was, the Grey Funnel Line had got on with having to make the best of a very bad deal in an atmosphere of – in the circumstances – only muted ill will and resentment.  That said, the fiscal axe had fallen so hard, and from such a great height that all the surviving diesel-electric A (Amphion) class boats had gone directly to the breakers in late 1970, and only eight of the O and P class vessels had been retained in ‘active’ commission.  A direct consequence of this was that the Submarine Service had, barring a skeleton care and maintenance operation, been withdrawn from both Devonport and Portsmouth, its manpower slashed by a quarter and all operations and sea training concentrated on the Clyde and the Firth of Forth in Scotland.  All of which had been implemented alongside the ongoing reverberations of the loss of the Cassandra, which even now, rippled and lurched unhappily throughout the Submarine Service.  Notable careers had terminated, the training and inspection regime – already gruelling – had tightened several notches and the famous ‘Perisher’, the unforgiving trial by fire every prospective submarine commander got only the one chance to pass, had turned into a nightmare for the majority of men who still had the courage and the self-belief to put themselves forward, leaving an increasingly lengthy trail of broken careers and dispirited men in its roiling wake. 
 
    “THE PEGASUS HAS CAST OFF ASTERN, SIR!” 
 
    The submarine was barely making any way in the tide as the larger of the two harbour tugs held her rounded bow into the wind, which was raising white horses in the middle of the loch. 
 
    “Signal Hercules by lamp that we are about to go slow ahead, please,” Noel Haggard ordered, his voice betraying none of the angst he quite naturally felt at a time like this. 
 
    The tug’s lamp blinked acknowledgement. 
 
    Haggard gave the order; and the Courageous’s great seven-bladed screw began to turn.  Presently, the boat’s leaden, lolling roll steadied and the frigid dark water pressed farther onto her forward casing, passing gurgling and lapping down her rubber-encased acoustically-shielded flanks. 
 
    White water frothed angrily under the stern of the Hercules. 
 
    A few minutes later the tug turned away, hauling in her tow line as the submarine shouldered past her, both vessels’ lamps winking fast as they parted. 
 
    No man had been as surprised as Noel Haggard when he was given command of the Courageous thirteen months ago.  The boat was still in dockyard hands at Rosyth at the time, and he had imagined that once he signed off his role – as the Senior Operational Submarine Engineering and Systems Consultant – to the Cassandra’s Board of Inquiry that would, well, be that, the Submarine Service would be finished with him.  He had had his shot at nuclear boat command, been Cassandra’s commissioning skipper and ultimately, failed to bring her up to the then, in 1969, required operational standard and been called back ashore.  Nuclear boat command was like the Perisher, you usually only got one shot at it and if you did not come up to scratch you were out on your ear.  That was fair enough, three hundred feet beneath the surface a fellow’s first mistake tended to be his last, it was not enough to do one’s best, or to more or less make a good fist of it, these days the standard required was ‘perfection plus’.  There was a diminishingly small cadre of men the Navy judged had ‘the right stuff’ and from that group, only the men who stood out head and shoulders above the other candidates were likely to get the call to stand where, right now, he was standing. 
 
    ‘Nobody on the planet knows the inner workings of the C class boats like you do, Noel,’ the then only ‘Acting’ Flag Officer (Submarines), Rear Admiral John Fieldhouse had informed him brusquely.  ‘We almost certainly lost the Cassandra because nobody listened to what you told the Operations Staff about the boat’s underlying mechanical and systems deficiencies, and the then C-in-C 1st Submarine Squadron erroneously blamed you for not snapping your fingers and overnight compensating for the inadequacies of the old Submariner training regime for which, ultimately, he was responsible.  Without your peerless technical expertise and your willingness to bare your soul, we might have lost another couple of boats by now.  As it is, in no small measure due to your work, the present and future undersea fleet will operate to significantly higher standards, the build and design issues with our boats have been largely resolved and chaps like me can sleep in our beds again with a reasonable expectation that we won’t be awakened in the middle of the night with the news of another disaster.  So, let’s get one thing straight.  I am not giving you Courageous to right any kind of wrong, real or imagined done to you in the past, I’m giving her to you because among the small pool of ‘Perishers’ presently available, you are, as it were, the next ‘cab’ off the rank; moreover, I am confident that you are the best qualified man in the Navy to make damned sure Courageous is satisfactorily and safely returned to service, and re-joins the fleet at the earliest possible time in full fighting fettle!’ 
 
    Fieldhouse was one of the original gang of nuclear boat commanders, proteges and brothers, kindred spirits of the two men who had created the Undersea Fleet Project and gone so far, in a ridiculously short time span, to make it a reality; Admiral Sir Simon Collingwood, and Rear Admiral Sir Francis Barrington, each now retired, falling on their swords in the wake of the Cassandra tragedy and the revelations about the persistent engineering issues – exacerbated by design and construction quality shortcomings - which had bedevilled the boats which had participated in the War in the South Atlantic. 
 
    Notwithstanding, Haggard well-understood that for any man stepping into the footsteps of such illustrious, within the bloody-minded brotherhood of the nuclear boat fleet near legendary men, it could not have been easy for John Fieldhouse even though, by any lights, he was and had been for most of his career ‘one of them’.  Although his first ship had been the old cruiser Norfolk in 1945, he had switched to the Submarine Service three years later in 1948, and in a stellar career, serving on four and commanding five boats, including belatedly, the Dreadnought. 
 
    When still a lieutenant commander, at a time when Dreadnought was just a set of drawings in a naval architect’s office, he had been lined-up for nuclear boat command, and in preparation, assigned to the Nuclear Science and Engineering Department of the Royal Naval College at Greenwich in the late 1950s.  Everybody had known that Fieldhouse and the late Sandy Woodward were the men being groomed to pick up the baton; it was just that nobody had anticipated how fast the ground would be torn from beneath the feet of the nuclear boat navy’s feet in the first half of 1970. 
 
    In the last year, Noel Haggard had striven might and main to justify John Fieldhouse’s faith in him. 
 
    The Courageous had been back in the water some eight months, successfully completed post-modification trials, and been declared fit for operations as of 1st May that year.  This would be her third patrol and as was standard operating practice, until she had been at sea twenty-four hours, he would be the only man aboard who knew where she was bound, the duration or the nature of her forthcoming mission. 
 
    It happened that Haggard was not an overly superstitious man.  Or rather, not for a submariner.  Regardless, by the very nature of their profession and the unique risks which confronted them every second of every minute of every hour of every day they were at sea, all submariners were entitled to be just a little ‘twitchy’ about dates, coincidences and omens.  Therefore, leaving port on Friday 13th did not, by any stretch of the imagination, fill the commanding officer of HMS Courageous with an excess of existential…joy. 
 
    Nor, did his mission. 
 
    At one level the mission was one of those typical military something and, or nothing jobs.  Courageous had been given a watching brief; inferring that Haggard and his people were to be ready for anything…just in case.  That was not unusual.  However, ‘just in case of what’ was unspecified, likewise, what exactly he was supposed to do if something untoward occurred, was similarly non-specific to the point of juxtaposing indecision with an expectation of timeous and possibly violent ‘appropriate’ action.  In short, his were the sort of orders captains promised the possibility of independent command without the authority, moral or otherwise to exercise it, had been bequeathed by politicians since the days when the ancient Phoenicians had sailed the wine dark seas of the Mediterranean. 
 
    He had asked: ‘What’s so damned important about this old ship?’ 
 
    The ‘old ship’ in question was a rusting Second War Liberty Ship renamed the Balvenie Castle and taken up ‘in trade’ by the British Government, which he was required to intercept off the Portuguese coast and shadow all the way around the Mediterranean for the next couple of months, without, obviously, being detected. 
 
    He ought to have known it was a waste of time asking. 
 
    There was, apparently, a very small ‘need to know’ circle ‘on this one’, and he was not in it! 
 
    Not that he was complaining; for the next two to three months, he was going to be in seventh heaven driving what to him was the most magnificent toy in Christendom around the Atlantic and the Mediterranean.  For a career submariner it simply did not get any better than this. 
 
    True, he was afflicted by twinges of regret, unfamiliar, strangely nagging ones, to be separated from his fiancée, Joan, and having, just to be on the safe side put back their ‘public’ marriage until the spring, this apart, he was itching to get on with the patrol, and to get stuck into the exercises and war games he had planned to keep his crew on the ball, on top form. 
 
    Fortunately, because Joan was a widowed former Navy wife - her husband had been on the Agincourt, destroyed by American ‘friendly fire’ in Sliema Creek in December 1963 - she understood why, apart from his being a submariner and knowing that submariners were notoriously uncommunicative about their trade, he hardly ever talked about his day job, and she was reconciled to the inevitable long separations. 
 
    Even though the couple regarded themselves as still being only engaged, they had in fact, as secretly as possible, got married in the Registry Office at Helensburgh one wet Thursday afternoon a month ago; just so Joan could move out of her digs and move into, temporarily, his Navy flat ahead of the Faslane Accommodation Staff – in the fullness of time – eventually allocating them suitable married quarters.  Oh, and there was also the consideration that if anything happened to him, of ensuring that Joan would be fully entitled to a second widow’s pension and whatever other shrinkingly parsimonious death benefits still accrued notwithstanding the post-Margaret Thatcher Government’s ripping up – to save money – most of the remaining provisions of the original Military Compact dating back to 1964.  Understandably, men still posted at the front line of the Cold War with the Russians especially resented this; not least because few could have had little doubt that under Edward du Cann’s leadership the venality of the National Conservatives had reached new lows as their inevitable downfall drew near.  Which was by the by; he and Joan had played the ’Red Tape Game’ to their best advantage and hopefully, by the time he returned to Scotland, his ‘wife’ would have had an opportunity, without him getting under her feet, to get their new home just the way she liked it. 
 
    They had agreed to wait until they had had a ‘proper church wedding’, or rather, a ‘blessing’, before they commenced living as man and wife in the fullest sense.  Joan had no children, and they agreed that they were both getting a bit long in the tooth for that sort of thing so they only had themselves to think of.  Better by far to get used to the idea of being married, taking one thing at a time and all that.  So, for the moment, in his head Joan was his fiancée, whatever the paperwork said to the contrary. 
 
    “Half ahead,” Haggard directed. Then, quietly: “Are we pointing in the right direction Sam?”  He guffawed once the increased revolutions began to bite. 
 
    The Courageous’s twenty-five-year-old Navigation Officer, Lieutenant the Honourable Samuel Tennyson Troubridge paused momentarily. 
 
    “Yes, sir.  Our next correction will be to come half-a-point to port in approximately two minutes.  I’ll have a bearing on the Rhu Point buoys by that time.”  He added a mildly peeved observation: “The met forecast missed out the part about the fret at the entrance to the loch.” 
 
    Noel Haggard chuckled in the gloom. 
 
    Visibility was less than a quarter of a mile in the approaching narrows, as sea fret, and a rain squall generated as low cloud drifted across the headlands closed in.  The tide was turning, too.  At this time of year, the tidal water flowing out of the Gare Loch into the Clyde and the Atlantic swells dissipating in the Irish Sea beyond, could create eddies and currents that subtly altered the underwater topography of the Firth to the south, moving the deep water channels without warning. 
 
    Haggard’s orders were to pass submerged into the North Atlantic via the North Channel of the Irish Sea, passing Rathlin Island to port, proceeding west across Rockall Deep, as it happened within ten miles of the last resting place of the Cassandra, before making passage, some twelve hundred miles south, to stand off the approaches to the Tagus Estuary, Lisbon, there to intercept and to ‘shadow’ her target. 
 
    Of course, as yet Sam Troubridge knew nothing other than that he was to pilot the boat out across Rockall Deep; he would learn more if and when he needed to know it. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 2 
 
      
 
    Tuesday 17th October 1972 
 
    St Aloysius College 
 
    Old Railway Road, 
 
    Birkirkara, Malta 
 
      
 
    Last week Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher had paid a speaking visit to De La Salle College at Cospicua, a private school for boys run by the Institute of the Brothers of the Christian Schools, founded by the Lasallian Order, the alma mater of Prime Minister in waiting, Dominic ‘Dom’ Mintoff, the Leader of the Labour Party of Malta. 
 
    Inevitably, people whispered that she and ‘the Dom’ did not ‘get on’ but that was to misrepresent the fact that he, and she, knew that they had to ‘get on’ with each other, at least in public.  On Marija’s part, for all that there were times when the little man made her want to scream, she did not actually dislike him or, although despite her best intentions it would be true to say that she occasionally found being in his company something of a trial.  This, she accepted, came ‘with the territory’ as her American friends would say, and that it was hardly inexplicable that a lot of people on Malta were trying to discover how far they could push her, albeit in the main behind what they imagined to be paternal, well-meaning smiles.  That said, Marija was reasonably confident that she and Dom Mintoff had resolved, for the moment, to co-exist in relative equanimity.  Granted, as any British post-October War pro consul of the archipelago would have attested this was a blissful state they had sought; but never truly achieved overlong with the tetchy, quarrelsome little man in the last decade. 
 
    In any event, last week’s visit to the Dom’s old school had been a huge success.  Mintoff had been positively charming, beaming from ear to ear, proudly escorting her as if she was his favourite niece, and as she had discovered at all the schools she had visited in the last eighteen months the pupils of De La Salle College had been positively agog hanging on her every word as if she was their…princess. 
 
    Marija did not think that she was any kind of princess! 
 
    It was very odd, even when she had been, allegedly, the most photographed woman in the world in those days when she and Peter had been in America, and the centre of attention in Australia, she had never really felt very princess-like.  Particularly on days like this when her bones ached as she waited for the two codeine tablets she had swallowed to start to take the edge off her discomfiture. 
 
    Her husband had risen early, very quietly, letting her sleep another hour, and been out of ‘the House’ – the San Anton Palace, the official residence of the President of Malta from one minute past midnight onwards on Friday next week – making an early start to his day’s scheduled public engagements without their exchanging a word.  Mary Griffin, her Appointments Secretary, her indefatigable friend and de facto Chief of Staff, had taken one look at Marija across the breakfast table and held out the two pills. 
 
    ‘Take these!’ 
 
    Mary could be positively matronly when she was so minded and that morning Marija had not even thought about putting up a fight.  Mary not only organised her public, and latterly, most of her, and her husband’s home life per se but acted as her gatekeeper.  Moreover, when needed, she could be very scary; it was a brave man who tried to get around her to ‘waste’ or ‘demand’ the time of her principals without extraordinarily good reason. 
 
    Mary’s husband, Jack, had ‘gate-kept’ for periods in the past; however, these days, cutting a charmingly roguish, piratical figure with his red beard and barrel chest puffed out, ‘the Bosun’ of the ongoing America’s Cup ‘business’, there were times in the last year when he and Mary had seen as little of each other as Marija had of Peter. 
 
    Hopefully, once Independence Day was out of the way, that would change but right now there was always something else to be done, and another person to speak to… 
 
    Since Jack and Peter had got back from New England, Jack had become Marija’s father’s deputy at the Msida yard where the next campaign – this time to capture the elusive trophy - was already being plotted.  Peter, of course, would soon be sucked back into that world once the Independence Day dust had settled and Malta began, she prayed confidently, to make its way alone in the big wide world. 
 
    It happened that last week’s visit to De La Salle College, her penultimate pre-Independence Day school visit, was now being politically balanced by her appearance at St Aloysius College, the old school of the Leader of the Nationalist Party of Malta, and the man who had been her family’s doctor in Sliema for many years, Vincent ‘Ċensu’ Tabone.  Marija had been looking forward to this particular engagement, partly because it signalled the end of her long, gruelling pre-independence tour of schools, town halls, social clubs, local council meetings and the unending meet and greet sessions in every imaginable Maltese setting.  She had adopted a scrupulously non-partisan approach to spreading the good news message of independence and what it was likely to mean to the political and business communities, and most importantly, to the man and the woman on the street and their children’s futures, as her personal mission. It had, however, become more than a little wearing; and as the ‘big day’ approached she longed to be able to ‘get on with the job’ once the fanfare was over, knowing that only then would they – the Maltese people – be able to squarely face up to their ‘real’ problems. 
 
    In her humble opinion, too many members of both the major political parties had become obsessed with independence, as if this was of itself the Holy Grail, not just a stepping stone.  Manna was not going to deluge from Heaven on the day after the Union Jack was lowered and there was a danger that far too many of her countrymen and women, who frankly ought to know better, were going to get a very rude shock once they had nobody but themselves to blame for their troubles. 
 
    But she would worry about that another time. 
 
    In stark contrast to her dealings with the Dom, there was nothing remotely forced or disingenuous about her lifelong relations with Ċensu Tabone.  She thought of him as an honorary uncle, a member of her extended family even though, as in all families, they had had their differences of late, and she was determined that she, as President, was never, ever going to make the mistake of wrapping herself to either of the two major parties’ flags. 
 
    On her arrival, Tabone had joined her and the establishment’s older pupils in the college’s church, the Sacred Heart Chapel, for a short prayer service.  Increasingly, Marija found peace, tranquility in her Christian faith, peace and tranquility being things any busy, working mother of four bambinos like herself often craved.  Peter, bless him, was still maintaining the fiction that he believed her when she claimed that the conception of their second daughter, Margo Constance, whose first birthday would coincide with the archipelago’s independence, had been a marvellous ‘accident’. 
 
    Marija tried not to feel too guilty about that, even though she understood that Peter – thinking only of her - had been under the impression that she too, had taken the difficulties she had experienced during the delivery of little Joe, their third child, as a warning that three bambinos was enough.  But when she had fallen pregnant it had seemed best to simply flutter her eyes and thank a merciful God for his bounty.  Needless, as with her earlier pregnancies, her husband had been the most anxious man on the planet as her confinement approached.  In the end, fortunately, all had gone well.  Yes, she had much to be thankful for; a thing she reminded herself of every morning. 
 
    In the cool sanctuary of the chapel as she had knelt, reflecting on her life and the great challenges before her, her thoughts had slowed and a brief equanimity had enveloped her in the bubble of quietness. 
 
    Mary had given her a one-sheet ‘prompt list’ of facts, dates and names so that: ‘You can look intelligent when Ċensu, the college’s principal and his governors are chattering at you.’ 
 
    Mary always prepared such notes for her friend, even though Marija sometimes complained, tactfully, that it was like being taught how to ‘suck eggs’.  Nonetheless, today was one of those rare days when there was nothing new on the ‘prompt sheet’ because Marija had visited the school, and its chapel, with Tabone several times in the last two years, often detouring for a few minutes when she was travelling on somewhere else. 
 
    Here, she and the Nationalist leader could talk in private; she had a similar compact with the Dom, where long-planned shopping trips into Valletta would be side-tracked into the Grand Master’s Palace or into the back rooms of the homes of Labour Party luminaries.  On Malta, as elsewhere in the world, there were many things best first discussed in private, far from the madding crowd; although, once she was President, such secretive conclaves would cease, that was a thing she had made very, very clear to all the parties. 
 
    St Aloysius had been founded on the site of an earlier Jesuit school in 1907, having been unoccupied for two years when its original noviciates were called back to Rome.  At its inception, requested by Pope Pius X, the college had been one of several inter-linked seminaries across the archipelago with about one-hundred-and-sixty students.  During the Second War the college compound had hosted a hospital; nowadays it had a pupil roll of some seven hundred boys.  St Aloysius was still exceptional in Malta on account of it not holding classes on a Wednesday, the time lost being made up on Saturday mornings. 
 
    These days, Marija hardly needed to refer to the script copy of the speech she was to make to the faculty and senior pupils.  She knew its core by heart, and by a process of trial and error, developed the stagecraft necessary to embellish and ad lib to make it fit, perfectly – or rather, as perfectly as possible - into each venue and to strike the right chord with each audience. 
 
    Independence was just a word; what mattered was what the people of Malta made of it in the coming years.  Which was why from the start, she had seen her role not just as a figurehead but as an active agent of change.  She and her husband had deliberately sought to attract about them a coalition of people who wanted to create and yes, in some cases, become richer improving the lives of others.  She did not care about motives, she was only interested in results.  Malta alone, dependent on the parsimony of impoverished former colonial masters who primarily viewed the archipelago as a Mediterranean bastion against the Soviets and the troubles brewing in the Arab world to the east, might otherwise remain a decaying backwater, denied many of the real benefits of the modern world; like for example, the panoply of benefits modern medical science could offer.  Or, in suffering economic stagnation having to watch its best and brightest children leave the archipelago to pursue their dreams abroad.  Her dream was for Malta to become a beacon of reason and commerce, and of learning also; and if and when the world fully recovered from the cataclysm of October 1962, a place people everywhere wanted to visit and to experience.  She did not care about socialism, nationalism, or any of the other political ‘isms’.  Her vision was of a society based on the rule of law and intent on making friends who genuinely wanted to help, not to cynically use Malta by dribbling money into the pockets of the privileged few, the fate of so many other European colonies. 
 
    Thus, while the political parties and vested interest groups, the Catholic Church among them, had scrabbled for position and influence in the last two years, she had concentrated on proselytizing her near-evangelistic enthusiasm for the opportunities of independence. 
 
    In this respect she regarded the Constitution of Malta, as signed, sealed and delivered under the Westminster Parliament’s Malta Independence Act (1972) which, when duly enacted by Her Majesty the Queen’s signature on the Malta Independence (Order in Council) 1972, two calendar days before the anointed hour, took effect at the stroke of midnight – at Greenwich Mean Time plus two hours - on the night of 26th/27th October, as a proverbial ‘diamond in the rough’.  Not least because it rigorously enshrined the rights of the citizens of the new republic in direct, unambiguous terms still impractical back in the Old Country as the still relatively newly-elected Labour-led House of Commons slowly, rancorously picked through the legislative detritus of the hastily made and impossible to quickly undo, Draconian ‘War Emergency’ Acts it had passed in haste – in some cases, panic – between 1963 and 1966. 
 
    Mercifully, the Constitution of Malta had been largely finalised just before the October War; at a time when Independence was provisionally set for September 1964. 
 
    This, however, was a debating point Marija saved for later in her performance, first she had to set the scene, to introduce and to laud several of the principal characters in the drama, giving a passing nod to the political environment of 1972, not the early 1960s and to draw her audience into her thrall even though there could be few Maltese who had not already read, or for that matter, already heard her deliver this, or a closely related version of what her friend Gretchen Brenckmann – the daughter-in-law of the US President and a marvellously generous philanthropic heiress in her own right - called her independence ‘sales pitch’. 
 
    Marija preferred to regard the speech as ‘context’ because as Gretchen’s lawyer-historian husband Dan was wont to remind one, ‘history is meaningless without context.’ 
 
    She took a deep breath and began: “The Constitution of Malta is a tribute to the work and dedication to public and church service of seven men.  Two Britons, two leaders of the Nationalist Party, our esteemed Prime Minister, and two revered Metropolitan bishops of our islands.” 
 
    Marija always diplomatically omitted her own, not inconsiderable, part in knocking heads together and refusing to allow any of the parties to quietly, and secretly obfuscate or skew the wording of important clauses in the favour of their own political, theocratic or shamelessly venal supporting vested interest groups.  Many had been the time she had despaired, been on the verge of allowing the oxygen of publicity into the discussion before, at the end of last year, the final document had been, much to the disgust of Archbishop Cauchi, the presiding Metropolitan Archbishop of the archipelago, signed off by the politicians, none of whom, understandably, wanted to be saddled with the millstone of having to administer the new republic as a latter-day province of the Roman See. 
 
    In England there were still, mistakenly in more ways than one, parliamentarians who gratuitously misrepresented the outcome of those 1970-71 negotiations as the ‘Blood Constitution’ version two. 
 
    The Blood Constitution was so named not because blood had been spilled in its finalisation, far from it.  Rather, it was because Sir Hilary Rudolph Robert Blood, was the man Iain Norman Macleod, the then Secretary of State for the Colonies – the man mostly responsible for ensuring that Harold Macmillan’s legendary ‘wind of change’ had actually blown through the British Empire’s remaining African colonies in the early 1960s – had appointed to chair a Constitutional Commission to consult with the people of Malta upon returning the archipelago to ‘representative government’. 
 
    Intrinsic to all considerations, it had been taken as read that once so returned, it was axiomatic that a liberal democracy would seek independence; and this was akin to firing the starting gun on the process of de-imperialising Malta. 
 
    Sir Hilary Blood was therefore, the man charged with setting the ground rules. 
 
    “I never met Sir Hilary,” Marija confided to her rapt audience, mostly young, with a scattering of older faces fixed upon her.  It was odd how sometimes, when she was speaking to a crowd, she imagined she could hear a pin drop. 
 
    ‘The trouble with pins dropping is that if they do it at the wrong time they can be deafening!’  Peter had once teased her. 
 
    He was right about that… 
 
    He was right about so many things… 
 
    Marija was the last woman on the planet to meekly concede that one’s capacity to do good, to express one’s own abilities was, or ought to be by the leave of, or only made possible by the man or men in her life.  However, she thought that rather missed the point.  That she was more than that, and that her personal horizons had expanded far beyond anything she had believed, or even suspected were possible before she met her husband, was undeniable.  And yes, she was the first to concede that many of her opportunities to make a difference had arisen because she had fallen in love with and married a hero; but all of this missed the point entirely.  It would be truer to say that she and Peter, had become more than the sum of their parts because they were together.  Alone they might still have achieved much as individuals; but together they were…invincible. 
 
    “I met Iain Macleod in England,” she continued, momentarily distracted by memories of those strange weeks in Oxford after the Battle of Malta, in April and May 1964.  “And several times after that.  He had left the Colonial Office in October 1961 but his influence lived on.  Ironically, although he was born in Yorkshire, Iain always had an affinity for Scotland, he was very much an Anglo-Scot, a man of restless energy with a mind that was always turning to the next great problem.  He never travelled to Malta and as far as I know, he never met our Prime Minister-elect, Mister Mintoff face to face.  Yet his was the unseen hand that set us on the long road to independence.  We should remember him with honour.” 
 
    Marija allowed herself a half-smile. 
 
    “In moments of exasperation we carelessly blame the English for all our troubles, how ironic it should be that we owe the genesis of our independence to a man never more at home than in the wind and rain of the Scottish Isles, and Sir Hilary Blood, a clergyman’s son born in Kilmarnock, Scotland, who was so badly wounded at Gallipoli in 1915, that he walked with a limp the rest of his days?” 
 
    Again, she smiled, this time ruefully, giving the men and boys in the body of the assembly hall below the low stage a moment to share her self-deprecatory nuance.  Today was one of those days when she too, limped and those around her always edged half-a-step closer to her in case she stumbled and they needed to catch her. 
 
    “Sir Hilary spoke Latin and Greek and possessed a degree in moral philosophy; in addition to his military career, he was, successively, Governor of the Gambia, Barbados and Mauritius.  He was a man from another, earlier colonial era who spent his later career as one of his country’s great de-colonisers.”  She sighed.  “I wish I had met him.  He disappeared in the October War, as did his wife, and sadly, I believe his son and both his daughters.  He had delivered the report of his commissioners in December 1960 and in due course his constitution became our amended constitution in 1961, coincidentally, shortly after Iain Macleod left the Colonial Office.” 
 
    Marija looked down at her notes, without reading a word. 
 
    In her edited and abbreviated story of the road to independence she customarily omitted three names, the first two in the interests of brevity and the third because the man’s memory still made her want to spit. 
 
    Admiral Sir Guy Grantham had, like so many Governors before him, competently held the fort between February 1959 and July 1962.  His successor, Sir Maurice Dorman had been assassinated by Red Dawn fanatics almost certainly aided and abetted by her dead, traitor older brother Samuel at the height of the post-October War panic on the archipelago. 
 
    His successor, Vice Admiral Sir Michael Staveley-Pope had placed Malta under martial law, discarded habeas corpus and instituted a regime under which hundreds of entirely innocent, patriotic – mostly men but a few women also – were arrested, many tortured, and as over two thousand more detained indefinitely without trial resulting in a near total breakdown of traditional British-Maltese co-operation.  Marija’s little brother, Joe, a union organiser in the Admiralty Dockyards had been very nearly beaten to death and then held prisoner without being charged for any offence, for over a year under Staveley-Pope’s brutal rule. 
 
    In the end, discovering that the vile man had been planning to unilaterally surrender the archipelago to its fate the British Government had finally acted; averting a disaster by sending her husband’s father to the archipelago to replace the tyrant. 
 
    Vice Admiral Julian Christopher had been halted ‘the rot’ overnight, and in the wake of the American attack on Malta in December 1963 unambiguous declared: ‘Here we stay.  No surrender.”  Or words along those lines, varying in the particulars depending upon to whom he was speaking to at the time. 
 
    Moreover, within days, the Fighting Admiral had thrown open the gates of the detention camps, allowing their inmates freedom on licence; a licence that was quietly, without any fanfare, amended to a letter of sincere apology, personally signed on behalf of the Crown by Peter’s father, in his then capacity as Acting Governor of Malta and Commander-n-Chief of all British and Commonwealth Forces in the Mediterranean. 
 
    Marija would have liked to have known him better. 
 
    Tragically, like so many, he had been consumed by the battles of that year, gunned down defending his headquarters in Mdina from Red Army paratroopers.  She had shed an ocean of tears for the fallen of that, and the other battles since. 
 
    Subsequent Governors, Sir Daniel French, Field Marshal Sir Richard Hull and Sir Hugh Foot had known that their job was to maintain Malta as a bastion base, and latterly, to do what could reasonably be done to navigate the archipelago towards a peaceful handover of power.  Of the three, Sir Hugh had played as big a part in the independence settlement as any of the other players but silently, wherever possible surreptitiously behind the scenes, unseen, adroitly intent on stealing none of the thunder that Marija, Dom Mintoff and Ċensu Tabone were going to need to ‘make a go’ of the adventure. 
 
    Marija contented herself with thanking her late father-in-law, and his three honest-broker successors for setting the colonial administration on the right road to allowing ‘Malta to decide what was best for the Maltese’. 
 
    Inevitably, this drew a subdued, albeit lengthy round of applause.  All citizens of former colonies understood, as if it was in their genetic make-up, exactly how difficult the representatives of the old imperial masters could make things if they set their minds to it, even though in Malta’s case it was generally accepted that the British had made things as painless as possible, given the circumstances. 
 
    Now it was time to speak of the Maltese politicians and clerics to whom the people had, supposedly, to thank for their good fortune! 
 
    “My Mama says I was introduced to George Borg Olivier several times as a girl and at least once in the year before the October War,” she confessed.  “I do not remember those meetings.  The only thing I can claim in my defence is that when I was a girl I had other things on my mind,” she smiled almost shyly, “and actually, thinking about it, I was always being introduced to people when I was in hospital.  And,” she shrugged, “I was not always as famous as I am now and Mister Olivier might not have lingered long in front of me on that, or on any of the days I allegedly met him.” 
 
    There was polite laughter. 
 
    There always was; Marija understood that nothing quite served her so well as her quiet self-deprecation, a thing that was a natural, unforced element of her personality.  Nobody had ever had to remind Mister and Missis Calleja’s daughter that she was the luckiest woman in the world or that it was always a mistake to take oneself too seriously. 
 
    In retrospect, had it not been for the unmitigated tragedy of October 1962, it was likely that there would have been a three-way tug-of-war over any number of the key aspects of the constitution of an independent Malta in 1964.  The Nationalist and the Labour Parties had divergent agendas and represented different electoral, cultural and business caucuses reflecting divergent ideologies that only intersected over the principle, rather than the form of independence.  The debate was complicated by the fact that both Dom Mintoff and Borg Olivier had held positions of Prime Minister or Chief Officer in the colony in the period leading up to and the promulgation of the ‘Blood Constitution’.  Circumstance had decreed that it was Olivier who was in power in the months before the cataclysm, and it was he who had formally requested Malta’s independence as a full member of the Commonwealth on 20th August 1962.  At that the time his vision was of a comprehensive breaking of the old colonial ties; whereas, Dom Mintoff’s expectation had been for some kind of conditional, heavily subsidised, essentially symbiotic relationship with the Mother Country under which the umbilical might only gradually, by stages, be severed over a number of years. 
 
    Nowadays, Mintoff had other things to worry about; not least the role of the Catholic Church in the life of the new state.  At the time of the October War the then Metropolitan Archbishop of Malta, the iron-willed and – everybody Marija had ever spoken to about him had agreed with the notable exception, oddly, of her mentor and friend Margo Seiffert – obdurate and overly princely Michael Gonzi was preoccupied, obsessed, some said, with the likely threat to the Church’s existing special, privileged status under any conceivable political system which was likely to emerge from independence.  The British had left the Church to its own devices, its rights and prerogatives unquestioned, including its management of its extensive land holdings, and its traditional freedom to largely act as a state within a state, true to the traditional Papal tradition untrammelled by the modern world.  To Gonzi, the Labour Party of Malta was ‘ungodly’, and with its ‘socialistic’ talk of sharing the wealth of the archipelago between all its people, represented an ominous threat to his own domain. 
 
    The British, for all their faults, had always sought to hold the line between the parties and most of the time, tried to adjudicate between them fairly; but the reality of their impending withdrawal had, predictably, exposed many of the fracture lines in Maltese politics.  As it happened, the October War scuppered all the fine plans and forestalled what might have been two rather unedifying years of bickering prior to an independence which would ironically, have probably looked a lot like the one now in prospect.  That is, apart from the declaration of a republic.  Whereas, under all the original plans everybody seemed to have accepted that Her Majesty the Queen would remain, for some years at least, constitutionally the head of state; if only because back in 1962, cosmetically, the parties agreed that it would have given the archipelago some hope of ongoing financial and military support from the former Mother Country. 
 
    Needless, Marija was not about to waste verbiage on the political and philosophical battles between the two main political parties and the Catholic Church.  Archbishop Gonzi had been a fierce, unyielding cleric who would have fought to his last breath to defend the 1950s status quo; and the exigencies of the new age would have been a sore and humbling trial to him.  In comparison, the present Metropolitan Archbishop of Malta, Joseph Cauchi, another traditionalist, was a marginally less unbending man whom, once convinced that the politicians did not plan to side-line and rob his Church dry five minutes after independence, had, as Marija’s American correspondents would say, reluctantly ‘got on board the project’. 
 
    “Undoubtedly, George Borg Olivier was the man we have to thank for the bones of the constitution we will adopt at the end of next week,” Marija declaimed, “but let us not forget the contributions and the good will of the men who followed in his footsteps.  Mister Mintoff and Doctor Tabone, Archbishops Michael Gonzi and Joseph Cauchi each contributed guiding principles and worked tirelessly to ensure that the rights of all Maltese citizens and that the sanctity of the historic cultural institutions of our archipelago are respected and guarded in the exciting new era to come.” 
 
    Marija began to tick off the ‘big ticket’ clauses of the Constitution of Malta.  Gretchen Brenckmann and others, Mary Griffin most notably, had sharpened her delivery and the thinking behind her formal public utterances.  The days when she could just turn up, smile that smile of hers and be, well, herself were gone.  Sound bites and looking into the lens of a camera did not cut it when one was responsible for the futures of so many people.  Much as it was important to retain spontaneity, specific messages had to be communicated and one could not risk one’s words becoming hostages to fortune the moment they were spoken. 
 
    The Religion of Malta was that of the Apostolic Roman Catholic Church, which had the right to freely exercise its dominion in ecclesiastical and spiritual matters and to manage its own affairs without interference from the state.  Further, the Catholic liturgy would continue to be taught in all state schools, and similarly, morning assemblies and services would be conducted under the rites of the Catholic Church. 
 
    The national flag would be a modified version of the old flag, still incorporating the George Cross motif, which would no longer be etched in red, and the national anthem would be ‘L Innu Malti’ whose opening lines, translated into English were: ‘O Little Island, Lord, as ever Thou hast guarded!  This Motherland so dear whose name we bear!’ 
 
    And as to the new national language, that was to be Maltese but until Parliament deemed otherwise, by a two-thirds majority, English would remain the republic’s second ‘official’ tongue. 
 
    There would be fifty elected members in the Parliament of Malta, which would discharge the dual duties of determining legislation and voting upon it (analogous to the British House of Commons and House of Lords pre-October 1962 being combined into a single assembly).  The Parliament would be elected for a four-year span, headed by a Prime Minister appointed by the President of the Republic if he, or she commanded a majority. 
 
    As to the Presidency; Marija had been elected by a vote of forty-eight to none – two members being absent due to illness – by the provisional Parliament elected in September 1971 which had been charged to oversee all governance excepting foreign, defence and jurisprudential affairs in the run-up to independence; an arrangement designed to guarantee that the necessary organs of the new republic were up and running from the moment the altered national flag was hoisted up hundreds of flagpoles in the early minutes of the morning of Friday 27th October 1972. 
 
    The term of the inaugural Presidency was to be seven years. 
 
    Marija was to be sworn to uphold the constitution, to guard the Catholic faith and to eschew all Party or fiscal self-interest in the conduct of her duties.  Her role was to be largely constitutional, not executive.  She appointed ministers and was to be advised by them.  Notwithstanding, no Act of the Maltese Parliament could become law without her signature and generally speaking, her day-to-day role was to be essentially ceremonial in the fashion of British monarchs excepting that in a constituted republic, axiomatically there was no royalty, nor parasitic aristocracy.  Parliament could, and probably would, at some stage, review the institution of the Presidency; until then, Marija planned to demonstrate what a non-partisan, mother of the nation figure at the helm could do to promote unity and to ameliorate, if necessary by dogged perseverance and her mere, immovable presence, the extremes and the follies politicians in every age had been prone to indulge in if left to their own devices. 
 
    She was the guardian of the Constitution of Malta. 
 
    Under that constitution all citizens were equal in the sight of an independent judiciary.  The right to work, freedom of speech, expression and religion were intrinsic, free state education up to the age of fourteen years for boys and girls was guaranteed – British aide and charitable support from among other international organisations, the Betancourt Foundation would fill the gap for all children up to age sixteen for several years - and for the first time there would be a statutory right to sickness pay and a minimum, albeit modest, state retirement pension.  Other ‘rights’ which had slipped in under the radar of some of the parties included a Parliamentary duty to promote Maltese culture, for women to be protected by some of the labour protections available to men, and the unqualified abolition of child (under the age of fourteen) labour. 
 
    “In our new republic,” Marija proudly declared, “we assert the fundamental rights and freedoms of all our people.  Our people have the right to life, liberty and conscience.  They have a right to be safe from arbitrary arrest or detention, our people will never be enslaved.”  That always went down well.  Likewise: “The law should protect the citizen from the state, not the state from the citizen.  It is a person’s right to associate with whomsoever they please so long as it is not to deny others their just rights.  Citizens can come and go from this archipelago at will.  No man or woman should be discriminated against on grounds of their faith, their profession or their politics.” 
 
    Now a moment of self-deprecation. 
 
    “I think it is also proper that citizens should have a right to privacy, at least in their private, family life, but,” she shrugged, admitting the absurdity of the proposition in respect of her own life, “for some of us that must remain purely aspirational.  I have lived my life in the public eye for many years; that was my choice, my duty perhaps, so you will not be surprised that I will not be belatedly asserting my right under our constitution to privacy…” 
 
    She allowed herself another moment of reflection. 
 
    “Historians tell me that many of these things were included in a declaration of the rights of the people of Malta and Gozo as long ago as 1802.  I suppose it only goes to show that there is little that is really new under the sun.  We have set ourselves high standards; our challenge will be to live up to them, especially in difficult times.  We live in the middle of a sea beset with storms at certain times of the year; any seagoer will tell you to beware the gregale, when the winds blow from the east and the north, to take care lest the storms blow the unwary mariner onto the rocky shores of the archipelago.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 3 
 
      
 
    SS Balvenie Castle 
 
    Lisbon, Portugal 
 
      
 
    The old converted Liberty Ship had docked only last night but already it was on its way again.  On its maiden voyage for its new operator, the nationalised Blue Funnel Line, it had unloaded several palettes of crated small arms and ammunition, generators and electrical switching equipment for the Marinha Portuguesa – the Portuguese Navy - and taken on board an additional hundred tons of general cargo including a consignment of Royal Navy demolition charges (combined deadweight of 820 pounds) for delivery to Malta, where ongoing wreck clearance work was in progress in the Grand Harbour to make safe an additional ‘liner’ berth at Floriana. 
 
    It was almost dusk as the ship’s master cast off his lines and let the tide carry his four-hundred-and-forty feet-long, fourteen thousand ton command clear of the wharf on the northern bank of the Tagus River, out into the deep water in the shadow of the great Vasco de Gama Bridge.  Originally, on its completion the nearly mile-and-a-half long suspension bridge had been christened the ‘Salazar Bridge’ but this, like so much, had changed in the blink of an eye with the death of the old dictator and the delayed, nevertheless inevitable fall of his regime.  The bridge itself, from a distance was an uncanny copy of the larger, more famous Golden Gate Bridge in San Francisco, had been one of the defining icons of the latter years of the rule of António de Oliveira Salazar, the last of the pre-Second War dictators. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle’s reactivation from her two-decade-long slumber, rusting as she swung around her chains all those years, had been brutally pragmatic.  Here and there some items of machinery or components had been replaced, otherwise, the ship had been brought back to life by brute force, employing hammers and cutting torches.  That said, granted the process and its results might not have been pretty, like most American engineering solutions, the work done on the former Harold D. Stennis III, had been ruggedly effective.  The ship’s one-hundred-and-forty-ton vertical triple expansion engine, fed with steam from its two boilers had successfully powered the vessel across the North Atlantic in winter and the parts of the ship’s electrical and hydraulic systems which most needed to work, worked.  True, there was always water in the engine room bilges; that was to be expected in a ship of her vintage, however, it was nothing a couple of hours daily pumping could not deal with. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle had been built by the California Shipbuilding Corporation – Calship – at Terminal Island, Los Angeles in January and February 1945, one of over three hundred Liberty Ships built by the yard.  In common with many ‘late war’ ships of her kind, hardly tested in war-time conditions, and therefore not yet worn out by the stresses of operating in combat zones, she had paid off into the mothball fleet within a year of her keel first touching the water; hence, her relatively serviceable condition so many years later when it was decided to transfer her to the British, after she had been stricken from US Navy lists and was about to be sent to the scrapyard. 
 
    Bankrupted by the October War, the Blue Funnel Line had been nationalised under the War Emergency Acts in 1963 to run a motley fleet of aging general cargo ships.  Not for it the great ‘gin palaces’ of the P and O, or the Blue Star lines, or mighty Cunard, no, these days the BFL was permanently relegated to the ‘tramp steamer’ end of the market, often carrying cargoes that would not have been viable on ‘commercial rates’, and barely paid their way even on miserly ‘government runs’.  So, when the ship’s forward loading derrick ‘seized’ and refused to be freed after much angry hammering and blasting by blow torches, the ‘Lisbon’ cargo was stowed in Number Three hold, hard up against the aft bulkhead separating it from the ship’s fireroom.  Given that the Balvenie Castle’s schedule did not allow for a delay at Gibraltar, its next port of call where in any event, dockyard facilities were unlikely to be made available to a disreputable old tub like her ‘on spec’, it was hoped that there would be the time and free yard space available at Malta to rectify this and other problems with the ship’s antiquated deck equipment. 
 
    The ship’s master knew the Admiralty Dockyards of Malta of old; there was always redundant, aging ‘navy’ kit lying around and there would still be warehouses filled with old motors, pumps, piping and scrap waiting for disposal.  Modern ships were increasingly built so that faulty equipment could be simply swapped out, rather than repaired, everything was standardised but most of the gear that kept the Balvenie Castle steaming and working was no longer produced, so just keeping her at sea was going to be a losing battle in the years to come. 
 
    Lisbon was always a busy port of call, a place where one had to grin and bear the punctiliousness of the customs officials and the interference of idle police and militiamen who were always hanging around the docks.  If anything, there were even more idle hands lurking around these days, possibly a consequence of the post-Salazar regimes’ – which seemed to come and go with the seasons – attempts to stave off ever-higher unemployment.  Posting men on all the gangways discouraged some of the ‘chancers’ and thieves operating along the waterfront but when the ‘pirates’ were armed and in uniform, brandishing real identity passes and warrants to flash in one’s face, there was only so much any Master could do to minimise the losses.  In this part of the world Lisbon, Valencia, Marseille and Naples were the worst stopovers, with either Gibraltar and Malta a blessed relief.  No British-registered ship would even consider taking a contract for cargo to Messina, and even Akrotiri on Cyprus was uninsurable.  Fortunately, Beirut and Tel Aviv were safer destinations and the Egyptian Navy had a vested interest in maintaining the inviolability of Port Said and the Canal Zone, albeit that just meant the pirates were now waiting for unescorted merchantmen in the Indian Ocean, not the Red Sea these days.  That was not a problem on this trip; Beirut was to be the Balvenie Castle’s last port of call in the Eastern Mediterranean before she re-traced her wanderings west via Tel Aviv, Alexandria, Malta, Tangier, Algiers, Gibraltar and thence to her new home port, Southampton after speculative calls hoping to collect ‘cargoes of opportunity’ at Lorient and Brest. 
 
    Presently, the Quartermaster and a couple of deck hands – cargo handlers and crane men were the first men the crooks bribed - were conducting an inventory of the two holds which had been unlocked while the ship at been alongside at Lisbon, while elsewhere, individual crewmen checked their own cabins, berthing spaces and belongings to establish what the damage had been in the last twenty-four hours. 
 
    Not for nothing did the Masters of British ships rue the days – ended over a year ago now – when several Royal Navy men or Royal Marines travelled with every ship, casually brandishing Stirling submachineguns and infantry SLRs at the head of every gangway, discouraging all but the terminally stupid or the most incurable kleptomaniacs from chancing their luck beneath the Red Ensign fluttering above their heads.  
 
    Before the ship cast off the First Officer had gone down into Number Three Hold to inspect the new cargo.  As to the cargo itself, his inspection had been cursory, his main preoccupation being that everything was lashed down to stop it shifting in heavy weather.  There were fifteen tons of ‘miscellaneous machinery and parts including lathes and hydraulic-powered tools’ in sealed wooden crates.  The demolition charges were in two types of tin ammunition boxes: one fifteen inches on the side and ten deep, possibly a modified loading tray for 20- or 40-millimetre anti-aircraft rounds, and the second, approximately twelve-inch square with factory labels and stencils describing the contents as ‘Torpex Blocks – 20 ounces’.  He assumed that the explosives had previously been stored in a Portuguese Navy arsenal, hopefully in a controlled environment.  He was encouraged to discover that none of the boxes was outwardly damaged, or seemed to have been tampered with while in storage. 
 
    Once the ship’s second-in-command had satisfied himself that the boxes were secure and that none of the adjacent cargo palettes were loaded with inherently inflammable goods, he signed off the manifest and went about his other duties, not giving a second thought to the explosive properties of the Malta-bound consignment stored directly below the ship’s bridge and next to the engine room’s forward bulkheads. 
 
    As a boy seaman, the Balvenie Castle’s First Officer had survived two Malta Convoys in 1941 and 1942, on the second ‘Malta run’ his ship had been sunk, hit by two big bombs.  He would have been a goner if a destroyer had not hauled him, and three of his shipmates out of the oily water before the convoy had rolled on by.  Subsequently, he had been off-loaded at Malta in the middle of an air raid – the island had been the most bombed place on earth at the time – and after a spell in hospital in Mdina, been stuck on the archipelago for several weeks before hitching a wild ride back to Gibraltar on the Manxman, one of the two fast minelayers – those ships could make forty knots - making regular runs to the beleaguered islands.  One way and another, there had been and probably still was, no shortage of wrecks and debris on the bottom of the Grand Harbour. 
 
    At the beginning of the Second War the destroyer HMS Jersey had been sunk in the entrance to the harbour after setting off a magnetic mine.  She had gone down in the worst possible place, trapping several big ships in the anchorage until she was partially demolished by massive explosive charges.  Somebody had once told him they had resorted to depth-charging the wreck at one stage, although he had no idea if this was just a bar room tall tale.  Proper systematic clearance work had not been possible, or even started on the wreck until years after the war.  Likewise, an ammunition ship had been bombed and gone down next to the old Floriana Liner Dock, and sat beneath the surface threatening to blow up ever since; allegedly the reason the Navy had decided to do something about it now, was as a belated Independence Day present to the new republic.  The Tribal class destroyer Māori had been bombed and sunk opposite the entrance to French Creek, after salvage work and the partial demolition of the ship, her hulk had been towed around to nearby Marsamxett and scuttled.  Several other merchantmen had been sunk and salved, or just left where they lay or blown to pieces on the bottom of the Grand Harbour. 
 
    Fortunately, given that the water was sixty to seventy feet deep in many places, some of the wrecks posed no hazard to navigation.  Nevertheless, any wreck or significant debris lying on the bottom of a major port was an intrinsic problem, even if the primary danger was reduced to the snagging of lines or obstructing the laying of underwater cables and pipes.  Not to mention the oil that might leak from decaying bunkers, or the very real dangers of large quantities of un-mediated munitions, shells and unexploded bombs that were still very, very ‘live’ decades after they were scattered about their watery graves.  Another complication was that some of the wrecks were also war graves.  That was the trouble with wars; their legacy lived on forever. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle’s single screw began to thrash at the cold Atlantic tide mingling with the muddy outflow of the Tagus as she swung, ponderously across the current, and nosed under the centre of the span of the towering suspension bridge, her blunt prow pointing out toward the western ocean awaiting her beneath glowering, storm-threatening clouds. 
 
    Meanwhile her First Officer continued his habitual leaving port deck inspection, passing aft through the port bridge superstructure passageway to emerge next to the fire room blowers.  He paused briefly, eying the ropes tying down the de-masted Stanton Ocean Racing Inc yacht Aysha III, or more correctly the general shape of the dismasted vessel beneath blankets of protective tarpaulins.  The boats masts and spars lay across Hold Number Four, which was well over three-quarters filled with US-produced goods bound for Malta, mostly vehicles and household appliances, little pieces of America transported to what its donors hoped would be its new best friend in the Central Mediterranean.  Personally, the Balvenie Castle’s somewhat hard-bitten First Officer suspected the Maltese people – of whom he fancied he knew a little more than most rich Yanks – were not to be so easily bought. 
 
    Presently, he made his way up to the compass platform to report that all was in order to his Skipper, a grumpy old salt he had sailed with on the second Operation Manna convoy in the winter of 1962-63.  That had been a real adventure with nobody knowing what to expect when they finally got home to England. 
 
    In the event, nothing could have prepared them for what they found; a country on its knees, in the grip of winter, the dead lying unburied on the streets and soldiers and policemen shooting looters.  Say what you want about that witch Thatcher, she was the one who put a stop to all that and gave them all a little bit of pride back.  She had not deserved to go that way, gunned down as she came out of that church in Cheltenham… 
 
    Still, as any man who makes his living plying the seas learns; just when you thought the world was getting saner, was usually the moment reality was most likely to bite you in the arse. 
 
    “Is it like that every time you put in here?”  Inquired the tall man behind the Master’s shoulder, his Texan drawl carrying an undertone of contempt. 
 
    Still in sight of land, other men were cautiously emerging from the compartments below from behind the double-padlocked hatches to keep the looters out. 
 
    “Only since Salazar died.” 
 
    “That figures,” the American grunted.  “Say what you like about the old man, he knew how to run a tight ship.  Did the bastards compromise any of the sensitive areas of the ship?” 
 
    The First officer shook his head. 
 
    “They tried a few doors but they couldn’t open any of the hatches to your ‘sensitive’ compartments, Commander.” 
 
    “The ship’s paperwork was okay?”  The other man checked. 
 
    None of the American officers and other ranks had names, just ranks or specialisations on the badges they wore.  They did not mix with the crew, had their own mess and most of the time they were locked away in their ‘off limits’ spaces below deck.  None of the modifications to the ship’s cargo derricks was visible from the bridge, similarly the whip aerials that sprung up out at sea were withdrawn at present, hidden, giving no clue as to the real role of the old Liberty Ship. 
 
    The Master nodded. 
 
    “The Balvenie Castle is just a grubby old steamer, nobody will give her a second look.” 
 
    Which, of course, was the object of the exercise, anonymity. 
 
    He had passed the American the revised cargo manifest. 
 
    “Demolition charges?”  The other man queried. 
 
    “Probably pilfered from the nearby naval arsenal; anybody with dollars is a millionaire in Lisbon,” the Master explained.  “We weren’t expecting so much machinery on the quayside.  You’re welcome to inspect the…” 
 
    The American shook his head. 
 
    “No, the fact we picked up so much cargo is proof the Portuguese think we’re exactly what we seem to be.  That’s good.” 
 
    The Balvenie Castle’s Master was not so sanguine. 
 
    He thought the idea of calling at Lisbon was ‘gilding the lily’, an over-complication, every time the ship touched land it drew attention to them, and more pairs of eyes viewed her.  The scheduled visits to Lisbon – in the old days, and still probably, a nest of spies – and Gibraltar, where the Spanish watched every ship movement like hawks, had all the hallmarks of a plan thought up by deskbound planners keen to justify their sedentary positions.  The ship was coming to Europe relatively down on her load marks, implying she already had a substantial cargo on board, why waste the fuel and time putting into Lisbon or anywhere else on the way to their first unloading destination, Valletta, in the process adding two, three or four days steaming to her passage? 
 
    Anybody who knew what they were about would do the sums, realise that a few tons of extra cargo were not going to pay for the additional fuel, or the crews’ pay and that the Blue Funnel Line could not afford to operate any of its ships at a loss. 
 
    Granted, this was supposedly a one-off job for which he and his crew were being well-paid but nevertheless, the cover story was thin and would not bear close scrutiny.  Inquiries in America would quickly reveal the old ship was steaming ‘in ballast’, with no other cargo than that loaded at Lisbon and that her recent ‘refit’ had been conducted at Wilmington on a US Navy contract.  Further inquiries would quickly ascertain that her registration with the BFL was a paper exercise, for which the company, operated under the aegis of the British Board of Trade, an adjunct to the Ministry of Transportation, had received a small ‘hush’ fee to cover the costs of providing appropriate leasing documentation. 
 
    The deception was literally, paper thin. 
 
    He had said as much to the Commander, demanding to know what was going on before they docked in Lisbon.  The Commander had told him he would be briefed further on a ‘need to know’ basis once the ship departed Malta. 
 
    “Perhaps,” he now suggested, “just to be on the safe side, you chaps might like to scan, or do whatever you do, to those machinery boxes?” 
 
    The American shrugged, and objected: “We’d have to get into them to do that; they’d notice that when they’re offloaded at Malta.” 
 
    The Master gave up. 
 
    He had known this was an off the books job when he signed up for it, so had every man he had recruited to crew the old rust bucket.  The only thing to do was to get on with it and when it was over, to take the money – dollars, the nearest thing to paper gold these days - to the bank. 
 
    It was dark outside, almost full night. 
 
    The clouds blotted out the stars as the Balvenie Castle’s blunt stem shouldered into the long Atlantic swells. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 4 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    21 miles West of Cape Trafalgar 
 
      
 
    The submarine’s second-in-command, thirty-six-year-old Lieutenant Commander Vernon Timothy ‘Tim’ Dunbar-Naismith entered the control room and moved to join Noel Haggard at the sonar plot.  Unlike his captain, the newcomer was a lean, trim man, whose build might have been designed to facilitate the claustrophobic life of a submariner.  Where Haggard was five feet ten or eleven, and visibly a good trencherman who was most comfortable when carrying a little spare flesh on his big-boned frame, and possessed of a full head of jet black hair, Dunbar-Naismith’s pate was balding, and his remnant fair hair severely cropped.  There were other, subtler differences between the men in temper and outlook, notwithstanding they were both masters of their profession. 
 
    In fact, Noel Haggard had been a little uncomfortable inheriting as his second-in-command the man who had been with his friend Max Forton on the Warspite during the campaign in the South Atlantic.  The politicians had tried to crucify Max for sinking those Argentine ships shortly before receiving an order to stand down, and had Flag Officer (Submarines) not gone to the wall for him, the dogs would surely have had their man.  Nevertheless, Tim Dunbar-Naismith’s name and professional reputation had, by association been dragged through the mud long before the disgraceful witch hunt had run its foul course.  Poor old Max was behind a desk at the Admiralty in Oxford these days, and Tim, well he had been knocked back too many places in the nuclear boat command stakes to catch up, possibly ever – even had it troubled him – with the men passing the new Perisher trial by fire. 
 
    Previously, the two men had only known each other in passing, competitors and brothers in the service before Courageous brought them together. 
 
    ‘Can I get something off my chest, sir,’ Dunbar-Naismith had suggested that first day they met as captain and executive officer at Rosyth, when the two men had discussed the state of play with the yard and the boat’s remaining work schedules over a brace of pink gins in the Dockyard Wardroom.  ‘A lot has happened in the last two years.  My career is what it is, I am happy where I am and frankly, I expect this commission on the Courageous to be my last at sea.  For a while, anyway.  My wife’s first husband, an old chum of mine from Dartmouth as it happens went down with the Tiger in the Battle of the Shatt-al-Arab back in July 1964.  We married in 1967, two, two-and-a-half-years before the Falklands thing blew up, I adopted my wife’s two daughters and our first son together was born while I was away in the South Atlantic.  We had another daughter last year.’  He had shrugged.  ‘Three or four years ago, I’d have given my right arm to command Courageous; but well, let’s just say that the fire in my belly went out between then and now.  Commanding one of these boats probably wasn’t ever for me.  I know it isn’t for me now.’ 
 
    The men had got along famously; and once they departed Courageous they would be firm friends, possibly for life.  But not today, or any time soon.  Tim Dunbar-Naismith was the boat’s Executive Officer, responsible for making sure she ran like a well-oiled Swiss watch; and Noel Haggard might one day have to give him an order that would lead to his, or to all their deaths. 
 
    “I gather it looks like we’ve got company, sir,” the submarine’s Executive Officer mused softly. 
 
    Courageous was idling in the water column at a depth of four hundred feet, barely moving.  The word had been passed for silent running as Tim Dunbar-Naismith had been making his way forward to the Control Room from the Motor Room, coincidentally practically as far away as it was possible to be on the boat, where he had been chatting to the boat’s Engineering Officer. 
 
    The submarine’s Executive Officer studied the plot, contemplating the provisional designation of the Courageous’s, thus far it seemed, unsuspecting companion in the deep off the Spanish coast. 
 
    “There were those reports we got from the Americans about Soviet nuclear boats operating in the Western Pacific and the Indian Ocean some years ago,” he mused, almost but not quite under his breath, “but nothing since sixty-six or seven; keeping those units operational must have been a nightmare even then?” 
 
    Noel Haggard nodded, methodically ‘working the problem’, thinking his thoughts. 
 
    The sonar room had tentatively identified the other submarine – presently approximately four miles south of the Courageous, which had turned into her wake as soon as she was discovered to cloak her own presence – by sound profile as a probable Red Navy project 627A nuclear-powered submarine.  The old NATO codename for the class was ‘November’, and this one, like all her sisters was significantly noisier than any US Navy boat of the late 1950s, or early 1960s vintage and in comparison to the quietness of the Courageous rather like a three-thousand-ton bag of nuts and bolts being shaken, hard, as she moved through the water. 
 
    As to the Courageous, the boat had been cruising at eight knots some two miles off the starboard stern quarter of the old Liberty Ship Balvenie Castle, which according to her rather odd orders, she was to ‘escort’ around the Mediterranean in the coming weeks, when she had stumbled across the other submarine’s presence. 
 
    “I seriously doubt this particular November has steamed here all the way from Vladivostok, Number One,” Noel Haggard declared wryly.  “From the sound of her she might fall apart at any minute!” 
 
    This drew grins and chuckles from members of the listening control room watch. 
 
    Of course, the big question was: if the interloper had not come from the Pacific, where the Devil had it come from?  In October 1962 all the operational Project 627 boats were thought to have been based at Severomorsk some sixteen miles downstream from Murmansk in the Kola Inlet, from where they had direct access to the Barents Sea.  Moreover, according to pre-war and subsequent intelligence analysis, other than a small, uncompleted (in October 1962) facility attached to the Leninskiy Komsomol Shipyard on the Amur River in the Soviet Far East, the only major repair and maintenance complex for Red Navy nuclear submarines was Shipyard Number 10 located at Polyarny on the western bank of Murmansk Fjord.  It was assumed that the Siberian, Amur-based Soviet nuclear submarines had been inactive since early 1967 because of the lack of a highly specialised reactor refuelling and servicing yard in the Far East.  Such was the conundrum that deepened the longer the two men contemplated it. 
 
    On the night of the October War, Murmansk, Severomorsk and Polyarny had been among the most heavily bombed places on earth, attacked with at least a dozen megaton-sized munitions – free-fall bombs and Minutemen - and a salvo of as many Polaris A3 submarine-launched ICBMs, each warhead’s yield being measured in the hundreds of kilotons range.  Several of the big warheads had gone off in Murmansk Fjord and the Kola Inlet, wrecks of destroyers and cargo ships had been blown or washed, smashed almost past recognition hundreds of yards onto the shore, one hulk, the forward half of a submarine, now lay half-submerged in the flooded crater that had been the western dockyards of the closed city of Severomorsk, the Head Quarters of the Red Navy’s Northern Fleet.  Everything in the area had been obliterated, ground and air bursts had cratered and burned the landscaped for miles above and below Murmansk and Severomorsk, and until today, nobody – so far as either Noel Haggard or his second-in-command knew – had ‘bumped into’ a November class Soviet submarine anywhere other than in the Indian or the Western Pacific Oceans where it was believed at least two had been sunk by the US Navy. 
 
    There was always the possibility that one of the Vladivostok-based November boats might have transited from the Pacific to the Barents sea under the Polar ice cap; but the Soviet vessel’s very audible mechanical deficiencies and the way the US Navy policed the Bering Strait mitigated against this. 
 
    “These waters can’t be overly well-known to our Russian friends,” Tim Dunbar-Naismith observed, “odd we didn’t hear him actively sounding?  You know, just the odd ping to check depth beneath his keel, at least?” 
 
    Courageous’s commanding officer had been wondering about that himself.  It was known that the Soviets had re-established shipyards at Nikolayev in the Ukraine on the Southern Bug River, and might have re-opened the submarine base at Sevastopol; but if the submarine they were trailing was headed towards the Black Sea, it was not going about it very intelligently.  For one thing, it was about to trespass into waters patrolled by two or three US Navy hunter-killers and if it was detected by units of the Sixth Fleet the Americans tended to attack first and ask questions later.  Whereas, if the November class boat surfaced to pass through the Straits of Gibraltar and proceeded as visibly as possible – above not below the waves – these days, it was highly unlikely anybody would take a pot shot at him. 
 
    Submariners were paid to have nasty, suspicious minds. 
 
    “Okay,” Haggard decided, standing up from the plot.  “Given that this chappie has managed to get here without being detected, I’d guess he swung out into mid-Atlantic after he exited the Norwegian Sea, assuming he came down from somewhere in the Barents or the White Sea, or even from the Far East under the ice cap, and he really, really does not want to make his presence known.  If I was him, what I’d do next, probably sometime in the next couple of hours, is manoeuvre to position myself under or directly in the wake of the Balvenie Castle for the passage through the Straits.  If he tries anything else he’ll be pinged by the fixed sonar array our chums from the Lost Colonies laid back in sixty-five.” 
 
    Deciding this was sufficient exposition for the time being he looked around the compartment. 
 
    “So, what we shall do is maintain silent running, and conform to the blighter’s every move.  We’ll give him a little sea room but not more than fifteen hundred yards, holding position directly astern of him, matching his speed and depth until further notice.” 
 
    He gave orders for the boat to trail its hundred-yard-long short-wave aerial and for an out of sequence – the boat normally only transmitted SITREPS back to Fleet Headquarters during pre-determined thirty-minute ‘slots’ every twenty-four hours – contact report. 
 
    Settling into his command chair it occurred to Noel Haggard that in the same way his own pre-ordained, mysterious rendezvous with the Balvenie Castle was no coincidence, it was damnably odd that a Soviet submarine of a type not encountered in the Atlantic since October 1962 ought to have chosen to shadow the very same vessel.  Coincidences were accidents waiting to happen in the Submarine Service.  Even stranger, he had been planning to use the Balvenie Castle to cloak his own entrance into the Mediterranean; it would have been an excellent boat-handling exercise for his crew to sidle up to, and steam a hundred feet beneath the old merchantman’s keel for several hours. 
 
    He glanced at the Torpedo Board.  Tubes 1 and 2 were loaded with old-fashioned Mark VIII Second War-vintage fish.  The boat carried eight of them.  Tubes 3 and 4 were empty.  Tubes 5 and 6 were loaded respectively with one of the new Tigerfish wire-guided heavyweight ship-killers, and a Mark 20 semi-active homing torpedo.  Courageous had sailed with eighteen torpedoes in total, several short of her full war capacity, mainly because she was testing four new Tigerfish ‘mods’, leaving working space in the Torpedo Room for only another five Mark VIIIs and six Mark 20s.  As a working weapons system the Tigerfish was problematic and practically every time a boat, nuclear or diesel-electric left port she was testing something or other, and charged to conduct the launch of at least two ‘trial’ mods, and running a long list of pre- and post-launch checklists.  Why on earth the Navy could not admit it was still having horrendous ‘teething’ problems with the damned things and demand the contractors pull their fingers out, was another mystery.  Not that many captains were complaining; given the near absolute ban on the test-firing of any other type of torpedo – for budgetary reasons – it was a blessed relief to actually be able to flush something, anything out of one’s tubes! 
 
    Presently, Haggard went back to his broom-cupboard cabin to write up his log.  The Pilot had the watch, Sam Troubridge was a more than competent watchkeeper; along with Tim Dunbar-Naismith or himself, one of the three would always be in the control room while they were in company with the November class boat. 
 
    A quiet rap at the open hatch some twenty minutes later made the boat’s commanding officer look up. 
 
    His Executive Officer was grinning. 
 
    “It’s starting, sir.  The Russians have come up to about three-hundred feet and begun to close the range to the Balvenie Castle.  Hopefully, once they get into position they won’t inadvertently surface under her stern.” 
 
    Noel Haggard rose, cautiously to his feet, there was no scope for swift or exuberant movements in his cabin without barking a shin or knocking oneself senseless. 
 
    It seemed that the game was indeed, afoot.  
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 5 
 
      
 
    Wednesday 18th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    America’s Cup Yard 
 
    Msida Creek 
 
    Malta 
 
      
 
    When the sixty-five year-old father of the most famous woman in the world arrived that morning at the offices of Stanton Ocean Racing Inc, the sprawl of prefabricated offices around two purpose-built slipways adjacent to the Royal Marine Base - which had in former years ‘owned’ the whole of the Creek - from which that summer’s heroic but eventually failed attempt to wrest the America’s Cup from the, at the death incredulous, suddenly slippery grasp of the New York Yacht Club, had been master-minded, his secretary brought him a mug of strong ‘dockyard’ tea and shortly thereafter, Jack Griffin stuck his cheerful, red-bearded head around the door to greet him. 
 
    The newcomer, these days to all and sundry ‘the Bosun’, was already brandishing his own tea mug, a keepsake from his days on HMS Liverpool in the South Atlantic which like the man himself was somewhat battered and chipped,  
 
    “I’ve just heard that the Balvenie Castle docked at Lisbon last night,” he grinned, leaning against the door jam.  “She’s on schedule to call in at Gib on Friday and all being well she might even get a shimmy on and arrive here in time for Independence Day.” 
 
    The older man finished settling his aching bones into the ridiculously comfortable standard ‘executive’ chair the Stanton Organisation deemed appropriate for members of its senior management cadre, carried on unhurriedly contemplating his own tea, and nodded with quiet and these days, heartfelt satisfaction. 
 
    The sign on his door proclaimed visitors were entering the domain of Mr. Peter Calleja – Superintendent Port Master.  The room’s occupant and custodian thought this was somewhat grandiose because his little empire was, when all was said and done, a rather modest affair in the great scale of things.  But then in a previous lifetime he had risen to be the Superintendent of the whole Senglea Dockyard and for several months leading up to his retirement, been the Acting Director of the Admiralty Dockyards of Malta, overseeing the commencement of the building of the US Navy’s ‘super’ dry dock at Parlatorio Wharf, the biggest single construction project in the history of the Maltese archipelago.  So, after a little thought about it, he had allowed the small, brass plaque to remain affixed to the door; not least because his wife of forty-two years – whom lest it be forgotten remained the senior and by far the most consequential ‘Marija’ within the extant family Calleja – paused to sigh with near-tearful pride, whenever occasionally she called in at Msida.  Invariably, those visitations were timed to ensure that he had stopped working to eat his lunch around mid-day and that he was not doing anything ‘stupid’ like climbing the rigging, or getting his neatly tailored ‘superintendent’s suit’ dirty ‘messing about’ with a lathe or a jig in one of the workshops. 
 
    His dear wife would not admit it but he knew she positively adored being the Msida base’s fussing, and when appropriate, irascible grandmother.  And as the Superintendent Port Master’s daughter had once, a little sheepishly observed: ‘What woman does not secretly long to be treated like a princess, Papa?’ 
 
    His daughter had a tongue-in-cheek, mischievous way of saying these things which always made him smile.  He only hoped the trials and tribulations ahead of her in the next few years would not quench her seemingly indefatigable girlish optimism. 
 
    He waved the newcomer to the chair on the other side of his presently, rather cluttered desk.  Jack had been out of the office since last week, working ‘gratis on the state’s time’ as their employer, Lord Stanton, would have said in his booming, jocular way, attending official functions and ‘meeting and greeting’ dignitaries as part of his daughter’s entourage.  Until the last month or so, Peter Calleja had done his best to keep a low profile, to remain in the background but as Independence Day fast-approached he and his wife had ‘got into the spirit’ of the strange days through which they were living.  Their daughter spoke with passion and no little humility about the importance of the family, her own and that of the broader ‘family of Malta’, reiterating time and again that ‘they were all in this together’.  Again, he had been very nearly unnerved by how well his wife had taken to being in the public eye, albeit in the long shadow cast by their truly remarkable daughter. 
 
    He gestured at the overflowing In Box and the papers strewn across his blotter. 
 
    “None of this was here on Friday night,” he complained. 
 
    An America’s Cup campaign had been mounted and fought to the bitter end over four-and-a-half-thousand miles away and still the paperwork kept coming! 
 
    Jack Griffin grimaced sympathetically.  He too had been detained elsewhere over the weekend and the moment he had caught up with Peter Calleja - since his return from New York last month his new boss – that morning, he was heading directly to Luqa to represent the President-designate at a series of protocol and security meetings with the Army and the Police.  Malta was about to sink under the weight of incoming dignitaries, representatives, and miscellaneous VIPs and hangers-on jetting in from all around the world, and his new chief’s son-in-law, fresh from his legendary exploits in Nantucket Sound, had taken a very personal interest in the safety of all concerned.  Thus, he had seconded Jack to establish if the people making the necessary security arrangements could be relied upon to find their ‘own bottoms in a darkened room’, or not.  Jack had no doubt that Sir Peter would not hesitate to wade in if he believed anybody responsible for his wife and family’s safety was not pulling his, or her, weight. 
 
    “I believe you, Chief,” he assured the older man, gesturing at the cluttered desk with no little sympathy. 
 
    Before the racing commenced, the original plan had been to sail the Aysha III home from its temporary anchorage at New Bedford.  The west to east crossing of the North Atlantic, even as winter descended, was as every yachtsman knew a much to be relished passage with the trade winds blowing a boat home.  However, once the fight for the Cup was over and they got the boat out of the water and inspected her, the plans had soon changed. 
 
    The ‘Captain’ had pretty much wrecked her and she was sailing precisely nowhere until she had been in yard hands for a couple of months, her mainmast, canvas and rigging renewed and all manner of cumulative urgent equipment and structural defects put right. 
 
    Serendipitously, reports that the Aysha III had been held together by string, glue and not a lot more than a combination of prayer and positive thinking when the New York Yacht Club’s Constitution II had miraculously nosed past her to snatch victory – by little more than the length of her bowsprit - from the very jaws of defeat in their final dramatic no holds barred joust on the waters of Nantucket Sound, had instantly revived the furore which had attended the slow-motion, riveting cut and thrust of the competition in the previous ten days.  Not for the first time, Peter Calleja had been taken aback by his son-in-law’s innate ability to seize the moment; he really would have been perfectly at home on the quarterdeck of one of Nelson’s ships at Trafalgar, a definitive chip off the old block whose star had long since eclipsed that of the Fighting Admiral, the father with whom he had been if not at odds, then at cross-purposes most of his life. 
 
    Jack Griffin would have been back on Malta a fortnight earlier had he not had to sort out the raft of problems the US Customs and various other State and Federal organisations had magicked out of the ether to delay the return of the Number Three Boat – the team had first trained together on the Aysha II, the ‘Number Two Boat’ - to its home port.  It had suddenly come to light that there had been alleged mistakes and omissions in the original customs declarations, that the vessel ought to have been searched by the US Coast Guard before being allowed onto the water, and the local Police had, out of the blue, suspected on the basis of an anonymous tip-off, that ‘somebody’ had concealed unspecified ‘contraband’ on the boat as she was prepared for loading.  Oddly, none of the other ocean racers or gin palaces crowding Nantucket Sound during the duel by sail had been subjected to the same treatment before they were allowed to leave for their home ports.  It had made him, and a lot of other people, wonder how the team might have been treated if they had actually won the cup; presumably they would all be in irons locked up in Sing Sing by now! 
 
    Finally, the Balvenie Castle was carrying home the gallant Aysha III, the out-matched contender – disadvantaged from the outset by an entirely legal but decidedly underhand late change of the rules by the NYYC to which it had been too late to respond – which had very nearly bested the Constitution II, a racing hull that was, ironically, so state of the art, and so new and unfamiliar to its veteran crew that it had in the face of what the American’s called ‘reckless tactics’ on the part of the supposedly slower, clumsier pretender, lost three of the seven Cup races in the unusually stormy summer waters of Nantucket Sound.  The duel had gripped the attention of the world in the second half of July and the first days of August; once, Peter Calleja’s son-in-law had almost put the Aysha III on her beam ends, and on another, witnesses had suspected for several moments that he had actually driven her under.  The Superintendent Port Master of the Msida Yard chuckled thinking about that; for an Englishman his daughter’s husband, his namesake, was a very, very bad loser. 
 
    “It’s good the Number Three Boat might be back home in time for the great day, Jack,” he smiled at the scarred, four-square man who, on his return from New York had assumed the role of his deputy at the outset of what was now the campaign to bring back the America’s Cup in 1974.  Or as likely, 1975, given the heart-searching, prevarications and recriminations presently wracking the Committee of the NYYC now that his son-in-law had, with the irresistible weight of global and American popular public opinion at his back, forced – he said ‘talked into over a few stiff drinks’ – the New Yorkers into committing to publishing the rules and more importantly, the design parameters for future contender’ boats, before the end of the year.  In future, there would be no belated, secret gerrymandering of the rules in favour of the hosting committee’s yacht.  Moreover, at such time as those ‘rules’ were promulgated, the NYYC would also confirm the dates on, and the waters in which it proposed to invite challengers to race.  The older man sighed: “It’s just a pity that we won’t be able to get her back in the water for the celebrations.” 
 
    Jack shrugged. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle’s deck cargo had been in a near sinking condition, only kept afloat by an accompanying tug’s pumps when she was finally hauled out of the water at the old New England whaling port of New Bedford to be patched up ahead of the long tow to New Jersey to be loaded on board the old Liberty Ship. 
 
    The Aysha II, the yacht commissioned before the October War to race against the Americans in 1964 or 1966, was presently moored on the southern side of Marsamxett Harbour at Hay Wharf, Floriana, acting as the flagship of the Royal Malta Yacht Club, decked out with enough bunting to proverbially ‘sink a battleship’.  From a distance she was a slightly smaller, otherwise very similar incarnation of the worn out, beaten racer returning home on the old merchantman’s deck.  However, under the skin she was less slippery through the water and with her now oddly dated 1950’s rig, all wood and polished brass, significantly heavier than her larger laminate and aluminium, nylon-roped younger half-sister. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle, a creaking former Liberty Ship loaned to the United Kingdom as it began to rebuild its neglected merchant marine – part of the ongoing ‘lend-lease’ quid pro quo arrangements the Thatcher government had initialled with the Brenckmann Administration in the spring of 1970 – was listed to unload the Aysha III into the waters of French Creek before offloading a part of her mixed cargo.  Operating on a contract fifty-percent covered by the military, it seemed she carried everything from spare gaskets to grain and was charged with peripatetically wandering the central and eastern Mediterranean for the next month or two, picking up this, and dropping off that cargo at a dozen mostly skeleton Army or RAF outposts much in the fashion of an old-world tramp steamer touting for business, before reversing her course, hopping from harbour to harbour all the way back to her notional home port of Southampton.  Chartered to the Blue Star Line, the Balvenie Castle had apparently been awaiting scrapping, one of scores of ships in the US Navy’s ‘rusting Reserve Fleet moored in San Francisco Bay for two decades prior to her reactivation, transit to the Atlantic via Panama and handing over to her new British crew at Wilmington. 
 
    And yes, Jack Griffin had made a lot of enquiries about the old Liberty Ship and her crewing before he authorised the Number Three Boat to be loaded onto her as deck cargo. 
 
    The BFL had been oddly reticent about the Balvenie Castle, and that had struck the Bosun as a little strange.  But then the ship’s agents had quoted a ridiculously low ‘patriotic’ cargo rate and well, Peter Calleja and Jack had exchanged telegrams to the effect that it would be a mistake to look a gift horse in the mouth, especially as certain Irish ex-patriot elements in Boston had incited allies among fellow longshoremen to threaten to ‘boycott’ the boat, and finally the contract had been signed.  
 
    “Don’t you worry, we’ll have the Number Two boat strutting her stuff in the Grand Harbour, Chief,” Jack declared. 
 
    Peter Calleja suppressed a paternal smile.  The teak-hard man his son-in-law had asked him to mentor into the role of ‘Port Master’, and he had become firm friends in the last two years.  To Jack, he was always ‘the Chief’ in just the same way his daughter’s husband was always ‘the Captain’, although lately, he gathered that in private the two men had occasionally moved on to first name terms. 
 
    The Griffins and the Christophers had been a closely-knit team ever since their days in Philadelphia.  Jack’s wife, Mary, was Marija’s Appointments Secretary – her frighteningly competent Chief of Staff – and on the water and increasingly on shore, Jack was his son-in-law’s right-hand man. 
 
    As to Peter Calleja himself, nobody had been more surprised than he when, almost two years ago, practically to the day, his daughter had warned him that he was about to be asked to ‘temporarily’ come out of retirement. 
 
    Peter junior, goodness that sounded odd even when he said it in his head, had not beaten about the bush.  It helped that more or less from their first meeting, they had always got on well.  Nonetheless, his son-in-law had obviously been aware that what he was about to ask was no small matter. 
 
    Typically, the younger man had not beaten about the bush. 
 
    ‘Here’s the thing.  I’ve looked at what I’ve got on my plate in the next few years and come to the conclusion that I am going to have to delegate more than somewhat.  First, there’s politics.  Marija needs my whole-hearted support.  That’s a given.  Likewise, I’ve promised to do my damnedest to bring back the America’s Cup.  And a promise is a promise.  I do not have the time, or frankly, the inclination, to run the headquarters and dockyard end of the Cup campaign.  For that, I need a seasoned professional, ideally a well-respected local man with decades of experience running large yards.’  Peter junior had smiled that movie star smile of his.  ‘Somebody I can trust to act as my Executive Officer.  Please don’t make me get down on my knees and beg, sir.’ 
 
    Both men had dissolved in laughter at that point. 
 
    ‘Let me think about it…’ 
 
    Not that in reality there was an awful lot for him to think about, even after he had got past his surprise, and the warm glow of the proof of the high regard in which he was self-evidently held by his son-in-law.  That said, quite naturally he had wondered what exactly he was getting himself into.  True, he was a former Acting Director of the sprawling Admiralty Dockyards of Malta, he had a wealth of practical engineering and ship-maintenance experience, not to mention of the management of large and often recalcitrant work forces but he had retired on grounds of ill-health in 1968. 
 
    Inevitably, his dear wife had very nearly swooned when he had broken the news to her; fair enough, given that it was yet another radical change of course in their long lives, one that neither of them had seen coming any more than they had had the idea that one day their little princess would be so famous, or destined to be their home archipelago’s first President. 
 
    That day in 1970, he had learned that the America’s Cup campaign was to be mounted under the colours of the Royal Malta Yacht Club, and notwithstanding Peter Calleja’s son-in-law planned to take Maltese citizenship post-Independence Day, as did Jack and Mary Griffin, the optics of all the key leaders of the great endeavour being ‘foreigners’, outsiders, had seemed intrinsically…wrong. 
 
    He was, therefore, the perfect man to front the ‘Malta’ end of the campaign from Msida Creek. 
 
    Peter had demanded autonomy in recruitment and a free hand in his commercial dealings with other parties on the archipelago; his son-in-law had simply said: ‘Yes’, and subsequently, brought him onto the board of the holding company, Stanton Ocean Racing Inc, guaranteeing him a voice, and a vote, in the setting of his ‘on shore’ budget. 
 
    Peter senior had to pinch himself some days. 
 
    Marija and Peter had been very good to he and his wife; as ‘good’ and as generous as they had expected, or had allowed them to be to them.  They now lived in a villa at Ta’Xbiex on the other side of Msida Creek that commanded an idyllic view down most of the length of Marsamxett Harbour.  That had been at his daughter’s instigation; organised when she decided that her mother was having too much trouble negotiating the stairs to the family’s old Sliema apartment on Tower Street.  Peter, having suffered from a ‘bad hip’ for most of the previous decade, a thing which had hastened his retirement, had been flown to New York in late 1970 to have a ‘reconstructive procedure’ on his right hip, since when he had been like a new man.  This, like the villa in the district across the other side of Msida Creek, otherwise reserved for the proposed ‘diplomatic quarter’ of the new Republic, had actually been the gift of the Betancourt Foundation, the philanthropic arm of the business empire the remarkable Gretchen Brenckmann née Betancourt had inherited from her father. 
 
    That astonishing force of nature was, apparently, visiting Malta next week as the personal representative of her own father-in-law, the President of the United States, a man currently in the final throes of a likely sure-footed march to re-election next month. 
 
    Publicly, while Gretchen – ‘Congresswoman Gretchen’, the darling of the US media circus and to her faithful voters in Massachusetts – was coming to Malta as a family friend of the Maltese President-designate, matters of high diplomacy would be solely conducted by Secretary of State Doctor Henry Kissinger and his Soviet counterpart, an unknown quantity, a man called Gorbachev whose main claim to fame seemed to be that he had a prominent birth mark on his balding pate. 
 
    Relatively little advertised, Gretchen’s friendship to the archipelago was significantly more than cosmetic; nor was it any kind of passing fad, expressing itself in substantial; ‘dollar’ grants and generous long-term matched-funding schemes for educational and healthcare infrastructure, overseas training and internship bursaries and on Malta, everything from medical equipment, wholly subsidised year-long secondments of surgeons, general practitioners and nursing staff from US East Coast Hospitals to the archipelago, student exchanges and literally scores of scholarships to the best colleges in New England and California, to the provision of thousands of text books, and a plethora of basic teaching materials and classroom furniture to schools. 
 
    Notwithstanding her undoubted good works, the Superintendent Port Master still found Congresswoman Gretchen a little unsettling in person.  On the few occasions he had met her he had felt like he was standing in the eye of a storm that could sweep on by, carrying him away in an instant.  He guessed she was a different person, a different woman when she was with his daughter and son-in-law.  Perhaps, that was a British or an American thing, but Marija was the same with everybody… 
 
    Relaxing as the morning sun streamed into the room, more or less alone in the yard with a man he was proud to call his friend, whom he regarded almost as family, the older man complacently basked in his good fortune. 
 
    Life, generally speaking, had been very good to the Calleja clan in the last few years.  Nothing, of course, would ever erase the stain on the family’s name of his eldest son’s betrayal of everything that was right and proper in the world in 1964; but poor, deluded, misguided, bitter Samuel had paid for his crimes, his heinous sins against his own people and six years ago, by courageously laying her soul bare, confessing all, Marija had expunged much of the guilt of the living.  For her parents the grief and the aching loss remained, quietened with the passage of time, shaded now by their pride in their two surviving children. 
 
    In ten days, Marija would be the first President of an independent Malta, the world’s newest liberal democracy. 
 
    Her younger brother Joe, happily resettled these last twenty months on his home island with his wife, Luiza, and four bambinos, was now the Deputy Editor of The Times of Malta.  To have their children and grandchildren, eight in all – thus far – back in their lives, seemingly returned to the archipelago for their declining years, had made he and his wife’s lives complete. 
 
    Peter Calleja had flown to England several times in the last year as the guest of Lord Stanton, the amiable tycoon bankrolling the America’s Cup campaign – which was by any yardstick a veritable money pit – to confer with the naval architects working on the two new yachts at the Elephant Shipyard at Bursledon in Hampshire.  One vessel, a modified version of the Aysha III was seventy-five percent complete, based on what was known of the design of the NYYC’s Constitution II, the other was as yet just a keel and a collection of jigs and trial spars, her progress stalled awaiting the receipt of the new ‘twelve-metre’ rules under which the next challenge would be contested. 
 
    On his last trip to England just after the drama in Nantucket Sound had concluded, he had politely queried why in the circumstances, the Aysha IV was so advanced and why work was continuing on her even though everybody knew she would probably be, in America’s Cup terms, obsolete in less than three months? 
 
    ‘The yard needs the work to retain its best people and if the worst comes to it, there’s a ready market for high-class racing yachts in America and, my people tell me, Australia and New Zealand these days,’ Eric Stanton had cheerfully confided. 
 
    The man might be a true blue patriot but he was a hard-headed, immensely shrewd businessman too.  The America’s Cup campaign was not just a sporting enterprise, it was potentially a way for British shipbuilders to crow-bar their way back into the global market for ocean racing yachts and custom-built ‘sleek gin palaces’. 
 
    Apparently, Lord Stanton had already received ‘substantial bids and offers’ to take both the Aysha II and III off his hands and plans were afoot, whatever the outcome of the ‘new rules’ to expand the Bursledon operation to supply ‘quality ocean racers’ to the ‘commercial market’ to, in part at least, subsidise the ongoing America’s Cup quest.  Oh, if only the Admiralty Dockyards of Malta had been bankrolled by such a hard-headed business mogul in days gone by… 
 
    But that was a discussion for another time; everybody knew that the new republic would not be able to afford to continue to subsidise the operation of the Admiralty Dockyards in the coming years; certainly not to the financial tune the British had in the last decade.  And that was a problem because one of the reasons the US Sixth Fleet was based at Naples was that Dom Mintoff’s intemperate ‘socialistic’ utterings and generally high-handed attitude to the American presence in the Mediterranean was going to be a big problem in future when it came to finding work for the dockyards.  It was already clear that the Royal Navy’s presence was going to be shrinkingly symbolic and the re-opening French and Italian yards were increasingly hoovering up most of the mercantile ship repair and refitting business in the region.  The absurdity of the situation was such that the one dry dock big enough to accommodate the largest American aircraft carriers between La Spezia and Singapore – the Enterprise Dock - was at Valletta, where Peter had been Acting Superintendent at the time of its construction! 
 
    Turning his mind back to the affairs of his present, smaller, more manageable bailiwick, a lot of things were in the air at the moment; and they were – as a team - all, to a degree waiting to see how the dice landed.  Presently, the Msida operation was tip-toeing around an unavoidable hiatus.  It had been every hand relentlessly to the pump for the last eighteen months and now the Cup had been fought over and lost in Nantucket Sound, there was a deal of re-grouping, re-thinking and of earnest pausing to re-gather the team’s collective breath.  Men who had had no break, no opportunity to rest tired muscles and decompress stressed minds for up to two years had been sent off on six- to eight-week fully paid – all with generous bonuses, for many enough to buy or put down a sizable deposit on a family house on the archipelago – sabbaticals, and because the yard, located next to the much larger Royal Marines’ base, was likely to be in a ‘quiet’ repair and maintenance mode until the new year, rather than laying salaried staff off, short-term secondments had been organised with the object of helping to resolve the logistical ‘mess’ of the naval element of the soon to be, modest Maltese Defence Forces.  Other staff had been ‘volunteered’ to assist in the now frantic Independence Day preparations, meaning the Msida headquarters was practically deserted most days. 
 
    It was bliss; granted, there remained plans to be laid and the hard lessons of the Aysha III’s experiences in New England to be methodically de-constructed and analysed.  The New York Yacht Club and as many as three other challengers, would be better prepared next time.  That summer the NYYC had been complacent, and that would not happen again.  Next time, the Royal Malta Yacht Club would have to turn up for the fight with the best possible boat, and the best-led and prepared crew if it was to have any chance at all of even progressing to the final ‘Cup Challenge’. 
 
    Back in 1970 it had been hoped, somewhat naively it transpired, to recruit the best international navigators and helmsmen to race the Aysha III.  However, despite an early rush of interest, this had not proved possible.  Latterly, it seemed several high-profile yachtsmen had been recruited by an Australian syndicate, a South African team based in the Cape backed by De Beers, and a San Francisco-based consortium all of whom had started planning to contest the next Challenger Series even before the keels of the Aysha III and the Constitution II had got wet in Nantucket Sound.  This had meant that the Number Three boat had been marvellously – and lest it be forgotten, gallantly - crewed by men drawn from the surviving crème-de-la-crème of British pre-October War sailors, itself fortunately a very rich and deep pool of excellence.  What the crew had lacked in recent, cut-throat competitive experience it had made up for by dint of national pride and native pluck; nonetheless, ocean racing was both expensive and, well, a cut-throat business, so, the decision still had to be made whether to revert to the original plan, or to stick with the men who had achieved so much with so little in the cold, choppy waters of Nantucket Sound. 
 
    Wisely, it was a decision Peter Calleja’s son-in-law, the Skipper of the enterprise not just in name but in heart and sinew, had reserved to himself, and deferred until the spray from the racing in America and the dust from the forthcoming Independence celebrations had had a little while to settle.  Significantly, it was not a decision he was to make until he knew the specification of the next ‘Challenge boat’, and he had had the chance to speak individually with every single member of his existing crew one, to ascertain in principle if they wished to race again with him and; two, whether, if the answer was in the affirmative, they were able to commit to what might well be a three-year-long, very gruelling campaign. 
 
    Insofar as the Superintendent Port Master could tell, Lord Stanton, had been as surprised as everybody else except his son-in-law and his crew, by the unexpected nip-and-tuck nature of the nail-biting battles off the New England coast.  In no small measure, this had caused him to row back on his original vision of an internationally-crewed boat contesting the next America’s Cup.  Apparently, the great magnate had acquiesced without demure when his ‘Skipper’ had requested that every man of his crew be paid a retainer up to the end of March next year, by which time the full ramifications of the ‘new Twelve-Metre Rules’ promulgated by the NYYC would be known and understood, and each man’s personal circumstances and willingness, or otherwise, to submit to the ordeal of a new campaign had been fully, if not in some cases, exhaustively established. 
 
    Although Peter Calleja had a voice in all the ‘big’ decisions; his son-in-law always had the final word and notwithstanding a couple of notable ‘spats’, Lord Stanton had been as good as his word thus far.  But then the magnate was a wise enough man to have known that there was no point asking Captain Sir Peter Christopher, RN, KCB, VC, DSO and Bar to undertake the Herculean task of building a team capable of prising the America’s Cup from the NYYC, if one was not prepared to let him get on with the job. 
 
    Whatever it cost! 
 
    Pending the huge design, manning and tactical decisions that would have to be made in the spring, nobody expected much was going to get done at Msida this side of the forthcoming Independence jamboree.  So, for once, Peter Calleja and his new apprentice, firm friends nowadays, felt no guilt idly passing the time of day with each other. 
 
    They had met first in England in the eye of the storm of publicity in the days after the Battle of Malta in April 1964, albeit only in passing.  Peter Calleja and his wife had been transported to Oxford to be reunited with their daughter and their then new son-in-law, and all too soon, parted, not knowing if they would ever see their little princess and her knight errant again. 
 
    Thereafter, they had watched the young people conquer America and Australia, becoming in turn perhaps the most photographed and filmed couple in Christendom, public figures and so much more.  They had wondered, and worried, almost to distraction as their daughter’s star had risen, been bewildered by the inevitability of events; even now, it all still seemed vaguely bizarre that in a few days his daughter was to be anointed President of Malta.  Not least because although the reconstituted Parliament of the archipelago might have voted thus; actually, Marija’s elevation was as much by popular acclamation, and it worried her father that so much weight of expectation was being placed on her slim shoulders.  Marija was a thirty-six-year-old mother of four, the youngest, Margo Constance, not yet a year old, having been born on 27th October last year, the ninth anniversary of the war which had changed all their lives forever. 
 
    Jack and Mary only had the one child, Jack junior, a six-year-old ragamuffin rightly in awe of Peter Calleja’s oldest granddaughter, Elisabetta, who would be eight in December. 
 
    Jack was some three or four years older than the Port Master’s son-in-law, and Mary was, he believed, forty-one or two, so perhaps Jack would not be blessed by another son or daughter.  In any event, he got the impression that Jack and Mary were a couple to whom just the one child had been a wholly unexpected blessing, and thus, they were seraphically content.  Their own parents were gone: Jack’s father had been killed in the Second War, his mother had died in the 1950s, a consumptive; Mary’s mother had died before the October War, latterly she had discovered that her father, estranged and twenty years re-married had been taken by cancer in Boston shortly after she moved to Malta in 1970. 
 
    That made little Jack the Port Master’s and his wife’s ninth, honorary, grandchild. 
 
    That was another happy circumstance. 
 
    Peter’s surviving son, Joe, had adopted his wife’s two sons, and they had since had two daughters.  Joe was thirty-two, Luiza about the same age.  She had no birth certificate, no history, her past having been expunged by the evil men who had trafficked her to America some years before the cataclysm as a teenager.  Eventually, she had found sanctuary in a home for battered women in San Francisco, where her and Joe’s paths had, fatefully, crossed… 
 
    The Port Master collected his thoughts, remembering that they had business, of a kind, to run and things to discuss. 
 
    “How are we going with manning the Number Two boat, Jack?” 
 
    At Msida the Aysha II and the Aysha III had always been the ‘Number two’ and the ‘Number Three’ boats, and in documentation the customary shorthand was ‘N2’ and ‘N3’, the numbers stencilled on the flanks of their stems and below their full names and ‘Malta’ on their transoms. 
 
    “Half the members of the RMYC have already put their names into the hat, Chief,” Jack chuckled. 
 
    Peter sighed: “If we can crew her with three or four hands who know what they are doing, we ought to be able to take on board up to a dozen passengers?” 
 
    The Committee and the membership of the Royal Malta Yacht Club had, inevitably been side-lined in the last year or so.  In the next America’s Cup challenge the RMYC was going to be much more involved, and its privileges and good will assiduously nurtured. 
 
    Peter Calleja’s son-in-law had spoken and that was that! 
 
    Basing the Number Two boat at Hay Wharf, yards from the RMYC’s boathouse, and inviting members and their families on board as it joined in the Independence celebrations, was as good a way as any to start to mend one or two of the fences inadvertently kicked down in the relentless drive to get the Number Three boat to America in her best fighting fettle that summer.  The Port Master knew full well that his daughter and his son-in-law would already have salved a number of wounded egos and the bruised feelings of the mostly older men who felt they had been ignored, in their own inimitable way. 
 
    “Okay,” he concluded, “I’ll leave that to you, Jack.” 
 
    Peter knew that today was probably the last day his daughter would work a shift at the St Catherine’s Hospital for Women in Mdina before she was sworn into the Presidency.  Characteristically, she planned to continue to work at least two days a week as a midwife and nurse after her inauguration but neither her father or mother understood how that was going to be remotely practical.  But then their daughter had never been anything other than a joyous bundle of surprises to them; every time an obstacle was placed in her path she either moved it out of the way or persuaded somebody to help her around or over it. 
 
    Nevertheless, it would be a long time before they got used to their President being a woman, let alone that it was their daughter in the Presidential palace at Attard! 
 
    It really was a funny old world. 
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    Admiral Sir Henry Conyers Leach moved forward to greet Alan Hannay as he walked through the door to his office.  That summer, the new Labour Government’s decision to appoint the former Commander-in-Chief of the South Atlantic Task Force (CINCSATF) First Sea Lord and Chief of the Naval Staff had astonished the Navy, and Alan Hannay suspected, practically everybody else also.  Not that it had not come as a huge fillip to the hard-pressed service and the thoroughly downcast and fed up officers and men of the Grey Funnel Line.  In fact, it was hard to imagine any other news so universally putting a smile back on the faces of men and women who had, by then, all but forgotten how to smile.  That said, Alan could not imagine why Leach had actually agreed to accept the lethally poisoned chalice the incoming socialist regime had handed him. 
 
    “You have no idea how good it is to greet a friendly face again,” Leach chuckled, shaking the younger man’s hand with the enthusiasm of a man clinging to a life raft after a shipwreck. 
 
    “The feeling is mutual, sir.” 
 
    “As I indicated in my minute to you, I want to chat with you about Malta, Alan,” the First Sea Lord explained cheerfully, leading his guest to comfortable chairs by the window.  Had it not been such a dark, dreary, wet day Alan fancied he might have been able to glimpse the dreaming spires of academe above the compound’s distant perimeter wall.  “Hopefully, you’re not going to resign your commission or anything so idiotic about being ordered to sail a desk yet again!” 
 
    “No, sir,” Alan confirmed respectfully. 
 
    It happened that, knowing seagoing commands were as rare as hen’s teeth, and recognising that all things considered, he had had a good innings with the Naiad, he had been reconciled to a posting on shore, or even to being put on the beach on one-third pay.  Any prospect of being able to take Rosa and the bambinos back to Malta at the Admiralty’s expense was almost too good to be true.  Especially since he had assumed his promotion to captain – boosting his pension at some still far off date in the future - was probably the prelude to being removed from the active service list and placed in the Reserve. 
 
    “The FCO wanted you as Naval Attaché, or perhaps the new High Commissioner’s deputy – Sir Hugh Foot will remain on Malta as the United Kingdom’s High Commissioner for a few weeks, tidying up loose ends and enabling his replacement a short period of grace in which to get his feet under the table - but the diplomatic mission to the archipelago will be a relatively modest operation commensurate with the population of the archipelago, and so forth and besides, if we’ve got you on Malta doing a real Navy job, should the need arise, you’ll be around to do the normal diplomatic stuff you’ve been doing with such singular aplomb on and off most of your career, what!” 
 
    A stout WREN had followed Alan into the First Sea Lord’s rooms bearing a tea tray and departed. 
 
    “Well,” Leach continued conspiratorially, “for once it happens that the Foreign and Commonwealth Office’s agenda is the same as the Navy’s.  I don’t care if all we end up having permanently based at Malta is a couple of dinghies; I want to make damned sure that we retain the command and logistical infrastructure to beef up our presence there at short notice if we have to.  That will require detailed planning, co-ordination with the new republic’s government and maintaining the best possible working and personal relations with the people who matter on the archipelago.” 
 
    Alan held his peace. 
 
    He disagreed with nothing the professional head of the Royal Navy had just said to him. 
 
    “And that’s going to be your job, Alan,” Leach declaimed.  “Frankly, some of the people we have at Malta at the moment are complete asses.  They’d be top hole in a war situation but we aren’t.  In a war situation, thank God.  So, I want you to go there, surreptitiously knock heads together and do what you and Peter and your peerless wives did in America, make friends and influence people and hopefully, make sure we don’t get ourselves prematurely thrown out of Malta.” 
 
    Alan nodded thoughtfully. 
 
    “Our presence is more likely to wither on the vine than end in a blaze of acrimony, sir,” he observed.  “The golden rule, and all that.  The Americans have all the gold.” 
 
    “Well, the way I see it,” the older man re-joined, “the thing is to persuade the Maltese that they’ll miss us when we’re gone, whatever snake oil the US Navy sells them in the meantime.” 
 
    Working on the assumption that Dom Mintoff would not, hopefully, be the Prime Minister of Malta forever, it was inevitable that the US Sixth Fleet would, sooner or later, adopt the archipelago as its fleet base in the Central Mediterranean.  Alan, left this unsaid.  Instead, he felt obliged to point out something that was very much on his mind. 
 
    “I hope it is taken as read that I am not prepared to do anything that would put Lady Marija, or Peter, in an awkward position with their politicos.  If you are asking me to put the Service before friendship, well, in this case, that is never going to happen, sir.” 
 
    Given that Alan had just told the man who was if not God, then the sword-bearer standing at His right shoulder in the Navy that, he would rather resign his commission than risk, let alone actually, betray the trust of a friend in the name of duty, Henry Leach took it remarkably phlegmatically. 
 
    He said: “That’s fair enough, just do your best, Alan.”  And moved on to other topics.  “I’m off to Washington next week to have a pow-wow with Bud Zumwalt.  I’ve never met the man in the flesh.  Spoken to him over the telephone several times; but that’s not the same.  How is he going to receive me, do you think?” 
 
    Alan needed several seconds to consider the proposition because in any conversation about the restless force of nature that was fifty-one-year-old Admiral Elmo Russell ‘Bud’ Zumwalt Jr., the man President Brenckmann had nominated as Chief of Naval Operations – CNO - passing over a raft of more senior men, almost as soon as the crowds at his inauguration in January 1969 had begun to depart the scene, there was no straightforward answer to anything in particular.  It was hard to know if the man was a genius or a flim-flam merchant, not least because it was generally acknowledged by professional navy men the world over that he had been given an impossible job, a job that might have been designed to win a host of life-long, and very powerful implacable enemies.  He had been given the Herculean task of reforming, while simultaneously rationalising and increasing the US Navy’s global heft, and that was exactly what he had been doing for the past three-and-a-half years.  Old ships and old officers too set in their ways to embrace the new, technology-driven mantras had been ruthlessly winnowed out, respectively sent to the breakers or dumped, unceremoniously on the beach.  The US Navy’s last battleships had been struck, towed to scrappers or to quiet, museum ship berths, two new eighty-five thousand ton nuclear-powered ‘super’ carriers had been laid down, and the expensive conversion of miscellaneous aging cruiser hulls into state of the art missile-armed warships halted because ‘compromise’ was not a word in Bud Zumwalt’s lexicon.  Through it all, his President had stood guarding his back, egging him on and assuming Walter Brenckmann was re-elected, there would be no respite for the incompetent or the complacent in the US Navy for at least the next four years. 
 
    “If you tell him how bad things are,” Alan offered, “you and he will get on famously, sir.  But,” he hesitated, and after a pause, remained silent. 
 
    “Spit it out, Alan.” 
 
    “Admiral Zumwalt is at once the most political, and the most apolitical man in the US Navy but underneath it, you must remember that he’s all Navy.  Forgive me for my presumption, sir, I hope you won’t think me insubordinate if I say that in a funny way, you and he probably have a lot more in common that either of you know.  Talk Navy talk, don’t worry about what you think he might, or might not want to hear.  Just tell him how it is and well, like I said, you’ll get on famously with him.”  Alan wondered if he ought to say what he was thinking, really thinking, that was.  He said it anyway: “And whatever you do; don’t ask him for a squadron of old gunboats just to appease those penny-pinching nincompoops in the Ministry of Defence, sir.” 
 
    Henry Leach took this in.  Very few people risked being totally honest with him these days. 
 
    “I see.” 
 
    Alan grimaced: “I say that because if you give him the impression you are hankering for a cut-price return to the old, big gun days, Zumwalt and everybody around him will think you’re an idiot, sir,” Alan confided spreading his arms in apology, “and frankly, they’ll have every right to.  Zumwalt’s project is to build a twenty-first century navy, not a bigger, better twentieth century one, sir, and if we, as allies are to be of any use to him or the United States, that’s what we too ought to aspire to also.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord, a small, sometimes cheerily impatient man gifted with an infectious, twinkling sense of mischief, determined that now would be a good time to raise his tea cup to his lips and to pause to view the newly-minted young post captain over the steaming rim of his cup, while he re-ordered his moderately scattered wits. 
 
    If he had believed Alan Hannay would have accepted a senior post on his personal staff he would have promoted him commodore or rear admiral and press-ganged him then and there.  Problematically, the best officers were rarely biddable and there was nothing, literally nothing he could do that would intimidate or browbeat the man opposite him into accepting such a post. 
 
    “That’s exactly the opposite of what most people in the Admiralty are advising me,” he confessed. 
 
    “I might be wrong, sir.” 
 
    Leach shook his head, and sipped his tea. 
 
    Alan went on: “You should take the Minister of State for the Navy with you to Washington,” he advised, his tone speculative yet none the less emphatic to the older man. 
 
    “Sorry, no go.  If you’d met the man you’d understand!” 
 
    Alan tried to resist the urge to shrug. 
 
    “Okay,” he murmured, tight-lipped.  “I don’t want to intrude on any plans you might have made other than to meet the CNO and other senior Pentagon figures, sir,” he prefaced, “but whatever you do, you need to dine with the McCains while you are over there.” 
 
    The First Sea Lord blinked. 
 
    Not least because he was completely unaccustomed to comprehensively losing control of a conversation, any conversation; and somewhat put aback by the quiet, wisely delivered counsel he was getting from such a young man. 
 
    “I do?”  He asked, trying not to sound dumbfounded. 
 
    Alan nodded. 
 
    “John McCain junior is running for the Senate in Maryland,” he informed the First Sea Lord, trying not to give the impression that he was pulling teeth without anaesthetic.  “He doesn’t have a proverbial snowflake’s chance in Hell of winning, he’s claiming to be a Republican when actually, he’s a natural Independent in a solidly Democrat state.  He knows that and by the next time he runs, somewhere he might win, that is, he’ll be a plucky good loser and everybody will know his name, not just the names of the two distinguished admirals who were respectively his father and grandfather.  And his wife, who is still just nineteen, terrifyingly sparky by the way, despite being pretty much half his age, will be four years older and even more of a unique electoral asset.” 
 
    Leach had met ‘Mister Sea Power’ the former naval aviator’s father and President Brenckmann’s first Secretary of Defense, who had sadly passed, from pulmonary heart disease, in 1970.  Thinking about it, he now dimly recollected the junior McCain had married the youngest daughter of Viscount De L'Isle, the late Governor of Australia and distinguished Defence Secretary in Margaret Thatcher’s second administration. 
 
    He kept his mouth shut, not wishing to advertise his ignorance. 
 
    Alan Hannay explained further: “The McCains and the Brenckmanns are ‘family’, sir.  They are also very close to the Devowskis, Carl is the President’s military ‘bagman’ and Miranda, his wife, is the First Lady’s chief of staff, in all bar name.  In turn, both couples are immovable fixtures in Congresswoman Gretchen’s circle, and as you know, Gretchen Brenckmann née Betancourt’s husband is Daniel, the President’s historian second son, who these days has a hand in writing every important speech the President, the Vice President or his wife makes.  Completing the ‘family connections’, additionally, the man Gretchen frequently refers to as her ‘second best friend’ is Captain Walter Brenckmann junior, USN, the President’s submariner eldest son, he is a fully paid up member of Bud Zumwalt’s Navy Department brains trust, the senior staff officer with responsibility for the development of tactical policy for submarine warfare in the Pentagon’s War Planning Directorate.” 
 
    Alan hoped he was painting a picture. 
 
    He paused to await confirmation that his words were sinking in. 
 
    Henry Leach’s brow had furrowed in thought. 
 
    “You are telling me that if I can get myself invited to dinner with the McCains I might get invited to the White House?”  He concluded, correctly. 
 
    Well, almost; he did not know the whole story, or any of the players involved as well – at all, in fact – as Alan, and Rosa Hannay did and therefore he was unaware of what was, and was not possible in Washington DC. 
 
    “You don’t have to get yourself invited to either, sir,” Alan said, deadpan. 
 
    “Oh…” 
 
    Alan smiled tight-lipped. 
 
    “By your leave, my wife will speak to Lucy McCain, sir.  Lucy will be delighted to invite you and your senior aides to the McCains’ Georgetown residence and at that time, or shortly thereafter, I confidently anticipate that you will be informally notified that while you are in Washington, the President – another old Navy man - would like very much to renew acquaintance with the man who won the War in the South Atlantic.” 
 
    Henry Leach had met Walter Brenckmann when he and Peter Christopher had stopped over in DC to brief White House, State Department and Pentagon staffers as to the ‘true’ circumstances in which that war had concluded.  Inevitably, Peter had already known everybody, including the President… 
 
    “But won’t the President be on the campaign trail?” 
 
    “No, sir. My information is that he plans to return to Washington the weekend before the election and to remain at the White House for the following fortnight.  The campaign has taken its toll on the First Lady’s health and the President is a man with a very keen sense of family and of what does, and what does not really matter.” 
 
    Henry Leach mulled this over, feeling a little shell-shocked. 
 
    Alan smiled sympathetically, determining that a little exposition might be of assistance to the Head of the Royal Navy. 
 
    “When her father, Lord de L’Isle returned to England in 1966, Peter and Marija acted in loco parentis in respect of Lucy de L’Isle when they were in Yarralumla up until the autumn of 1968, primarily so that she could continue her education in a country where frankly, living conditions were relatively normal. From what I can gather, I think they all had a whale of a time together, Peter and Marija were like a big brother and sister to her and when they left, Lucy’s now husband’s parents stepped in.  I’m not sure exactly how that all came about but I know Peter and Marija got on famously with the Admiral and his wife, Roberta and later when they met him, John junior.  In any event, at the end of McCain senior’s tour as Ambassador in Australia, the family came back to Washington bringing Lucy who by then was already unofficially affianced to their dashing aviator son.  The couple married this spring; it was the society wedding of the year in DC.” 
 
    Alan smiled a little ruefully.  His two eldest bambinos had been respectively a page and bridesmaid and Rosa a key member of the select coterie of trusted older women, which included Miranda Devowski – whose son, Martin, was the lead page - and the President’s daughter-in-law, Gretchen, entrusted by the McCain clan’s sweet-natured matriarch, Roberta, to ‘look after’ Lucy ‘all the way to the altar’. 
 
    He gave Henry Leach another chance to absorb what he had heard.  Alan’s ‘A’ List of friends and contacts would shrink dramatically if Walter Brenckmann failed to fend off former B Movie actor Ronald Reagan’s tilt at the White House, while Bud Zumwalt’s star would almost certainly be eclipsed overnight if his champion was vanquished. 
 
    The First Sea Lord was frowning. 
 
    “Am I to assume that you’ve also offered to ‘connect’ members of the new government to our friends in DC, Alan?” 
 
    The younger man tried not to roll his eyes.  He guessed his good friend Nicko – Sir Nicholas Henderson – Peter Christopher’s successor in the Washington hot seat for the last six years must be at his wits end by now with the dolts running the Foreign Office. 
 
    “Nicko has been pulling his hair out,” he confessed, “the Prime Minister seems to think that even talking to the Americans is somehow dipping his hands in,” he shrugged, “excrement.  It’s ridiculous, the Prime Minister’s notion that by somehow being ‘even-handed’ with the Russians and the Americans everything will turn out all right in the end.  For goodness’s sake, it wasn’t Strategic Air Command that obliterated London and Liverpool and killed every third person in England on the night of the war!” 
 
    The First Sea Lord shared Alan’s momentary angst. 
 
    “Yes, I believe the Chief of the Defence Staff has indeed, pointed that out to Mister Shore,” Henry Leach remarked ruefully.  “Unfortunately, I am reliably informed that this and other incontrovertible facts do not presently strike an ideological chord with certain members of Mister Shore’s cabinet.” 
 
    Alan shook his head. 
 
    “Does that mean that when you return from Washington you will be jetting off to Sverdlovsk to confer with Admiral Gorshkov, sir?”  He inquired, a little mischievously.  “In the interests of treating each side even-handedly, I mean?” 
 
    The First Sea Lord’s chortle became a laugh. 
 
    Innocently, Alan raised his tea cup to his lips. 
 
    Life had been much simpler in the South Atlantic when all they had had to worry about was members of the Argentine armed forces trying to kill them. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 7 
 
      
 
    Thursday 19th October, 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    RAF Luqa 
 
    Malta 
 
      
 
    The Foreign Minister of the New Union of Soviet Socialist Republics  
 
    and his wife paused for a moment in the port forward door of the Tupolev Tu-134 jetliner, blinking in the harsh Mediterranean afternoon sunshine for several moments, before hand-in-hand, they unhurriedly descended the steps to the tarmac to where their hosts had rolled out the red carpet, fastidiously greeting Mikhail Sergeyevich and Raisa Maximovna, latterly very much the ‘golden couple’ of the Marxist-Leninist world, with the same respect and honour they had accorded to US Secretary of State Henry Kissinger earlier that morning. 
 
    Like Kissinger, the Gorbachevs were also on the first leg of a regional tour – breakneck competitive shuttle diplomacy conducted mainly for the sake of appearances - which would see Soviet and American legations each visiting three Middle Eastern capitals as their paths criss-crossed before their return to Malta to take part in the real business of their visits to the Mediterranean, up to two days’ of ‘bi-lateral US-Soviet’ summitry either side of next week’s Independence Day celebrations.  Tonight, the Gorbachevs and the US Secretary of State would dine with the President-designate of the world’s soon to be newest republic and tomorrow Gorbachev and Kissinger would hold brief exploratory sessions, hopefully, to prepare the ground for the hard-talking both men knew could not be avoided one week hence. 
 
    Fifty-one-year-old Mikhail Gorbachev could not help but smile as the band of 42 Commando, Royal Marines, lustily struck up the opening bars of the State Anthem of the Soviet Union.  As always it was all he could do not to start to sing.  An accomplished pianist, Gorbachev and his wife were great music lovers. 
 
    An unbreakable union of free republics, 
 
    Great Russia has sealed forever. 
 
    Long live, the creation by the people's will, 
 
    The united, mighty Soviet Union! 
 
    And then the collect before launching into the crescendo of the first chorus: 
 
    Be glorified, our free Fatherland, 
 
    Reliable stronghold of the people's friendship! 
 
    Banner of the Soviets, the banner of the people, 
 
    May it lead from victory to victory! 
 
    Sadly, the band called a halt at that juncture. 
 
    Fair enough, the British usually restricted themselves to the opening verse of their own national anthem! 
 
    His wife squeezed his hand; although whether it was because she was worried about the steps or struck by the dissonance of the music, was unclear.  If she had doubted it before, there was no mistaking that the British had really ‘gone to town’ on this reception.  The Governor of the Maltese Archipelago, Sir Hugh Foot was at the foot of the steps in his vice-regal white uniform, feather in his cap, sword at his side, a living anachronism supported by his wife in her summer finery, the elderly couple soon to be in the lengthening shadow of the two people the Gorbachevs and their daughter, travelling abroad with them for the first time, most wanted to meet in the whole world. 
 
    Raisa and her husband had remarked, more than once, how odd it was that the Foreign Ministry had not been able to contrive even so much as a chance encounter with ‘the Christophers’ in the twenty months Mikhail had been responsible for the external relations of the USSR.  Excepting, that was, her husband’s brief recent, accidental crossing of paths with Sir Peter in New York six weeks ago, at a time when the firestorm of publicity in the aftermath of the Aysha III’s controversial defeat in the deciding race of the America’s Cup had by far eclipsed his own miss-reported, supposedly stormy showdown with Henry Kissinger at the hastily arranged, now discreetly underplayed, thankfully nearly forgotten Shinnecock Hills Talks. 
 
    Today, the putative ‘First Man’ of Malta was attired in a grey-blue suite, out of uniform yet indubitably on parade, America’s Cup battles past and future temporarily set aside, his recent heroic defeat at the hands of the perfidious agents of the New York Yacht Club having elevated him, if it was possible, to an even greater near-legendary status amongst the people of these, and countless other islands.  The man who had been the valiant captain of the doomed Talavera, successively his beleaguered country’s patrician ambassador in America and pro-consul in Australia, and a hero again in the South Atlantic, now by fate the proud Commodore of the Royal Malta Yacht Club was, almost, as famous as his wife. 
 
    Gorbachev retained crystal clear recollections of his brief exchange with Sir Peter.  The younger man, recognising him had respectfully greeted him in Russian – with a dreadful Moskva accent but nobody was perfect – and promptly apologised, smiling a winning, movie-star smile, that his command of colloquial Russian was ‘pigeon’, communicating without saying as much, that he knew Gorbachev and his wife had been learning English from the moment he was elevated to the Politburo and appointed Foreign Minister. 
 
    Gorbachev had sympathised with the injustices the Englishman had just suffered at the hands of his ‘perfidious American hosts’ in the waters of Nantucket Sound. 
 
    The younger man had been philosophical. 
 
    ‘There’s a reason why the old cup has been held by the New York Yacht Club since 1857,’ he had smiled.  ‘Sport at the highest level is war by other means.  This time around they only remembered that when it looked like they were going to lose.  The next time, they won’t get away with changing the rules half-way through the game!’ 
 
    A minute later they had parted but not before the Englishman had remarked: ‘I invited Doctor Kissinger to come sailing with me when he’s next on Malta.  I’d be honoured to extend the same invitation to you and your wife, and to your daughter if she accompanies you, when you are on Malta in October.’ 
 
    Presently, the Soviet minister’s fifteen-year-old daughter, Irina Mikhailovna, was watching the tableau unfold with her nose pressed against a window from the safety of the aircraft’s cabin before being surreptitiously ‘smuggled’ – an in joke between her parents – into one of the waiting cars for the journey to the consular complex at Attard, a few minutes’ walk from the San Anton Palace, the official residence of the future presidents of the Maltese Republic. 
 
    The oddest thing was that Gorbachev had known that it had been no idle ‘diplomatic’ invitation because that was not the way the former United Kingdom Ambassador to America – and his wife – conducted diplomacy.  To them the conduct of international relations was always personal, they were as eager to look their foes as their friends in the eye, and they always understood what they wanted to achieve.  And one week from now, they would be and would be for the next seven years, the couple hosting the annual Malta Accords Summit, the one time every year that both the United States and the New USSR met formally to address and in some meaningful way attempt to resolve, their mutual differences. 
 
    President-designate of Malta, Lady Marija Elisabetta Calleja-Christopher’s expression was seraphic, her almond eyes fearless: “Nilqgħuk fil-paċi u ħbiberija dejjiema,” she said in her native tongue. 
 
    Her husband smiled, and translated: “We welcome you in peace and enduring friendship, Mikhail Sergeyevich and Raisa Maximovna.” 
 
    “Yes,” Marija beamed, “that was more or less exactly what I meant!” 
 
    Suddenly, the Russians were struggling to keep straight faces. 
 
    Hands were shaken and the women swapped air kisses, the men restrained handshakes forgoing – by prior agreement – further demonstrations of manly respect. 
 
    In the meantime, Sir Hugh Foot and his wife had stepped aside, leaving Marija and Peter to guide the Gorbachevs down the reception line.  Marija smoothly moved to thread her hand through the crook of the Soviet Foreign Minister’s left arm while her husband stepped to escort Raisa, gallantly offering his own arm, and the introductions began. 
 
    Mikhail Gorbachev felt as if he was walking on a magic carpet, a little in a daze, hardly registering the people being presented to him.  All too soon, he and Raisa were a little disappointed to be separated from their hosts, to be driven to the consular complex. 
 
    The Malta Accords had given the New USSR the freedom to establish a significant diplomatic footprint on the archipelago, matching numerically in personnel, if not in architectural splendour the brand new US Embassy complex nearby, or the capitalist luxury in which they lived, of the American diplomatic community on Malta. 
 
    That said, Malta was a much sought after posting in the reconstructed Soviet Foreign Service, a place in the sun where there was nothing much to do most of the time except to enjoy the relatively friendly surroundings, and to spy on the British and the Americans.  Remarkably, given the events of 1964 when Red Dawn had launched nuclear-tipped missiles at Malta, and later, the Red Army, Navy and Air Force had attempted to invade the archipelago, resulting in the murder of hundreds of civilians, there was very little residual public animus towards the Soviet presence at Attard and nowadays consular staff could move safely, and freely without fear practically anywhere.  In fact, apart from one or two ‘incidents’ with staff from the US Mission, life was bizarrely uneventful for the majority of the Soviet officers and the handful of dependents stationed on Malta. 
 
    The days when Soviet foreign service and intelligence officers could look forward to, and if they kept their noses clean, enjoy the good life in the ‘corrupt, bourgeoise and decadent capitals’ of the West were just a memory.  A much-reduced by 1962 standards, heavily-policed legation in Washington DC apart, elsewhere the British had shown no interest in restoring any kind of ‘normal’ diplomatic relations, likewise the French and although the members of the Nordic League – Denmark, Sweden and Norway – were at least engaging in conversations about exchanging missions at some undefined time in the future, even the Spanish and the Portuguese had refused entreaties to renew ‘normal’ diplomatic ties for fear of antagonising the United States.  Looking around the Mediterranean there was no meaningful Italian government, just a medieval fragmentation of regions and city states, Greece was an American air and radar base, the latest Turkish regime was demanding massive reparations for the damage wrought during the October War and later by successive waves of Red Dawn ‘infestation’, more or less in a state of undeclared war with the New Soviet Union, periodically blockading the Bosphorus and thereby shutting the USSR’s prime seaborne outlet to the rest of the world.  So, for those lucky enough to be posted to this idyllic island paradise, it was indubitably the greatest blessing that their famine and austerity-wracked nation had within its gift. 
 
    Of course, despite appearances, it was unrealistic to assume that the Maltese people had magically forgotten the bestial behaviour of the Red Army parachutists in April 1964, or the Red Navy’s merciless bombardment of the archipelago’s two airfields and the hundreds of innocent men, women and children who had died in the attempted invasion…. 
 
    Gorbachev tried hard to put this reality out of his mind; a thing easier wished than done when confronted by the leaders of peoples his country had, relatively recently, so grievously wronged.  However, confronted by Lady Marija’s smile, and under the twinkling scrutiny of those almond brown, all-seeing yet unjudging eyes he was oddly reassured, as if she understood that he at least, was not actually the hideous Stalinist monster so many people in the West assumed every Soviet apparatchik to be.  Meanwhile, his wife was being charmed by the tall, handsome man at the President-designate’s elbow, apologising for his ‘appalling conversational Russian’ with exactly the sort of dashing elan his voluminous KGB file suggested he was capable of switching on and off at the drop of a hat. 
 
    “I am told that you brought your daughter on this trip?”  Marija checked brightly in English, this time Gorbachev’s Foreign Ministry interpreter struggled to keep up with her. 
 
    Gorbachev glanced over his left shoulder back to the Tu-124, its engines cracking and creaking as they cooled in the sunshine clearly audible over the hubbub of voices, the clacking of the cameras and the murmuring of the crowd in the middle distance. 
 
    “Yes,” he murmured, struck then by a very peculiar thought. 
 
    Namely, that he and Raisa had been allowed to bring Irina with them on this first, high-profile overseas mission, was a very public, very deliberate vote of confidence in them by the Chairman of the Supreme Soviet and Secretary of the Communist Party of the New Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, Alexander Nikolayevich Shelepin, the man who had ruled what was left of the old Soviet Empire with an iron but by past Soviet standards, less than brutal hand since seizing power in the summer of 1964. 
 
    Eight years ago, Gorbachev and his wife had been a little surprised – pleasantly so, obviously – to have avoided liquidation in the purge of the failed Brezhnev regime, and even more surprised to then be sent to Vladivostok, where aged only thirty-four, Gorbachev had been appointed Commissar and Governor of the entire Far East of the USSR, including the Oblasts of Komchatskaya, Koryakskiy, Amurskaya, and Khaborovskiy and Primorskiy Kray, each vast, mainly sparsely populated territories where significant industrial infrastructure and societal cohesion had survived the October War.  Once they had got used to the idea that they were not to be summarily executed or to be worked to death in the Gulag, and had in fact, been adopted as favourite children of the empire, the Gorbachevs had carved out a new life for themselves in the east as around them the USSR’s second most important military-economic collection of relatively lightly damaged ‘republics’ began to recover.  Moreover, to the extent that it was meaningful to speak in such terms in the post-war era, they had overseen a ‘recovery’ that was not just industrial but population-wise, in which the living conditions of the men and women in the factories and the fields gradually improved year on year. 
 
    Moreover, in addition to watching over a rising standard of basic public services, they had begun the reconstitution of the eastern fishing fleets and brought great tracts of fallow land back under cultivation.  This, and their unswerving loyalty to the Supreme Soviet, Comrade Alexander Nikolayevich, and Gorbachev’s carefully managed ability to not draw attention to himself other than by the quiet, persistent competency of his administration across his vast domains, which had remained remarkably quiescent throughout his six years in the East, had not gone unnoticed by Chairman Shelepin. 
 
    Once each year, Gorbachev had flown back to Sverdlovsk to report to the Presidium, and then the Troika, and privately and at length, under searing scrutiny, to Alexander Shelepin whom, to his initial consternation he had found to be pragmatic, realistic and although intimidating, no kind of two-headed monster.  In fact, there had been times when Gorbachev had almost got the feeling that his feared master was weary of the deceit, conspiracies and cold-blooded murder – each on a truly epic scale – which had brought him to power in the first place.  Eventually, he had concluded that whatever his enemies said of him, Shelepin was a patriot who – keeping his enemies in the Party at bay apart – had worked night and day to save, re-unite and preserve the Soviet Union in the last eight years.  As long ago as 1966, his appointment in the East had elevated Gorbachev to the Politburo, and shortly before his recall from Vladivostok eighteen months ago, he had been promoted to the Troika, albeit as one of the four Politburo members who sat, by invitation not right, by rotation with Chairman Shelepin, and the Defence Minister, the redoubtable Admiral Sergey Georgyevich Gorshkov, on the USSR’s highest policy-making body. 
 
    Bizarrely, he had not prepared himself for the realisation that ‘the Christophers’ and he and Raisa were only separated in age by a handful of years; and that in the coming decades, they belonged to the generation that would rebuild the war-shattered world.  Had fate decreed that today was the day that daunting task would truly begin in earnest? 
 
    In the coming week he and his US counterpart, Henry Kissinger would roar around the Middle East with all the subtlety, to use an American analogy, of a cue ball scattering the numbers at the outset of a break on a bar room pool table but both men knew, they had to know because they were both accomplished ‘players’ that it was here, in Malta, where the real horse-trading was going to be done to preserve the Malta Accords that ensured the ongoing Cold War never, ever got ‘hot’ again in their lifetimes.  The truth was that regardless of what the Europeans thought about the one-hundred-and-seventy-four thousand square mile great de-militarised – devastated, largely de-populated and de-industrialised by the war - Continental Central European De-Militarised Zone (CCEDMZ) delineated by the Oder and the Eastern Niesse in the west, and by the Vistula in the east, the Baltic coast in the north and the 46th Latitude in the south, since 1968 it had provided a secure buffer between a latter-day version of NATO (the former North Atlantic Treaty Organisation) and the New USSR’s wasteland western borders. 
 
    Further to this, the annual ‘CCEDMZ Commission Meeting’ mandated under the 1968 draft terms of the Malta Accords provided an invaluable, fixed point in the diplomatic calendar for both sides, Soviet and American, to look each other in the eye.  Last year’s summitry had happened in the early spring, shortly before Gorbachev’s appointment as Foreign Minister, he planned to suggest that in future the yearly meeting between East and West should be around this time of year, specifically around the time of the anniversary of the October War, if only as a reminder to both parties of how easily things could go catastrophically wrong if either of them took their eye off the ball. 
 
    It had been a fascinating exercise to read the Malta Accord papers.  For one thing it had confirmed Gorbachev’s assumption that in former US President Richard Nixon, Chairman Shelepin had come up against another master poker player.  Nixon might have left office in disgrace, hounded out of the White House over what Gorbachev and fellow Politburo members regarded as ‘normal politics’ but whatever his own people felt about him; the man had won his civil war, crushed his armed enemies albeit only to be stabbed in the back by a nation he had saved from a disaster far worse than that the United States had suffered in October 1962, but not before initiating and driving through the Malta Accords, laying the foundations for a peaceful settlement of that war.  It was hard to think what greater gift the man could have bequeathed to the human race. 
 
    “Peter and I and our bambinos would so like to meet Irina,” Lady Marija said to him, her smile bathing Gorbachev and his wife with warmth.  She added, mischief twinkling in her eyes: “It must be so,” she smiled, “stuffy for her with nobody of her own age to speak to.” 
 
    “We travel with tutors,” Raisa replied, in English.  “Irina’s education is the most important thing.” 
 
    “Exactly!”  Marija agreed, her tone that of a woman who had just identified a kindred spirit, her expression speaking volumes to anybody who had eyes to see it. 
 
    She might have just shouted: “We shall be friends!” 
 
    “Irina will be honoured to be presented to you, Madam President Designate,” Gorbachev responded, his translator speaking a little more prissily than the situation required. 
 
    Not for the first time he acknowledged that he needed to do something about his language skills.  Raisa had a little French and conversational English, he was still at sea in any tongue spoken outside the borders of the USSR, although he was moderately fluent in several internal dialects, and passable in Georgian and Armenian.  He was going to have to find more time for his English lessons.  Of course, Henry Kissinger was no great linguist either but then in his position he had no need to be, whereas Gorbachev, standing here on the tarmac surrounded by people able to converse in a myriad of languages, felt a little naked, exposed. 
 
    “My daughter studies English with great assiduity,” he admitted, wholly inadvertently because he had been about to step on down the reception line.  “She will enjoy the opportunity to demonstrate her skills.” 
 
    It was a father’s overflowing pride talking; not the calculating diplomat seeking to exploit an opponent’s line of least resistance.  The odd thing was that he knew, at some intuitive level, that these people were not his, or his country’s enemies. 
 
    Gorbachev paused, looked around, and raised his voice. 
 
    “The future lies in our hands.  We live in peace, let us work together to strengthen the famous accords concluded by my esteemed predecessor.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 8 
 
      
 
    The Times of Malta 
 
    St Paul Street 
 
    Valletta 
 
      
 
    Thirty-two-year-old Joseph ‘Joe’ Mario Calleja, GC, the Deputy Editor of The Times of Malta had had to hire a roving team of photographers and stringers to ensure that the paper covered all the comings and goings at Luqa, without neglecting the plethora of celebrations in hand across the archipelago.  He would let the shareholders worry about the cost; if The Times had a reason d’etre it was to document the lives and work of the people of Malta, inform them as to goings on in the outside world and nowadays, to keep its readers abreast of the doings of their elected representatives.  In practice, particularly the latter, was a lot harder to do properly than it sounded; and good news gathering always came at a cost.  He should know, not that he was big-headed about it; he had trained in Journalism at Berkeley, honed his skills in San Francisco and Los Angeles, and then in Sydney, New South Wales where for two years he had also taught Political Science, and mentored would-be youthful ace reporters.  Then, for the last nineteen months he had been his old friend, Paul Boffa’s sidekick, and sometimes his enforcer because for all Paul’s international fame as the ‘boy tyro’ who had saved The Times of Malta from ruin in 1964, he was far, far too nice a man to be in this business. 
 
    Notwithstanding, when Joe had cavilled about the paper’s use of the appellation ‘GC’ on his official business card, Paul had stood his ground like a Lion at bay until he prevailed. 
 
    Joe’s had given his George Cross, awarded for his part in HMS Talavera’s last battle back in April 1964, to his Mama who ever after – most of the last eight years - had displayed it, like a shrine in the living room of first the family home in Sliema, and now in the salon of his parents’ new villa overlooking Msida Creek. 
 
    ‘All I did was pull the lever that launched the torpedoes,’ he used to protest.  At the time he had been in pain, scared witless and he had been convinced that he was about to die.  For the record, he was convinced he had fired one of those ‘fish’ inadvertently when that madman – ever since his bosom ‘mate’ - Jack Griffin had slapped him on the back with such force he had almost fallen off the destroyer’s quadruple 21-inch torpedo mount. 
 
    ‘That medal is the highest award anybody anywhere not in uniform can receive for valour and unlike the one the whole of Malta got back in the Second War,’ Jack had pointed out to him, ‘this one was actually pinned on the chest of one of Malta’s own!  You, old son!’ 
 
    He had had a similar, less vociferous, conversation with Marija. 
 
    ‘Peter,’ she had reminded him, ‘still doesn’t think he did anything to deserve his Victoria Cross.  So far as he is concerned, he was just doing his duty.  He had to be on the Talavera’s bridge; you had a chance to jump ashore but you stayed on board and then, you sat in that chair on top of those torpedo tubes and you sank those big Russian ships.  That was incredibly brave, little brother…’ 
 
    ‘Incredibly stupid,’ he had retorted. 
 
    “Coffee, Papa!” 
 
    Joe snapped out of his reverie, remembering he had been blue pencilling most of the text of an incoherent, rather tedious article about a meeting of the Executive Committee of the General Workers Union, which still represented the majority of the men employed at the Admiralty Dockyards of Malta.  Somewhere beneath the clumsy prose there was probably a story, granted, not a very interesting one, about one of Dom Mintoff’s nominees to the Union’s Welfare Committee encountering half-hearted but well-intentioned resistance from the Electricians Chapter of the organisation.  Joe had been a dockyard electrician; but he and his brothers had been a much ‘Bolshier’ lot in his day, in retrospect, a little coven of would-be Marxists.  For him, that had been a phase that he had put behind him long before the British interned him in 1963.  It was all ancient history now, thank goodness. 
 
    A metal tray clanked at his elbow. 
 
    “Thanks, Freddie,” he grinned conspiratorially. 
 
    His eldest – adopted – son, christened Federico but thereafter answering only to ‘Freddie’ had tagged along to the office of The Times throughout the school holidays in the last year, and with the archipelago gearing up for the big day next week and several of its buildings having been requisitioned by the local council, his school in Sliema had declared an extended half-term.  Malta’s kids thought they were in seventh heaven; after the weekend, from Monday to Wednesday all over Malta and Gozo youngsters would be readying themselves to march, mount historical pageants and helping to set up the countless street parties planned for Thursday.  The whole of Malta was a little giddy, in fact.  Which was exactly why he and Luiza were so keen to do everything they could to keep things on an even keel for their bambinos. 
 
    Freddie was twelve now, his birthday had been last month. 
 
    Joe had met him on the doorstep of Miranda Sullivan’s refuge for battered women on Haight Street, San Francisco at a time when he was still finding his feet at Berkeley.  That had been back in 1967 and thinking about it, marrying Luiza and adopting Freddie, and her infant bambino, Julio, had seemed the most natural thing in the world.  Their daughters, Margarita and Miranda, had been born within two years of each other in Sydney, completing their family.  Freddie and Julio had never known any other father than Joe, and to him they were his sons, it was not and did not need to be any more complicated than that and he was devoted to them.  As to Luiza, God must have been watching over him that day at the house on Haight Street because from that moment onwards, she had been the only woman for him. 
 
    Freddie was the self-appointed office ‘tea boy’ – a generic title since most of the paper’s staff drank coffee these days – and tireless errand runner.  He loved it.  Most of all when the presses began to run and the whole building hummed and reverberated with their rhythmical, thrumming motion on the ground floor.  Joe suspected the kid had printer’s ink in his blood and like his adoptive father the newspaper business in his soul.  His little brother, Julio, was his mother’s boy; Freddie was Joe’s and as he grew - in no time he would be his adopted Papa’s height - they were increasingly big brother, little brother whether it was kicking a ball around in a yard, swimming in Sliema Creek, or haunting the offices of The Times of Malta, inseparable. 
 
    Luiza occasionally chided her husband for spoiling the bambinos, but only in passing.  Her life had been unimaginably hard, neither Freddie or Julio had an acknowledged birth father, and she had been abused like a common harlot by a succession of rich Californian families who had treated her as little better than a slave, a chattel to do with as they pleased before that fateful day in early 1967 she had thrown herself on Miranda Sullivan’s mercy.  And her world had begun, at last, to change for the better. 
 
    Of course, Miranda Sullivan was now the wife of Colonel Karl Devowski, the US President’s Personal Military Assistant, and had been First Lady Joanne Brenckmann’s Appointments Secretary for most of the last four years.  But then a lot of things had happened in the last decade that none of them could have foreseen that night back in October 1962 when Joe, and his big sister, had hurried down to Sliema Creek to witness the ships of the 7th Destroyer Squadron desperately trying to raise steam to escape out to sea, and everything had changed forever.  Fate, kismet and all that had touched and guided the Calleja family ever since. 
 
    Joe’s only problem with having Freddie with him in the office was that he was liable to get so engrossed in his work that he forgot to feed and water his son.  Justifiably, this did not go down very well with his mother even though Freddie was perfectly capable of browsing throughout the day living on coffee, tea and biscuits, or sharing the sandwiches and savoury cakes many of the upstairs journalistic staff, and the printers downstairs brought into the building.  Tonight, Joe had Luiza’s permission to let Freddie stay late into the evening as the presses ran and tomorrow’s edition started coming off the line. 
 
    Freddie and Julio both spoke English with a distinctive Australian twang, and Maltese like natives; Freddie also spoke Spanish whereas Luiza was never going to be fluent in the archipelago’s tongue; she tried her best but it was just too confusing.  Joe had consoled his wife with the thought that even Peter, her esteemed brother-in-law had struggled with and tacitly admitted, in part at least, semi-defeat coming to terms with Maltese, getting by with a halting, well-meant version of a colloquial, schoolboy command of the language.  Luiza’s first language was, of course, Spanish, her second English acquired by trial and error, untaught; and Joe was incredibly proud of the valiant attempts she had made, and continued make to be the best Maltese wife she could possibly be. 
 
    Joe was not a very spiritual man, whatever lip-service he paid to his dear Mama’s conviction that she had brought him up to be a good son of the Catholic Church; but when he stopped to think about it, one way and another, God had been very good to him the last few years. 
 
    He watched his son progressing around the claustrophobic news room before, with a reluctant sigh, turning back to the article he was editing.  He decided the piece was unrecoverable and reached for the phone to find out where its author – or did he mean ‘perpetrator’ was – because he needed to re-submit, or have his work well and truly spiked and Joe, despite his sometimes hard-bitten, man of the world veteran reporter reputation, wanted to have a salutary and very quiet ‘chat’ with him first.  As his brother-in-law had once explained to him: ‘Shouting at people makes some chaps feel good about themselves but it hardly ever achieves much; that’s why I try, very hard, never to raise my voice to a subordinate, or to anybody I know can’t come back at me in kind.  If people think you are trying to be fair to them they will run through walls for you.  Well, sometimes, anyway!’ 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 9 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    Off Gibraltar 
 
    Western Mediterranean 
 
      
 
    The game of cat and mouse with the Soviet November class boat had ended last night when the Balvenie Castle had turned north for Gibraltar.  In an ideal world, Noel Haggard would have trailed along in the other submarine’s propellor wash but, orders were orders, however nonsensical so, he had parked Courageous some miles south east of ‘the Rock’ and waited for the antiquated Liberty Ship to resume its slow passage to Malta.  His mood had not been improved when the signal had been received informing him that the minesweeper HMS Tarlton would also be accompanying the merchantman on the next leg of its journey. 
 
    ‘Why the Devil do we need to be creeping around barely making way when the powers that be have seen fit to assign an additional escort is beyond me,’ he confessed to his Executive Officer. 
 
    ‘Those Ton-class ships only carry a 40-millimetre gun,’ Tim Dunbar-Naismith had commiserated. 
 
    And, unfortunately, probably also a Type 193 mine-hunting sonar which meant that Courageous was going to have to keep her distance from the four-hundred-ton minesweeper and her lumbering charge, unless that was, she made the whole trip to Malta – the best part of thirteen hundred nautical miles – directly beneath the keel of the old Liberty Ship. 
 
    Worryingly, it had occurred to both men that the latest development, particularly given the antics of the Soviet submarine they had encountered off Cape Trafalgar and its use of the Balvenie Castle to conceal its entrance into the Mediterranean, that Fleet Headquarters and the Operations Centre at Faslane might not actually be singing from the same hymnal.  This was not a comforting thought, the left hand not knowing what the right was doing had caused untold global grief in the last few years.  Moreover, their concern had only been partly assuaged by the receipt of a further signal informing them that the USS Thresher (SSN-593) and the USS Tinosa (SSN-606), were currently on station in the Mediterranean west of the 15th meridian – that is the line of longitude immediately east of the Maltese archipelago – and had been ‘warned that Courageous was operating within their ‘patrol zones’.  There was no more proprietorial navy in the world than the US Navy, especially post the events in the South Atlantic in the winter of 1969-70. 
 
    It was enough to make any British submariner wistfully hark back to the good old days when Simon Collingwood and the Dreadnought were roaming these very waters in 1964, operating under orders which eventually amounted to a licence to kill at the one-sided Battle of Pathos Bay, when he had single-handedly, wiped out a whole Red Dawn invasion armada.  Later, this time in the western half of the Mediterranean, Francis Barrington had avenged a sneak attack on HMS Hampshire by sinking two rogue French separatist destroyers off Ajaccio, and by then conducting a one-boat reign of terror against the Front Internationale’s ramshackle flotilla in the Bay of Lions.  Sadly, the days when a boat’s fighting bibles were a copy of Jane’s Fighting Ships and the Lloyds Registry were long gone, these days it was all about sonar profiles and – if the damned things ever worked – fire and forget or long-range wire-guided fish launched at distances that denied one the sight of the enemy by even the most acute of Mark I human eyeballs. The way things were, it was not beyond the realms of possibility that Max Forton, commanding the Warspite in the South Atlantic, might be the last Royal Navy man to ever fix a hostile warship in the sights of his attack telescope before giving the order to ‘shoot!’ 
 
    Now, unless the USN elected to interpret Fleet Headquarters’ notification as a straightforward ‘please stand off’ request; Courageous was going to have two US SSNs moving heaven and earth to be the first to lock her up in a ‘no escape’ firing solution! 
 
    Worse still, knowing their luck, the Admiralty had probably even told the blighters where to find her! 
 
    However, in the meantime, the boat idled in the current at four-hundred-and-seventy-five feet, taking advantage of a thermocline generated in the water column by the shallow coastal waters suddenly falling away to near abyssal depths only a few miles off shore.  In the Second War British and Axis submariners had hated the crystal clear blue waters of the Mediterranean but only because their boats could not safely dive deep enough to find invisibility in the blackness below.  The ‘Med’ is over two miles deep in several places and almost everywhere, including in sight of land, the bottom is many hundreds and more usually, thousands of feet down.  For modern submersibles, and particularly for nuclear boats, it was a marvellous playground.  Nearer to the shore where rivers fed fresh water into it, thermocline conditions were common, providing layers of water with alternating salinity and temperatures to frustrate sonar searches.  Like a great, whale-like steel shark Courageous glided, sometimes uplifted, at others, drawn down, shielded by the invisible turbulence of the sea around and above her from inquisitive hydro phone ears and passive sonars. 
 
    In the days prior to Courageous departing the Gare Loch there had been some discussion about sailing with a small cadre of Marconi boffins and technicians on board, whom it was posited, might benefit from tinkering with the four Tigerfish torpedoes onboard a submarine at sea free from ‘managerial’ and therefore, ‘bean-counting’ interference, whilst surrounded by men whose job it was to actually use the infernal beasts in action.  Nothing had come of that, which might have been a crooked metaphor for the entire Tigerfish Project.  To date, it was estimated that perhaps one-in-three launches had gone ‘as specified’; the trouble was it was hard to know for sure what was, and what was not working because the Tigerfish had a maddening tendency to ‘dip’ as it left its tube, breaking its ‘guide wire’.  As a consequence, very little useful data had been gathered from the majority of the full-blown operational tests carried out at sea. 
 
    Noel Haggard was not the only submarine commander who was more than a little chary about carrying fish that he did not think worked; but somebody at the Ministry of Defence had obviously decided that as the bloody things had cost so much to develop – albeit to their present state of near useless inoperability – that the Navy ought to be seen to be doing something with them.  Good men’s careers had been traduced by Tigerfish, and had a tranche of other blameless officers not been sent ashore by the brutal cuts in the Navy’s estimates in the last two years, even more would probably have been claimed by the scandal. 
 
    The problem was that from the outset the Admiralty had wanted too much too quickly from Project ONGAR, the harmless sounding name of the long-range, fast, wire-guided, deep-diving, high-pressure oxygen, active/passive heavyweight homing torpedo program. 
 
    At the Tigerfish’s inception in the hazy, lazy mists of that halcyon post-Second War period in the mid-1950s the technology to make it happen simply did not exist.  Logically, when the October War came along the sensible thing to do would have been to quietly abandon Project ONGAR as a bad deal sometime in 1963.  Whereas, in the aftermath of the cataclysm the Navy had found itself scrabbling around for something, anything, a single ‘world-beating’ program to proclaim that it was still a modern, and more importantly in technological terms, a going concern.  To sum up: Tigerfish was the wrong project in the wrong place at a particular, somewhat concussed moment in history. 
 
    Ironically, there was a very good reason that the whole dreadful farrago was called Project Ongar; Ongar was the last station on the London Underground’s Central Line and the Tigerfish was supposed to be so earth-shatteringly advanced that it would represent the ‘end of the line for torpedo development.’  Which of course, was at one and the same time disingenuous linguistic sophistry and oxymoronic technical stuff and nonsense.  As if to prove the whole project was cursed, even when it belatedly got off the ground, soon afterwards, in 1959, the chinless wonders in Whitehall suddenly switched development from the Torpedo Experimental Establishment at Greenock (where all the experts in the field worked) to Portland (where the boffins did whatever they did in their hermetically sealed little world with little or no reference, or interest in anything else that was going on in the world beyond their laboratories) in Dorset, presumably to save money or more likely, to give the Soviets a chance to catch up and overtake the Royal Navy in contemporary torpedo design.  Subsequently, not even ‘radical changes’ – weasel words, jargon for stripping out capability and systems performance - to the torpedo’s specification had helped overmuch.  Originally envisaged to have an attack speed of fifty-five knots, by stages this requirement was slashed to thirty-five, and when the program stalled, bafflingly, it was decided to instal the already aging acoustic homing and the wire-guidance systems of the existing then also developmental, Mark 23 in the first ‘mods’ of the supposedly operational Tigerfish.  Infuriatingly, this might actually have advanced Tigerfish’s deployment at sea by months or years; had not somebody else at the Ministry mandated that the torpedo’s crush depth should be doubled from one-thousand to two-thousand feet, even though there was no submarine in the fleet – anybody’s fleet - with a test depth anywhere near half that depth at the time. 
 
    Project Ongar was, basically, an object lesson in how not to do naval weapons development and procurement.  Which was why even the new Labour Government was as keen as the outgoing National Conservative administration to keep a firm lid of secrecy on the whole, ghastly saga.  Leaving, as usual, the Navy to make the best of a very bad deal. 
 
    The more things change; the more they remain the same… 
 
    The four Tigerfish loaded at the Gare Loch were Mod 1Bs which, allegedly, were no longer ‘wire-breakers’ and carried the latest ‘tried and tested’ – all Navy men had heard that one before! – passive sonar acquisition and active terminal homing ‘module’.  With a seven-hundred-and-fifty pound Torpex warhead each fish weighed in at a ton-and-a-half, and was twenty-one feet long.  Undeniably, they looked deadly enough from a distance; oh, if only looks were everything… 
 
    Fortunately, the Courageous’s trusty old Mark VIIIs and, despite miscellaneous unnecessary and possibly ill-conceived modifications, her Mark 20 ‘homers’ were still worth the treasure and the metal expended upon them, even if the vaunted Tigerfish ‘end of the line for torpedo development’ fire and forget long-range submarine and ship-killer, remained very much a paper Tiger. 
 
    Noel Haggard tried not to waste time fretting over such matters.  Just because his Tigerfish were no more than several tons of useless ballast, he was mightily intrigued by the materialisation, seemingly out of nowhere, of the November class submarine and the relative aplomb with which she had been handled during the passage through the straits into the Mediterranean.    While he had gone searching for thermoclines all the way down to seven hundred feet, his Soviet counterpart had parked his boat beneath the Balvenie Castle for over three hours before making a break for the east.  Courageous had listened to the Red Navy submarine clanking away into the distance for nearly an hour before losing contact with her. 
 
    The scenario nagged at him, an itch he could not scratch.  That Soviet boat had appeared at just the right time to latch onto the Balvenie Castle, and thus been able to navigate the narrowest part of the straits into the Mediterranean with relative stealth.  But for Courageous’s presence, the Soviet boat would have got into the Mediterranean undetected. 
 
    It was all very odd. 
 
    Especially, that November class boat turning up at the very time Courageous was waiting for the Liberty Ship to plod out to sea from the Tagus Estuary.  These waters were not as busy as they would have been ten years ago, nevertheless, there had been several other ships in the straits by the time Courageous followed the Russians and the Balvenie Castle into those ‘narrow’ waters and others coming and going, albeit at a greater distance.  So, why had the Russians latched onto the particular ship Courageous had been sent to watch over? 
 
    If the Admiralty, or perhaps the C-in-C Gibraltar had assigned the Tarlton escort duties, all well and good but why leave Courageous’s tasking unaltered? 
 
    The western Mediterranean was not exactly a pirates’ paradise, there were very few remaining malcontents and ‘merchant adventurers’ the Tarlton’s 40-millimetre cannon could not deter or if it came to it, deal with.  And besides, there were aircraft at Gibraltar and Malta able to offer assistance and the US Sixth Fleet increasingly took an extremely dim view of piratical freebooting in what it regarded as its sea.  Moreover, the days when a port sheltering modern-day corsairs lived in fear of being visited by a Royal Navy frigate or destroyer on a mission to deliver a radar-predicted admonishing twenty-one gun salute from several miles offshore, were still very fresh in the memory.  All of which convinced Haggard that Courageous’s mission had just become even more irrelevant. 
 
    None of which he, or his second-in-command communicated by word, deed or expression to the submarine’s crew.  Running silent, creeping around in deep water searching for concealing thermoclines, maintaining a watch on-watch off regime might have been designed to snap the chaps out of any lingering sense of complacency about the patrol.  Moreover, if Tarlton was going to be in close company with the Balvenie Castle, Courageous could stand off at a distance, possibly tens of miles and carry on working up to the highest possible pitch of efficiency as if this was just a training cruise. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 10 
 
      
 
    Friday 20th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    HMS Talavera 
 
    18 nautical miles East of the Grand Harbour 
 
    Central Mediterranean 
 
      
 
    The three-year-old Leander class frigate Talavera was holding station less than half-a-mile off HMS Eagle’s port stern quarter, operating as plane guard, and thus in a superb position to observe the Royal Navy’s only operational aircraft carrier launching and recovering its McDonnell Douglas Phantom II supersonic interceptors and its subsonic Blackburn Buccaneer S2 strike bombers. 
 
    The Eagle was making twenty-two knots into a blustery north easterly wind – a proper Maltese gregale in the making - that was strong enough to raise white caps and for the Talavera, and her companion Leander, the Yarmouth, ranging the seas a mile to starboard of the fifty thousand ton carrier, to occasionally ship spray, although not yet green water, over their bows. 
 
    Each time she felt the touch of briny moisture on her face Elisabetta Calleja-Christopher giggled and almost but not quite suppressed a yelp of delight as she clung to the bridge rail, her shoulder-length nutmeg brown hair streaming away as the frigate steamed hard into the weather to keep pace with the Eagle.  Periodically, she glanced at her partner-in-crime cum acolyte, Jack Griffin junior.  The boy was a red-headed ball of fire, about the same age as Elisabetta’s brother Miles but built for a rough and tumble.  Despite the fact he was just six and Elisabetta would be eight in December, they were inseparable, tireless chaos-making dynamos.  However, today Jack junior’s mother, Mary; and Elisabetta’s papa, had taken firm holds on each miscreant’s collar the moment the party had stepped out onto into the spume-flecked breeze ripping across the narrow flying bridge to get a better view of the action as the Eagle, having launched a pair of Buccaneers, now steadied to land the last of her aircraft, two Phantoms, which had been parked at RAF Luqa while she was briefly in dockyard hands earlier in the week. 
 
    A Westland Wessex III anti-submarine and search and rescue helicopter loitered between the Talavera and the Eagle, ready to swoop down if anything untoward occurred, specifically, if an aircraft went down in the water or its crew had to eject. 
 
    Miles, Elisabetta’s brother watched the first of the Phantoms approaching – seemingly riding a wall of thunder from its great turbofans – with quiet fascination, ignoring the ecstatic, bouncy gyrations of his sister and Jack junior, his hand holding his mother’s hand while he almost dreamily experienced the drama around him. 
 
    The Navy had pulled out all the stops to make a show of its presence during the Independence celebrations.  The worn out old cruiser Lion was moored in the Grand Harbour, glinting like new on the surface but these days reduced to the role of a training ship, with most of her weaponry now deactivated.  In contrast, the middle distance to the east the radically modified County class destroyer Norfolk manoeuvred in tandem with the eight thousand ton USS Sterett (CG-31). 
 
    At one time the US Navy had planned to send the USS Forrestal (CVA-59) to join the Independence Day party but behind the scenes somebody must have pointed out to the White House that another, larger ‘flat top’ would tend to steal the Eagle’s somewhat lonely fire; thus, the largest of the seven American warships at Valletta in the coming days would be the USS Chicago – an old Baltimore class heavy cruiser converted into a futuristic-looking guided missile platform a decade ago – temporarily flying the flag of the Deputy Commander of the Sixth Fleet, Rear Admiral Thomas Bibb Hayward. 
 
    Marija, Peter, Mary and the three youngsters had boarded Talavera at daybreak that morning at her moorings in Sliema Creek, where her Battle class predecessor, a member of the 7th Destroyer Squadron, had been based during those fateful weeks in the spring of 1964. 
 
    Peter had visited the frigate shortly after her arrival at Malta, a private visit to dine with her captain, Commander Adam Canning, whom he had seen last in Stanley Harbour when the two men had bidden each other stiff-lipped farewells on the quarterdeck of the crippled heavy cruiser Liverpool.  In the post-Falklands Royal Navy, promotions had been frozen and plum commands were in short supply; but at least the Admiralty had done right by Peter’s former second-in-command in the South Atlantic even if these days, the majority of frigate and destroyer commands were time-limited to a duration of only twelve months. 
 
    Adam Canning had come aboard Talavera in June, the ship’s fourth commanding officer in her less than three years in commission.  However, the two men had not wasted time bemoaning this; the world was as it was and there was precious little that they could do about it.  So, they had talked about their families, mutual acquaintances and about the ‘order of play’ for today’s ‘cruise’. 
 
    Peter had forewarned Adam Canning, whom he could now regard as a friend – a man in command of one of Her Majesty’s Ships had no friends in his wardroom or his crew while he commanded – that ever since Marija had toured this very ship in 1970, she had been drawing up a long list of questions for her officers and men! 
 
    ‘We shall look forward to fielding them with no little anticipation,’ the other man had assured him, clearly struggling a little with the idea that only days before she formally became the first President of the Republic of Malta, his former Captain’s wife clearly viewed the forthcoming cruise as one of the highlights – if not the highlight - of the run-in to Independence Day. 
 
    Of course, the star of the show on Talavera’s trip out into open waters to join the Eagle and the Yarmouth had been Elisabetta, intent to clamber everywhere she was not supposed to clamber, and to pose in a hundred photographs on the laps, shoulders and held up by laughing, wholly entranced members of the frigate’s crew.  From the moment the little girl stepped aboard it was clear that short of letting her shoot off a Sea Cat missile Adam Canning and his officers were happy to indulge her inexhaustible curiosity in all things as they wondered, as her parents had since the day she was born, at the little girl’s boundless energy. 
 
    Seeing that Marija was gazing at the Norfolk and the big American guided missile cruiser, manoeuvring beyond her, an officer offered her his binoculars so that she could get a better view of the two most modern ships in the Eagle’s battle group. 
 
    “Those ships’ Terriers,” he explained, speaking of the primary surface-to-air missile systems carried by the USS Sterett and her modified British counterpart, can take down aircraft flying at supersonic speeds at a range of fifteen or sixteen miles, Ma’am,” he explained.  “Our Sea Cats are for work closer in…” 
 
    The young man’s voice trailed away; suddenly, he remembered he was speaking to the wife of the hero of the War in the South Atlantic, not to mention an earlier now legendary battle in these very waters; she would know exactly how ineffectual the GWS 21 system was against anything faster than a target drogue slowly towed in an arrow-straight line within a couple of miles of its launcher.  The system had performed so poorly in the South Atlantic that even a government desperate to maintain heavily subsidised jobs in Belfast, had pulled the plug on the Shorts’ – Short Brothers Inc – the builders of the Second World War Sunderland flying boat, and since then, of the Sea Cat, contract last year. 
 
    Marija resisted the temptation to remark that it was a pity the Leander class ships were not big enough to accommodate the new, presently experimental, Sea Wolf point defence system.  Well, not without removing the ships’ twin 4.5-inch turret forward, or discarding the hangar and its anti-submarine helicopter, which would make a nonsense of the sobriquet ‘general-purpose’ that currently applied to the surviving members of the class. 
 
    Sea Wolf, and another program, for a longer-range anti-aircraft missile, the Sea Dart, had both been subsumed into the Anglo-American Joint Naval Weapons Development Directorate, the seaborne arm of the US-centric transatlantic organisation which was overseeing the development of the supersonic variant of the VTOL – Vertical Take-Off and Landing - Kestrel, which had performed so creditably in the South Atlantic, the Raptor, and had already successfully introduced the bomber (Northrup-Hawker) and reconnaissance (Lockheed-Metropolitan Vickers) incarnations of the Mach 2.2 capable TSR2 Strike Eagle into Squadron service with the US Air Force.  Those were multi-million dollar year on year projects that would have surely beggared the British Treasury had they not been handed over to the Americans years ago, with the eventual US-based ‘development and production partners’ taking a 75% to 87.5% stock holding in the resulting ‘production collaborations’.  But this, Marija determined, was not the time to dwell upon the decline of the United Kingdom’s once cutting edge aerospace industry, or the post-October War brain drain of British scientists and aerospace engineers to North America.  Likewise, the attractions of the Antipodes or the Cape to the best and brightest of the ‘survivor generation’ were understandably seductive, whatever the consequences for the Old Country.  It was no use mourning the greatness that had once been Great Britain; things were what they were, that was just the way it was, and whatever one thought about it one owed it to one’s bambinos to make the best of things.  Such was the contract any parent made when they brought a child into the world. 
 
    The Royal Navy was a third of the size it had been in the run up to the war in the South Atlantic, the RAF had lost half its squadrons, and the Army was smaller nowadays than it had been at any time since before the First World War, austerity was biting hard ‘at home’ and there were times, mercifully infrequent, when she felt a little guilty deserting the land of her husband’s birth for a new life, albeit one with great responsibilities and challenges but literally in the sun, in her native archipelago. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 11 
 
      
 
    Pan Am Clipper 101 
 
    Approaching RAF Brize Norton 
 
    Oxfordshire 
 
      
 
    Gretchen Brenckmann had a lot on her mind as the Clipper taxied through the pouring rain.  For the moment her thoughts were still here, in England but anticipation of the second half of her trip ‘across the pond’ would soon demand her complete attention.  
 
    The decision to informally co-ordinate the philanthropic work of the Betancourt Foundation and several of the disparate, only occasionally connected Rockefeller family ‘funds’ and ‘giving vehicles’ – leastways, in the fields of education and healthcare - had come about due to an initiative by the second wife of the former Governor of New York, Vice President and briefly, the President of the United States in the winter of 1968-69, Nelson Rockefeller. 
 
    The then forty-five-year-old Margaretta Large ‘Happy’ Rockefeller had walked into Gretchen Brenckmann’s Office on the Hill one day eighteen months ago – if you were the wife of one of the richest men in the world you could always walk, as of right, into any room of the Capitol, that was what the American Dream was all about – and politely inquired if she could have five minutes of the Congresswoman for the 7th District of Massachusetts’s time? 
 
    Although the two women had met socially on a number of occasions, they tended to move in different circles.  The Rockefellers were Republican aristocracy; Gretchen was a Democrat right down to the Irish blood she had allegedly inherited from one of George Washington’s generals in the revolutionary War.  And besides, Gretchen had loathed the life of the pampered socialite that so many other women of her class, buttressed by obscenely unearned wealth, so readily embraced and up until then she had had nothing but contempt for the Rockefeller dynasty’s alleged philanthropy which had seemed to her to be almost entirely about handing out free money, and ludicrously expensive trinkets to their friends and fawning supporters, rather than genuine ‘giving’ and ‘investment’ designed to improve the lives of the largest possible number of people who otherwise, would have had no opportunity to lift themselves out of drudgery and poverty. 
 
    Nevertheless, she had had no problem finding the time of day for a former First Lady, whom, according to her mother-in-law, the present incumbent’s wife – and hopefully after the coming election, still incumbent for another four years – who was a wise, sweet woman whom these days she practically regarded as her proxy mother, Happy Rockefeller was a ‘good egg’ who had supported her husband with immense dignity and selflessness during his short, troubled time in the White House and thereafter, like her husband, remained on very friendly terms with Gretchen’s in-laws. 
 
    ‘I can probably let you have fifteen minutes, Ma’am,’ she had explained, rising to her feet and smiling, her curiosity more than a little piqued by the unexpected visitation.  ‘Or, longer, perhaps on another day in another setting if that suits you better?’ 
 
    ‘No, no, no, you’re a busy woman.  I won’t keep you long,’ the older woman had declared.  ‘I’ll keep this short and sweet.  And then I’ll leave the next move to you.’ 
 
    Intrigued, Gretchen had waited patiently, tuning out the constant bustle, the ringing of phones and the movement of her over-large staff in the crowded adjoining rooms. 
 
    ‘I have spoken to my husband,’ the former First Lady had prefaced.  ‘As you know, he is primarily interested in art, its history, its inherent cultural enrichment and so forth.  However, increasingly, I am interested in areas which overlap the admirable work of the Betancourt Foundation.  That is, education, health, the betterment of international understanding and discrete humanitarian relief projects.’  The older woman had pursed her lips, a twinkle in her eyes.  ‘Henceforth, Nelson will attend to his business, and I to mine.  The lawyers are sorting out the details and there is bound to be trouble with the kids over their inheritances and so forth, but…’ 
 
    Gretchen found herself frowning. 
 
    She had heard no rumours about the Rockefellers’ marriage running onto the rocks. 
 
    ‘I’m sorry.  I didn’t know you were splitting up?’ 
 
    Happy Rockefeller had laughed spontaneously and clapped a hand over her mouth. 
 
    ‘No, no, that’s not it!’ 
 
    ‘Oh, I…’ 
 
    It had taken Gretchen a while, several convivial lunchtime meetings in the coming weeks followed by less relaxed conferences with both parties’ lawyers to formalise the details, and for her to finally get used to the idea that the Rockefeller clan was serious about allowing Happy to ‘fritter away’ up to thirty percent of its vast fortune on the sort of ‘fripperies’ its luminaries and courtiers had previously gone out of their way to sneer at as classic examples of the ‘naivety’ of the Betancourt Foundation. 
 
    American philanthropy was like war; it always found a way but not necessarily in ways that benefited its recipients half as much as it did the egos of the headline benefactors.  However, Happy Rockefeller was not overly concerned with having hospitals or schools, libraries or scholarships named after her; she actually wanted to make a difference to the lives of people, particularly women and children, who had not been as blessed in their lives as she had been in hers. 
 
    Whereas, Gretchen was in the ‘philanthropy business’ because well, she had a lot of money she was never going to spend and she was pretty damned sure that her father had not left her most of his fortune – the size of which had come as a shock to her – because she was the dullard of the family.  Thinking about it, Dan, her husband had been the one who jogged her arm, pointing out that the existing Betancourt Foundation was potentially a ‘good corporate base’ for an organisation with the sole purpose of ‘doing good’ in the world, adding that to be the President of such an enterprise was ‘pretty damned good politics too!’ 
 
    She had been sold before that, of course.  Ever since the night of the war, in fact.  Sold on doing something that really mattered in the world, and incidentally, in retrospect, sold on Dan because whenever he was around her life…things always worked out just fine. 
 
    ‘The world has changed,’ both women had agreed at the ceremony where President Rockefeller had with no little fanfare, formally endorsed his wife’s initiative. 
 
    Needless, both women had boarded the Pan Am Boeing 707 with their personal entourages, limited to about a dozen people in total because seats were at a premium on the flight.  The President was campaigning in Texas, the Vice President in Florida and the third aircraft in the Presidential fleet was in the maintenance shop, meaning the State Department had had to charter this aircraft to ‘shuttle’ Henry Kissinger across the Atlantic to Europe, and thence around his various Mediterranean ports of call in the next ten days. 
 
    Getting wind of the charter, ‘Congresswoman’ Brenckmann had arranged to fill all the available seats for the trip to England, where she and Happy had business, ahead of flying on to Malta in the coming week. 
 
    For Gretchen, spending a little time out of the States ticked several boxes.  It was her father-in-law who was seeking re-election, not her.  Her own congressional seat was not meaningfully in play and besides, she had worked her butt off for the people of her district the last four years; most of them knew it and she would be back for the last three days of the campaign anyway.  She and Happy had people to see in England, and she on Malta, friends to catch up with and contacts to renew.  And last but not least, the President wanted her ‘personal take’ on whether the Brits were really the lost cause in the Mediterranean that his Secretary of State told him they were. 
 
    Privately, Gretchen was not the only person on the Hill, or within the Administration who had concluded that Henry Kissinger was a little jaded, frustrated by the worsening foreign policy debacle in the Western Pacific and South East Asia.  Not that his hands were clean in that; he was the one who had failed to take the heat out of the China-Taiwan situation, and after the disastrous loss of Korea seven years ago, no President – well, not one in his right mind - was ever going to commit the whole US Army, most of the Navy and dozens of Air Force squadrons to seeking a military solution to the internecine wars being fought in Vietnam, Cambodia and Laos between Communists and the legacy dictators the French, and successive US Administrations in the late 1940s all the way through to JFK’s time in the White House had carelessly seeded across the region.  Frankly, Gretchen thought Kissinger needed a long holiday, perhaps a leisurely world tour with one of the clever – and attractive - women he dated in DC, or a sabbatical back at Harvard where maybe, he would take the opportunity to flush out the foreign policy baggage he had accumulated in the last decade by writing the first volume of his self-exculpatory memoirs…or something.  It was not as if salivating, deep-pocketed publishers were not already on his trail; understandably, given that if anybody knew the inside story of the malfeasance that brought down the Nixon Presidency, or the ins and outs of the price the United States had had to pay for the deal brokered via the offices of the Organisation of American States which had brought the troops home and ended the war in Cuba, or the reason why, a decade after the first GIs had been sent to South East Asia there were still over fifty thousand scattered around the region…it was good old Henry! 
 
    Whatever… 
 
    In the meantime, the problem was that Henry was fixated with global ‘dominoes’ and the spread of ‘regional contagion’; to him communism was a virulently infectious intellectual and biological plague not an ideology.  Ever since the Cuban situation had been cauterised, he had been kicking back against the Administration’s long-term objective of ‘containment’ designed not to save Vietnam, Laos and Cambodia but to protect Burma and Malaya, the two principle geographic and demographic barriers to the further spread of the Marxist-Leninist virus throughout Asia and the Indian sub-continent.  Okay, Indonesia was a military dictatorship these days, and a pretty foul one at that, and it was moot how much longer a sizable US military presence in the Philippines would be tolerated but none of these ‘problems’ were resolvable by brute force, even if the US military was expanded five or tenfold to levels last sustained in 1945.  Nobody was going to elect a President who wanted to do that in peacetime, even if some people mistakenly believed it was self-evidently appropriate.  Which it was not.  No, the future was about alliances, winning friends and influencing people wherever possible by ‘soft’, cultural and moral power, not at the muzzle of a gun. 
 
    That at least, was the President’s take on international realpolitik. 
 
    Henry Kissinger had come back to talk to the two women.  Outwardly, he had been his normal, charming gravel-voiced self and there had been no mention of State Department personnel on the 707 deliberately cold-shouldering Gretchen, while treating Happy like royalty. 
 
    The Secretary of State and the two women had parted in Oxford; since then, and Kissinger and a much-enlarged entourage had flown on to Malta. 
 
    Gretchen guessed that Kissinger knew his days at State were numbered; politics had few rules other than that like any product of a capitalist society, the majority of politicians and leading men of affairs, had varying shelf lives.  Henry understood that, the guy had a brain the size of a small planet and she had never held it against him. 
 
    ‘When you speak to the British Premier,’ he had asked, ‘don’t make him any promises.’ 
 
    Gretchen could have chosen to take umbrage. 
 
    She had not, even though it was none of his damned business what she said to the Brits, any of them!  Similarly, she planned to make up her own mind about just how ‘communistic’ or ‘anti-American’ the new British Prime Minister, Peter Shore was.  Too often in her experience, State Department apparatchiks automatically labelled anybody who failed to do what they were told as ‘communists’ or ‘fascists’, and promptly went on behaving exactly like Stalinists and Nazis in other people’s countries.  That, after all, was why US policy was such a disaster in Latin America, despite the good – non-interference - start the Munroe Doctrine gave it in 1823, warning off European countries from messing any further in the Americas, and as a result the battle for hearts and minds had been lost before it even began elsewhere in the world, for example, in places like the Philippines and Indonesia. 
 
    As to ‘making the Brits promise,’ she was not even sure Peter Shore would agree to meet her, other than perhaps, socially at an embassy function. 
 
    Gretchen understood that most of the people she would encounter in Europe heard cash registers tinkling the moment she walked into the room.  She was used to that, and if it gave her an ‘in’ that was fine.  She was rich, powerful too and that was not going to change any time soon, she would have been a fool not to use both to her advantage. 
 
    Before she and Happy went their own ways they had shared several engagements. 
 
    Happy Rockefeller’s ‘thing’ mainly focused around the women-only Oxford and Cambridge Colleges she had adopted, the new Children’s Wing of Oxford’s John Radcliffe Hospital, and the small army of American doctors and nurses she had financed on one, two and three-year one-way ‘exchange’ secondments to hospitals in Cambridge, Bristol, Manchester, and Edinburgh.  Happy had been checking in, auditing her organisation’s investments and like Gretchen, or rather, like Gretchen’s staffers, making sure the relatively new ‘joint’ Betancourt-Rockefeller arrangements were running smoothly side by side, or in some cases, integrated so as to avoid, or at least minimise waste, duplication of effort and to increase the ‘bang’ for every buck spent. 
 
    Happy did not do politics; and fortunately, she was a very practical woman when it came to business. 
 
    Gretchen operated differently, to her life was politics.  The hard lessons she had learned growing up in her dysfunctional, entitled, back-biting family had taught her that, and toughened her without, surprisingly, souring her overmuch.  She had never doubted that her late father had loved and cherished her; however, he would not have left practically his whole fortune to her unless he had believed she was strong enough to hold onto it.  Predictably, that had been as difficult – and as unpleasant, and remained so - as she had guessed it would be; siblings, aunts, uncles, cousins, and an endless train of low life litigants had all come after her, many of them were still out there, grafting, chiselling to get their hands on her slices of her inheritance. 
 
    She hoped her father would be proud of her; she had stuck it to them all.  None of it had been very edifying, thankfully, her father’s will had been a masterpiece of New England defensive jurisprudence, drawn up by the same razor-sharp legal minds he had so ruthlessly trawled all those years ago when he was old Joe Kennedy’s fixer.  Sadly, the endless litigation had already made a very large gang of ambulance-chasing lawyers even richer; that was life, and there was no point getting bitter and twisted about it.  She was, after all, her father’s daughter. 
 
    ‘I wish I was going on to Malta with you,’ Happy Rockefeller had confessed as the jetliner felt its way down through the clouds over the Irish Sea, twenty to thirty minutes from landing in Oxfordshire.  While Gretchen flew to Malta she was spending a few days in Scotland with friends, hoping to follow on to Malta after the Independence Day excitement was over. 
 
    Gretchen had remarked: ‘Just remember that once the Brits have got Independence Day done, they’ll start back-pedalling their way out of all the promises they made to the Maltese.’ 
 
    ‘You think so?’ 
 
    ‘Oh, yes,’ Gretchen had nodded.  Since then, her people on the ground in England had backed up the whispers coming out of Langley and the DC diplomatic gossip mill. 
 
    Margaret Thatcher’s death had sparked a rapid decline in the probity of British governmental and civil society.  Corruption had never been a problem while the Lady was around, she was the ever-watchful headmistress, ready to stamp on the merest suggestion of graft; with her gone, replaced by a man, Sir Edward Lotte du Cann, with the political morals of an alley cat, an ill-concealed disdain for standards in public life who was so obviously in the pocket of anybody who could afford him, the wide boys and the gangsters had taken over.  Oxford was not quite like Chicago in the midst of prohibition – there was no shortage of fine wine flowing in the corridors of power – but it had been heading that way by the time the National Conservatives imploded, losing a vote of confidence in the House of Commons after sixty of its own MPs abstained in disgust, presumably because they were not getting their cut of the loot from the graft that was by then endemic all around them on their own back benches. 
 
    Supposedly, the new ‘socialist’ government was trying to do something about the situation. 
 
    But Gretchen reserved judgement on that. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 12 
 
      
 
    SS Balvenie Castle 
 
    Alboran Sea, 65 miles South of Malaga 
 
    Western Mediterranean  
 
      
 
    Much to the surprise – and no little relief – of the officers and men of the old Liberty Ship, she had sailed from Gibraltar, albeit after a delay while a faulty steam line was replaced, with a Royal Navy escort, the four-hundred-and-forty ton minesweeper HMS Tarlton.  They were less sanguine when they discovered that their small escort was only going to remain in company for the first, least problematic leg of the trip they had signed on for. 
 
    However, seagoers tend to be a phlegmatic lot, with the common sense not to look a gift horse in the mouth.  For the next eleven hundred miles of their voyage, the Navy would be visible on the horizon so they were okay until they got to Valletta.  
 
    On paper, or to look at, the Tarlton might rank fairly low in the ‘scariest gunboats on the planet league’ but she was capable of chugging along at around fifteen knots, and armed with a 40-millimetre Bofors gun, a 20-millimetre Oerlikon cannon and a couple of 50-calibre M2 Browning machine guns and ought, therefore, to be perfectly capable of defending herself and the Balvenie Castle from any latter-day Barbary Corsair operating from the African coast.  Just the sight of her trundling along half-a-mile off the merchantman’s starboard quarter was mightily comforting to all on board. 
 
    The Tarlton was bound for Malta where she was to be commissioned as the first flagship of the Skwadra Marittima tal-Forzi Armati ta' Malta – the Maritime Squadron of the Armed Forces of Malta – on 1st January 1973, the delay between her arrival in the Grand Harbour and the New Year allowing for a short conversion and familiarisation period for her new crew. Although there had been some casual talk of Sir Peter Christopher and his America’s Cup organisation assisting the new Maltese authorities in achieving the successful handover of the Tarlton, ensuring that the New Year’s Day target was met, it was for the responsible officers of the inaugural Government of the world’s youngest republic to settle the details of this, and so many other pressing matters. 
 
    And in any event, aboard the Tarlton this rumour had been flatly discounted; if there was any substance to it, nobody had told the little ship’s commanding officer. 
 
    Now that there had been time to conduct a proper, forensic search of the ship, it had been established that the Balvenie Castle really had escaped relatively unscathed from its visit to Lisbon.  Interlopers had obviously poked around Holds Three and Five, the only ones undogged during the ship’s brief stay, a few cut bindings and crates vandalised in an attempt to identify their contents, apart from a few dollars in petty cash, and several items of personal clothing, nothing was missing.  The looters had been amateurs; there was evidence a number of hatches had been unsuccessfully tampered with, a ham-fisted effort to force the door of the Purser’s Office had failed, the thieves not appreciating that nothing short of a pneumatic chain-cutter was going to get past the padlock guarding its sanctity.  So, the conclusion was that the Balvenie Castle had not attracted any untoward suspicion, and her unauthorised ‘guests’ had given up when they discovered that there was nothing unsecured, or light enough to be quickly and easily transported ashore worth stealing. 
 
    Had they known that if they had succeeded in breaking into a ‘sensitive’ area of the ship they would have been shot and their bodies dumped over the side once the ship was outside territorial waters, the trespassers might not have bothered in the first place.  But then, of course, had the ‘boarders’ known that, the game would have been up before it properly began, and the mission would have had to be terminated before it had begun. 
 
    Around noon, the Tarlton came on air. 
 
    A standard radio check during which the youthful captain of the minesweeper, a twenty-two-year-old acting lieutenant who was clearly having the time of his life, updated the weather forecast for the next twenty-four hours. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle had been built to steam at a steady eleven or twelve knots; however, ten was the best she could sustain these days and she was happier at around seven or eight.  Serendipitously, the Tarlton’s skipper was content to loiter at a similar speed, conserving fuel.  The days when a Royal Navy ship topped off its bunkers at every port were but blissful remembrance nowadays.  Bunker oil, like everything else in the post-South Atlantic War Royal Navy was strictly rationed and any commanding officer who ‘overspent’ his pre-ordained ‘allowance’ could easily find himself hauled in front of a Board of Inquiry, notorious kangaroo courts of a variety that had already sent good men ashore before their time. 
 
    The traditional daily tot of Rum had gone now, too. 
 
    Abolished in home waters last year, the incoming Labour administration – presumably stacked with temperance zealots as well as closet Marxists – had put a stop to the grog ration worldwide in June, although thankfully, halted short of declaring the Grey Funnel Line ‘dry’, in line with US Navy practice.  That would have been the final straw; and might have provoked the fleet, what was left of it, to mutiny. 
 
    The Tarlton’s captain warned the Balvenie Castle that he was going to ‘let my chaps have some fun with the guns’ that afternoon on the grounds that he had so many green reservists on board that ‘they ought to find out what they sound like before they got stuck into training the bally Maltese!’ 
 
    In mid-afternoon, the minesweeper’s radar picked up two contacts to the south, increased speed and cutting across the Balvenie Castle’s stern, went to investigate.  That this in itself was sufficient to persuade the strangers to reverse course and to run for the distant coast was ample proof of the value of making the passage to Malta in the company of a warship. 
 
    With over a thousand nautical miles still to steam to reach the safety of the Grand Harbour, Valletta, this was a thing that said a great deal more about the still parlous state of the world than anything the politicians in Oxford and Washington had the honesty to openly admit to their voters. 
 
    Not that the Master of the Balvenie Castle had been overly worried about a few pirates in local fishing boats; his ‘passengers’ were all armed to the teeth and he strongly suspected they had access to much heavier ordnance than just the Navy Colts and M16 Assault rifles he had seen to date.  Inevitably, he had posed the question: ‘If we’re supposed to be on such a secret mission, why on earth are you chaps, as I believe you say in the Lost Colonies ‘loaded for bear?’ 
 
    The Commander had smiled and walked away. 
 
    The Yanks were strange coves, and that was a fact. 
 
    Fortunately, they paid top dollar and by the time the Balvenie Castle finally docked at Southampton sometime before Christmas, he and his crew would be ‘dollar rich’, as the papers back home called it, with the pound sterling in the doldrums again that autumn. 
 
    The First Officer stepped onto the bridge ten minutes early to stand his watch.  He struck a match and lit a cigarette, another crumb from Central Intelligence’s high table, from the crate of Lucky Strikes the Americans had brought aboard stateside when the ship docked to load that famous yacht at Newark.  That had been a pantomime-and-a-half, presumably to convince anybody watching the old Liberty Ship that she was actually steaming across the Atlantic ‘in cargo’, presumably supporting the fiction she was the latest acquisition of the Blue Funnel Line in normal commercial service. 
 
    At the time he had wondered if Stanton Industries was in cahoots with the Commander and his men.  Apparently, not it seemed.  The US Customs in Connecticut had been incredibly petty about releasing the Aysha III.  What a nonsense that had been? 
 
    Especially, given that from what he had seen before they buried the yacht under tarpaulins for the transit, she had been a real mess.  Frankly, it would have been simpler to scrap or abandon her on American territory.  By the time the cup was contested again in a few years she would be obsolete, even if she was completely rebuilt.  Perhaps, she would be a museum piece to put on display in Malta while Peter Christopher got on with the job of winning next time around with a new boat. 
 
    Nonetheless, he and the Master still thought the four-day tow of the Aysha III to New Jersey was all a little odd, not least because of the newspaper attention loading ‘the wreck’ had attracted to the Balvenie Castle in the days before she departed for Portugal.  That was nearly a month ago, ancient history and so far as they knew there had been no repercussions over the affair. 
 
    The publicity had faded fast once the hero of the piece, Sir Peter Christopher, the defeated skipper in that summer’s dramas in Nantucket Sound had returned to Malta, leaving his amiable bosun, Jack Griffin to sort out the mess before he too, bade New England farewell…until the next time.  The Aysha III’s bosun had not smelled a rat when he came on board to see off his broken boat, and the Commander had taken that as a good sign.  That said, the former Master at Arms of HMS Liverpool had been in a hurry, with a plane to catch at Idlewild that night, so, the visit had been something of an anti-climax and with that, the press interest had evaporated and left them all in peace. 
 
    End of story; no drama here… 
 
    In the distance the Tarlton was returning from her jaunt to the south chasing off those two inquisitive radar contacts, rolling in the cross seas. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle plodded eastwards at barely eight knots. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 13 
 
      
 
    Saturday 21st October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    Residence of the President-elect of the Dependent Territory of Malta 
 
    San Anton Palace 
 
    Attard, Malta 
 
      
 
    Up until about eighteen months ago, the assumption had been that the President of the new Republic of Malta would automatically move into the existing seat of the colonial governors of the archipelago, the Verdala Palace on the western side of the main island. 
 
    ‘No, that will not do,’ Marija had informed the Constitutional Committee of the Legislative Assembly of Malta, chaired by the Governor, Sir Hugh Foot at the start of its second session – the first attended by a British Minister of State (the Deputy Foreign Secretary) in Edward du Cann’s from the outset ill-starred administration – as if to confirm, had anybody present doubted it, that she was going to be nobody’s ‘patsy’, a term she had learned in her time in the United States, in the years to come.  ‘The President of our country will not be a tyrant,’ she had said with an apologetic, fond smile to Hugh Foot, for whom she had enormous respect and affection, ‘and must break with tradition.’ 
 
    It was not as if there was a shortage of ‘palaces’ on Malta, the Order of the Knights of the Hospital of Saint John of Jerusalem and its various Grand Masters had scattered them across the archipelago with remarkable abandon down the centuries.  Inevitably, many were in disrepair or situated in the middle of already cramped, congested towns or like the Grandmaster’s Palace in Valletta, was destined to house the new nation’s parliament and Marija had quickly ruled out any question of ‘living above the shop’, much to the amusement of the august, otherwise solely male committee. 
 
    When discussions stalled, Marija had mooted that one ‘cut-price’ alternative was for she and her family to remain at their rented apartment in Mdina.  Her family’s needs were modest and since she did not intend to accept a salary when she was inaugurated President, such a residential arrangement would therefore, significantly reduce the cost to the infant exchequer of the Republic if she was to continue to live as a normal, private citizen.  Everybody knew that she and Peter were independently, if not actually wealthy, then financially well-healed although in reality they were nowhere near as comfortably situated as people imagined because they supported, as generously as they could, any manner of Royal Navy good causes in England and on the archipelago. In fact, had it not been for the largesse of Lord Stanton and the handsome stipend he insisted Peter accept for his skippering of the America’s Cup challenge the couple would have been on their fiscal beam ends by now.  Not that they would have cared; other than that, had they been so impecunious it would have made them wholly reliant on the good graces of the Betancourt Foundation, a position they did not ever want to inflict upon their friend, and ally, in practically their every good endeavour, Gretchen. 
 
    ‘What about the San Anton Palace at Attard?’  Suggested Doctor Vincent ‘Ċensu’ Tabone, the man who combined leading the Partit Nazzjonalista - the Nationalist Party - with running his general practice in Sliema.  Marija had mentioned that her mother greatly looked forward to her bi-annual visits to the walled garden of the old palace, which had been open to the public ever since 1882, and so far as he was concerned he had been merely floating an idea at the time. 
 
    Both Nationalist and Labour clans were so united in horror by the humiliating idea of their new President living in a rented apartment in the middle of Mdina; that they only belatedly realised that Marija had plucked their strings and pressed their buttons with consummate dexterity to ensure that inadvertently, as true patriots, this was yet another issue upon which they unexpectedly realised that they were in complete accord. 
 
    The British had once used the San Anton Palace as a gubernatorial residence but in recent years it had been empty, maintained by a skeleton staff whose main preoccupation was tending to its extensive walled gardens.  Everybody soon concurred that the President should move into it; thus, breaking all the associations the Verdala Palace had with the old, colonial administration.  In future, the Verdala Palace would become the ‘hotel’ where visiting dignitaries would be accommodated, and the venue for state dinners and suchlike. 
 
    It happened that Ċensu Tabone, the ‘Good Doctor’ as his friends, and foes alike called him these days, was reflecting upon the serendipity of any number of the events which had conspired to bring him to the San Anton Palace that evening, as he stepped out of his modest family car, a 1959 Morris Oxford, and moved around to the passenger door, where two Royal Marines were already solicitously assisting his wife, Maria, to her feet. 
 
    The couple walked the short distance to the steps leading up the entrance to what by this time next week would have become the Official Residence of the President of Malta. 
 
    Out of the corner of his eye he noted that the big black Ford sedan of his political bête noire, the seemingly immovable leader of the Partit Laburista – the Labour Party - Dominic ‘Dom’ Mintoff, was already parked outside the Residence.  The Dom and his long-suffering better half, Moyra, would have arrived as early as possible, thinking as always that it would give him an opportunity to bend his hosts’ ears with all manner of implausible gossip and complaints.  Tabone had long marvelled at the positively seraphic fashion in which Marija – as a child his patient whenever she was not in hospital – dealt with the colony’s former Prime Minister and current Chief Officer.  The Christophers were a superbly attuned team, they sparked off each other and they were totally ‘in this thing’ together, inseparable and to all intents the nearest thing to royalty Malta was ever going to get. 
 
    They had been the dream couple back in the spring of 1964, first in the narrow lens of the Maltese archipelago, then widely, arriving in America the hero and his princess, suddenly world figures, friends of presidents, prime ministers, and potentates.  Everybody remembered that Peter had gone sailing with Jack Kennedy years before his return to Nantucket Sound as skipper of the Aysha III, he and Marija had been with Jackie in the emergency room of Thomas Jefferson Memorial in July 1964 when JFK was about to receive the last rites, and later Marija had been the one who had pleaded with Lyndon Johnson uttering the immortal words: ‘please give peace a chance’ on live TV.  And miraculously, there had been no repeat of the cataclysm of October 1962.  That had only been the start of their odyssey.  From being the mistress of Government House at Yarralumla to life as a Navy wife in cold, wet England while her husband and a generation of Royal Navy men were fighting a desperate battle to the death in the South Atlantic, to finally coming home to Malta, Marija had never really ceased to be an iconic, quasi movie-star like presence on the world stage.  Even now, it was her, not Indira Gandhi, the Prime Minister of India and its hundreds of millions milling souls who was without a shadow of a doubt, the most famous woman in the world.  Some ill-informed people, mostly the ones who did not, or had never known her before she was famous said she had changed; she had not, the Leader of the Nationalist Party of Malta still recognised the girl and young woman he had known in Sliema, the charismatic, softly-spoken force of nature who had led the Women of Malta Movement at the height of the brainless police state regime the British had inflicted on the archipelago in the aftermath of the October War in her now. 
 
    So, tonight, Sir Peter would be charming the Dom’s wife, treating her like the most important woman in the room, much to her husband’s vexation.  That was not to say that it was just women of a certain age whose knees turned to jelly, and their conversation to gushing banalities in the presence of the dashing soon to be First Man of the new Republic, just that Peter perfectly understood how best to make a little space in which his wife could then weave her magic spell upon the most problematic of the couple’s guests. 
 
    That evening’s dinner was designed to be a relaxed, informal affair, friends dining together and enjoying each other’s company because that was the way the ‘young’ Calleja-Christophers did business.  Among the selected invitees were Marija’s parents Omm Marija and Missier Peter – Mother Marija and Father Peter – the outgoing Governor and his wife, the newly-appointed British Under-Secretary for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, thirty-four-year-old David Anthony Llewellyn Owen, the Member of Parliament for the so-called ‘Navy Seat’ of Plymouth Devonport, and the mayors, accompanied by their spouses, of Valletta, Mostar and Gozo. 
 
    The last man to arrive was Rear Admiral Sir David Penberthy, the commander of the Eagle Battle Group and soon to be Flag Officer, British and Commonwealth Naval Forces, Malta.  His knighthood – acknowledging his key role as Deputy C-in-C during the War in the South Atlantic – had been gazetted in the Queen’s Birthday Honours List that summer.  Within the Navy, the feeling was that it was a disgrace that he had not been recognised earlier and rumour had it that the Queen, feeling likewise, had ignored her ministers’ advice in personally ennobling him. 
 
    Edward du Cann’s outgoing government and Peter Shore’s incoming administration had been consistently parsimonious in their treatment of the veterans of the war for the Falklands; David Penberthy’s knighthood, and the awards of a score of other honours – including a clutch of George Medals and Queen’s Gallantry Medals to Royal Fleet Auxiliary and medical staff who had served with the South Atlantic Task Force – all sponsored by the monarch, had gone a long way towards beginning to right an ongoing wrong. 
 
    Lady Marija’s weekend soirees at Attard were already legendary, anybody who was anybody in state, church, civil or military life on the archipelago had been entertained at the San Anton Palace in the last six months. 
 
    Tonight, there would have been two empty places at the table had not the palace’s staff quickly re-arranged the chairs and the cutlery ahead of the arrival of the other guests. 
 
    Marshal of the Royal Air Force Sir Daniel French and his wife, Lady Rachel, had been delayed in Oxford and would not now be arriving on the island until tomorrow afternoon at the earliest.  Sir Daniel, who had officially retired from the RAF in 1969, was a former Governor of the archipelago and his wife, well, the passage of time had done little to lessen the aura of mystique that shrouded her like the elegant gowns that clung to her willowy, lythe figure. 
 
    One man in particular had breathed a visible sigh of relief when he learned that ‘we shall be without the Frenchs tonight’ and that was Dom Mintoff, who had had a secret, unforgettable encounter with Lady Rachel over seven years ago.  An encounter which had in many ways, changed his life and the way he thought about mortality ever since. 
 
    Electorally, the National Party had run the Labour Party close in the last pre-independence elections, held this time last year, reducing Dom Mintoff’s majority in the new Parliament to a mere seven – six when the Speaker of the House was counted out – members.  Subsequently, Mintoff had muttered about ‘Presidential partiality’ even though Marija had been abroad, mostly in England and the United States, in four of the five weeks leading up to last year’s election day, afraid that a single ill-considered word might irretrievably tip the vote one way or the other. 
 
    The order of seating placed the British minister, David Owen between Lady Marija and her mother, Sir Peter between Maria Tabone and Moyra Mintoff, the two party leaders beside mayors not of their political persuasion and Missier Peter, at the Chief Minister’s side so at least the two men could talk about politics and union affairs in the Admiralty Dockyards, subjects which had preoccupied them both throughout their adult lives.  Sir Hugh Foot – who had eschewed his right to employ the title Baron Caradon for the duration of his time on the archipelago - and his wife Florence, had been placed opposite Marija and David Owen, further separating the two Maltese Party leaders.  This was typical of San Anton Palace ‘tables’ where friends, allies and opponents were expected to mix and to ‘play nicely’ while they were in the company of their hostess.  Invariably, the mix worked its magic, with heated words being reserved exclusively for the corners of the gardens which surrounded the building, when guests took cigarette breaks or strolled away from the building to speak, or to conspire, confidentially. 
 
    During the meal, Her Majesty’s Under-Secretary for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs had apologised for the absence of his Secretary of State, Denis Healey, whose poor health ‘detained him in England for the moment’ and had made polite, erudite conversation but otherwise seemed a little detached.  This, his hosts guessed was because he was new in his job and Maltese independence was in effect, a ‘done deal’.  They well understood that junior ministers of the Crown had numerous competing consequential matters on their plates and the arrangements upon ‘little’ Malta, likely hardly registered on the agenda of one of the few rising stars of the British Labour Party. 
 
    However, Marija had found a chink in his armour. 
 
    She had learned that Owen had trained as a doctor, qualifying just before the October War, at which time he was planning to specialise in neurology and psychiatry. 
 
    The war had put an end to all those dreams. 
 
    “I’d hoped to work at St Thomas’s Hospital in Central London researching Parkinson’s syndrome and neuropharmacology,” he was persuaded to divulge after some minutes of gentle probing. 
 
    Marija had sparked his curiosity by talking about St Catherine’s Hospital for Women and her own pre-war nursing training, practically all of which had been achieved ‘outside’ the ‘colonial system’, or as she now viewed it, the pernicious ‘straight-jacket’ of ‘the pre-existing Maltese system’. 
 
    Owen’s interest was entirely genuine when she discussed ways in which she hoped an Independent Malta would be able to cast off old medical practices, and allow its doctors and nurses to be drawn from the whole, rather than a privileged clique among the population. 
 
    “You must visit the Hospital,” she declared. 
 
    Before the British minister could object Marija’s husband had launched into the spiel he gave all first-time foreign visitors about their surroundings.  With justification, people said he was more and more his father’s son as time went by.  The late Margaret Thatcher, whose tragic murder had led to the not so slow-motion disintegration of the National Conservative Party and a vicious, profoundly ill-tempered and self-destructive leadership campaign in which the most divisive of all the candidates, Sir Edward Lotte du Cann had eventually come out on top, had fondly recounted to Marija the occasions on which Sir Julian, sadly only briefly Marija’s father-in-law, had regaled her with carefully crafted, amusingly delivered histories of places that were new to her, among them Balmoral Castle in Scotland, and the Verdala Palace, here on Malta. 
 
    “This marvellous old pile,” Peter explained to the politician, picking up the history of the San Anton Palace, “started life as a modest villa in the seventeenth century, the demesne of a certain Antoine de Paule, a Hospitaller of the order of St John.  It only became a palace when he was elected Grand Master around 1623.  Obviously, that called for the first of many rebuilds and extensions down the years since.  As it was closer to Valletta than the Verdala Palace many of the subsequent Grand Masters adopted the place,” he hesitated, swept a hand through his fair hair and frowned as if he had forgotten something important, “did I say the palace is named not for dear old de Paule but in honour of his patron saint, Anthony of Padua?” 
 
    David Owen politely confirmed that he had not mentioned that. 
 
    With this mildly contentious point satisfactorily cleared up, Peter continued with gathering authority as his wife turned away to hide her mirth behind a discreet hand until she could re-compose her features. 
 
    “De Paule died around 1636.  After Nelson chucked the French out of Malta,” Peter went on, speaking of more recent history, that of the outset of the nineteenth century, “we, the British, took it over.  I think most of our innovations and additions to the fabric of the buildings have been cosmetic but don’t quote me on that, I’m not a structural engineer or an archaeologist.  I believed Her Majesty the Queen stayed here on her visit in 1954 but most Maltese know of the place on account of its gardens, which we plan to continue to open to the people, the public, all year round if possible, post-Independence.” 
 
    “Won’t that represent a huge security risk to your family?” David Owen asked. 
 
    Peter shrugged.  “The world is a dangerous place, Mister Owen,” he retorted wryly.  “One either hides away in a darkened room or one embraces one’s life, don’t you think?” 
 
    Long ago, Peter and his wife had promised each other that they would live without fear; and nothing that had happened since had convinced them they had made a mistake. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 14 
 
      
 
    The Tapestry Hall 
 
    Grandmaster’s Palace 
 
    Valletta 
 
      
 
    The scheduling of the exploratory colloquium – a sparring session between the two undisputed heavyweight contenders in the ring of international diplomacy recently arrived on the Maltese archipelago – was not ideal, something both parties agreed about if, publicly, they agreed about little else.  That weekend, Malta was only a way point on each man’s travels, and for the American delegation, no more than a brief, hardly acknowledged pitstop. 
 
    Tomorrow morning, US Secretary of State Henry Kissinger was flying on to Riyadh in Saudi Arabia, there to pay court to the Kingdom’s worrisomely independently-minded rulers, the Saud family who had always been much happier dealing with the intricately nuanced ploys and stratagems of the English that what they regarded as the crass, rather bluff entreaties and veiled threats of the Americans.  In the years since the Gulf War of 1964 – but not in the crisis months of 1964 when the Kingdom had most needed them - US forces had gradually replaced British and Commonwealth ships, aircraft and boots on the ground in the region.  However, this investment of military manpower and hardware had singularly failed, to the chagrin of four American presidents, Johnson, Nixon, Rockefeller and now Walter Brenckmann, and to the five US members of the formerly all-powerful global oil cartel of the Seven Sisters – Standard Oil Company of New Jersey, Socony Mobil, the Standard Oil Company of California, Texaco, and Gulf Oil – to slow, or even impede, the inexorable nationalisation of the oilfields and refineries of Arabia, a process master-minded by Oil Minister Ahmed Zaki Yamani, whom they persistently misnamed ‘Sheik Yamani’, unknowingly, or carelessly, it was hard to tell which, causing ever-greater offence within the Kingdom. 
 
    Kissinger himself, belatedly accepted that he had badly underestimated Yamani; not least because even as recently as the mid-1960s it was not apparent how quickly the Arabian State Oil Company, Aramco, would become the biggest and consequently, dominant regional player in the Middle Eastern oil industry.  Aramco now controlled seventy percent of all the oil produced in the deserts around the Persian Gulf, equating to approximately forty percent of the ‘free’ world’s crude oil.  The impact that this was going to have on the former global giants of the industry, the Pre-1962 ‘Seven Sisters’ and in years to come, the security of supplies to the United States, the rest of the Americas and the slowly recovering western European economies was the single most worrisome factor overshadowing the current US economic boom.  Problematically, Henry Kissinger had been a quiescent member of the Nixon Administration when it had authorised a major – failed - CIA campaign to discredit Yamani, and had been attempting to repair relations ever since, understandably with frustratingly meagre results. 
 
    The trouble was that the Ivy League State Department hacks and Central Intelligence spooks who had tried to walk all over Yamani in the mid-sixties were idiots; sadly, they had been American idiots and the Saudis, impeccably correct and courteous at the negotiating table, were a people who remembered every slight, real or imagined…forever. 
 
    And now they owned a large slice of the world’s known oil reserves, practically all of which was relatively easily, and crucially, cheaply extractable from the sparsely populated deserts of Arabia.  Thus, it was within Ahmed Zaki Yamani’s power to triple or quadruple the price of a barrel of oil on global markets with a casual click of his fingers and yet, incredibly, in the last months in the White House, Richard Nixon’s attack dogs had tried, and failed to bring him down.  Bob Haldeman, John Ehrlichman and a dozen other former White House insiders were in prison, or rather, recently released on parole for their crimes against fellow US citizens; however, in Henry Kissinger’s opinion, the bastards ought to have been shot for the permanent structural damage they had done to the United States’ standing in the Middle East. 
 
    Understandably, Henry Kissinger was not looking forward to meeting the man who could turn off the oil tap, or re-engineer the established rules of the global oil industry at…a whim. 
 
    Forty-two-year-old Yamani, the Cairo, New York and Harvard-educated son of an Islamic scholar who was once the Grand Mufti of Indonesia had become an intimate adviser to the Saudi government in the late 1950s, and Minister of Petroleum and Mineral Resources as long ago as 1962.  He had survived the post-October 1962 crises, and the catastrophes of 1964 when at one time it had looked as if the Red Army was going to rampage across the whole Middle East; today, the most powerful man in the region was not Anwar Sadat in Egypt, or any of the Gulf potentates, or even Hasan al-Mamaleki, the President of Iran or any of his Mullahs, it was the guardedly avuncular, multi-lingual visible international face of the regime of the House of Saud, Ahmed Zaki Yamani. 
 
    The price at the wellhead for Saudi crude oil had already crashed upward through the psychologically sensitive level of twenty dollars per thirty-five gallon barrel.  And that, Kissinger and his advisors knew, was probably only the beginning as Yamani carried on patiently drawing together a coalition of other producers; of whom Kuwait, Indonesia, and Egypt had come on board. and with Iran also a tentative, provisional member of the club, everybody expected Venezuela, historically in the US camp, to declare in favour of the new ‘cartel’, the so-called Organisation of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC), who together, produced – give or take a few million barrels a week, according to the latest CIA figures - fifty-seven to fifty-nine percent of the globe’s oil, and now that Abadan was finally coming back on stream, controlled at least twenty-five percent, and perhaps as much as thirty-one-percent of the planet’s refining capacity.  Worse still, there was talk of the New USSR joining OPEC, adding another ten to fifteen percent of the world’s known oil reserves to the equation, leaving the United States which, only thirty years ago had been the globe’s biggest oil producer, with by some measures, secure access to a lot less than a quarter of the world’s ‘oil lake’.  One did not need to be a modern incarnation of Andrew Carnegie or JP Morgan to work out that controlling around twenty-five percent – or less - of the most important strategic industrial raw material on the planet was any kind of long-term geopolitical winning hand. 
 
    So, when Henry Kissinger met the Saudi Oil Minister in Riyadh – Yamani had politely declined to fly to Washington, or to meet him on neutral soil – he knew his position was going to be nothing short of invidious. 
 
    Hopefully, his subsequent ports of call would be less daunting and the leaders he would meet would be less, politely intransigent when it came to discussing US interests in the region.  From Riyadh, Kissinger was flying on to Isfahan, for the last eight years the capital of the Islamic Republic of Tehran whose embattled President, General Hasan al-Mamaleki had until now, managed to keep the jihadi insurgency tearing neighbouring Soviet-occupied Iraq and his ever more-powerful Mullahs at bay, increasingly propped up by US equipment and technical assistance in return for American investment in the rebuilding of what was once again the largest refinery complex in the world, at Abadan.  This latter had hardly been an act of charity; with the accelerating economic recovery from the October War, global demand for oil had doubled in the last four years, and the impoverishment British had been forced to offer a consortium including three of the pre-war dominant Seven Sisters; Shell, Standard Oil of New Jersey (Esso) and Gulf Oil, a once in a generation opportunity to buy into a slice of the coming bonanza that was not physically controlled by Aramco and the Saudis.  Thus far, those corporations had poured over two billion dollars into what was again, the largest oil refinery complex in the world in exchange for sixty percent of Abadan’s future revenues and, as every oil man knew, historically the real profit was in the refining, not the drilling.  Consequently, the stock price of the three ‘Sisters’ had roared ahead of those of their giant industry siblings; again, because everybody knew, or feared, that the only thing which had been keeping a lid on the price of Middle Eastern wellhead crude was steadily rising Iranian production and the hesitancy of the Al Marmaleki regime to whole-heartedly align itself with the House of Saud, mainly for religious, rather than economic reasons. 
 
    Kissinger had taken cold comfort from that, and was unsurprised by the new talk of Iran’s possible willingness to co-operate with Saudi Arabia, or even to fully embrace OPEC. 
 
    He needed to stall, or at least delay that because if Iran fully participated in ‘Sheik Yamani’s’ oil production cartel, OPEC could hold the world to ransom. 
 
    Any time it wanted. 
 
    So, again, Kissinger was not actually looking forward to his meetings with President al-Mamaleki…either. 
 
    Oddly, there had been a time when the idea of becoming US Secretary of State had been too seductive to refuse; a chance to bestride the world stage and to change the course of history for the better… 
 
    Lately, all he did was stick fingers in holes in the dyke. 
 
    And right now, he was starting to wonder not if but when the dam was going to burst…carrying him away in the flood. 
 
    After Riyadh and Isfahan, in one sense it got worse; because on the way back to Malta, Henry Kissinger was visiting Tel Aviv.  Central Intelligence was telling him that the Israelis planned to exploit perceived fracture lines in the ‘Pan Arab Alliance’ – mainly political but with theocratic undertones, between Egypt, Jordan and Syria – by undertaking some kind of ‘spoiling attack’ on the ground in Egyptian-controlled Sinai, or on the West Bank (against the moderate, peace-making Hashemite rulers of Jordan), and, or a ‘limited action’ to seize the Syrian-held strategically vital Golan Heights, command of which went a long way towards guaranteeing the security of northern Israel while putting Israeli tanks within forty miles of Damascus. 
 
    Or, nightmarishly, as one senior Langley analyst had suggested sourly: ‘The clowns might try all three options at once and hope nobody notices!’ 
 
    Given the vast quantities of surplus military hardware the United States had given Israel in the fifties and sixties, an avalanche of equipment and ammunition that President Brenckmann had managed to somewhat stem in the last couple of years, the trouble was that Pentagon analysts were probably right when they observed that: ‘At the moment, Tel Aviv has got the drop on the Arabs…’ 
 
    Some pundits speculated that the President’s defence of reducing military aid to Israel by arguing that: ‘If we send any more hardware the country will sink into the desert under the weight,’ had possibly cost him one to two million votes in the coming General Election. 
 
    In any event, the last thing the United States wanted was one of its notional ‘allies’ – the Israelis were on their own side, not anybody else’s; who could blame them after the Holocaust - starting a general Middle Eastern war which would inevitably halt traffic through the Suez Canal, probably bring down one or two of the ‘friendlier’ Arab governments and disastrously, end the carefully crafted myth of US neutrality in the region.  Even if one put aside what OPEC might decide to do if the Israelis attacked one of its members, the price of oil would inevitably rocket into the financial stratosphere.  Likewise, the seismic impact such a war might have on the situation in Iraq, and neighbouring Iran, hardly bore thinking about. 
 
    The whole Middle East was still in a state of shock following the untimely sudden death of Gamal Abdul Nasser, the one man whose vision and personal charisma had briefly threatened to unite the entire Arab world – although the characterisation of either Egypt or Iran as ‘Arabic’ geographically, demographically or as coherent religiously unified polities was itself another lazy, Western misnomer – and in the aftermath of his passing pan-Arabic dreams had also died. 
 
    That attitudes and actions on the ground had not yet caught up with that reality, was a perfect recipe for international diplomatic chaos.  Nobody needed to remind henry Kissinger that diplomacy, like history is…complicated. 
 
    There is always a lot going on, much of it behind closed doors, in effect, invisibly and there is never one thing that is necessarily or transparently more important than any other.  Moreover, each character in the drama comes to a given negotiation with a different agenda, different vital interests and a mindset constructed not in sepulchral quietness but in the hurly burly of the politics of his own office, mitigated and corrupted by the powerful, often unseen vested interests he represents.  While historians looking back in time can detect patterns, reconstruct the ‘real’ sequence of events, that is only because they have the priceless advantage of knowing – more or less - how things turned out in the end. 
 
    For the players at the diplomatic table ‘in the moment’, men like Henry Kissinger and Mikhail Gorbachev, they could have little or no real idea what the other knew, let alone what he believed to be the actual situations in each other’s homelands, and as to the global picture, regardless of the national intelligence apparats at their backs, in reality they were men suddenly forced together in a darkened room, very nearly blind.  In the final analysis, they had to make decisions with the benefit of the best information they had to hand, using their own best assessment of their adversary’s motives, strengths and weaknesses. 
 
    Pragmatically, even had both men opened their hearts, one to the other, it would not really have helped.  Neither man had a perfect understanding of his own side’s comparative status, militarily, industrially or fiscally, or an unambiguous comprehension of what, for example, outcome from their talks might ‘have legs’ back home when it was torn to pieces by Congress and the media on one side, and the Politburo, the Red Army and the Troika on the other. 
 
    It was for this reason that each man had come to Malta ahead of embarking on their carefully choreographed ‘shuttling’ around the Middle East with very, very conservative agendas.  Diplomacy is an art, not a science, a profession best and most safely practiced in small, careful, ‘baby’ steps in a meticulously pre-prepared favourable environment. 
 
    Neither man’s expectations of their first meeting were high and understandably, Henry Kissinger and Mikhail Sergeyevich Gorbachev shook hands with a certain solemnity, smiling smiles which masked their intuitive suspicion, each of the other. 
 
    Nevertheless, there was a grudging mutual recognition that given that a decade ago, the two men’s countries had been hurling thermonuclear warheads at each other; guardedly courteous handshakes in a medieval palace on a Mediterranean island was an infinitely better way to commence the conduct of bi-lateral international relations, than JFK’s and Nikita Krushchev’s methodology had been over those missiles on Cuba. 
 
    On that at least, both men could agree. 
 
    If not on much else. 
 
    It was the first time the protagonists had met, face-to-face. 
 
    At the time of Gorbachev’s appointment, Kissinger had been in Taiwan on the last leg of a Pacific tour that had taken in Manila and Tokyo before a demoralising confrontation with the eighty-four-year-old, somewhat senile Dictator of Nationalist China in Taipei, Chiang Kai-shek. 
 
    The two men had exchanged terse initial telegrams. 
 
    They had swapped more such missives, friendly and not so friendly in recent months, and twice, conversed over clicky, hissing international telephone lines, eschewing the two ‘hot lines’ set up in 1967 because the news that either link had been employed – other than for its routine monthly test - would assuredly have prompted a rash of rumours of a crisis that in reality, had never once threatened to materialise since the day the Malta Accords had been initialled, in this very building in 1968. 
 
    “It is good to meet you in person at last, Mister Secretary,” Gorbachev said in English. 
 
    “Likewise, sir,” Kissinger replied, with genuine sincerity notwithstanding he was pessimistic that evening’s, or next week’s summitry with his Soviet counterpart would be overly productive for either side. 
 
    When Kissinger flew to Riyadh, Gorbachev was headed to Cairo to drive a new wedge between Anwar Sadat, Nasser’s ruthless fixer who had brutally snuffed out opposition to his succession within days of his friend’s untimely death from a massive heart attack, and the Saudis, who had always bitterly resented Nasser’s usurpation of the leadership of the Arab world.  Nasser’s territorial aggrandisement – imperialism by any other name – in expanding Cairo’s writ west to the Tunisian border, turning the former Italian colonies of Cyrenaica and Libya into provinces of Greater Egypt, meant that Malta, independent or not still a Western bastion in the Central Mediterranean, was little more than two hundred miles north of Egyptian air and sea bases in Tripoli. 
 
    Presently, Anwar Sadat’s regime was tacitly, without an excess of enthusiasm still notionally orientated towards the West but Henry Kissinger understood how easily that might change; especially if the Israelis did something stupid like send their regiments of American-supplied tanks into the Sinai.  Gorbachev, he assumed, was already laying the groundwork for what happened next in just that kind of zero-sum scenario.  Granted, the Soviets were not in any position to shower Sadat with weapons or cash but what Alexander Shelepin could do, was to stand up and denounce ‘Israeli aggression’ and demand that Egypt’s US backers do likewise, a thing that politically, would hurt, possibly seriously wound whoever was in the White House at the time. 
 
    Thankfully, Walter Brenckmann was likely to be re-elected next month if the polls were to be trusted, and initially the odds were that he would control Congress but that might not last if he carried on alienating the Jewish lobby.  A new Middle East war would make it impossible for him to sit on the fence, obliging him to endorse the Tel Aviv regime regardless of the underlying strategic interests of the United States in the region.  Gorbachev and the Soviets knew that, just as they understood that any full-blown Iranian intervention in Iraq – apparently the dream of many of the Mullahs nominally supportive of Hasan al Mamaleki - would probably result in the implosion of the Soviet post-1964 ‘republic’ of Kurdistan, and the failed ‘buffer’ republics of central and southern Iraq resulting in an insurrection, possibly an uncontrollable religious war raging north into the Caucasus.  This, of course, might switch off the oil tap to the New USSR, in exactly the same way the ultimately disastrous invasion of Iran and Iraq had been launched to starve the West of their vital black gold eight years ago. 
 
    Strife-torn Baghdad was Gorbachev’s second port of call, a flag-flying exercise during which supposedly, he was going to confer with ‘local’ Iraqi leaders and ‘senior religious’ figures before stopping off at Beirut, the Lebanese capital – a relative island of calm in a sea of regional troubles - an odd destination for a Soviet Foreign Minister prior to his return to Malta. 
 
    Odd or not, the Lebanon was a good place to meet the Syrians and their surrogates, the leaders of the Palestinians, hundreds of thousands of whom had been displaced by the Israelis in 1948 and 1956. Privately, Gorbachev questioned the value of courting proxies that it would be impossible to rely upon in a crisis; the memory of the Front Internationale experience in France, and the blurring of the lines of the Red Dawn project and its foreign offshoot, Red Sunrise, both of which had faded away only to reappear as uncontrollable, purely terroristic splinter groups in recent times, mainly in the Continental Central European De-Militarised Zone – CCEDMZ - borderlands and the old southern republics of the USSR, most troublingly in Chechnya and parts of Georgia. 
 
    Reflecting the increasingly unpredictable volatility of the situation across the Middle East, both Kissinger’s and Gorbachev’s schedules had been subject to alteration in the last few weeks and might yet be again, late in the day reflecting the essential instability of the whole region. 
 
    As to today’s meeting, and those scheduled post-shuttling for next week, each side had previously tabled a long list of grievances; predominantly breaches of the First Annexe of the Malta Accords dealing with the sanctity of the CCEDMZ, in the main alleging that ‘proxies’, in reality, mainly settler, prospecting or salvage groups who were either ignorant of the Accords, or did not care because to them the United States and the New Soviet Union were just impediments to business as usual.  It mattered not to them that the Accords had a codicil granting limited settlement, mineral prospecting and war salvage rights, albeit solely to licenced agents of the two signatories, or that there was an existing protocol whereby each side notified the other of such activities in its ‘zone’ to avoid the escalation of such ‘minor’ breaches into provocations. 
 
    Other discussions were going to be prompted by complaints arising under the Second Annexe, in respect of US forces operating east of the Rhine and the recent forward deployment of Red Air Force units and Red Army mechanised infantry battalions in the Ukraine and White Russia in the vicinity of what had once been the Polish border.  Annexe Two specified that neither party could use force to ‘control or expel’ unauthorised trespassers in their own ‘zone’ without the permission of the other. 
 
    This was becoming a problem because both sides suspected the other was intent upon illicitly reclaiming territory by proxy. 
 
    A further complication was that the US side was monitoring the CCEDMZ employing orbital satellites, a technology as yet unavailable to the Soviet side, while under the terms of the relevant section of the Accords the Soviets were restricted to a handful of overflights by manned reconnaissance aircraft – four per thirty days – and then only up to its own eastern zone’s western demarcation line.  Notwithstanding, Kissinger’s team had come equipped with high-definition monochrome photographs; Gorbachev’s with miscellaneous allegations, none of which could be substantiated without disclosing the identity of the spies the KGB had systematically seeded across the ‘American Zone’ in the last four years. 
 
    Stalemate… 
 
    At this first, plenary meeting, the above was largely incidental; neither Kissinger or Gorbachev planned to waste time bickering over ephemera.  Both sides regarded the Malta Accords, for all the Treaty’s faults, as a done deal.  Their respective officials could write up the ‘breaches’ real and imagined; while about the letter President Brenckmann had addressed to Chairman Shelepin that spring. 
 
    “We have much to discuss,” Gorbachev declared. 
 
    “I believe we do,” Kissinger agreed. 
 
    The world would be informed that the two men had met, argued, and parted without resolving any of the CCEDMZ issues, all of which had been deferred to a future summit. 
 
    Diplomacy was ever thus, smoke and mirrors, three-card verbal tricks and unspoken understandings. 
 
    “Perhaps, if we spoke alone, Mister Secretary,” Gorbachev suggested, in Russian now.  “With just our translators and personal aides, so that our conversation might be minuted for posterity?” 
 
    Henry Kissinger remained impassive as befitted the globe’s premier grandmaster of international brinkmanship as he thought about the proposition. 
 
    Presently, he nodded. 
 
    “As you wish,” he acknowledged. 
 
    The room cleared over the next few minutes as Gorbachev and his US counterpart took seats at the head of the table laid out to accommodate over twenty diplomats and their flunkies. 
 
    Translators hovered, a State Department and a Soviet Foreign Ministry senior secretary readied themselves, pencils poised. 
 
    Gorbachev sighed, composed himself anew. 
 
    He could not but be aware that this might prove to be a pivotal moment in East-West relations and understandably, there was the merest suggestion of a catch in his voice as he answered the unspoken question that hung in the air between he and Henry Kissinger. 
 
    “Chairman Shelepin has asked me to ascertain the voracity of President Brenckmann’s personal communication to him.  It is too early to speak of mutual visits by President Brenckmann and Chairman Shelepin to our respective capitals but he has given me leave to conduct wide-ranging discussions with you about the opportunities a genuine dialogue between our two countries might identify.” 
 
    Henry Kissinger raised an eyebrow. 
 
    Unlike his Commander-in-Chief, he had not expected the Soviets to play ball and advised the President accordingly.  He had been wrong again, it seemed and like any rational man he asked himself if this would hurry his departure from the State Department once the election dust settled. 
 
    “That is good to know, Minister,” he remarked.  “In the coming days I will communicate this to President Brenckmann and ascertain if I am to fully engage in the process he detailed in his letter to Chairman Shelepin at this time.”  He half-smiled, albeit only for a moment.  “You will understand that he may wish to wait until the American people have spoken on 7th November.” 
 
    Gorbachev accepted this with a brisk nod of his head. 
 
    The two men had concluded their business. 
 
    The real talking would commence when they met again in the coming week, assuming that was, the Middle East was not in flames by then. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 15 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    62 nautical miles north east of Algiers 
 
      
 
    As Noel Haggard brought the submarine up to periscope depth there was over a mile-and-a-half of water beneath her keel.  During the day he had conned Courageous to the south of the Tarlton and the Balvenie Castle, sweeping to within twenty miles of the Algerian coast encountering nothing more hostile than a clutch of fishing boats and an old tramp steamer heading for Algiers. 
 
    People talked loosely about a post-October War ‘world economic recovery’; well, he was not seeing any sign of it in these waters.  The Mediterranean had been a tumult of seaborne trade since ancient times but not now.  Yes, he knew that there was trade, a substantial trade in some areas; for example, along the Iberian east coast and the Balearic Islands, in the Bay of Lions and the Tyrrhenian and Ligurian Seas, between Malta and Sicily and southern Italy, and increasingly between Malta and the Egyptian and Tunisian territories to its south and south west.  But there was no general, Mediterranean-wide normal commerce on anything like the scale of that before the October War.  Such economic activity as there was east of the Adriatic was piecemeal, local; countries and surviving communities in the Balkans, Anatolia, and the other shattered provinces of Turkey were islands to themselves, self-reliant, starving in bad seasons and what ‘trade’ there was, tended to be illicit, gun-running or smuggling under the protection of this, or that warlord of district tyrant. 
 
    Egypt’s post-war expansion west into the old Italian colonies of Libya, its encroachment south into Sudan and Ethiopia and antagonistic, envious eying of the rich emirates of the Gulf, Kuwait among others had, even before Nasser’s death, cut the high moral ground from beneath it in its ambition to be the leader of the Pan-Arab world.  Moreover, while tankers from the gulf, and British and US warships regularly transited the Suez Canal, the ‘great ditch’ was little used in comparison with the years before the October War.  Elsewhere in the east Israel, Syria, the Lebanon and Jordan were disconnected, suspicious of their neighbours, the former propped up by American aid, the latter three impoverished, lacking oil and surrounded by countries envious of their deceptive internal calm.  Had the region unified under a common flag, or even shared a common purpose – such as the betterment of its people ahead of the pursuit of historic blood feuds and religious vendettas – it might have been a superpower, at least in the Mediterranean world.  As it was, oil-rich Saudi Arabia and the emerging Gulf Emirates literally existed in another reality, likewise, Iran could afford to plough its own theocratic, independent path while in the midst of the region, Iraq’s failed subjugation by the Soviets and collapse into a savage insurgency cum civil war, with the Red Army looking on in impotent despair in its city fortresses had shut down what was left of its oil industry and constantly threatened to spread untold chaos into the southern Soviet Republics. 
 
    Here in the western stretches of the Mediterranean the world was broken in other ways; old-fashioned post-colonial ways.  Algeria and Morocco were emerging from different kinds of freedom struggles, Tunisia, fought over in the Second War found itself stuck, invidiously between imperialist Egypt and newly, angrily independent Algeria.  There was no help from war-devastated Europe, or Franco’s Spain.  The seas to their north had become an Anglo-American lake fought over and patrolled by navies ever wary of the shores to the south, regardless that the worst of the post-war piracy had not been their doing.  The real criminals had been based on Sicily, Sardinia and Corsica, or raided their fishing fleets and isolated harbours from safe havens in the Balearics.  The most insidious threat to the region was not the settling of old colonial scores but the spread of Communism in its most virulent, nihilistic form as perpetrated by the evil of Red Dawn and its many surrogates and imitators, like the mercifully defunct Front Internationale in southern France.  Not that the reasons why mattered overmuch to the people living around the Mediterranean; they were as much victims as the millions in the British Isles and elsewhere who had been consumed in the war or had had to live with its dreadful aftermath of starvation, plague and one new conflict after another in the years following the cataclysm. 
 
    Haggard had waited patiently until the sun began to set in the west behind the lumbering Liberty Ship and her smaller escort.  Both were now silhouetted by that setting sun.  Courageous’s attack periscope broke the surface, dipping in and out of the two-foot swell washing over it from almost directly astern.  The two ships were almost wholly bow on to the submarine, a little over three miles in front of the lens. 
 
    Courageous was holding the range steady, the attack periscope on a bearing almost directly aft. 
 
    “Mark!”  The submarine’s commanding officer rasped. 
 
    The angle was fed into the fire control computer. 
 
    Haggard clicked up the magnification and took several photographs, then dropped the handles and ‘downed’ the eyepiece of the attack periscope. 
 
    The seconds ticked by. 
 
    “Now, sir!”  The Torpedo Officer called softly. 
 
    The periscope broke the surface again. 
 
    “Constant bearing, constant speed.  Mark!” 
 
    Again, the handles folded up, he stepped back as the periscope slide down inside its well in the middle of the conning tower above his head. 
 
    “Make our depth three-five-zero, if you please!” 
 
    Noel Haggard stepped over to the plot to join his Executive Officer as the boat’s bow planes bit into the water and the submarine began to lean forward, dipping into the depths. 
 
    The simplest plan would have been to drop down beneath the oncoming ships, allow them to pass overhead and after opening the doors of Tubes 1 and 2 while the targets were directly above them - deaf to any untoward noise even if they were listening – under their keels, and simulate the launch of two fish at a range of approximately eight hundred yards from directly astern. 
 
    However, ‘simple’ evolutions equated to undemanding training environments; and Noel Haggard was a strong believer in demonstrating what did not work, or only worked ‘sometimes’ before focusing his crew’s attention on perfecting manoeuvres that worked nine times out of ten. 
 
    Therefore, they were going to do this the hard way first. 
 
    And besides, he wanted to find out if HMS Tarlton was equipped with a working Type 193 active sonar.  And if she was, was it in operation.  That would be a potential problem in any attack scenario, albeit not an insurmountable one.  The Type 193 was a relatively short-range multi-beam system designed to detect moored mines, with a limited longer-range capability using a lower frequency that gave it a fifteen degree sweep coverage. 
 
    However, that assumed the installation was serviceable and competently manned.  Had he been a gambling man he might have wagered that presently, Tarlton was almost certainly preoccupied with chasing off pirates, not looking out for roaming SSNs. 
 
    “Full left rudder!”  Haggard ordered. 
 
    The submarine banked slightly into the turn. 
 
    Several stop watches were running, the most important was the one in the Pilot’s hand.  Vectoring onto a reciprocal course that would carry them directly beneath the approaching Liberty Ship was going to be, by any standard, a ‘real trick’ and achieving it was the primary test for the control room team in this exercise. 
 
    Lieutenant Sam Troubridge’s captain was watching him closely.  Under the Collingwood-Barrington regime largely responsible for the creation of the undersea fleet, it was intrinsic to the role of every nuclear boat skipper to ‘talent spot’ the next generation of leaders.  Everybody was under scrutiny all the time; a man accepted the pressure or he shipped out of the Submarine Service.  People had grown complacent, forgotten that nothing short of one-hundred-and-one percent was acceptable and in their hearts, they all knew this had been a contributory factor in the loss of the Cassandra.  The men who had built the nuclear boat fleet – the Royal Navy’s two most famous submariners – might have fallen on their swords; in the circumstances, in honour neither man could have done otherwise but their legacy lived on. 
 
    “You have the deck, Pilot,” Haggard decided. 
 
    “I have the deck, sir,” the younger man acknowledged.  The clock ticked off several more seconds.  “HELMSMAN!  WHEEL AMIDSHIPS!” 
 
    The submarine was still descending, passing through two-hundred-and-eighty feet. 
 
    “PLANES MAN!  REDUCE OUR ANGLE OF DIVE TO TWO DEGREES!” 
 
    The orders were repeated back. 
 
    There was always an overlong lag before the boat responded. 
 
    Sam Troubridge did not wait. 
 
    “HELMSMAN!  COME RIGHT!  YOUR COURSE IS TWO-FIVE-FIVE DEGREES!” 
 
    Haggard watched impassively, noting the way Troubridge kept doing the simple things in sequence, unflustered, his eyes roving around the control room, and the way in which he was always trying to stay ahead of possible problems. 
 
    This was a classic ‘Perisher’ scenario; taking command in the middle of an evolution, a stress test to discover how a man coped with the time and situation-compressed multiple complexities of leadership. 
 
    The litmus test was whether a man became ultra-cautious to the extent it began to threaten his ability to carry out his mission.  There was nothing wrong with softly-softly, safely-safely; it just did not always get the job done and the precise fine line that had to be walked was the one that accomplished the task without endangering the boat.  Endangering the boat was not an option; but then neither was failing to successfully carry out an attack. 
 
    Haggard suppressed a smile as Troubridge stepped behind the planes man, touched his shoulder and said, quietly: “Up angle now, I think!” 
 
    In the event, Courageous passed between the Balvenie Castle and the Tarlton, the latter having chosen exactly the wrong moment – from the control room team’s point of view – to cross the wake of the merchantman.  The submarine passed astern of the two ships, turned again, and ran the drill to launch the first ‘notional’ Tigerfish at the old Liberty Ship. 
 
    “I have the deck, Mister Troubridge.” 
 
    “You have the deck, sir.” 
 
    “BELAY ATTACK ORDER!  SECURE FIRE CONTROL!  SECURE THE TORPEDO BOARD!” 
 
    Haggard turned to his Executive Officer. 
 
    “What did we learn from that, Number One?”  He inquired, dryly. 
 
    “We all failed the Perisher, sir,” Tim Dunbar-Naismith observed ruefully. 
 
    “Exactly,” Noel Haggard agreed, chuckling.  “Pay attention, everybody,” he said, suddenly deadly serious.  “Good enough may be the enemy of BETTER but CLARITY is the ally of the successful execution of any operational plan.” 
 
    He let this sink in. 
 
    “That was a bad attack plan!  A really bad attack plan!  Now that you all know what that looks like we won’t do that again on this patrol!” 
 
    Every man in the control room was an expert in his specialisation; you never, ever talked down to men like these. 
 
    “We will repeat the attack exercise, gentlemen.  However, this time when we will run ahead of the targets, we will not come up to periscope depth, and we will not faff around like virgins in a brothel.  We will wait until it is full darkness on the surface, reduce revs and allow the targets steam over the top of us, and then, and only then, will we simulate a launch of a single Mark VIII at each target.” 
 
    He looked to the boat’s Pilot. 
 
    “Mister Troubridge, you have the deck.” 
 
    “I have the deck, sir!” 
 
    “Very good.  Please execute the revised attack plan I have just described.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 16 
 
      
 
    Sunday 22nd October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    RAF Luqa, Malta 
 
      
 
    Fifty-one-year-old Prince Philip, Duke of Edinburgh had been looking forward to this Mediterranean ‘jaunt’ for several months.  Much to his chagrin, his Royal duties had prevented him supporting the Aysha III’s campaign in Nantucket Sound that summer and these days it was not as if there was a great deal of light entertainment, separate that is, from the hidebound Palace milieu, to keep a man in his prime amused in between the seemingly endless brain-numbing functioning of the regal machine.  Not that he was a man who had ever shirked his duty; he had served old King George in the Second War, and apart from when his gammy legs where still mending after that frightful business at Balmoral in 1963, he had always been beside the Queen, more than once literally behind her guarding her back through thick and thin.  But there were limits; in the good old days before the 1962 fiasco, he had had a qualified licence to live, discretely, his own life, and allowed the occasional escape from the crushing routine of the Royal Household and the stifling protocols of the court.  His wife understood, nobody understood him as she did but these days there was little or no scope for ‘going it alone’, still less privately enjoying the company of friends, or Heaven forfend, womenfolk of their acquaintance.  Thus, for this particular old sea dog the prospect of being, albeit briefly, permitted off the leash in sunny, foreign climes was bliss, or rather, it would have been had not some bright spark suggested – granted, not directly – to his wife that perhaps this might be a good opportunity to ‘give Charles an outing’. 
 
    His twenty-three-year-old son Charles, Prince of Wales, was not any kind of chip off the old block.  Quite the contrary, he was introspective, thoughtful, shy and although he had belatedly discovered girls he was still working out what to do about the female of the species.  Unlike his sister, Anne, there was little visible get up and go about the heir to the throne, and notwithstanding he had eventually passed out of Dartmouth’s abbreviated Cadet Training Scheme and survived, with qualifications, a midshipman’s cruise on the guided missile destroyer Devonshire, the dire straits the Navy found itself meant that there were precious few berths available for ‘Royal passengers’ in the modern Grey Funnel Line.  Thus, he had, a couple of months ago, been passed back into the pastoral care of his family. 
 
    Not that leaving the boy mooning around Balmoral in a kilt agonising over causing pain to the deer wildfowl by shooting at them, or to fish by hooking the blighters out of nearby streams, irritating all and sundry and now and then, inadvertently saying stupid things to lurking newspapermen, was a very good idea either, as he was very belatedly prepared to go up to Oxford, Balliol next year to read history.  Charles had originally wanted to go up to Cambridge, Trinity College of all places, where the spies came from; to read anthropology but with no little prompting from the Duke, the Queen had reluctantly put her foot down.  The boy needed to get ‘history’ into his skull, if only because they both hoped it might jolt him into an awareness of the high responsibilities he had been born into. 
 
    The weight of expectation was not of course, the boy’s fault.  He had not asked to be the heir to the throne, a situation which would have been a sore trial to him, blighting his life even without the added complication of the war to end all wars having been fought when he was only thirteen years of age.  However, nobody in the Windsor family could ever forget the Edward and Mrs Simpson debacle, in which Charles’s feckless, self-absorbed and morally weak Nazi-sympathising uncle had abdicated and very nearly brought down the whole monarchy just to get between a mean-spirited gold-digging trollop’s legs! 
 
    The last thing Royal ‘firm’ could afford in this post-war brave new world was a dilettante heir to the throne liberally distributing hostages to fortune wherever he went. 
 
    ‘Philip. You really must take him in hand,’ had been the exasperated Royal Command.  He and his wife had agreed that a good start would be getting him away from the Court at Woodstock – and the Oxford press pack – into the company of ‘responsible, grown-up people a little closer to his own age’.  Thus, the boy had been pencilled in for the ‘Malta trip’, among a raft of other ‘character-building supervised adventures’ in the coming months, ahead of accompanying his parents on their planned tour of Canada and Australasia next spring. 
 
    The Duke’s wife had given him one of her knowing, genuinely apologetic smiles when they had agreed upon what needed to be done.  She had always known that she was married to a man who was used to, and needed his own space; while no spouse on the planet would ever be more loyal to her he had never pretended he was any kind of latter-day saint. 
 
    ‘Noblesse oblige,’ he had sighed.  
 
    So, what for the Duke of Edinburgh had initially been the first of several eagerly anticipated escapes from the drabness of the United Kingdom, a long-overdue chance to breathe clean Mediterranean air and to meet a crowd of new and interesting people, women mostly, among friends he would trust with his life, now threatened to become something of a chore, courtesy of his drippy eldest son.  A lesser man would have allowed his disappointment to colour his mood and now and then, to show in the public face he projected to the ever-watchful world.  As it was, today it was a beaming, glad-handing and very regal Duke of Edinburgh who led his somewhat hunched-shouldered, head-bowed son down the steps to the tarmac from the aft port passenger hatch of the RAF Transport Command VC-10 that afternoon. 
 
    In fact, the Duke was in a genuinely sunny mood that day.  Things had started looking up when he discovered that among the other VIPs, civil servants and officers joining him on the flight would be Dan and Rachel French.  The icing on the cake had been that Dan’s son, Guy, had rostered himself to fly their aircraft that day, so he had been able to deposit Charles in the right-hand co-pilot’s seat for most of the flight while he caught up with the Frenchs.  Later, his mood already greatly improved, it was all he could do not to envelope Lady Marija in a very un-regal embrace at the foot of the steps.  Next he was reunited with his fellow old sea dog, the lady’s now rightly famous yachtsman husband. 
 
    The two men had met, bonded and formed an enduring friendship in the course of the Duke of Edinburgh’s tour of Scandinavian waters on board HMS Liverpool some months before the War in the South Atlantic. 
 
    “It’s damned good to see you again, Peter!”  He declared.  “What’s this I hear about that famous boat of yours not being back in time for the big day?” 
 
    “Well, she is a bit broken, sir,” he was ruefully reminded.  “Never fear, the Number Two Boat is shipshape, we’ll arrange a couple of runs around the islands for you!” 
 
    “That sounds marvellous!” 
 
    Prince Charles was introduced. 
 
    Although the younger man had met Marija several times, he still gave her a trapped in the headlamps look before he remembered that she was not going to bite him, then like practically everybody else who encountered her, he was smiling like an idiot and suddenly tripping over his words as she curtsied cautiously and her husband nodded his head in an unambiguously respectful bow. 
 
    Soon, they were all walking away in a small huddle, with courtiers, bodyguards and miscellaneous officials scurrying around them. 
 
    “We’ve taken the liberty of drawing up a provisional schedule of activities, visits and events, for the Prince of Wales,” Peter explained, speaking very much with the god-given authority of the captain of a cruiser explaining that day’s and week’s upcoming evolutions to a junior watchkeeper.  “I’m sure His Highness won’t want to be hiding his light beneath your coattails every minute of the next week, sir,” he put to the Duke of Edinburgh, only just succeeding in keeping a straight face as the expressions of the surrounding courtiers began to reflect their pure, undiluted horror. 
 
    There was no need to consult a rocket scientist; their hosts had arranged for Her Majesty’s consort to be let off the leash. 
 
    Meanwhile, the Prince of Wales’s father was suddenly thinking: “This just gets better every minute!” 
 
    The party halted at a reviewing stand in front of RAF Luqa’s shed-like custom’s hall.  The band of 42 Commando Royal Marines struck up the National Anthem.  Then Sir Hugh Foot and his wife stepped forward and the two Royals bade a temporary farewell to the Christophers, whom they knew had a succession of other dignitaries to greet in the coming hours. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 17 
 
      
 
    Luqa, Malta 
 
      
 
    There was only time for Marija and Peter to cursorily greet Dan and Rachel French, who had diplomatically hung back as the Duke of Edinburgh and the Prince of Wales received their grand welcome to Malta, absent they noted, either of the two leading Maltese politicians. 
 
    “The Dom is ‘indisposed’,” Peter informed Dan French while Marija quickly brought Rachel up to date with the really important news, that concerning the recent antics of her eldest daughter, who seemed convinced that she was about to be crowned Princess of Valletta! 
 
    “Ah,” the former Chief of the Air Staff and Governor of the archipelago said, exchanging a half-smile with Peter, “so, presumably, the absence of Mister Mintoff gave Mister Tabone an excuse to carry on doing his doctoring rounds this afternoon?” 
 
    “Something like that,” the younger man quietly guffawed. 
 
    Dan French suspected that Dom Mintoff’s reluctance to make an appearance had more to do with his wife’s presence than any non-specific indisposition.  He had never really got to the bottom of Rachel’s mission to Malta in 1965; other, that is, than he had been warned, plaintively as it happened, by the then MI6 Head of Station on the islands, that ‘it’ had caused ‘a lot of problems’.  Or rather, Dom Mintoff’s coincidental, alleged twenty-seven hour disappearance during Rachel’s time on Malta had caused ‘a lot of problems’.  Fortunately, the panic had barely begun when the man mysteriously appeared again, shaken, more than somewhat stirred but otherwise unharmed, strenuously denying that anything remotely untoward had occurred in the missing hours.  Of course, at that time Dan and Rachel’s relations had been at once complicated, confusing and from his point of view, exhilarating and truth be told, Dom Mintoff’s problems had seemed very, very small beer.  One day Rachel had been pretending to be his mistress – he had no idea how he had let that happen – and the next, she was his mistress. 
 
    And why not? 
 
    He had fallen for her hook line and sinker despite knowing all along that sooner or later her past would catch up with her. 
 
    These days, viewed from their West Coast, Santa Monica home, where Dan was the British Government’s man on the Board of the Anglo-American Joint Aerospace Development Program, and in his spare time, less publicly acknowledged, the RAF’s ex-officio man on the inside of Lockheed’s top secret ‘Skunk Works’, splitting his time between Oxford in England, Washington DC and the various design offices, developmental and production facilities in and around the Los Angeles area, even the relatively recent past could sometimes seem like very ancient history. 
 
    When they were first married, the couple had lived a peripatetic life for a couple of years; nowadays, they spent nine to ten months a year together in America and this was only the second time Rachel had travelled with him to Europe since the spring.  They had talked about retiring – well, his retiring – and moving to say, Hawaii or Australia.  That might happen in a year or two, or never, for the moment Dan was too locked into the transatlantic fabric of the aerospace industry and if he was to suddenly absent himself, the big US defence contractors would almost certainly take the opportunity to completely cut their much smaller, financially enfeebled, British ‘friends’ and competitors out of the deal. 
 
    Arriving at the Phoenicia Hotel, Malta’s premier international watering hole to which by all accounts the Independence Day jamboree was like all its Christmases come at once, there was a note awaiting the couple at reception.  Dan showed his wife the business card without verbally echoing the message scrawled on it. 
 
    She groaned softly: “Let’s get this over and done with, darling.” 
 
    Dan French had never been under any illusions that his wife’s past would just go away; he might be able to ‘retire’ whenever he wanted, that was not an option which had ever been on Rachel’s table. 
 
    Denzil Williams struggled to his feet when he saw the couple stroll into the Grand Harbour Bar, counter-intuitively possibly the least nautical high-class drinking dive on the whole archipelago. 
 
    The head of MI6’s Mediterranean Section looked much as he had done seven years ago, and probably twenty years before that.  He was a podgy, balding, clumsy man who looked as if he had not had a good night’s sleep in days.  Perhaps, today there was an additional sourness in his expression, it was hard to tell with a face like his.  His lips had always curled down at the edges, either in contempt or despair and he rarely held eye contact in normal conversation, his gaze roving around the room, or peering myopically into the distance.  The only sign that he had gone up in the world was the tailored grey summer suit that almost but not quite fitted him, and the carelessly knotted tie of the Middlesex Regiment. 
 
    “What is it we need to talk about, Major Williams?”  Dan asked tersely in a tone that reminded the other man that he was the one who had been Governor of this archipelago and after that, Chief of the Air Staff, as hands were, very cursorily, shaken. 
 
    Rachel waved to the bar and a waiter ghosted over to the circle of chairs about which the threesome had coalesced. 
 
    “Coffee, please,” she ordered, then with a sympathetic glance to Dan said: “My husband will need a stiff drink.  A single malt, no, a double, please,” she added, ignoring the MI6 man whom she saw was nursing something which might have been soda water with a slice of lemon in it. 
 
    The MI6 man had once had a reputation for drinking like a fish; but then so did everybody else at the headquarters of the Secret Intelligence Services, the slovenly hub of the London Circus operation back in the good old days.  It was a little late to jump onto the wagon now. 
 
    “You know I’m officially inactive, Denzil,” she said with a quiet testiness.  “It took me months to convince the Americans, so whatever it is, the answer is probably ‘no’.” 
 
    “Here, here,” her husband growled, deciding that his Scotch could not come soon enough. 
 
    They sat down, Rachel casually reaching out and resting a hand on Dan’s left arm.  He was a natural south paw so if he hit the SIS man he would instinctively lead with that fist. 
 
    Denzil Williams waited for the drinks to arrive. 
 
    “Cheers,” he suggested, raising his own half-empty tumbler. 
 
    “I’m surprised you haven’t received your marching orders yet?” Dan put, a little unkindly, to the other man. 
 
    “My people aren’t going anywhere any time soon, Sir Daniel.”  The spymaster sighed.  “Somebody’s got to keep an eye on the bloody Russians, the locals haven’t got a clue.” 
 
    Rachel smiled a smile that was not a patch on her predatory smile of days gone by.  Notwithstanding, it was still sufficient to make Denzil Williams’ blood run cold for a moment. 
 
    “I seem to recall that was what Dick White once said about your operation on Malta?”  She half-asked, half-reminded the man slouching in the comfortable chair opposite her. 
 
    Denzil Williams shrugged, thinking briefly about the brilliant intelligence officer whose star and powers had slowly waned as he wrestled with the politics of the dysfunctional and ultimately failed British intelligence community in the 1950s.  He still regarded Dick White as a brother in arms, the last great gentleman spy, a flawed genius who might have lost his way yet still deserved the respect and the loyalty, even admiration of all those who had known him.  It was sad he was no longer around. 
 
    “We’ll agreed to differ on that one,” he said gruffly.  He visibly gathered his wits, sat up a little straighter, looking from Rachel to Dan and back again.  “The new chiefs in Oxford can’t make up their minds if they want to kiss and make up with the Russians, or to bomb the bastards back to the Stone Age.” 
 
    Dan could not deny that since it had swept to power in May with a sixty-seat majority in the House of Commons the Labour and Co-operative party under the eloquent, self-evidently ineffectual leadership of Peter Shore – like many new Prime Ministers he was still struggling to throw off the shackles of opposition, and getting used to the idea that the buck stops with him – had thus far demonstrated no little moral schizophrenia in its shambolic Foreign policy.  The socialists mistrusted most things American while being at the same time, terrified to do anything which might turn off the transatlantic money tap.  And, of course, it went without saying that they loathed colonialism without actually wanting to abandon the global influence that the possession of colonies strategically dotted around the world seemed to guarantee.  Had the new Foreign and Commonwealth Secretary, Denis Healey, been in better health his intellectual and political nous might have slashed through any number of Gordian policy knots by now; sadly, it seemed that he was a diminished shadow of the man who had been one of the most original, European-centric foreign relations thinkers in British politics in the years before the cataclysm. 
 
    Realistically, most observers suspected that given the dire economic crisis which had eventually brought down Edward du Cann’s administration, forcing it to go to the country a year before his Party’s five-year mandate ran out, it was hard to see how any government, let alone a Labour one – apart from a period of coalition in 1963 and early 1964, the Party had been out of power for over twenty years – was going to instantly magic up the wit or the capacity to confront piffling overseas issues which to most Britons were problems other people, by definition foreigners, ought to be sorting out for themselves. 
 
    Great Britain was no longer the world’s policeman; it had behaved as if it was right up until the denouement of the war in the South Atlantic and the lesson to be drawn from that salutary experience was that nobody had thanked it for it.  To the contrary, the world had condemned it and many countries had subsequently inflicted sanctions on the British people; but for the lifeline of American aid and the comfort blanket of the Commonwealth Mutual Assistance and Free Trade Agreement, the country would have needed a new Operation Manna-type exercise to fend off starvation this coming winter. 
 
    “The thing is,” Denzil Williams said, reaching for a pack of cigarettes. 
 
    A match flared and he sucked in smoke before unhurriedly exhaling, careful not to direct any part of his exhalation anywhere near his companions even though the air was already fouled with a mist of tobacco smoke from the many other smokers in the bar, despite the numerous open windows. 
 
    He continued: “My orders are to keep a lid on things.  The Russians are to be watched and if necessary, protected.  The bloody Americans are almost as bad as the Reds,” he lamented.  “And then,” he nodded at Rachel, “there’s the problem of friendly fire.  It has been put to me that certain persons might become persona non grata ten minutes after this place becomes independent.” 
 
    Rachel raised an eyebrow, thought about slapping Williams down.  Instead, she sipped her coffee, involuntarily wrinkling her nose.  It was bitter. 
 
    I’m too used to the easy life in California… 
 
    “Remember, I know what you told the Architect that night,” Denzil Williams said, sniffing before sucking in another lungful of smoke. 
 
    Dan French frowned. 
 
    The Architect was one of Dom Mintoff’s less-pejorative nicknames. 
 
    “Good for you,” Rachel breathed, coolly. 
 
    Dan French was frowning now. 
 
    Rachel was suddenly eying Denzil Williams like a cat – a leopardess - contemplating how best to rake its latest victim.  As in all her dealings with men embedded in the intelligence community the problem was that it was almost impossible to know, for sure, what was real and what was artifice, what was misdirection, or simply a performance for the sake of the watchers.  There were always watchers; that was a given in her line of work.  She drank her coffee, wondering how many spoonfuls of sugar it would need before it became remotely drinkable.  For the moment she would have to settle for the caffeine hit. 
 
    “I don’t remember saying anything to that little man,” she decided, languidly rising to her feet with a grace that belied the cumulative effect of all the injuries, mostly healed, that she had suffered in her career. 
 
    Rachel contemplated making a minor scene; decided not, there were already enough people with eyes on the former Governor of Malta and his elegant wife, good-naturedly suffering a moderately disagreeable meeting with a man who looked like a drink-sozzled reporter.  There was no need to turn the meeting into a full-blown…production. 
 
    She looked to her husband, who was also standing.  “I think we should go to our room and freshen up,” she suggested.  “Later, I’d like to go for a walk before dinner, darling.” 
 
    “You go on ahead, my dear,” Dan French re-joined, his rising ire unfeigned.  “Major Williams and I need to have a little chat.  But not here, outside, I think.” 
 
    Rachel nodded, turned on her heel and departed. 
 
    The MI6 man was astonished by the way the woman had acquiesced without demur. 
 
    “Outside,” Dan hissed. 
 
    He led the other man through the lobby and out into the bright late afternoon sunshine.  A fit, trim man he was aware of Denzil Williams struggling to keep up with him. 
 
    Dan turned on his heel, faced him. 
 
    “What the Devil do you think you are doing, Williams?”  He demanded loudly. 
 
    The MI6 man said nothing, possibly because he was still recovering his wind.  Not that he needed to say anything, the watchers would see what they were supposed to see.  That was the main thing. 
 
    “My wife submitted herself to a full debrief at Langley,” Dan French said lowly.  “She kept nothing back.  Central Intelligence has given her a clean slate and a security clearance which enables us to live and travel together without let or hinderance.  British Intelligence, if it ever had, has no claim on her and I will not stand by and allow you, or any of your grubby little associates to play your filthy departmental games at our expense.  Is that clear?” 
 
    The SIS man would have taken this to heart had he not understood that the other man was doing what he would be doing in his place; playing the game with the straightest of straight bats.  Dan French knew his wife belonged to a very select club; he had got used to the idea and as he and the lady were still, to all appearances, very happily married, he could only conclude that at worst, he was thoroughly reconciled to the implications. 
 
    Not that the Head of Station of MI6 in the Mediterranean had any real idea if the former Governor of Malta and Chief of the Air Staff was actually in on the big secret, or actually, cared. 
 
    The important thing was that the watchers went away with the impression that Dan French was in the process of giving him an old-fashioned dressing down.  Men who had aspired to such high estates were often very, very careful about what they knew and more importantly, what they could later plausibly deny. 
 
    Appearances had to be maintained at all costs in his business. 
 
    Denzil Williams shrugged, turned his back on Dan French and headed back to the bar. 
 
    Yes, appearances had to be maintained at any cost. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 18 
 
      
 
    Residence of the outgoing Governor of the Dependent Crown Territory of Malta 
 
    Verdala Palace 
 
      
 
    There was nothing remotely manufactured about the warmth of Sir Hugh’s and Lady Florence Foot’s reception for the Hannay family.  The couple and their three children had stayed with the Governor and his wife last year when – fully utilising Alan’s six-week foreign leave entitlement – they had returned from Washington to spend a little time in England, and nearly a month on Malta. 
 
    Earlier that year, Alan, his acting promotion to captain having been substantiated - gazetted - in the latest Navy List had been serving as Naval Attaché at the Embassy in Washington, and when his foreign service leave concluded, it had been confirmed that he would be taking up the post of Senior Staff Captain on the Staff of the Rear Admiral, C-in-C Malta, based at the Royal Navy establishment at Fort St Angelo. 
 
    “I think coming back here will be good for Alan,” Lady Florence suggested when the Governor and his spouse were alone again, having left their guests to settle into their rooms and wash the dust of their travels off their shoes. 
 
    Her husband nodded. 
 
    He had thought he was imagining the premature flecks of grey in thirty-four-year-old Alan Hannay’s temples.  People who met the still ridiculously youthful-looking officer were wont to find it hard to reconcile the man before them with the veteran diplomat who had survived Talavera’s ‘death run’ back in April 1964 and commanded a frigate – with great distinction - throughout the War in the South Atlantic.  After his career, the real miracle was that he was showing so few signs of wear and tear. 
 
    The Foots were well aware that, aided and abetted by Marija and Peter, latterly Rosa Hannay had mended at least some of the familial fences her parents’ disavowal of her had erected at the time the treachery of her first husband, Samuel Calleja, had first emerged.  It was awful for her, knowing that there would still be people on the archipelago who blamed her for not suspecting the heinous malfeasance of her first husband.  Even as recently as last year, she had been a little uncomfortable returning to Malta, this year, she was more relaxed.  That was a good sign. 
 
    Rosa was Alan’s senior by forty-five days but people who did not know the couple often thought there was an age difference of three or four years, if only because Alan was such a trim, dapper and perennially boyish character.  They and their children were, like Marija and Peter’s young family, a truly international clan.  Their eldest son, christened Julian Alan, had come into the world in Philadelphia in July 1965, his sister Sophia Elisabeth in late November 1966 in Washington DC, and their second son, Jonathan ‘Jack’ Paul at St Cross, in Hampshire in January 1969.  Unlike Marija and Peter, they had, it seemed decided that three bambinos were quite enough to be going on with, although now they were back on Malta, given their friends’ example, and the birth of little Margo Constance this time last year, who knew? 
 
    Professionally, Alan was returning to Malta at a time of profound ongoing change, mostly of the drastic retrenchment type as the old gunboat Royal Navy that had policed the world before the Second War was finally consigned to history.  The War in the South Atlantic had been that Navy’s last hurrah.  One consequence of this was that it was uncertain how much there would actually be for the Grey Funnel Line to do in Maltese waters in the coming years, not least because the Mediterranean was such an American lake these days although, no doubt, the French would have something to say about that in due course. 
 
    In the immediate future, nothing was going to change overmuch if only because the budgetary axe had already been wielded.  There was talk of a further rundown, eventually arriving at a ‘Malta flotilla’, a force of perhaps a couple of frigates or destroyers, supplemented by a few patrol boats.  There were extant facilities for conventional diesel-electric submarines but nobody had requested – or mooted - docking permissions for Royal Navy or US nuclear-powered boats in the archipelago. 
 
    That spring the Royal Air Force had withdrawn its last Vulcan V-Bombers – two, four or six of which had been based at Luqa for some years – emptying its ‘Special Weapons Store’ at the base that summer.  While it was assumed that HMS Eagle might be carrying nuclear weapons, the question had not been asked, and in any event, she was bound for home waters in ten days and given the fact she was the Royal Navy’s only operational aircraft carrier, it was unlikely she would be returning any time soon, if at all, to the Central Mediterranean. 
 
    The outgoing Governor of Malta had, therefore, good reason to anticipate that Alan Hannay’s diplomatic elan was likely to be in greater demand than his naval prowess.  It was a talking point Sir Hugh raised, a little ironically over dinner that evening.  The meal was a deliberately private affair.  Even on the eve of independence, the Governor of Malta and his wife had a right to enjoy their Sunday dinner with friends.  It was not as if they had been parsimonious in pressing the flesh and had not been entertaining like imperial satraps continually for what seemed like most of the last year. 
 
    Sir Hugh had begun to pick Alan’s brain about the tides coursing through the American political firmament in the run up to the forthcoming general election. 
 
    ‘President Brenckmann will see off Mister Reagan,’ Alan had reassured him.  ‘The vote will probably go sixty-forty in his favour; how exactly the House will divide is another matter.  Nicko,’ he had offered, referring to his friend and now long-time Ambassador in Washington, ‘thinks the Democrats could lose the House of Representatives even though they are fairly confident they will hold onto their majority in the Senate.’ 
 
    Alan moved on to consider the Governor’s inquiries concerning the ongoing Royal Navy presence and changing role on Malta, ruminatively sipping fine domestically pressed local red Marsovin wine. 
 
    “Hugh, you mustn’t badger poor Alan,” Lady Florence chided her husband. 
 
    Alan smiled. 
 
    “No, your questions are well taken, Sir Hugh,” he said in the older man’s defence.  “I think the answer may be that it is more important for us to maintain a presence, wholly, certainly very visibly in support of the archipelago’s new government, rather than to be seen to be doing,” he hesitated, “anything.  I think the same will go for the eventually much-reduced RAF and Army establishments on Malta.  Our relationships have changed.  We are allies of the Maltese people and in many ways, we are now their servants.  There is also the financial aspect of it; don’t forget that while we maintain our garrison, and in effect, guarantee the viability of Luqa as Malta’s air bridge to the rest of the world, and our ships continue to operate from the Grand Harbour, we are still drip-feeding hard currency into the local economy.  I know that what with one thing and another, there will be aid coming from the Old Country, and probably, a lot more from America but the Maltese are a proud people,” he glanced fondly at his wife who momentarily lowered her eyes and blushed, “and they will want to feel as if they are paying their way in the world.  Otherwise, what is the point of independence?” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 19 
 
      
 
    Monday 23rd October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    Residence of the outgoing Governor of the Dependent Crown Territory of Malta 
 
    Verdala Palace, Malta 
 
      
 
    After breakfast, the outgoing Governor of Malta and his political chief, Under-Secretary for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, David Owen strolled in the walled gardens of the old palace.  Both men had full diaries that day as metaphorically, the starting pistol for the archipelago’s week-long Independence Day party was finally fired. 
 
    “I suspect that you will find your visit to St Catherine’s Hospital a bit of an eye-opener,” Sir Hugh Foot remarked as the two men moved, unhurriedly in the shaded cool of the morning, flanked on all sides by the brilliant colours and the verdant foliage of the gardens.  “Lady Marija’s continuing patronage has attracted substantial philanthropic funding from the Betancourt Foundation.  Its new delivery ward is as well-equipped as that at St Luke’s at Pieta, albeit on a more modest scale.  You’ll probably also encounter Doctor French.” 
 
    The younger man’s curiosity was piqued. 
 
    “Sir Daniel’s daughter-in-law,” Hugh Foot explained.  “Heidi, a charming and extraordinarily accomplished young woman of Japanese-American ancestry…” 
 
    “Oh, yes, I remember.  Wasn’t she on a destroyer, the Berkeley, that was involved in the battles in the Persian Gulf in 1964?   Then she married Guy French, the man everybody says sank that big American aircraft carrier?” 
 
    “The Kitty Hawk,” the Governor confirmed. 
 
    “Yes, I recollect that when they got married, there was a positive feeding frenzy in the press in England, and I daresay in the US too,” Owen recollected, thinking aloud.  “She’s here, on Malta, you say.” 
 
    Traditionally, it was the job of imperial legates throughout history to assist visiting men of affairs, and politicians who had failed to prioritise, or like the young man who was his guest at the Verdala Palace, to be fair probably not yet had the time to master every aspect of his ministerial brief, to get up to speed.  Sir Hugh carried on patiently helping the erstwhile member of parliament for Devonport South to join up the dots. 
 
    He explained that: “Group Captain Guy French, VC, is Station Master at Luqa and its smaller, satellite airfield at Ta’Qali.  He is two years into a thirty-month tour of duty on the archipelago.  His wife completed her medical training and qualified as a doctor last year at St Luke’s, here in Malta.  Since when, she has been Assistant Director of St Catherine’s and is regularly rostered to attend at both RNH Bighi, at Kalkara, and St Luke’s as a junior physician.” 
 
    David Owen nodded, remembering now the splash in the press back in 1966 – or was it 1967? – about the dashing hero of the Persian Gulf marrying the former US Navy nurse who had helped save his life on board the USS Berkeley.  The couple had two young children, he thought. 
 
    “Heidi?”  He asked, almost lost in thought.  Thinking about his own medical training he could not imagine how a woman with two young children – what was more, a woman transplanted into what must have been an alien, British culture – had managed to achieve her medical qualification in his first profession.  Granted, the exigencies of the October War had forced a radical streamlining of the old, somewhat hidebound training regime; but even so.  He moved on: “Am I right in thinking that Lady Marija is the Patron of the hospital in Mdina?” 
 
    Hugh Foot nodded. 
 
    “Yes, of Saint Catherine’s and of all manner of other institutions and good causes on the archipelago.  She really is tireless.  My late long-suffering Chief Secretary, Lionel Faulkes used to posit that Lady Marija’s secret was that none of the men around her could keep up with her.  Personally, I tend to the view it is that twinkling smile of hers that makes the men around her putty in her hands.  Whatever her secret, it undoubtedly works its magic.” 
 
    Owen was a member of a great political movement that was traditionally, deeply misogynistic and unsurprisingly had produced only a shrinkingly small cadre of significant, influential female figures who having had to fight tooth and claw for every tiny victory on their way through the ranks, tended to be abrasive, angry, rightfully resentful of many of their male colleagues, friends and enemies alike, and often came across as less than empathetic female ‘battle-axes’.  It was almost as if the Labour Party was afraid of creating its own version of Margaret Thatcher, a woman able to stand on her own two feet in the company of the men around her, yet in her pomp, capable of speaking to and for the whole nation. 
 
    Like her or loathe her, the Lady’s sudden disappearance from British politics had left a yawning, unfillable gap not just within the rabble that was the modern National Conservative Party, but in the psyche of the whole country.  Ironically, it had not been until she was no longer there that people had really understood she was the only person equal to the Herculean task of holding things together, granted rather Canute-like holding back the tides, and her sudden departure from the scene had, damningly, opened the flood gates to a torrent of dissention and grief.  Unsurprisingly, the Tory grandees who had fought like rats in a sack to succeed the Lady had been, one and all, straw men, and their shop-soiled nominee, bought with the blood-stained wealth of the Witwatersrand, had never been anything more than a figurehead, a reminder of the glory of an age long gone. 
 
    Edward du Cann had been Prime Minister in title alone, in power but powerless, capable of doing little other than wave at the world as it passed he, and his Party by throughout the torrid downward spiral of his twenty-one month premiership. 
 
    At the time of her death at the hands of a madman on the streets of Cheltenham, Margaret Thatcher had been like a Tigress at bay, wounded yet undefeated, reminding people that Great Britain had once stood for something in the world.  Moreover, despite the pyrrhic campaign in the South Atlantic there had remained a certain transatlantic chemistry; the Brenckmann Administration would never have slashed its support for a government led by the Lady in the way it had in the last, bumbling months of the du Cann regime.  That was because the White House had known that she had always spoken for Britain, England and all it represented, whereas, in the end, nobody, even in Oxford had the remotest idea what Edward du Cann and his cronies thought, or believed in other than their preoccupation with feathering their own nests and appeasing the xenophobia and greed of their friends in the English shires and in the distant Cape. 
 
    “The Prime Minister is putting together a mission to attempt to mend fences with the Americans,” David Owen said, changing the subject. 
 
    “So, I heard,” Hugh Foot sighed, guessing where this was going and keen to knock it on the head in short order.. 
 
    “Oh…” 
 
    “I’m getting far too old for what you young people call shuttle diplomacy and frankly, I am out of touch with the main players, and with the mood of the body politic on the other side of the pond.  So, I’m not your man, David.” 
 
    “Oh, I see…” 
 
    The Governor understood that Owen saw little or nothing; in common with the majority of his comrades in the new government he was an innocent abroad in a very large, hostile world. 
 
    Nonetheless, he attempted to sugar the pill.  Problematically, saccharine or not, the medicine he needed to administer was going to be bitter to the ears of the young tyro whom many in England were already speaking of as a future leader of the Labour Party. 
 
    When the outgoing Governor of Malta had claimed he was out of touch with the current transatlantic mood in Washington he had been somewhat disingenuous; insofar as his recent conversations with Alan Hannay had brought him right up to date. 
 
    “Look, David,” he said, trying not to sound overly fatherly, “even President Brenckmann, a profoundly rational, reasonable man, believes that the British Labour Party is a compliant adjunct of the Communist Party of the New USSR.  Frankly, why would he not think that?  In the short period you’ve been in power you’ve done nothing but castigate the alleged mendacity of successive US Administrations.  How would you feel if members of Congress called for the demilitarisation of the Isle of Wight?  Or if members of a supposedly ‘friendly’ government attended demonstrations outside the US Embassy in Oxford waving placards depicting you as the Devil incarnate?” 
 
    “We have legitimate concerns about US policy in Cuba,” David Owen objected, without conviction, “and elsewhere, particularly in the Far East…” 
 
    The minister’s voice had trailed off because he knew he was making a fool of himself arguing foreign policy with a man who had been steeped in diplomacy and colonial governance his whole adult life. 
 
    “I apologise,” he said simply.  “I am not any kind of ideologue, Denis would not have allowed me anywhere near the FCO if I was.  Again, I suspect you worked that out long before I got on the plane at Brize Norton.” 
 
    Hugh Foot halted and the two men took stock of each other. 
 
    The older man spoke next: “I don’t think it would be breaking a confidence if I confided to you that although I remain on distantly cordial personal terms with my younger brother, Michael, your colleague in government, it is many years since we discoursed on matters political or ideological.  Nothing you say to me will reach him from my lips.” 
 
    It happened that the Governor was the second of four brothers without reference to whom no coherent, let alone complete history of the British Labour, or Liberal Party in the twentieth century could be written.  The eldest brother was Dingle, born in 1905, a lawyer and MP whose earliest political allegiance had been to the Liberal Party, who had recently been appointed Solicitor General of England and Wales in Peter Shore’s initial, argumentative cabinet.  Sir Hugh, Baron Caradon was the brother who had eschewed political office in favour of a long and extraordinarily distinguished career in the Diplomatic Service which among many other things, had seen him speak for his country on the floor of the old United Nations and shepherd war-torn Cyprus to a relatively peaceful independence.  Even his endlessly loquacious younger brother Michael, conceded that the third Foot son, John Macintosh, born in 1909 who had died only that spring, was the ‘best orator’ in the family, although Michael had probably got a little carried away declaring that he was also the ‘ablest member of the family’.  And as for Michael, the fourth of the Five Foot boys, born in 1913 and currently Her Majesty’s Secretary of State for Labour – or as his numerous critics inside and outside the Party had swiftly dubbed him, the ‘Minister for Strikes’ – who much to the exasperation of his Cabinet comrades still edited the hymnal of the Left, Tribune magazine, few of his detractors would actually disagree that he had always been, in part at least, the soul of the Party throughout its last two decades in the wilderness. 
 
    Hugh Foot understood exactly why Peter Shore tolerated his younger brother.  It went beyond the deep personal friendship the two men shared; it had much more to do with pragmatic, realpolitik than that.  Michael had once led, and still commanded the loyalty of the majority of the members of the former breakaway Independent Labour Party, representing at least a third of the backbench voting power of Shore’s unstable coalition. 
 
    The Parliamentary Labour Party was broad, very febrile church embracing every leftist persuasion from Marxist-Leninist didacts to Trades Union placemen to social democrats and representatives who might as easily, had circumstances been different, existed happily within the ranks of any European pre-war social democrat coalition.  There was, of course, the complication that Peter Shore’s own convictions placed him at an uncomfortable distance from the centre-left, and that he was intuitively sympathetic to the ‘nationalise everything and tax the rich until the pip squeaks’ faction on his back benches, while remaining intellectually, stoically unwilling to be a transparent tool of the trades union bosses who financed the Party.  He at least, was aware that the labour movement needed to speak for the whole country not just slavishly conform to the ever-changing agenda of the Trades Union Congress.  In this, the Prime Minister was fortunate to be staunchly supported by his Chancellor of the Exchequer, Harold Lever, a wily operator who had represented the constituency of Manchester Cheetham since 1950; and the Party’s one internationally recognised, and in some quarters respected, foreign policy ‘professional’, the rambunctious, jocular Denis Healey. 
 
    Hugh Foot knew for a fact that the latter was anything but ‘indisposed’; presently he was fighting his corner in Oxford like a cornered Roman gladiator circled by inchoate howling left-wing barbarians marshalled by Foot’s brother Michael, over his insistence that relations with the Brenckmann White House be ‘reset’ as the first priority of the Government.  Ideally, that was, before the pound sterling became worthless and the country collapsed under the weight of its mountain of foreign – mainly US – debt. 
 
    “You need to tell Denis,” Hugh Foot groaned, wondering yet again why he was having to explain any of this to his new political masters, “that the Americans don’t want, or expect, anybody from Oxford to fly to Washington to prostrate themselves on the floor of the Oval Office.  All they want is some guarantee that Peter Shore hasn’t surrounded himself with a clique of Sverdlovsk puppets and home-grown communist stooges.” 
 
    The younger man surprised him by what he said next. 
 
    “Yes, I agree.  It would help enormously if Michael would shut up for five minutes,” David Owen retorted. 
 
    Hugh Foot smiled. 
 
    “Yes, well. That’s not likely to happen, is it?” 
 
    The younger man grimaced. 
 
    “Don’t the Americans understand that one can have views slightly to the left of Karl Marx and still be a patriot, and still believe in the primacy of democracy…” 
 
    Hugh Foot shook his head in exasperation. 
 
    “Tell the people around the President; not me, David.”  The Governor took a series of short breaths to calm his sudden temper.  “Dammit, LBJ, Nixon and Walter Brenckmann all knew perfectly well that dear old Tom Harding-Grayson was a closet socialist but that didn’t stop us conducting what passed for business as normal in the post-war era for most of the five or six years he was Foreign Secretary.  Don’t you fellows understand that politics is the science of the possible, not some fanciful dreamscape you paint wish lists on?” 
 
    The two men walked on, deep in their thoughts. 
 
    They completed a circuit in silence, preoccupied with dark premonitions. 
 
    “Have you met Congresswoman Brenckmann yet?” Hugh Foot inquired. 
 
    “No.  I was introduced to Doctor Kissinger a couple of weeks ago at an Embassy function in DC.  We do still talk to the White House, you know,” David Owen observed, snatching at straws.  “Our man, Nicko Henderson is still welcome on the Hill over there.  His wife, Mary, is hugger mugger with the First Lady’s Appointments Secretary, and their daughter seems to be well and truly under the wing of the McCains…” 
 
    “Yes, everything I hear tells me that Nicko is fighting a superb rearguard action,” the Governor concurred.  “It is a pity people in Oxford are so keen to recall him!” 
 
    “He has been in post since 1966,” Owen pointed out. 
 
    “And whoever you replace him with will take another six years to mend all the fences the you nincompoops are so Hell-bent on knocking down!” 
 
    Hugh Foot stopped himself. 
 
    He had very nearly lost his temper that time, it would have been unforgivable. 
 
    “Look, I don’t know what brief Denis gave you,” he explained patiently. 
 
    “Basically, I was to avoid upsetting anybody,” the younger man confessed without ado. 
 
    Ironically, this broke the ice. 
 
    The mood eased, both men relaxed a degree. 
 
    “Yes, that sounds just like Denis,” Hugh Foot remarked, his tone rueful.  “It is a wise man who knows that when he is in a hole the first thing to do is to stop digging.”  He hesitated.  “Look, Peter and Marija will introduce you to Congresswoman Brenckmann.  Forget about getting a few minutes with Kissinger, he’s not here to talk to us; he’s got enough on his plate with the Russians and the Egyptians.” 
 
    David Owen blinked. 
 
    “The Egyptians?” 
 
    Hugh Foot resisted the temptation to roll his eyes. 
 
    “Yes, since Nasser died last year and our self-inflicted military enfeeblement in the wake of the War in the South Atlantic, I’d have hoped that even the FCO would have noticed that our mutual aid treaty with Cairo has become,” he paused, his smile fading, “if not passe, then totally irrelevant.  Privately, Henry Kissinger would rather gerrymander something better with Cairo than have to commit the Administration to spending billions of dollars propping up the Israelis who, sooner or later will almost certainly make trouble in the region if nothing is done to rein them in.” 
 
    In the subsequent quietness David Owen tried to make sense of the – probably – invaluable advice and insights he was receiving, gratis, from a man who likely had very little sympathy for the bungling incompetence of the government he had so foolishly agreed to join less than a month ago. 
 
    Owen had not entered politics to sit on his hands but by the same token, he was not a riotously ambitious man.  First and foremost, he was in Parliament to represent his constituents in Plymouth, hard-hit by the cutbacks in the Navy estimates and by the Tories’ post-Thatcher relentless targeting of health and other welfare services in their failed attempt to balance the budget by the most Draconian conceivable fiscal methods, regardless of the effect on ‘ordinary’ people, especially ones who were never going to vote for them again. 
 
    However, finding himself in a House of Commons dominated by his Party’s 283 members, opposed by 121 National Conservatives and Ulster Unionists, 55 Liberals, and 23 Scottish Nationalists, with the balance of the chamber made up by a motley collection of eccentric, mostly local special interest members few of whom had yet bothered to present themselves at Oxford other than to sign the Member’s Register so as to be able to begin to draw their stipends, he had soon realised that there would be very few great Parliamentary ‘events’ in the coming years.  Making acquaintance with his colleagues in the Commons - few of whom inspired much confidence in him or anybody else – in their company he was relatively highly-educated, and possessed personal attributes and qualifications in short supply which potentially, might enable him to contribute beyond the hum-drum of normal House business. 
 
    Logically, he had hoped for a position in the Department of Health; but apparently the Secretary of State did not believe in ‘experts’, hence his appointment at the FCO, as one of three sub-cabinet Ministers of State.  The reason he had been so badly prepared to get on the plane to Malta was that he was standing in for the man who was actually responsible for ‘Europe and the Middle East’.  Owen’s brief was for the Americas but his colleague was presently in hospital, having walked in front of a car in Oxford while emerging, blind drunk from a ‘right old session’ with his General, Municipal and Boilermakers Union sponsors.  In many ways, Owen’s presence on Malta said everything that needed to be said about the mess his Government was in. 
 
    “But that’s not the important thing,” Hugh Foot warned him.  “Unless the ‘special relationship’ with the Americans is fixed we might as well get used to the idea that the United Kingdom will be a cold, impoverished, very hungry laughing stock in the years to come.”  He hesitated, wondering if he ought to be as blunt as he had been, and intended to be again.  “You really do need to talk to Gretchen Brenckmann; you two are of an age, the generation who is going to have to sort out the world’s problems when all the old fogies like me are long gone.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 20 
 
      
 
    St Catherine’s Hospital for Women 
 
    Mdina 
 
      
 
    Heidi French found Marija in the shade of the inner courtyard of the old hospital building, sitting on the bench marking the spot where Margo Seiffert, the founder of St Catherine’s had been gunned down by a, probably, terrified, panicking trigger-happy Soviet paratrooper in April 1964. 
 
    Marija looked up and smiled as her friend joined her. 
 
    Both women wore similar, unflattering pale blue nursing smocks, absent any insignia of authority, their long hair piled into clipped and loosely regimented buns. 
 
    “Peter has taken Mister Edinburgh and Mister Wales sailing on the Number Two Boat today,” Marija said wryly.  “Paul Boffa telephoned me to report that they were followed out of Marsamxett Harbour by a huge flotilla of boats of every description.  I think every boatman in Valletta has made a killing courtesy of the international press!” 
 
    Ruefully, Heidi shook her head as if to say: “Men!” 
 
    When she had first started working at the hospital she had suspected everybody on Malta knew everybody else, and that for however long she lived on the archipelago she would be an outsider. 
 
    It had been a very pleasant surprise to learn that not everybody on the archipelago was in everybody else’s pocket. 
 
    For example, Marija’s friendship with Paul Boffa, the Editor of The Times of Malta, was anything but incestuous.  Yes, they undoubtedly used each other; but no, Paul was no tool of the President-designate.  Paul was nobody’s stooge, as evinced by his ongoing war of words with the stick-in-the-mud traditionalist Metropolitan Archbishop of Malta, Nikol Joseph Cauchi, the former Bishop of Gozo. 
 
    Paul Boffa’s wife, Chiara, had been one of the leading lights of the Women of Malta movement in the immediate post-war months of 1963 and 1964, and like her husband – whom she had married in 1969 – had been one of Marija’s long-time correspondents.  Unlike Marija, Chiara was not disposed to take a placid attitude to the Catholic Church’s in general, or to the bishop’s stance in particular, and as to a woman’s rightful place and role in society, she was a positive Tartar!  It was Chiara who had pointed out to Heidi – as if she had needed to be told – that ‘times had changed’.  Goodness, the British had had a Boadicea-like leader for six of the most turbulent years in the nation’s history and the most famous native-born Maltese woman in history was about to become the new republic’s first President! 
 
    Heidi had thought Chiara was a little scary on first, second and third acquaintance although the small, feisty woman who was some years her dapper, bespectacled, rather studious husband’s senior had grown on her as time went by, much as Marija had promised she would ‘if you give her a chance’. 
 
    Heidi had decided that Marija was a much better judge of character than she was but then as her husband, Guy, had more than once reminded her, ‘nobody is good at everything all the time’.  This apparently, was why pilots always needed to have a ‘Plan B’ up their sleeves.  She got the impression that Chiara, whose first husband had been killed in the April 1964 invasion during the street-fighting for Mdina, had pursued Paul Boffa with the quiet determination of a leopardess until eventually, her quarry had realised that resistance was futile.  That said, the couple seemed happy enough, well-matched in that his cerebral calmness and innate good nature tended to balance out Chiara’s inflammably passionate spontaneity. 
 
    Heidi and Guy had been swiftly and warmly inducted into the Calleja-Christopher circle of friends and contacts.  And yes, that circle was huge and it had swiftly opened all manner of social, and professional doors for Heidi in her time on Malta.  She would have been guilty about that back in the States but the more she thought about it the more she recognised, that joining the US Navy had been exactly the same kind of gig, an equalising factor that allowed her to explore her potential in ways her mother’s generation could only dream about. 
 
    ‘We are living on a small archipelago in the middle of a big sea that from time to time will seem to be friendless,’ Marija had observed, ‘alone, so, we must use everybody and every resource we have at our disposal to make the life of our people as safe, and as fruitful as possible.  We cannot afford to waste our energies squabbling among ourselves.  Where it is possible, we must help each other in all things…’ 
 
    Which, thinking about it, was pretty much the way the Mafia operated in this part of the world, not that she imagined for a moment that was the sort of ‘family’ Marija wanted to engender on these islands.  Nonetheless, Heidi worried that there were times when her friend was pathologically inclined to give far too many people – who really did not deserve it - the benefit of the doubt.  She was amazed that had not been her downfall, especially in her dealings with the Arch Diocese of Malta, the leader of the Maltese Labour Party and already, two British governments, both shambolic after the assassination of Prime Minister Thatcher.  That said, the last miles on the road to independence had never threatened to end in tears, and that was in itself a not so minor miracle, which ought rightly to be laid at her friend’s feet.  It was Marija’s rare gift to be able to solve practically every problem just by asking the right person to make a compromise but that was her style, the way she lived her life and conducted her politics. 
 
    Marija had asked to be re-rostered for today, rather than her customary Tuesday and Thursday attendances at the hospital.  Tomorrow, she had a ‘big meeting’ with Archbishop Cauchi and of course, Thursday was Independence Day, or rather, it would be the moment the clock ticked past midnight at the end of that day.  Heidi guessed her friend was not looking forward to her encounter with Ġużeppi ‘Joseph’ Cauchi, who was very much a man of the nineteenth rather than the twentieth century in his devotion to liturgy, and in his resistance to what he saw as ‘radical social liberalisation’, namely, women having a greater say in public debate, and girls having some of the same educational opportunities as boys.  Marija’s very existence, no longer as the adult incarnation of the little crippled Princess of Birgu-Vittoriosa, rescued from the ruins in the war but as the de facto leader of the Women of Malta – which Cauchi regarded as a ‘communistic abomination’ – and latterly as the ‘Queen’ of the archipelago (the man really had some odd ideas), seemed to deeply offend his ingrained misogynistic sensibilities.  The cleric had recklessly accused her of ‘parading her airs and graces’ as if she had claimed to have ‘saved Malta’ from some unspecified disaster simply by returning home; and had more than once publicly castigated her husband and her father for well, ‘not putting her in her proper place’. 
 
    Heidi did not understand how her friend could be so philosophical about it. 
 
    ‘The Apostolic Catholic Church is rightly the constituted church of Malta,’ Marija had explained.  ‘I am its daughter.  I will not publicly challenge the authority of the church, or its bishop on these islands.  Therefore, I must engage in dialogue, even if it is a dialogue with a man who elects to be deaf.  Here on Malta, Archbishop Cauchi is our spiritual leader, and I believe that he is a man of conviction.  He is not a bad man; he is only doing what he thinks is right.’ 
 
    The woman the Bishop accused of prideful vanity would likely take the bus from Mdina back to the San Anton Palace at nearby Attard this evening; Heidi’s sister was going to be a President of, and for the people. 
 
    Back in the States, Heidi’s many old friends and former Navy comrades wrote to her all the time, curious about her life in England and Malta, and even more curious about Marija.  Notwithstanding it was over six years since the Christophers had handed on the ambassadorial baton to Sir Nicholas ‘Nicko’ Henderson and his wife, Mary, for many millions of Americans the handsome young naval captain and his almond-eyed, cheerful wife still represented everything that was good, and that they wanted to support and succour, in ‘the British’.  Heidi knew for a fact that any number of her countrymen – almost exclusively the wealthier, hem-touching kind – would soon be flocking to this still relatively remote island in the months and years to come simply to pay court, or to be seen and to be photographed with the ‘dream couple’ who had enchanted Main Street USA in their fraught twenty-five months in Philadelphia and Washington.  Who would ever forget Marija standing barefoot on the steps of the Philadelphia White House asking Lyndon Johnson to ‘give peace a chance’ at the very moment that East and West, and England too, seemed to be on the verge of a new war? 
 
    That had been on prime time TV for goodness’ sake! 
 
    As for finding a replacement when Heidi returned to England with her husband and infant daughters – Guy had finally discovered where he was being posted next, a Defence Ministry job in Oxford – Heidi knew that there would be a queue of Boston and East Coast female surgical registrars and gynaecologists, all much better qualified than her on paper, eagerly waiting to fill her post on exactly the same generous, once in a lifetime terms, Marija had secured for her from the Betancourt Foundation.  In fact, Heidi had been a little guilty at being paid what were East Coast rates for a job she would have happily taken on for buttons.  She was the Assistant Medical Director of the St Catherine’s Hospital for Women, the enduring legacy of her number one girlhood heroine, Commander Margo Seiffert, USN, a woman twice struck by Japanese Kamikazes – well, the ship she was on at the time was struck, anyway – who had resigned her commission in 1947 to work full-time in Malta with, by all accounts the love of her life, the legendary orthopaedic surgeon Captain Reginald Stephens, RN.  Stephens had been the Chief Surgeon of the Royal Naval Hospital Bighi, the man primarily responsible for putting Marija’s crushed and shattered lower body back together again in the years immediately after the end of the Second War. 
 
    Everything was connected, that was the lesson of Heidi’s life. 
 
    After Pearl Harbour she and her family had been interned – they were third and fourth generation Japanese immigrants, as American as apple pie but FDR had not worried about a little thing like that, politics was politics - somewhere in Oregon.  Later her father, a mathematician had used his freedom to help to build the atomic bombs that had won the war with Japan.  At high school she had learned about the American women who had run the factories while their men were away, the courage of the nurses who had island-hopped with the Marines all the way across the Pacific from one bloody battle to another, and of course, first heard about Margo Seiffert, continuing to operate on terribly injured young soldiers as the hospital ship she was serving on reeled from the impact of yet another Kamikaze strike.  How could she ever have been anything other than a nurse with ambitions to be a doctor? 
 
    In fact, the US Navy had turned her into a battlefield trauma nurse; and after she had married a hero, the British had accepted her service qualifications as the equivalent to the first two years of their abbreviated four year physician training program.  With two infants to bring up, two years had become three-and-a-half but soon after she came to Malta she had qualified in the end.  Congresswoman Gretchen and her magical Foundation, had come into her life within days of her husband’s posting as Station Commander at Luqa, wheels within wheels had turned, and hey presto, here she had been for most of the last two years, two years she would never forget and if she had ever been guilty about ‘connections’ and ‘strings being pulled’, she was not complaining that it had likely been her father-in-law’s contacts in the US and Oxford, and the largesse of the Betancourt Foundation, which had made it all possible. 
 
    Sometimes, a girl just had to get used to the idea that the gods were on her side. 
 
    “Poor Guy,” Marija sighed, “he’ll hate being stuck behind a desk in Oxford.” 
 
    Heidi shrugged. 
 
    “His hand-eye co-ordination and depth-perception tests have been slowly heading south for most of the time he’s been out here,” she confessed.  “That’s why he never flies at night or in bad weather.  We think it is probably the cumulative, long term after-effects of his bailing out at such high speed back in 1964.” 
 
    She forced a grimace of a smile. 
 
    Heidi added: “Hey, you’re married to a blue-eyed old-school British hero, too, you know what it’s like when everything catches up with them.” 
 
    Marija nodded. 
 
    She reached out and took her friend’s hand. 
 
    “It isn’t easy,” she offered sympathetically, “but trust me, they get over it in the end.” Now it was her turn to shrug.  “I didn’t realise it at the time; but I wasn’t really there for Peter when he needed me most.  It wasn’t until we came back to Malta two years ago that things, well, sorted themselves out.  Guy will be fine back in England; nothing is happening to him now that he hasn’t been afraid of ever since those battles in the Persian Gulf.” 
 
    Heidi blinked at her friend. 
 
    How did she know all this? 
 
    How had Marija seen straight through her so easily? 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 21 
 
      
 
    Tuesday 24th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    Office of the Chief of Naval Operations 
 
    The Pentagon, Washington DC 
 
      
 
    Sir Henry Leach had been greeted on the ground floor by a relatively youthful, familiar-looking US Navy captain. 
 
    The First Sea Lord had enormously enjoyed his evening with the McCains, John junior, his vivacious young wife, Lucy, and the family matriarch, Roberta hosting Leach, his Staff Captain, John Cunningham Kirkwood ‘Jock’ Slater, DSO – after Peter Christopher the youngest four-ringer in the modern Navy at the time his promotion was gazetted - and the new British Naval Attaché and his wife at a most convivial get together.  What he had not expected was to be summoned to the Pentagon at one o’clock in the morning a little over twenty-four hours later. 
 
    “Admiral Zumwalt asks me to extend to you his sincere apologies for asking you to come over from Georgetown at this ungodly hour, Sir Henry,” the younger man apologised.  “I am Captain Walter Brenckmann junior, sir, acting in the capacity of the CNO’s aide-de-camp this evening.” 
 
    Henry Leach eyed the younger officer’s ‘dolphins’, the badge of a submariner, below it the insignia of a Polaris boat man and a row of medal ribbons that included that for the Congressional Medal of Honour. 
 
    Not for the first time since he had arrived in the US capital was the First Sea Lord rocked to the core by the influence, and the contacts Alan Hannay seemed to have cultivated in Washington.  This particular appointment might have come, literally out of the blue but his invitation to ‘take tea and chew over destroyer-man talk,’ for an hour with the President tomorrow afternoon – well, that afternoon now - had materialised within twelve hours of his bidding goodnight to the McCains on the porch of their old, colonial-style house.  Unnervingly, the local press, and tonight, at least one film crew, had tried to chase his small convoy across town until two Washington PD cruisers had halted the pursuit with flashing blue lights and a screeching of burning rubber on wet tarmac several blocks short of the Pentagon. 
 
    Moreover, he had confirmed to his own satisfaction that, as Alan Hannay, and Nicko Henderson had insisted, the ‘Americans don’t have a beef with us, these days,’ not least because a lot of the middle-ranking military people were still rather in – albeit politically understated – awe of what the South Atlantic Task Force had achieved, against the odds, in the campaign to liberate the Falklands. 
 
    The First Sea Lord introduced Jock Slater, his solitary escort. 
 
    “I am honoured to meet you, Captain,” Walter Brenckmann informed Slater, “I hear you did fine work down there in the South Atlantic with the Victorious.” 
 
    “Oh, well, yes…of course, but others served with greater distinction, Captain,” the Englishman replied jocularly. 
 
    “I’m sure they did, sir.” 
 
    Hands were shaken, the US Navy did not salute ‘indoors’. 
 
    “I’m very much looking forward to meeting the President,” the First Sea Lord told his escort as he and Slater were led to an elevator guarded by two fierce-looking, immaculately presented US Air Force Policemen toting M-16s. 
 
    The First Sea Lord was tempted to ask the President’s son what was going on; he refrained, guessing that given the circumstances it would be a difficult question for the younger man to answer. 
 
    Jock Slater had no such qualms. 
 
    “Do you know what’s going on, Captain Brenckmann?” 
 
    “I don’t know, Captain Slater,” the other four-ringer replied.  “But the Director of Central Intelligence is with Admiral Zumwalt, and the Secretary of the Navy is on his way down here from Andrews Field, his flight from Norfolk just got in as I was coming down to meet you.” 
 
    The elevator had ascended soundlessly and the three officers stepped out into one of the Pentagon’s broad, endless concrete walkways.  Almost immediately, Walter Brenckmann led them into a complex of offices, across another corridor, this one guarded by Marines with holstered side arms, into a zone where their passes were checked before they were waved through. 
 
    Then, without warning, Henry Leach and Jock Slater were in the presence of the man who had turned the vast juggernaut of the US Navy on its head in the last four years, five-star Admiral Elmo ‘Bud’ Zumwalt. 
 
    The First Sea Lord had encountered the American several times; never however in his current capacity and on each previous occasion, as one of a number of other officers to be spoken at, not to by the man with the reputation of being the ‘terror of the old US Navy’. 
 
    “Damned good to meet you man-to-man at last, Sir Henry!”  The CNO declared, smiling that smile that had earned him the sobriquet of ‘the most political naval officer on the planet’. 
 
    But then in peacetime the role of the Chief of Naval Operations was to fight his service’s case on the Hill as much as it was to make it fit for purpose in combat, and by all accounts, Zumwalt was much better at the politicking than the latest Acting Secretary of the Navy, a post which had thus far burned through three previous incumbents in the course of his tumultuous occupation of the hot seat. 
 
    “I’m delighted to meet you too, sir,” Henry Leach beamed, trying not to be distracted by the other, distinguished figure in Zumwalt’s plush conference room. 
 
    James Schlesinger had aged a decade or more in his not yet four years at Langley; like the job of CNO, Director of Central Intelligence was no sinecure. 
 
    Zumwalt briskly concluded the introductions. 
 
    Waving everybody in the room to chairs he adjusted his tie, paused to allow the two women in Navy blues who had brought in coffee trays to depart, and put on his serious face. 
 
    “We have a problem, Admiral,” he confessed to Henry Leach. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 22 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    19 miles north of the Galite Islands 
 
      
 
    Overnight, the Balvenie Castle and the Tarlton had crawled past the Galite Islands, giving them plenty of sea room to starboard rather than traversing the twenty-mile-wide Galite Channel to the south.  The islands were Tunisian administered, the largest of which, La Galite, was twenty-four miles north west of Cape Serrat on the Tunisian mainland and some ninety-three miles south of Sardinian Cape Spartivento. 
 
    The sparsely populated archipelago sat atop the Banc de Galite, which reared at points up to over a thousand feet above sea level almost vertically from what were near-abyssal deeps all around it.  However, north of the islands, the bank only gradually fell away to the north east, before the poorly charted outcrops of the Banc des Mazzarilles reached up to within fifty or sixty feet of the surface.  Pragmatically, rather than sounding his way through the underwater hills and mountains, Noel Haggard had taken the Courageous over twenty miles to the north of the track of the Balvenie Castle and her escort, whose speed was now barely six knots. 
 
    For any Royal Navy man these waters, and those through which Courageous would soon be steaming were redolent of memories of the great battles to fight the vital convoys through to besieged Malta in the middle years of the Second War.  Here, where the Sicilian Channel, some ninety miles wide divided the Tyrrhenian Sea to the west from the Eastern Mediterranean, lay a graveyard of warships and merchantmen bombed, torpedoed and mined as they fought through the crucial supplies that had saved Malta from starvation and probably, denied the Axis powers a victory in North Africa that would have changed the course of that war. 
 
    For submariners, it was interesting for other reasons.  At depth the current flowed from the east to the west; nearer the surface, it ran in the opposite direction.  About a thousand feet deep at one point, the currents met and mingled at shallower depth to the west, creating an underwater swirl where warm water met colder inflows; for a modern nuclear hunter-killer capable of safely diving two or three times deeper than a Second War ‘pig boat’ and staying submerged indefinitely, the counter currents and the thermoclines to be found particularly below three hundred feet, were almost too good to be true.  It meant that Courageous could run silent as close to the bottom as she dared, listening, herself virtually indetectable to everything for tens of miles around her, as anonymous as a whale with a bad case of laryngitis. 
 
    “They’re going to be late for the big day,” the boat’s commanding officer remarked to Tim Dunbar-Naismith as they sat down with the other officers in the claustrophobic Wardroom cum Officer’s Messing compartment.  On submarines captains ate with their officers, there was nowhere else to eat except his cabin which was more a cupboard than a berth.  Noel Haggard tried not to talk shop; his officers needed a break from being under scrutiny, on their best behaviour. 
 
    “I bet Tarlton’s skipper is tearing his hair out,” Courageous’s Executive Officer grinned.  “I’d guess her best economic speed is around nine or ten knots,” he turned to the boat’s Engineering Officer, “isn’t that about right, Chief?” 
 
    “Near as dammit,” the other man agreed between mouthfuls. 
 
    Nuclear submariners ate well and lived in a clean, air-conditioned if cramped world that was positively luxurious in comparison to their counterparts even in the newest diesel electric boats.  Today, the menu included sausage and mash, plum duff for afters and if anybody was in the mood, biscuits and a selection of cheeses, washed down with an endless flow of tea or coffee, according to personal choice served by a an attentive, very efficient steward.  At seas, the only thing a nuclear boat submariner missed was the sunshine. 
 
    “Would one be out of order inquiring if we will be nurse-maiding that old tub,” a thumb jerked at the bulkhead, “beyond Malta, sir?”  The Chief put to Noel Haggard. 
 
    Who chortled softly before retorting, affably: “I promise I’ll let you know in good time, Chief.” 
 
    There were six men crammed around the table that evening. 
 
    They shared winks and knowing grimaces; secrecy was life and death in the Silent Service.  Ashore, wives and girlfriends, relations got used to the idea that their nearest and dearest was never, ever going to talk about what he did or where he went, and tacitly understood that if he ever spoke of his career beneath the waves, it was probably because he had been specifically told to convey whatever was ‘the party line’ at that moment, or more likely, was deliberately spreading misinformation.  On patrol, nobody indulged curiosity beyond a certain, usually well-understood and defined point.  In fact, most men returned to base never knowing where, most of the time, they had actually been in the last few weeks or months.  That was just the way it was. 
 
    Notwithstanding, every man in the Wardroom knew that if and when Courageous crossed west of the 15th meridian east the cruise became, de facto, a potential war patrol.  There were Soviet submarines operating in the region, and the Egyptians were a lot less friendly and accommodating than they had been just a couple of years ago. Moreover, in northern formerly Greek and Turkish waters the tactical situation was if not murky, then positively opaque, Cyprus remained nominally ‘friendly’ but otherwise, a boat was on its own the farther east it cruised.  The men of the US Navy’s SSNs called the Easter Mediterranean ‘Indian country’ where, if everything seemed quiet, it was just the lull before the storm.  Partly, this was because as the surviving nation states, and various fractured polities of the region slowly recovered from the predations of the October War and its aftermath, they were beginning to aggressively reassert sovereignty over not just their own territorial waters but often out far beyond the now generally internationally-recognised twelve-mile limit; and sadly, new wars, civil and between neighbours were simmering all around the region.  Wars which, hopefully, the United Kingdom would be well out of in the coming years. 
 
    “Perhaps,” Haggard suggested wryly, “if I requested Fleet Headquarters nicely,” a rueful shake of the head, “they’d let us charge on ahead and make a surprise appearance in the Grand Harbour on Independence Day?” 
 
    This prompted no little mirth. 
 
    A nuclear submarine surfacing unannounced beneath the ramparts of Valletta would certainly cause a stir, albeit one of entirely the wrong kind that was hardly in keeping with the celebratory mood of the occasion. 
 
    “How about in flying a Jolly Roger from the attack scope in Marsamxett Anchorage?”  Another man proposed. 
 
    That at least, would be more in keeping with the best traditions of the Submarine Service.  Throughout the darkest days of the siege of Malta submarines had kept operating from that harbour, submerging by day to avoid the near-constant bombing, slinking in and out of Marsamxett by night to prey on the convoys and blockade runners desperately trying to keep Rommel’s Afrika Korps supplied with fuel and ammunition. 
 
    “I think we’d have to torpedo some poor fellow before we did that,” Tim Dunbar-Naismith reminded the table. 
 
    At that moment the handset by the door buzzed lowly. 
 
    The steward picked it up, listened a moment. 
 
    “Mister Troubridge’s compliments, sir,” he reported to Noel Haggard, replacing the handset.  “Would you come to the control room please, sir.” 
 
    The plates and cutlery rattled as every man rose to his feet, in moments the Wardroom had emptied, leaving the clutter of bowls and utensils rocking in the wake of the exodus. 
 
    “Now that’s a thing!”  Noel Haggard whistled as he, closely followed by his second-in-command stepped over the pressure combing into the submarine’s nerve centre. 
 
    The plot was showing a familiar contact. 
 
    Its label was: NOVEMBER ONE. 
 
    Its classification was: POSSIBLE HOSTILE. 
 
    The Courageous’s captain settled in his command chair as the officer of the watch reported the boat’s status. 
 
    Depth: 350 feet. 
 
    Course: ZERO-NINE-FIVE MAGNETIC. 
 
    Speed: TEN KNOTS. 
 
    As per standing orders Courageous was skimming the estimated top few yards of the east-west current, ready to dip down into it at literally a moment’s notice. 
 
    The Soviet nuclear submarine was loitering almost directly in the path of the Balvenie Castle and the Tarlton at a range of approximately eighteen nautical miles. 
 
    Observing the November class boat’s movements over the next few minutes, there was no indication she had detected Courageous which currently, was between three and five miles off her port bow quarter. 
 
    “Oh well,” Haggard thought to himself, “it seems we were mistaken about the beggar running for home in the Black Sea!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 23 
 
      
 
    Churchill House 
 
    Government Compound 
 
    Headington Quarry, Oxford 
 
      
 
    OPERATION CARRYBACK… 
 
    General Sir Peter Mervyn Hunt, DSO, OBE, thought for a moment that the Prime Minister was about to faint. 
 
    The poor fellow looked decidedly shaky… 
 
    The Chief of the General Staff of the British Army and in the ongoing interregnum caused by the sacking of the last Chief of the Defence Staff, Air Chief Marshal Sir Neil Cameron, the current acting head of all British Armed Forces, was disappointed but not overly surprised by the Prime Minister, or his Defence Secretary’s ongoing near total incapacitation some minutes after he had completed explaining, very carefully the gravity of the situation to them, trying where possible to use words of one, and no more than two syllables to communicate the direness of the mess they were in. 
 
    Fortunately, given that Peter Shore and his non-entity colleague, Reginald ‘Reg’ Prentice seemed incapable of grasping reality, there was at least one other man in the room who was made of significantly sterner stuff: Denis Healey, the Foreign and Commonwealth Secretary.  Presently, he was at the other end of the Cabinet Room alternately ‘working’ two phones. 
 
    Hunt, who had been trying to hear what Healey was saying, and to whom, only belatedly realised that the Defence Minister was jabbering at him. 
 
    Prentice was the man who had demanded the resignation of Battle of Britain veteran Neil Cameron, and even by the rather dim lights of other post-Second War men who had held his current post, was viewed by all three services with barely concealed contempt. 
 
    Sir Peter Hunt focused on what Prentice was saying, or rather, piecing together what he thought he was trying to say from the incoherent, spittle-laced gabbling which had no obvious trend, or substance… 
 
    Wellington College and Sandhurst-educated, Hunt had been commissioned into the Queen’s Own Cameron Highlanders as long ago as 1936.  Aged only twenty-nine he had been brevetted lieutenant colonel and commanded the Seaforth Highlanders in France, Belgium and Germany in the latter days of the Second War.  He had been Chief of Staff of Scottish Command at the time of the October War, and later commanded all British and Commonwealth troops on the ground in the brilliantly successful French campaign of the middle years of the last decade.  Also listed on his flawless service Curriculum Vitae, he had served two tours as C-in-C Northern Ireland, and as a young man he had been awarded both the Chevalier of the Order of Leopold II of Belgium and the French Croix de Guerre. 
 
    Had ‘Reg’ Prentice not been so intimidated by Peter Hunt, he would almost certainly have been formally appointed Chief of the Defence Staff by now and would have been in a much better position to do something about the mess – entirely of its own making - that the Government now found itself in. 
 
    “Shut up, Reg,” Peter Shore said, his customary civility having briefly gone absent without leave as he issued the terse instruction. 
 
    “This has to be one of Airey Neave’s fucking ‘wheezes’ gone wrong!”  Prentice complained. 
 
    Hunt tried not to shake his head in despair. 
 
    One of the first things the incoming Labour administration had done was to abolish the Ministry for National Security and sack the long-time head of the Security Service, Sir Martin Furness Jones.  The department’s execution had been so sudden and the alienation of its remaining senior civil servants and the leading figures in MI5 and MI6, that so far as Peter Hunt could ascertain, there had been no ordered handover of the Ministry’s current or archived files, or the normal ‘hand-over’ administrative and organisational briefings of those organs of government which, theoretically, were supposed to pick up the traces.  Without continuity, there was chaos at the heart of the British intelligence establishment and basically, nobody had got, or more correctly been allowed to ‘get a grip’ again in the last six months.  The result was that, MI5 under Home Office oversight, and MI6 supposedly under Denis Healey’s purview, had been pretty much free to do whatever they saw fit in the continuing interregnum. 
 
    The current imbroglio was almost certainly a direct result of this vacuum of responsibility since it was self-evident that the spies had been having a field day in the interregnum! 
 
    Hunt knew that Denis Healey had raised this ludicrous situation privately with the Prime Minister, and repeatedly railed against the situation in Cabinet; further, that Neil Cameron had been sacked after a shouting match with Prentice during which, apocryphally the minister had become so intimidated backed away from the irate airman in such a panic that he had very nearly fallen out of the open, second floor window of his office. 
 
    Denis Healey slammed down a phone. 
 
    “You’ve had six bloody months to read through the red boxes Airey Neave’s people gave you in May, Reg!”  He thundered, stumping into the conclave at the head of the table.  He seemed oblivious to the crush of government secretaries and bleary-eyed hangers-on crowding around the principals.  He stabbed a forefinger at his colleague with such vehemence that the other man recoiled, taking a step back.  “It’s patently bloody obvious that your people held on to papers that ought to have been forwarded directly to the FCO.  Goodness, if you can’t even manage a half-way passable filing system, what on earth have you been doing at the MOD the last six months, Reg?” 
 
    Prentice began to colour, quickly turning from puce to beetroot red from his neck to the front of his bald pate, like all men completely out of his depth, he was desperately trying to think who to blame next for his own shortcomings. 
 
    Healey ignored his outrage. 
 
    He gave Peter Hunt a weary, wan look. 
 
    “This is all Leach’s fault!”  Prentice blurted. 
 
    This was too much for Peter Hunt.  The Chief of Staff of the British Army turned on his political master. 
 
    “Forgive me, Minister,” he ground out between clenched teeth, “how can it be the First Sea Lord’s ‘fault’ when a situation arises solely because your ‘office’ withheld every single scrap of relevant operational intelligence from the Naval Staff, and ‘somebody’ in your department surreptitiously issued a confidential codicil – one that Fleet Headquarters has no copy of – to the operation order issued to the commanding officer of HMS Courageous?” 
 
    Prentice’s mouth opened and shut without any sound other than that of several sharp, asthmatic intakes of gasping breath. 
 
    “In the absence of directives to the contrary,” Hunt continued, unable to wring the last drops of contempt from his tone, “MI6 and Naval Intelligence have, as per their lawful orders, been cooperating with US agencies, in this case the CIA and the National Security Agency under the terms of the Five Eyes Treaty arrangements, which to the best of my knowledge your government has not annulled, in terms of aggressive signals, electronic warfare and political intelligence gathering around the world.  OPERATION CARRYBACK is one such initiative involving an old Liberty Ship specially refitted for its current electronic spying role in the Mediterranean, whose mission seems to have been ambushed by a second, CIA-initiated ‘wheeze’ without anybody in government in England, or at Fleet Headquarters being included in the loop.  Presumably, because the transatlantic communication trail has been interrupted somewhere in the bowels of the Ministry of Defence, sir!” 
 
    “Yes,” the Prime Minister said, venting a sigh of unadulterated existential exasperation.  “Thank you!  I think we get the message, General.”  He turned to Prentice.  “For goodness sake!  Can you please find out what is going on, Reg?” 
 
    The other man made as if to protest. 
 
    “Just do it please,” Peter Shore snapped.  This, immediately prior to demonstrating exactly the sort of ‘grip’ the military, and many in his own Party had been praying for since the summer: “We will discuss how best to present your resignation from the Cabinet when all this is over.  Go, just go.  Find out who has been sitting on this.  If it turns out to have been one of our people, they are to be immediately handed over to the Security Service.  I want to know if this was negligence or treachery.  Do I make myself clear?” 
 
    Prime Ministers could do whatever they wanted; granted, victims could go to law afterwards but that was never a good look and usually one’s career in public office was history by then.  Prentice could either do what he was told, find a credible scapegoat – which in the circumstances almost certainly presented an intellectual challenge far beyond his capabilities - or he would be the sacrificial offering to the press, not to mention his freshly-made enemies in MI5. 
 
    Peter Hunt observed this exchange dead-eyed. 
 
    In Margaret Thatcher’s day there would have been blood – figuratively speaking - on the floor of several of the great departments of state by now.  Nonetheless, he was pleased to see, albeit not before time, at least a suggestion of steel in this Prime Minister’s spine. 
 
    Forty-eight-year-old Shore had become the leader of his fractured party in the dark days of electoral massacres and an internecine doctrinal civil war within the wider labour movement.  Faced by an implacable foe he had fought the good fight against the Lady, and only after a crushing electoral defeat had he begun to exert his own personality, his own influence on the rabble he had inherited in the mid-1960s. 
 
    In opposition he had been a captivating speaker, possibly the inheritor of Enoch Powell’s unique Parliamentary oratorial mantle in an era when Michael Foot’s flowery, rhetorical excesses captivated the already converted and were like a red rag to a bull to his countless detractors.  In the end, Shore had been giving the Lady a run for her money, and after her death, he had run rings around his hapless Tory counterpart, becoming the excoriating national chronicler of the headlong downfall of one-nation Conservatism.  The trouble was that the courage he had found in opposition had failed him in his first months in office; he had created a Cabinet of friends and like-thinkers among whom independent highly capable men such as Denis Healey, and Chancellor of the Exchequer Harold Lever were viewed with suspicion and in some cases, outright hostility by others with no previous record in public administration or government. 
 
    Peter Hunt had seen the Prime Minister’s security file. 
 
    Born in Yarmouth, he was the son of a merchant navy captain who had little personal experience of the working class upbringing of many of the people he claimed to represent.  He had read history at King’s College, where he had become a member of the Cambridge Apostles – a secret society – long-suspected to have been a fertile recruiting ground for the Soviets in the 1930s and later by MI5. Shore had served in India with the RAF during the latter part of the Second War, afterwards he had completed a degree in political economy, joined the Labour Party and worked for it during the 1950s, losing attempts to get into Parliament in 1950 and 1959.  By 1960 he was Head of the Labour Party’s Research Department, this despite having fallen out with the Party’s then leader, Hugh Gaitskell, over his membership of the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament.  He had eventually got into Parliament as a ‘list candidate’ for the North East of England in the 1964 general election, and owed, in part his rapid rise to the leadership to the falling away of all the other likely candidates, some of whom had died, others been hamstrung by ill-health and exhaustion, or who had just decided that the struggle was simply not worth the candle.  It was hardly surprising that the man had very little idea what he was doing. 
 
    “When did you learn what was going on, General?”  Peter Shore asked Hunt. 
 
    “Some weeks ago, sir.” 
 
    “And you did nothing?” 
 
    “It is a Navy matter, sir.  I had every right to assume that the Ministry of Defence, the Minister for the Navy and the normal channels of communication here in Oxford were functioning correctly and that all pertinent operational intelligence was being timeously passed to Fleet Headquarters, and to Flag Officer Submarines.” 
 
    Denis Healey had pulled up a chair, its footings scraping loudly across the polished, oak-planked floor. 
 
    “There are too many people in the room,” he snapped, taking charge because clearly somebody had to.  “Where’s the bloody Cabinet Secretary?” 
 
    The thirty-four-year-old acting Cabinet Secretary, Sir Robin Butler, the absurdly – even in this brave new age – youthful former Head Boy of Eton, University College-educated protégé of the legendary Sir Henry Tomlinson and formerly the able assistant to Sir John Hunt, who had been like so many other faithful public servants, peremptorily dismissed within weeks of the Labour Party’s landslide victory in May, had moved his family out to a cottage at Woodstock in order to escape, occasionally, the hurly-burly of Oxford.  Notorious for working sixteen-hour days, Butler had probably only just got out of bed, having snatched only three or four hours sleep, when the panicky call for help had reached him in Woodstock thirty minutes ago. 
 
    In the last fortnight it had been rumoured that Butler, that most loyal of civil servants, had been offered directorships by at least two major international conglomerates, and it was whispered, a seat on the board of Stanton Holdings, the umbrella company which managed the ever-growing empire of the man who was reputedly the United Kingdom’s wealthiest magnate, and was ‘seriously considering’ his position. 
 
    If he was, the Chief of Staff of the British Army could not begrudge him his options; it must have been intolerable after attempting to mitigate the worst excesses of the Du Cann administration, to have to work for a Labour government that was aping many of the excesses of past Soviet regimes.  Rather than addressing the most pressing economic and social issues facing the country, Peter Shore had allowed his henchmen to embark upon a bloodless, none the less vicious and vindictive, orgy of revenge against everybody and anybody whom they knew or suspected to have done them ill in the past.  The result was a Home Civil Service denuded of many of its key people, robbed of whole tranches of vital institutional memory and experience, and consequentially damagingly politicised in a way it had never been during its long, painful post-October War rebuilding during the years of Conservative rule. 
 
    The Balvenie Castle fiasco was a logical corollary to the chaos, piquantly illustrative of the sum of the egregious blunders made, and continuing to be made, by Peter Shore’s government. 
 
    In the vacuum of authority, Denis Healey’s vexed declaration had served its purpose, driving two-thirds of the superfluous bodied out of the Cabinet Room. 
 
    He at least, now had a grip on what was afoot. 
 
    “The CIA refitted the Balvenie Castle as a radio and sonar listening post.  The ship’s crew know they have spooks on board but they don’t mix with them, and they are barred from entering any of the areas of the ship where the secret equipment is located and operated.  Outwardly, the ship looks like a normal, hastily re-commissioned Liberty Ship.  Only a small number of her officers know what is really going on; the rest of the crew are just happy they have been promised a large bonus when they reach their home port of Southampton sometime around Christmas,” Healey explained. 
 
    He shook his head. 
 
    “That was Airey Neave I was speaking to just now.  He’s mortified that his papers on OPERATION CARRYBACK have gone astray.  He’s happy to motor up from Abingdon right now, if he can be of any assistance.  Privy Council terms, no politics.” 
 
    Peter Shore had slumped into a nearby chair. 
 
    “What does he know about this bloody Russian submarine, Denis?” 
 
    “It was news to him!  We’re still waiting for Henry Leach to get to the bottom of things in Washington; his call should be coming through any time.” 
 
    He glanced up at the clock on the wall. 
 
    It was a few minutes after eight o’clock in the morning, Greenwich Mean Time, the middle of the night in DC. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 24 
 
      
 
    Kingsway 
 
    Valletta 
 
      
 
    Marija’s two Royal Marine bodyguards paced mother and daughter as they stepped down from the bus.  They had boarded the grubby, fairly new Leyland omnibus at the stop on Lord Strickland Street, just outside the San Anton Palace.  It still horrified the British that she, the soon to be President of Malta, took such security risks with herself and her children, although even the Marines recognised that Elisabetta was probably capable of holding her own in any unpleasantness unless her attackers were armed with machine guns.  The girl had chatted to their guardians – or rather, at them – all the way across the eastern reach of the island as the bus followed a route to Birkirkara and thence to the coast, down through Sliema, Gzira and all around Lazzaretto, Msida, and Pieta Creeks before ascending through Floriana to park up at the great, circular Kingsgate Terminus outside the western ramparts of Valletta. 
 
    It mortified the President-elect’s minders even more that once she was in charge she planned to do away with ‘all this security nonsense’ once and for all.  However, for the moment, Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher was, on sufferance and out of respect for the opinion of her good friend, Sir Hugh Foot, for his sins still for another couple of days, the Governor of Malta, putting up with being followed everywhere by armed men. 
 
    That said, it seemed to both men that anybody who so much as gave the lady and her rambunctious, and by any standards precocious eldest daughter the mildest of disapproving glances was likely to be set upon and torn limb from limb by the people around them.  Indubitably, the Maltese positively worshipped the woman in their charge. 
 
    Passing over the bridge into the citadel of Valletta, Marija halted briefly in front of the ruins of the old Opera House, destroyed by Luftwaffe bombs in the Second War, along with the old railway station twenty feet beneath ground level more or less under where she stood.  Her initial maternally censorious look at the two young Marines had been gone in a second back in Attard.  Squeezing questions in edgewise – whenever Elisabetta gave her a chance - during the journey she had extracted both men’s life histories, inquired most earnestly about their mothers, noting how proud they must be that their sons were members of such an elite regiment. 
 
    Oh, and the next time they were in England they were to remember her to Sir Steuart.  By then both men had been charmed into a near stupor and had struggled to work out that the Sir Steuart in question was Lieutenant General Sir Steuart Robert Pringle, 10th Baronet of Stichill, the Commandant General of their proud Corps. 
 
    “Mama has an appointment, sweetheart,” Marija reminded her daughter as they set off again.  She had taken the precaution of seizing Elisabetta’s hand for the walk over the bridge high above the ancient dry moat separating the walled city of Valletta from Floriana, and purposefully clung onto it now.  “When we arrive at the Cathedral I will be leaving you in the office of the Secretary to the Curia of Valletta with Sister Sophie,” she explained patiently.  “You are to be on your best behaviour.  Then, when I’ve had my interview with the bishop, we shall go shopping.” 
 
    Sister Sophie had been called to her order in her thirties after a childless, unhappy marriage and it was inevitable she was bound to attempt to spoil Elisabetta.  She always did.  It could not be helped.  Marija’s daughter needed a pair of nice dresses for the forthcoming celebrations and she was growing so fast it had caught her out.  And no, dressing her first born was not a task she would ever delegate to another woman; in her old, pre-1964 life she might have practiced her seamstress skills – long neglected – and taken out Elisabetta’s old dresses but these days she hardly had time to collect her breath before something else…came up.  In a way it was a little ridiculous that she had, or rather, Mary had allowed her to slot the ‘dress-buying excursion’ into her schedule; yet in another it was sanity belatedly prevailing.  Independence Day was about to happen, she had done everything she could to make it happen in the best possible way, now the best thing, the only sensible thing to do was to just let it happen. 
 
    Marija led her daughter down Kingsway, the mile-long straight road that carved through the old city all the way to Fort Saint Elmo guarding the eastern tip of the isthmus upon which Valletta sat. 
 
    On Friday, Kingsway would be renamed ‘Republic Street’. 
 
    A beaming Sister Sophie was waiting for mother and daughter on the steps of Saint John’s co-Cathedral, which in the Metropolitan diocese of Malta, was of equal ecclesiastical precedence with Saint Paul’s in Mdina, forming the co-seats of the bishopric of Archbishop Cauchi. 
 
    The nun, a greying woman in her mid-fifties dressed in sober, verging on drab civilian clothes, dark blue to black skirt and a similar blouse, with her membership of her holy sisterhood only given away by her wimple.  Her face lit up further as she cooed over Elisabetta whom she promptly led away into the bowels of the great church while a youthful seminarian escorted Marija to the bishop’s chambers. 
 
    The Archbishop was absent. 
 
    However, Marija elected to ignore the deliberate and she thought, almost idly, rather artless personal snub which among other things was not very…Christian. 
 
    “Oh, dear, I hope His Excellency is not indisposed?”  She inquired solicitously. 
 
    This she put to Gozo-born forty-three-year-old Monsignor Joseph Mercieca, Canon and Chaplain of Saint John’s and the Archbishop’s trusted Secretary, the man to whom the task of organising the Catholic Church’s part in the forthcoming Independence Day protocols and celebrations had been entrusted.  Unlike his master, Mercieca was a peacemaker, a man who believed in moderation and in the virtues of quiet, patient diplomacy. 
 
    “I shall establish this in due course,” the cleric half-smiled. 
 
    Marija smiled back at him. 
 
    Archbishop Cauchi had requested this meeting and she had no idea what the Diocese wanted, or expected from it, or her. 
 
    “Can I offer you a cup of tea, Madam President Elect?” 
 
    Okay, Monsignor Mercieca did not know either. 
 
    Presently, Marija and the Archbishop’s Secretary were sipping their tea, contemplating the restful silence of his office adjacent to the Archbishop’s rooms.  Idly, Marija wondered if Joseph Cauchi was watching them through a peep hole in one of the oak panels that insulated the space from the cold stone walls of the cathedral. 
 
    “I was considering asking His Excellency to confess me in the hours before my inauguration,” she said, without preamble. 
 
    Mercieca raised an eyebrow, his cup frozen at his lips. 
 
    “I attend confession every few weeks, Father,” she explained, “but as odd as it will sound, this is all as new to me as it is to everybody else on Malta.  I thought my time in America and Australia, and being so,” she shrugged, “in the public eye the last few years would prepare me, but,” another shrug of her shoulders.  “I was wrong.  Peter was right, not in a bad way, you understand.  He said nothing in his life had prepared him for becoming the captain of HMS Talavera or what happened later.  He says, it was the same when he took command of the Liverpool; it was like a waking dream and he never really got used to it and now,” another shrug, “for me all this now seems like a dream.  And on bad days, like a fever dream.” 
 
    Her host considered this unhurriedly. 
 
    “And now the gallant captain is under sail?”  Mercieca mused, gently sympathetic because he understood, even if his bishop did not and possibly, temperamentally never would, that the Calleja-Christophers were among the most moral people he had ever met in his whole life and from this alone, all of Malta ought to draw immense comfort. 
 
    “It distracts, Peter,” Marija said softly.  “He has me, the bambinos and many, many friends but even so, when he is alone he is back on the bridge of the Talavera off Dragut Point, or the Liverpool aground that night in the mouth of Stanley Harbour.  Some things are with you forever.” 
 
    Joseph Mercieca put down his cup. 
 
    “Come,” he suggested, rising to his feet, “if you wish, I will be honoured to hear the confession of a good woman,” he smiled paternally, “the best among us.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 25 
 
      
 
    Grand Harbour 
 
    Valletta 
 
      
 
    The Talavera, Yarmouth, Eagle, Norfolk and the training cruiser, the Lion, were moored in line ahead, bows to the east, warped to within twenty yards of each other and that night, lit up from stem to stern like great grey Christmas trees as the darkness closed in around them.  The five ships, the two dozen or so operational warplanes and helicopters carried by the Eagle parked on her flight deck, along with the two Royal Fleet Auxiliaries moored anonymously in French Creek represented the most powerful squadron of surface ships the Royal Navy had deployed outside of home waters at any time since the War in the South Atlantic. 
 
    At the time the ‘battle line’ was first mooted it had been hoped that the Aysha III would be at its head; but of course, the Number Three Boat was still lashed to the aft deck of the Balvenie Castle, slowly perambulating the Gibraltar-Grand Harbour passage, and as things would have it, was in no condition to join such an illustrious ‘line’ even had she been offloaded and patched up at Malta in good time. 
 
    Customarily, visiting ‘big’ ships like the Eagle moored in Kalkara Creek, with a pontoon bridge connecting her to the wharf below Fort St Angelo.  Unless a vessel required an urgent spell in dockyard hands, it saved time and the inevitable disruption to other harbour traffic involved in bringing a leviathan safely alongside in French Creek.  Of course, in years gone by whole battle squadrons, three or four dreadnought battleships had often anchored in line astern in the middle of the Grand Harbour but that was then, and this was now. 
 
    In time of war Malta had been both the ‘nurse’ – on account of its hospitals – the arsenal and the unsinkable airfield of the Central Mediterranean; and in the last few years as the world recovered from the cataclysm, it was threatening to become, albeit in a modest fashion, the future commercial transhipment nexus of the Central Mediterranean.  To this end a new, modern cargo port at Pretty Bay on the south coast of the main island was planned, in the meantime, the Grand Harbour was like Piccadilly Circus used to be before the October War, a moving log jam of ships coming and going through its breakwaters, queued up waiting for a berth in Rinella and Dockyard Creek, or beneath Corradino Heights, or around the re-developed Il-Marsa wharves, where every quayside was occupied, with merchantmen cross-decking parts of their cargoes, with tug boats navigating their charges around the big, grey warships dominating the middle of the anchorage below the heights of Floriana and the southern ramparts of Valletta.  In the old days frigates and destroyers would have tied up to the buoys in the shallower waters of Sliema Creek, and ships as large as cruisers and Liberty Ships in Marsamxett Anchorage on the northern side of the Valletta-Floriana isthmus; this week that would never do, all the VIPs and dignitaries visiting Malta would want to view the Fleet from the peerless vantage point of the Upper Baraka Gardens or its adjoining lower saluting deck.  This was only right and proper because every Maltese knew that the aspect of the Grand Harbour below, and to the left and the right from ‘up there’ was the best view in the world! 
 
    The Admiral’s Barge awaited Marija, Peter and their small entourage at the Floriana Liner Wharf.  The squadron’s other boats had been ferrying foreign leaders and legates, ambassadors and miscellaneous VIPs, mayors, other senior politicians and businessmen of every Maltese political hue to the Eagle for the last hour.  In the great carrier’s upper hangar deck the party would be in full swing by now, of that the archipelago’s leading lady and her husband could be in no doubt because as the barge chugged sedately across the harbour, nearing the leviathan the strains of her Royal Marine Band playing dance tunes and the muted echoes of countless voices drifted across the water. 
 
    Husband and wife looked to each other. 
 
    “Once more unto the breach, my love,” Peter whispered whimsically. 
 
    Marija patted his arm. 
 
    Although they had all enjoyed their day out on HMS Talavera, later, back on land her husband’s quietness spoke to the stirring of all manner of countless memories, good and bad, some very bad, the sort of remembrance it was impossible to shrug off.  Peter had been himself again the next morning; and thankfully, only a part of that had been a pretence, not least because of the reunion with Alan Hannay.  The two men had walked in the gardens of the San Anton Palace, perhaps speaking of 1964, more likely just catching up, not having seen each other since the end of the America’s Cup campaign.  There would be a lot of Navy gossip in the wind; and no man in the service was better informed than Alan. 
 
    Marija had suggested Alan and Rosa take their bambinos up to the villa at Xlendi, on Gozo.  They were supposed to be enjoying a well-earned end of posting diplomatic leave and if they stayed at the Verdala Palace they, Alan in particular, was bound to be sucked into the Government House machine and that would be no holiday at all.  Their friends planned to return on Thursday, and after the Independence Day hullabaloo, again hideaway on Gozo for at least another week when the big party was over. 
 
    The Xlendi villa, all glass and mod cons, marvellously cool and airy with its own permanent staff of four, cooks, maids and at need a butler and an appropriate number of security personnel, had been built and originally owned by Lord Stanton, the deep-pocketed patron of the Royal Malta Yacht Club’s America’s Cup quest.  As an Independence present to ‘the people of Malta’, the mogul had decreed that the property and the three acre site it stood on, would be gifted ‘in perpetuity’ to the Office of the President of the Maltese Archipelago. 
 
    His preference had been to gift it directly to Marija and Peter but they had decided that this was inappropriate; their friend –these days Eric Stanton was no more Peter’s ‘boss’ than the First Sea Lord – had responded by setting up a generous ‘enabling fund’ to cover ‘all foreseeable costs associated with the residence for a period of not less than fifteen years’. 
 
    The more Marija thought about it, in addition to the villa being an idyllic family bolt hole, it was going to be a marvellously private, informal place to entertain, accommodate, and to hold meetings with ministers and visiting dignitaries. 
 
    However, all of that was for the future, tonight, she and her husband were to be the joint guests of honour at a grand reception and banquet hosted by His Highness Prince Philip, Duke of Edinburgh and his first-born, the heir to the Throne, Charles, Prince of Wales. 
 
    Rear Admiral Sir David Penberthy and forty-seven-year-old Desmond Cassidi, who had, reputedly, unhesitatingly accepted a temporary demotion from commodore to captain when offered the opportunity to command the Royal Navy’s only operational aircraft carrier, were waiting, wreathed in broad smiles, to greet the couple at the foot of the companionway. 
 
    This evening, Marija, having stepped onto the long, stable pontoon at the foot of the broad gangway up to the hangar deck level safe in the knowledge that there were half-a-dozen well-briefed and strategically placed brawny matelots poised to dive forward if there was the merest suggestion of a stumble, was wearing a gown that showed off her shoulders and arms and danced around her ankles - which almost guaranteed that the odds were that at some stage she was bound to fall over her own feet - accepted the salutes of the two officers and then, the formalities brushed aside, stepped up to David Penberthy and hugged him, pecking his cheek. 
 
    None the less pleased to meet his former captain and mentor from his Talavera days, Peter was jovially ‘English’, in exchanging salutes – he was in his dress whites boasting all the medal ribbons he did not think he had done anything to earn – and in warmly shaking hands with his two fellow officers. 
 
    “Damned good to see you again, sir,” he told Penberthy.  “And you, too, Desmond, they couldn’t possibly have put Eagle into safer hands!” 
 
    They paused, glancing up into the darkness where the fifty-thousand-ton castle of steel loomed above them like the wall of an outrageously over-sized Crusader bastion.  Out on the water the sound from the land was muted, and the hubbub of the party going on above their heads mingled with the rhythmic swish of the condenser pumps and the distant subdued roaring of the great ship’s fire room blowers. At the foot of the gangway, her hand resting on Desmond Cassidi’s arm Marija paused, even more than usually struck by the sensation that she was about to board a living, breathing steel monster.  Behind her she listened to Peter chatting in low tones with David Penberthy, reflecting that the two men’s relationship was more nephew and uncle than officer to officer. 
 
    “I should imagine that putting on tonight’s event has been a lot harder work than landing any number of fast jets, Desmond?”  Marija quirked sympathetically. 
 
    “Oh, I don’t know,” the carrier’s commanding officer guffawed, “there’s a lot to be said for having a few days in port without the Fleet Air Arm trying their damnedest to smear one or more of their ludicrously expensive airframes across one’s deck every day!” 
 
    Marija giggled like a guilty schoolgirl. 
 
    The Duke of Edinburgh was waiting for Marija and her husband at the head of the gangway.  Disdaining protocol, he had no intention of making his guests of honour come in search of, and then modestly prostrate themselves before him.  Marija was relieved to find that the Prince of Wales seemed less diffident than on their previous encounters; a couple of days crewing on board the Number Two Boat with his father and her husband had obviously done him a world of good.  Peter had deliberately steered the Aysha II into and out of the squalls battering the east coast, by all accounts rollercoaster rides much to the enjoyment of his royal passengers, both of whom had had extended periods at the wheel as five of Peter’s twelve-man core-America’s Cup crew and several exuberantly enthusiastic Maltese youngsters, had all but made the Number Two Boat fly through the waters off Dragut Point and the Grand Harbour breakwaters. 
 
    Everybody had been astonished by the way Peter had gone from a cadet who ‘had a rare gift’ for mucking about in small boats at Dartmouth to being a cut-throat, now and then ruthlessly reckless win at any cost, ocean racer if not overnight, then in the two years before he very nearly gave the great men of the New York Yacht Club the most horrible of shock of their complacent lives that August. 
 
    On the other hand, Marija had not been the least surprised; David Penberthy had once remarked to her that husband was ‘the most natural ship-handler’ he had ever come across.  Countering this, Marija had reminded him that Peter freely confided that he had been terrified of running Talavera aground in Sliema Creek the first time he was in command: ‘Oh,’ his former captain had retorted, ‘that’s quite natural; I was damned nearly traumatised every single time I conned her into any port!’ 
 
    Peter explained his attitude to sailing and racing succinctly: ‘I was once a destroyer captain, and as every destroyer captain will tell you; the key thing is to discover the way to make a boat go as fast as possible!’ 
 
    Tonight, there was little time to dwell on this, or anything else. 
 
    There were over a five hundred guests including over two hundred spouses on board the Eagle and they all wanted, and expected to be introduced to Malta’s golden couple. 
 
    Lady Rachel French was an interested observer even though ever since she had arrived on Malta she had been unaccountably unsettled.  It was not because she knew that Denzil Williams and possibly, half of MI6 was watching her; she was used to that whenever she was in England, it went with the territory.  Old assassins tended not to fade away and there were still probably people in the underbelly of the British Government who saw her – to be fair to them with good reason - as a walking hand grenade.  And then there had been that episode in 1965 when she had had the Architect kidnapped and for nearly a day, played with him, her catspaw, until he was convinced that he was going to die, and not well, at that before releasing him. 
 
    Denzil had been a reluctant accomplice in episode; and in the small hours of Friday morning the Architect finally became the ‘real’ Prime Minister of the archipelago… 
 
    Now, there was a thought… 
 
    She had always had Dom Mintoff down as a man who liked his revenge cold.  Would he come after her?  She hoped not, that would be messy but for Denzil’s people it was another matter.  Officially, they did not exist, likewise Denzil’s own identity was a national secret; almost as good as not existing. 
 
    The Mintoffs had tried to corral the Duke of Edinburgh and his star guests, keeping them to themselves for as long as possible.  Prince Philip had quickly left them awkwardly attempting to make conversation with his son.  To his credit, the Prince of Wales seemed to know the form, either that or he was genuinely oblivious to the Dom’s barely concealed infuriation not to be basking in the reflected light of the company of the first couple of Malta and their royal friends. 
 
    Rachel had met Prince Charles several times in the last three years.  Well, in the sense that she had been in the same room, at the same party as him without…cornering him.  Now, out of innocent devilment she was drawn to the little circle of the Maltese Prime Minister elect and his clique currently hemming in the young man.  She murmured an excuse to her husband – Dan was cheerily hugger-mugger with some old RAF chums – and drifted to Moyra Mintoff’s shoulder. 
 
    “This is all splendid,” she observed as the other woman turned, suddenly aware of Rachel’s presence. 
 
    “Yes, isn’t it…” 
 
    The Dom’s wife was only ever present for appearances sake at these events, part of the ambience the little man liked to paint around himself. 
 
    Rachel bobbed her head to the Prince of Wales. 
 
    “I hear Peter tried his best to sink you all on the Number Two Boat the other day, Your Highness?”  She asked, smiling silkily 
 
    ‘Number Two Boat’, that shouted that she was an insider, to the world at large the old yacht was still the Aysha II. 
 
    The Prince, she had been given to understand, preferred older women.  The girls of the titled and the privileged allowed into the Court at Woodstock were necessarily of a certain type and apparently, most of them bored him, although not, rumours had it…stiff.  Rachel was twice his age, old enough to be his mother but she knew that despite the encroaching crows’ feet, and the cumulative aches and pains concomitant with a life of violence, she still had ‘it’, whatever ‘it’ was.  As evinced by the sudden spark in the young man’s eyes as he met her gaze. 
 
    “It was,” the young man half-smiled, almost shyly, “a most exhilarating ride at times, Lady Rachel,” he re-joined, as if they were sharing some kind of secret. 
 
    “I’m told that Peter is recruiting crew for his next America’s Cup campaign already?”  This she put to the Prince, flirting, because she could and she knew how much it would unnerve and irritate Dom Mintoff.  “Have you considered applying, sir?” 
 
    Dan would gently take her to task for crashing into Dom Mintoff’s little circle, but later; and only gently, because he would get the joke and as experience had taught her, he was a good man who would forgive her very nearly anything. 
 
    The Prince of Wales had snapped out of his regal, going through the motions torpor, as if he had just switched off auto-pilot, taken the wheel and was now navigating his own boat. 
 
    “Actually,” he said, an unsuspected twinkle of mischief in his eyes, “Sir Peter has already invited me to join him on next year’s Fastnet Race,” Charles explained.  “That’ll probably be the first outing for the new Number Four Boat.  A sort of kill or cure shake-down cruise, what!  Pater thinks it’s a spiffing idea,” he added, his shoulders dropping a fraction. 
 
    Whether the Queen would consider allowing her son and heir to participate in such a demanding race, the culminating test, and the one serious ocean racing event of Cowes Week was, of course, another thing altogether. 
 
    “I’m hoping to persuade Dan to find time for us to be in England around then,” she lied.  “Even if the Number Four Boat isn’t in the water by then, the Aysha III will have been restored to her,” she paused for effect, “magnificent, slippery best.” 
 
    By then, Rachel had slipped her hand through the crook of the Prince’s arm and was adroitly drawing him out of the Mintoff’s orbit towards her husband, and his gang of old friends from his time as Governor of the archipelago. 
 
    Dan French raised an eyebrow when she brought the heir to the throne into the midst of his ‘gang’, otherwise, he simply got on with making the introductions thinking nothing of the fact his wife was still literally, and rather possessively hanging on the young man’s arm.  Rachel was capable of charming any man and most women, into his part of the room – or in this case, cavernous steel hangar – and invariably, the victim was delighted to meet, or to be reacquainted with him.  It was all the odder because Rachel was no kind of party animal and this was not really her natural environment.  Laughingly, she had once suggested that it took a hunter to know how to cut prey out of the herd without frightening the children. 
 
    “I hope my wife has not been leading you astray, sir?”  Dan French chuckled once the ‘Your Highnessing’ had been got out of the way.  The protocol was ‘Your Highness’ the first time one spoke to the Prince, thereafter ‘sir’ sufficed. 
 
    “Lady Rachel saved me from being monopolised by the local politicos,” the young man said lowly. 
 
    The reprieve was short. 
 
    A touch at his elbow and Dan French turned to find Peter Christopher. 
 
    “The President elect craves the company of the Prince of Wales,” the taller man grinned conspiratorially. 
 
    Rachel made a small melodrama of having to release the royal person’s arm: “Until the next time, sir,” she whispered, sotto voce as she allowed her hand to slip free. 
 
    Husband and wife watched Charles and his new escort slowly move away through the throng, chatting earnestly. 
 
    “Peter’s very good with him,” Rachel observed. 
 
    “So are you, my dear.” 
 
    She took his hand. 
 
    “I’m just like Peter, a professional, sweetheart.” 
 
    Dan pecked her cheek. 
 
    In the middle distance the Duke of Edinburgh was in animated conversation with Rear Admiral Penberthy and a stocky US Navy man, whom he belatedly realised was Deputy Commander of the Sixth Fleet, Rear Admiral Thomas Bibb Hayward. 
 
    “What am I missing, Dan?” Rachel asked her husband. 
 
    “How do you mean?” 
 
    “I know something is wrong but I can’t put my finger on it.” 
 
    Her husband spied John D. Caruna, the United States’ Maltese-speaking Ambassador and Plenipotentiary Extraordinary making a beeline for him. 
 
    “John!”  Rachel exclaimed, planting a pecking kiss on the newcomer’s cheek. 
 
    The Ambassador was a career State Department man, a second-generation Maltese-American Harvard-educated diplomat who had reached out to Dan, a former Governor of Malta and many others, spending several months on the archipelago last year ‘acclimatising’ to the political and diplomatic temperature of the colony before officially assuming his post that summer as head of the US Legation to Malta, soon to be the Embassy of the United States.  He and his wife, Cindy, and their three daughters, were familiar faces out and about in Valletta and Mdina. 
 
    “Quite a shindig, isn’t it?”  John Caruna observed. 
 
    He had left his wife putting the world to rights with Gretchen Brenckmann and Lady Florence Foot, the latter obviously in the mood to, if it had occurred to her, to let her hair down now that her husband’s long sojourn as the embattled Governor of a soon to be independent archipelago was finally coming to a merciful conclusion. 
 
    “For half the people here it’s like an end of term party; for the other half, the beginning of a rather daunting journey,” Dan French remarked. 
 
    “Everything changes on Friday morning, I suppose,” the Ambassador agreed. 
 
    “How’s your man bearing up?”  Dan asked, half-seriously. 
 
    “Doctor Kissinger is,” John Caruna smiled, reconsidered what he had been about to say.  “Ah, yes, Doctor Kissinger, frankly I’m damned if I know what he’s thinking about at any given moment.  Right now, well, I reckon he likes a party as much as the next man.” 
 
    Rachel shook her head. 
 
    Henry Kissinger had quite a reputation as a ladies man back in the States; however, nothing she had heard led her to suspect he ‘played away from home’ when he was on business, which for him began in earnest tomorrow morning when he sat down with the Russians. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 26 
 
      
 
    Situation Room 
 
    The White House 
 
      
 
    “Would you like me to stay, sir?” Colonel Karl Devowski, the President’s Personal Military Assistant asked, standing ramrod straight. 
 
    Walter Brenckmann’s hair had gone completely grey during his first term in office; even greyer than his wife’s, which given she was several years his senior, had its upside.  Or at least, this was what they said, teasingly one to the other when they were not in the public eye. 
 
    Being President had not been exactly ‘all beer and cakes’.  Not that he was complaining; it was what it was and he had known, more or less, what he was letting himself in for when he decided to run for office.  Eisenhower had dealt with ‘the big stuff’ and gone off to play golf, had a massive heart attack at one stage without telling his vice president, Richard Nixon, and allowed his Cabinet Secretaries to get on with the day to day business of government.  JFK had worked his way through the White House’s female interns, miscellaneous stars and starlets and whether by design or accident, seduced more than one mobster’s mistress.  Richard Nixon had obsessed over getting even for every slight, real or imagine committed against him during his career, while neither LBJ or Nelson Rockefeller had really had time to get used to the idea of being President.  Going farther back in history, in the end Harry Truman had been so disillusioned with the job he had been glad to retire – in near penury – to Independence, Missouri in 1953.  Whatever worked for you, that was the way to go otherwise the stresses and strains of the job might have been specifically designed to crush one. 
 
    It was hard to remember that he and Joanne, his peerless First Lady, had been starting to think about selling up and moving down to the Florida Keys back in 1962.  Whether it would ever have happened, war or not, was another thing but they had…dreamed. 
 
    At the time he had been about to become one of the three senior partners of Sallis, Betancourt and Brenckmann, one of Boston’s biggest law firms.  Set up by Claude Betancourt, a man who had been a ridiculously wealthy scion of New England society even before he became old Joe Kennedy’s silent partner and legal counsel in the years after the Second War, the firm had been a licence to print money; so, the Brenckmann family finances had been on a gold-plated footing by October 1962, meaning that for the first time the idea of retiring someplace sunny someday was no idle fantasy.  That, and the fact their youngest kid, Tabatha had partially flown the nest, training to be a teacher up in Buffalo, had concentrated their minds… 
 
    But it was not to be. 
 
    Life was like that; you never quite knew what was around the corner. 
 
    “No, if you’d stay please, Colonel,” the President of the United States said with no little gravitas, “I may need you to shoot somebody.” 
 
    The thirty-five-year-old veteran of the Second Korean War, the savage fighting in the Mid-West and the jungles of Cuba kept a straight face, not an easy thing to do these days, especially since he and his wife, Miranda, had recently learned that they were to be parents, she for the second time, he for the first despite earlier prognostications that this was, for his wife, medically…highly improbable. 
 
    “Yes, sir!” 
 
    As would any Marine in his position, he could not stop himself re-appraising the room to establish exactly whom might ‘need’ to be shot in the coming minutes. 
 
    There was no shortage of high-profile candidates. 
 
    That they were having this conference in the Situation Room, not the Oval office spoke volumes to the crisis; proof that somebody in the room had screwed up. 
 
    “Let’s sit down, gentlemen,” the President commanded. 
 
    The two Brits, Sir Henry Leach and Sir Nicholas Henderson had stuck together half-way down the long central table.  Meanwhile, the First Sea Lord’s flag captain and Nicko’s naval attaché had gone over to the Communications Room to await the outcome of the emergency conference. 
 
    “Bud,” the President declared, looking to his right, “where are we with this?” 
 
    The Chief of Naval Operations had seated himself beside the Secretary for Defense, who was scowling more than somewhat, the Chief Executive having suggested to him earlier, civilly as was his way, that perhaps the Secretary of the Navy ought to go over to the Navy Department to ‘kick a few butts’.  Similarly, James Schlesinger had needed no encouragement to visit Langley that morning to mete out a little of the same summary justice to the ‘idiots responsible for this latest FUBAR.’ 
 
    Curtis Lemay might have retired from the military to pursue his obsession with all things to do with motorsport in general, and racing his beloved Allard J2 sportster in particular but his legacy lived on.  Old Iron Pants had recognised when a thing was fucked up beyond all repair as well as any man in DC. 
 
    Secretary of Defence Charles F. Baird had good reason to scowl, he had wasted a lot of political capital arguing, in support of his CNO, that watching on as the British dismantled the great, granted ramshackle, rusting and tired fleet that had successfully fought and won a war eight thousand miles from its nearest home base in the winter of 1969-70, was just plain dumb.  Okay, they had both stopped making the argument when the socialists came into power in Oxford but that was no excuse for risking the vital umbilicals of communication with the Old Country, without which any number of aerospace and seaborne attempts to project global power and influence would, sooner or later, flounder. 
 
    The OPERATION CARRYBACK fiasco – one of a series of CIA-sponsored or inspired ill-conceived missions named after former winners of the Kentucky Derby - was proof positive of the dangers of allowing the transatlantic relationship, any part of it, to wither on the vine but knowing it was no comfort right now. 
 
    “Central Intelligence’s best guess,” Bud Zumwalt said, pulling a less than happy face, “is that the K-14’s crew may have mutinied and are attempting to avoid being attacked, by us, the British or by their own people, before or at the moment they seek asylum.” 
 
    The President thought about this. 
 
    “Why didn’t they head straight for Iceland or New England?” 
 
    “We assess that there are at least two Kilo class Soviet boats operating off the Great Banks, sir.  There’s a force nine storm blowing through there at the moment so finding them is going to be a problem in the next few days...” 
 
    The President raised a hand to cut short further exposition. 
 
    “Where the heck did all these submarines come from, Bud?” 
 
    The CNO turned to the Head of Naval Intelligence, a bespectacled, jowly man in his mid-fifties who, although he had not been to sea for decades, was looking distinctly seasick. 
 
    The K-14 was one of the November class – Soviet Project 627 – nuclear submarines for which the US Navy had acquired a relatively close quarters sound profile shortly before the October War.  That was how they knew the Soviet SSN running around the Western Mediterranean was – probably - the K-14. 
 
    “At Severomorsk, Mister President,” the intelligence man explained lugubriously.  “One or two boats might have survived the 1962 war, others may have been salvaged.  Our satellite coverage of the region is problematic during the winter months and our failure to repair the SOSAS, sound surveillance system arrays, in the North Atlantic and the Arctic after the Cuban Missiles War, means we only have patchy sub-sea detection capabilities in some areas.  Similarly, our SSNs have not regularly patrolled the Barents Sea in recent years in accordance with the perceived low-level of Red Navy activity.” 
 
    The President now looked directly at Henry Leach. 
 
    “You’ve been apprised of our summary assessment of the latest Soviet naval movements in the Mediterranean, Admiral?” 
 
    The First Sea Lord nodded. 
 
    “What do you think the Russians are up to?”  Walter Brenckmann asked.  He was not about to dissemble with a man possessing Leach’s war-fighting credentials.  He was, after all, a Navy man too, having served on escort vessels in the Battle of the Atlantic in the Second War, and commanded a Fletcher class destroyer in the First Korean War.  “Do I need to order Sixth Fleet to intervene?” 
 
    Leach shook his head. 
 
    “No, sir.” 
 
    “Why not?” 
 
    Henry Leach did not blink: “If my government will permit it, I have sufficient resources available ‘in theatre’ to deal with this situation, sir.” 
 
    A phone rang raucously. 
 
    Karl Devowski picked up. 
 
    “Prime Minister Shore is on Line One, sir,” he reported briskly. 
 
    “Put it on the speakers please,” the President demanded.  Then, receiving the connection signal he began: “Good afternoon, Prime Minister, this is Walter Brenckmann.” 
 
    There was a pause. 
 
    “Good evening, Mister President,” Peter Shore started, then corrected himself, “or rather, late afternoon as it must be over on your side of the pond.” 
 
    The voice on the clear, slightly ‘boxy’ connection was relaxed, very English in a nasal way, the tone that of an eloquent, confident speaker apparently radiating quietly confident authority belying the political and other woes everybody in the room knew to be violently assailing him – from every direction - in Oxford. 
 
    “I never got used to the time difference when Joanne and I were in Oxford,” the President guffawed, recollecting some of the happiest and the most exasperating days of his life when he had been Ambassador in Oxford.  “Nicko and Sir Henry are in the Situation Room with me,” he went on, getting down to business.  “I wish we knew each other a little better, Prime Minister,” he confessed, sometimes honesty really was the only way to go, “but I need you to help me out on this one.” 
 
    “I see…” 
 
    Nicko Henderson had assured Walter Brenckmann that Peter Shore was not the socialist firebrand, and certainly not the Soviet tool, that so many people in the State Department believed. 
 
    ‘He sits on the centre-left of the Labour Party, he is an intellectual preoccupied with the complexities of economic and political questions, presently somewhat distracted by the dysfunction all around him.  He is a man who will always try to do the right, honourable thing.  Yes, he was a ban the bomb, Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament supporter before 1962; a lot of people were in the United Kingdom, and who is to say they were not right to be but no, he is not nor has he ever been, a communist.  If he gives the impression of being a pacifist that is because he has not fought tooth and nail to become and remain the leader of his Party, or fought to become Prime Minister to preside over further wars, wars he views as being post-imperialist repetitions, hangovers of conflicts which his country should never have fought in the first place.’ 
 
    Walter and Joanne Brenckmann regarded the British Ambassador and his wife as family friends, and their daughter, Alexandra, now nineteen and a student at Georgetown University, were regular visitors to the White House. 
 
    These days, Mary Henderson, the Ambassador’s former war correspondent wife and her daughter were part of the ‘McCain circle’, and the family was positively embedded in DC society.  Everybody trusted Nicko and the President had learned that when in doubt, there was no more discreet man in Washington from whom to seek a third opinion. 
 
    Not that Walter Brenckmann had ever forgotten the advice Eisenhower had, supposedly, given JFK: ‘Always make sure you have all the people you need in the room when you have a big decision to make.’  But a wise, ‘independent’, view from outside the old house on Pennsylvania Avenue was never to be sneezed at.  
 
    “Mister Shore,” the President went on.  “They tell me that I’m a shoe-in in the coming General Election.  I hope they are right; I have unfinished business.  I plan to leave office with a generational peace settlement with the Soviet Union in my back pocket.  That and Western Europe well on its way back to getting onto its feet.  I’ve made a start on the peace thing; if I’m still her after the election, there will be a new and very ambitious Marshall Plan.” 
 
    Clearly, this took the British Prime Minister more than somewhat by surprise. 
 
    Cautiously, he said nothing and…waited. 
 
    “I can’t do that alone,” Walter Brenckmann said bluntly.  Sometimes, even a wily old attorney, a deal-maker and last resort fixer like him had to lay it on the line for a litigant, or a…client. 
 
    “Yes, I can see that…” 
 
    “This submarine problem in the Mediterranean,” the President declared, coming to the point, “could set back US-Soviet relations and endanger the Malta Accords.  I can’t let that happen.  The problem is that if I order the Sixth Fleet to do what must be done; far from beginning the healing process, the United States could be at war with the New USSR next week.” 
 
    Several men around the table realised that they had forgotten to breathe for too long, there were sudden intakes of oxygen in the lengthening silence. 
 
    Walter Brenckmann waited patiently. 
 
    Silence could be golden in any conversation and besides; he was hoping that the penny would drop without him having to say another word.  He guessed that there were difficult conversations going on at the other end of the transatlantic connection.  He felt a modicum of sympathy for his British counterpart, just a modicum, no more. 
 
    Welcome to my world, Mister Shore. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 27 
 
      
 
    The Strand 
 
    Sliema Creek 
 
      
 
    It was after midnight when the Presidential Bentley drew up at the bottom of Tower Street.  Doors were held open and its two occupants clambered out into the clear, breezy night.  They walked slowly to the rail to gaze out across the creek to the dark, brooding shadow of Manoel Island, thence to their left to where the lights of Valletta twinkled brightly on the other side of Marsamxett Anchorage.  The couple stood, staring into the gloom for some minutes without speaking as their ever-present bodyguards circled at a respectful distance. 
 
    “Joe and I came down here on the night of the war,” Marija told her husband.  He knew the story and more than once, they had come down here, just to be silent, alone with their memories.  “It was busier then, of course.  Everybody had come out of their houses.  Out there in the Creek the crews of the destroyers were,” she shrugged, “were panicking, I think.  The Navy thought it was the end of the world.” 
 
    “But you didn’t?”  Peter murmured. 
 
    Marija shook her head. 
 
    “No, but I didn’t know what to think.  The scariest thing was that we could all see that the British were frightened; we’d never seen that before and that was what scared us all the most.  That was the night I met Jim Siddall,” she added, sadly mischievous for a moment, “the soldier I might have married if you’d gone and gotten yourself killed on the way to Malta.” 
 
    Peter put his arm around his wife’s shoulders, and planted a lazy, fond kiss in her hair as she shrugged closer against him. 
 
    Marija was half-transported ten years back in time. 
 
    The big, gruff. protective military policeman whom she later – much later - learned had abandoned his first wife and child, a boy, in England years before, eventually came to the attention of her future father-in-law.  Sir Julian had commissioned him out of the ranks and recruited him as an intelligence officer.  Too soon, he had died – killed by a booby-trap bomb – investigating her brother, Samuel’s workshop at Kalkara.  Had his body not taken the worst of the blast, Rosa would almost certainly have been killed also.  That had all happened before Peter had ever stepped onto Maltese soil for the first time. 
 
    “In my mind I come here often, always in the dark,” Marija confessed.  “One day next week, we shall bring the bambinos to this place.” 
 
    “And to the cemetery at Kalkara,” Peter added.  His wife’s brother was buried there, as was Miles Weiss, the man who eight-and-a-half years ago had been his Executive Officer on the Talavera, the Dartmouth class mate who was his closest friend in the Navy, in the world too, who had been the best man at their wedding.  Now he lay in Kalkara Military Cemetery with so very many of his other, dead, brave Talaveras… 
 
    Marija had forgiven her brother his treachery; it was enough just to remember his perfidy.  She had never been as close to her elder, rather aloof brother in life as she had always been with Joe but she had loved Samuel, as one could not help loving one’s brother.  He had not ceased to be her brother, her kin just because he had done bad, terrible things.  The British had summarily executed him at Paola Prison, death was the penalty for treason in time of war… 
 
    The couple’s presence had been noticed, it never took long. 
 
    A small crowd had begun to form. 
 
    Sliema Creek was empty bar a few small boats moored in the shallow waters in front of the landing craft slipways of the Royal Marines’ base at the landward neck of Manoel Island. 
 
    Peter chuckled lowly. 
 
    “What is it, husband?” 
 
    “I was thinking of that day Margo Seiffert came on board Talavera to tell me to stop being such a damned fool and to come to Mdina to propose to you!” 
 
    “You did come to Mdina in the end,” she reminded him. 
 
    “Yes, eventually.  Like an idiot I was so wrapped up in Navy business…” 
 
    “You ignored me shamefully.”  She stifled a most unseemly giggle.  “So shamefully, that I had to fall flat on my face running after you to get your attention!” 
 
    “Nobody’s perfect,” her husband apologised. 
 
    This time Marija could not stop herself giggling. 
 
    At this remove it seemed so bizarre that after all those years of writing to each other, of distantly getting to know each other so well they could almost see into each other’s souls, that their actual courtship on Malta had been such a comedy of errors, missteps and misunderstandings culminating in their first face-to-face meeting at St Catherine’s Hospital for Women where Marija was in bed with a gashed head, black eyes and a fat split lip… 
 
    That too, had been the result of a moment of madness. 
 
    Or, in the heat of the moment had it been simple forgetfulness? 
 
    Marija had seen Peter and Alan Hannay in the distance and run after them.  That at least was in some sense explicable; she had not been herself at the time.  What with the horrible rumours about Samuel – none of them had known the truth back then - she had been in such a state of high confusion that she had briefly, and painfully forgotten that…she could not run.  The last time she had ‘run’ had been when she was six years old in 1942 on the day she was crushed in that collapsed bomb shelter in Birgu-Vittoriosa.  The weirdest thing was that more than one witness had later told her – she had somewhat hazy memories of the incident’s painful denouement, she had knocked herself out when she fell onto the unyielding cobbles of St Paul’s Square – that she had actually ‘sprinted’ half-way across the Plaza before her lower body remembered its limitations, her legs had collapsed under her and gravity had reasserted its primacy. 
 
    However, it was a story with a fairy tale happy ending. 
 
    Cinderella, you shall go to the ball… 
 
    When Alan Hannay had broken the news to Peter that she was in hospital, her knight in shining armour had rushed from Sliema, where Talavera was moored, and notwithstanding she must have looked like she had been dragged through a fence backwards – several times, and then kicked by a mule – immediately proposed marriage, albeit remaining barely long enough to confirm that when she replied ‘YES’ that she really meant it, before having to hurry back to his ship so that he could carry on trying to get himself killed.  Which true to form, he had, again, a few days later by steering Talavera under the burning inferno consuming the stern of the eighty-thousand ton nuclear-powered aircraft carrier USS Enterprise to help her crew fight her fires, ultimately helping to save the maimed leviathan. 
 
    And now she was standing where she and Joe had come that night in October 1962.  That night when all their lives had changed forever.  For Marija, her new life had all started here, in the darkness as the waters of the Sliema Creek slapped against the sea wall below her feet.  She sighed, gripped her husband’s hand tighter and turned to face the onlookers. 
 
    “It is a beautiful night,” she declared, remembrance flooding back. 
 
    The couple stepped away from the wall. 
 
    A camera flash erupted nearby. 
 
    The driver of the official Bentley made as if to grab the camera. 
 
    “No, no, it’s all right, Silvio,” Marija said – she knew the Christian names of everybody on the Presidential Staff – blinking through the spots in front of her eyes.  Then to the miscreant photographer: “Not so much in my face please, or I will be walking into things for the next ten minutes!” 
 
    This drew a muttered apology, not least because the man was suddenly aware of the muttering mood of the people around him.  Further indiscretions might result in an impromptu lynching, or if he was lucky, he and his camera only ending up in the nearby creek. 
 
    Meanwhile, Peter and Marija had stepped towards the nearest bystanders, and were shaking hands.  A crowd was a crowd and it demanded to be worked, regardless of whether it was the middle of the night, informally. 
 
    Marija was having trouble not giggling like a naughty schoolgirl. 
 
    “How do you do?  Peter Christopher, Ma’am,” she heard her husband say to a stout, matronly woman, “do you live across the Strand?” 
 
    This prompted a babble of shyly excitable, if that was possible, Maltese words falling over each other. 
 
    “Were you here in 1964?”  Her husband asked. 
 
    It transpired that the lady had been in the crowd not just on the night of the October War but the day Peter had first conned the Talavera, peppered with cannon and machine gun bullet holes. and leaking like a colander after her mauling at the Battle of Pantelleria, into the Creek with every pump thumping as if there was no tomorrow.  That night he had come ashore to a hero’s welcome to be greeted by his father. 
 
    That was the night Marija had shrunk back into the crowd; terrified lest her brother Samuel’s alleged treachery besmirch the Christopher name, thinking her romance with Peter was over before it had begun. 
 
    And yet, three months later they had been married and she was carrying Elisabetta. 
 
    Truly, it was a funny old world. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 28 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    Ten nautical miles north of Pantelleria 
 
      
 
    Noel Haggard had considered diverting south of Pantelleria to avoid the shallowing waters through which Courageous was crawling, keeping pace with the Balvenie Castle and her puppy-like four-hundred-ton minesweeper escort.  The Soviet November class boat had charged away to the east, recklessly cresting this same submarine bank over an hour ago.  Either something had spooked her skipper – unlikely – or he had decided he was going to wait in deeper water for the Liberty Ship and the Tarlton to catch up with him.  It was not as if either ship could turn on all the taps and sprint away into the distance, certainly not from an SSN which, like Courageous could probably steam for days on end at over thirty knots. 
 
    Not for the first time, Courageous’s captain was cursing the suffocating secrecy which surrounded this patrol.  For one thing, it meant he had departed the Gare Loch with the latest US Navy updated hydrographic charts of the North Atlantic and the Norwegian Sea, including a raft of completely new Spitzbergen and Barents Sea revisions but with ‘standard’ Western Approaches, Biscay and Mediterranean issue charts, the latter little amended since the 1951 Admiralty reprint series, itself mainly based on soundings conducted in the 1920s and 1930s, annotated with mainly coastal data collected during the Second War.  This meant he had had to feel his way across relatively shallow banks, not least because knowing that there was a Soviet nuclear boat in the general vicinity he could hardly light up his active sonar transmitter to fill in the gaps in his plot. 
 
    “It’s all very well marking all these wartime wreck sites,” he said to Tim Dunbar-Naismith as they pored over the seafloor topography, very aware of the relatively small number of soundings the chart was based upon, “but it would be nice to know where the top of all these bloody ridges lie.” 
 
    It had been in these seas, a pinch point narrowed still farther by minefields between Sicily and Tunisia that the German and Italian dive bombers and torpedo boats had preyed on the convoys heading for Malta in 1941, 1942 and 1943.  Merchantmen and warships lay scattered, broken across the sea floor, their final resting places marked only approximately, as were the graves of so many proud sips sunk in the white hot heat of battle. 
 
    “I suppose the dodgy depth soundings didn’t matter for all those old boats operating out of Marsamxett in the Second War,” the boat’s Executive Officer murmured.  “Any dive below a couple of hundred feet was scary enough as it was for those chaps; they didn’t have to worry about anything much deeper.” 
 
    “This is true,” Haggard concurred wryly. 
 
    Both men were nursing mugs of hot chocolate. 
 
    “I’m tempted to cross this fellow’s T,” the boat’s commanding officer went on, musing aloud.  “Just to make sure he knows we’re here and that we’re on to him.  And while we’re at it, perhaps, clip him around the ears with a couple of aimed sonar pings for good measure.” 
 
    The other man contemplated this. 
 
    There was a lot to be said for making sure the November class boat’s skipper got the message that he had been under surveillance all the way from Gibraltar. On the other hand, there was nothing to be gained by giving the fellow a nasty shock just for the sake of it; he might panic, do something stupid.  However, if Courageous remained in contact with the Liberty Ship and the minesweeper, sooner or later her presence would be discovered.  This way, if there was a ‘misunderstanding’ or anybody ‘panicked’, it would be happening on the Soviet boat. 
 
    “That might be for the best, sir,” Dunbar-Naismith nodded.  “It is not like we are at war with the Russians, or anything.  For all we know, the chap in that boat’s control room might just be trying to create a half-way realistic simulated combat environment for his crew?” 
 
    “True.”  That, after all, was what Haggard and his second-in-command been doing more or less ever since the Courageous had submerged in the southern reaches of the Firth of Clyde. 
 
    The Pilot was called into the command circle. 
 
    Sam Troughton was as preoccupied by the inadequacy of the local charts as his elders and betters.  The three men discussed when and how to best ‘discombobulate’ their counterparts on the Soviet boat. 
 
    Several options were mooted. 
 
    Noel Haggard made a decision: “We’ll speed up to twenty knots and charge across the blighter’s bows around zero-one-hundred tomorrow morning, pinging like we’re a fire engine on the way to put out a fire at the station master’s mistress’s house,” he declared.  “That ought to wake the dozy beggars up!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 29 
 
      
 
    Wednesday 25th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    Tapestry Hall 
 
    Grandmaster’s Palace, Valletta 
 
      
 
    Mikhail Sergeyevich Gorbachev had read, and re-read the letter, albeit in what he suspected was a rather laboured translation of the original, one last time on the car ride from the Soviet Legation at Attard. 
 
    The Maltese had set up a Standing Committee on post-Independence Diplomatic Missions but not before the Americans and the British had already moved into the best available locales outside Valletta and left everybody else scrabbling to establish their presence on a similarly sound footing. 
 
    The Embassy of the New USSR was located in a rambling compound close to the San Anton Palace, albeit still partly a building site expanding onto nearby fields.  Despite the complaints of the Commissar Ambassador-designate and many of his senior secretaries, Gorbachev had been unsympathetic.  He had not come to Malta to make trouble with the incoming government over petty planning restrictions, or the fact – partly because of damage wrought by the failed invasion in 1964 - there was an acute shortage of good quality housing on the archipelago.  It was his impression that their hosts had gone out of their way, notwithstanding British parsimony and American interference, to treat his country’s mission fairly and to prioritise, insofar as possible, its requirements.  In fact, he was minded to embrace the idea that the Maltese were a lot keener to promote the effective working of the Malta Accords than the British or certain senior members of the US State Department. 
 
    In this latter respect, although Henry Kissinger was patently an advocate of the Accords and clearly supported the general concepts enshrined in the CCEDMZ protocols which he had helped draft, when Gorbachev had assumed his current post he had seriously wondered how many of his counterpart’s underlings were anywhere near as committed to the success of the process.  Back in Sverdlovsk, his advisors had openly questioned President Brenckmann’s commitment to the Accords; after all, he had played no part in negotiating the original agreement and there were constant rumours about his unhappiness with his Secretary of State. 
 
    At one stage earlier in the year, KGB analysts, presumably parroting the reports of Ambassador Dobrynin – installed just before the Cuban Missiles disaster, possibly no other Soviet citizen on the planet had such a profound understanding of the mores and the idiosyncrasies of the American soul than the USSR’s now long-serving, valiant ambassador in Washington – that if President Brenckmann was re-elected with control of Congress, the State Department was going to be ‘in his sights’, with a wholesale purge of under and assistant secretaries on the cards.  Interestingly, those same sources, had reported that as early as the spring Kissinger himself had already been asked to carry on; on the grounds that notwithstanding he and the President might not always see eye to eye, that Kissinger was clearly a man with whom he could do business. 
 
    The jury was out on the true state of White House-State Department relations and whether or not Henry Kissinger would still be Secretary of State in the next US Administration.  Or, more importantly, if it was actually a matter which had any significant bearing on the letter in Mikhail Gorbachev’s hands that morning. 
 
    His copy of President Brenckmann’s translated letter to the President of the Council of the Presidium of the Supreme Soviet and the Chairman of the Communist Party of the New Soviet Union, Alexander Nikolayevich Shelepin was a little creased, threatening to become dog-eared around the edges. 
 
      
 
    Dear Chairman, 
 
    It is my intention to speak frankly to you on a number of matters that I hope concern us both.  I make no apology for speaking thus and would welcome it if you paid me the courtesy of replying to me in the same, direct fashion. 
 
    I should tell you that before I sat down to write to you I consulted with and sought the counsel of, Presidents John F. Kennedy, Lyndon B. Johnson, Richard M. Nixon and Nelson A. Rockefeller, men who have sat in my chair at the Resolute Desk in the last decade, and understand the weight of the responsibilities that you, and I bear.  Further, as I do in all major policy issues, I also sought the opinion of Vice President Lawrence F. O'Brien.  I am of the view that it is important for you to know that should the people determine to allow me a second term in office, my Administration’s approach to the issues I wish to put to you will not alter in the next four years. 
 
    Again, in the interests of clarity, you will understand that I write to you at no little risk to my own reputation and credibility, especially in an election year; needless, your decision to respect the confidentiality of this personal communication until after the outcome of the 7th November poll, will go a long way to convincing me of your good faith in commencing the high-level ongoing dialogue that I propose herein. 
 
    It is my position that it is in the mutual strategic interests of the New USSR and the of the United States to ensure that we never repeat the mistakes that both sides made in October 1962, and in the period following the election of President Kennedy, leading up to that tragic denouement. 
 
    I acknowledge without reservation that initially, the United States emerged from that catastrophe less damaged and therefore better able to recover from its long-term effects.  This has permitted the United States to re-establish a degree of geopolitical dominance in parts of the world and I recognise that this is a point of divergence between us which must deeply rankle with you. 
 
    Likewise, the reality of the global situation is that the United States has gathered around it many friendly nations in alliances in the North Atlantic, South American, Australasian and in other regions which by design or circumstance tend to further isolate your country.  You have attempted to counter this trend by seeking alliances and trading relations with Communist China and the nations of the Indian subcontinent, and throughout Africa and the Middle East, notwithstanding the stance of non-alignment assumed by many of the polities in these parts of the world. 
 
    Sadly, areas where Soviet and US strategic interests and armed forces might potentially come into conflict, flashpoints if you like, exist in the Middle East, the Mediterranean and Scandinavia despite the existence of the Continental Central European De-Militarised Zone. 
 
    Nuclear weapons.  I cannot reliably comment on the capabilities of your re-built strategic and tactical nuclear forces.  On my side of the balance of terror I am told by my generals and admirals that US land-based, airborne and underwater weapons systems are capable of destroying the USSR several times.  I take no satisfaction in this knowledge.  I merely state it because it emphasises, yet again, that other than for their deterrence value which let it not be forgotten comprehensively failed in 1962, these abominable arsenals are unusable by sane leaders since our shared doctrines of deterrence by the terror of the threat of mutually assured destruction is a nihilistic doctrine of despair. 
 
    It is my opinion that all nuclear powers should sign a declaration abjuring under any circumstances, the first use of nuclear weapons.  I do not think this is naïve, I think it is a necessary first step to a lasting global détente in which the possibility of continental armed conflict might slowly recede into history. 
 
    The United States is prepared to make a unilateral declaration to this effect at the commencement of meaningful strategic arms limitation talks at which the acknowledged object of the exercise would be to (a) first to achieve approximate verifiable US-Soviet parity at the lowest possible level, and (b) to reduce our nuclear arsenals to a handful of ‘deterrent’ weapons within ten years. 
 
    Potential flash points.  The CCEDMZ has already succeeded in reducing East-West tensions in Europe.  I suggest that it may be a model that we jointly adopt elsewhere in the world. 
 
    You and I can justly argue that it is not necessarily the American, or Russian troops or proxies on the ground in South East Asia, or in sub-Saharan Africa or the Middle East, who are responsible for insurgencies, or for generally inflaming tensions in those places.  Great powers have always employed proxies.  Nor am I blind to the Chinese Communists’ activities in undermining governments in Taiwan, the Philippines and elsewhere in the Far East, not least in stirring resistance movements in several of the ‘border’ Soviet Republics.  In this latter case the Chinese know they can act with relative impunity because they are confident that you and I will never form a united front against them. 
 
    In this respect, I ask you to bear in mind that China, and India, the two most populous nations on the planet, will both rise in due course to challenge US-Soviet hegemony.  Nothing lasts forever, the United States’ status as the world’s only super power may survive for twenty, thirty or fifty years but the Roman, the Romanov, the British and every other empire in human history has declined and fallen. 
 
    Forgive me for labouring my point; be assured that my thesis is very simple.  US-Soviet rivalry caused a terrible cataclysm ten years ago.  If we continue as we have since 1945, our rivalry will surely cause another disaster and the next time we will be so powerful that the future of humankind must be called into question.  We cannot hold back the future but we can mold it into a less dangerous shape, and in so doing, craft a world in which our children and grandchildren can live in relative harmony, without the constant fear of a second holocaust hanging over their heads. 
 
    Confidence-building measures.  Presently, I regret to say that we distrust each other at every level.  This is hardly inexplicable.  Ten years ago, we fought a terrible war which neither side won and we have continued to fight that war, granted with a modicum of self-interested restraint, in the years since.  The maintenance of the Continental Central European De-Militarised Zone is not a settlement of our differences, or an accounting for what was lost in 1962, it is a buffer zone and no more.  However, I believe it offers us a keystone in the building of a new world order.  While I fundamentally disagree with the tenets of Marxist-Leninism; I acknowledge that the citizens of the USSR have an absolute right to determine by whom, and how they are governed, a right that is no less sacred than that exercised by Americans in North America.  Moreover, while I have every right to tell you what I think about your system of government, as you have of mine; let us agree that neither of us has a monopoly on fundamental truth, or any obligation to entertain the other’s ideological polemics.  Let this understanding be the foundation, the base-line, from which we discuss the future of our relationship. 
 
    What do we need from each other?  This to me is a good place to start.  I cannot expect you to fully engage with me in what may seem to you to be esoteric debates at a time when you are fighting famine and disease in your Motherland.  Similarly, I cannot work to achieve a genuine détente between our countries while, for example, Soviet proxies conspire to destabilise the Middle East, and to harm US vital strategic interests elsewhere.  Another example, Soviet ports in the Baltic, the Black Sea and the Far East are, to all intents, blockaded by the US Navy, or denied to you by surrounding countries, each with different and irreconcilable grievances against the USSR.  Likewise, the USA has no reason to do anything to assuage your problems in Kurdistan or the Caucasus, oil-rich areas vital to the recovery of your economy if at the same time, Soviet forces, and their proxies are bent on undermining the Iranian and the Saudi governments with a view to halting the flow of oil to the West, Africa and India. 
 
    At Yalta in 1945, the great powers agreed upon spheres of influence, specifically countries and territories in which neither would seek to militarily intervene in the affairs of the other.  I am mindful that this system was imperfect, for example it eventually entrenched East and West in a Warsaw Pact-NATO confrontational framework and although initially, global war was avoided over the Berlin Blockade of the late 1940s, the crushing of the Hungarian uprising in 1956 and the building of ‘the Wall’ in 1961, it is significant to me that the October War was provoked by a Soviet intervention in Cuba, a territory which lay outside the terms of the Yalta and the subsequent Potsdam understandings. 
 
    For the record, I am also prepared to concede that Chairman Khrushchev’s thinking in placing intermediate-range ballistic missiles on Cuba might have been motivated – but not justified or otherwise rendered explicable – by the stationing of US Thor Missiles in the United Kingdom and Jupiter Missiles in Italy and Turkey.  I believe it is helpful if none among us claims to have been blameless in the causality and the execution of the cataclysm of 1962.  We must accept this and move on before we risk repeating our folly. 
 
    If I may, I shall conclude with the thought that if we, you and I, are to speak for the people of planet Earth, that we should come to the table without pre-conditions.  At the outset I suspect we will agree about very little of substance but it is my experience that even in the most difficult and fraught of negotiations, a little bit of good will goes a long way. 
 
    So, let us speak.  Let us understand each other better and in that understanding, learn to fear each other less and in the fullness of time, make our world safer for our children and our grandchildren. 
 
    Yours, 
 
    Walter Brenckmann 
 
      
 
    The Ambassador designate, Oleg Alexandrovich Troyanovsky, understanding that Gorbachev wanted to re-familiarise himself with the US President’s extraordinary and decidedly inflammatory letter, had passed the journey in silence, waiting until the Foreign Minister folded it and filed it away in an inside pocket of his jacket. 
 
    Gorbachev glanced to his companion on the back seat of the embassy’s one serviceable black Zil limousine as it passed the Phoenicia Hotel, beyond the building site that was to be the headquarters of the new Bank of Malta, past the chaos of Floriana’s circular Kingsgate bus terminus, onto the narrow bridge into Valletta. 
 
    Fifty-two-year-old Troyanovsky’s appointment pre-dated Gorbachev’s as Minister of Foreign Affairs, a thing which could easily have created friction.  However, unlike so many of his fellow senior diplomats, Oleg Alexandrovich was an affable, even-tempered man who might have been born to frustrate the expectations of his western counterparts in that he was anything but the grey, soulless apparatchik they were so thoroughly accustomed to dealing with. 
 
    The two men’s wives had quickly struck up a rapport, not least because each had a single teenage daughter.  It would be sad that on this visit, Mikhail Sergeyevich’s little princess, Irina, would have little opportunity to get to know the Troyanovsky’s daughter, Maria, better although, apparently, the youngsters had accompanied their mothers this morning’s excursion to the San Anton Palace.  That the wives were trusted, and in fact, encouraged to discharge ‘diplomatic’ duties independently of their husbands, was a rare thing in the Soviet Diplomatic Corps.  Troyanovsky had half-expected his boss to slap him down for even suggesting that the two wives fulfil separate engagements that day; instead, he had been relieved, and more than somewhat impressed that Gorbachev had seemed to think it was the most natural thing in the world. 
 
    Presently, Gorbachev touched his chest where the letter was now concealed. 
 
    “What do you really think about the American letter, Comrade Oleg Alexandrovich?”  He asked bluntly. 
 
    Troyanovsky grimaced, and guffawing defensively, shook his head, hiding the fact that he was somewhat perturbed to be asked the question.  He was by no means the only relatively senior Party member who did not quite know what to make of his new boss.  Gorbachev was a rarity on several counts, not least because he had been closely associated with the old Brezhnev regime and yet, survived and prospered, albeit in the Far East.  Everybody agreed he had been ‘sound’, exiled to Vladivostok all those years, and by all accounts damned nearly faultless in his work out there.  Even the scant evidence of his time thus far at the Foreign Ministry in Sverdlovsk spoke to an unfussy competence and a willingness to make decisions others around him had vacillated over for months.  And of course, nowadays, there could be little doubt that he was Chairman Shelepin’s man… 
 
    The acceptable face of the New USSR? 
 
    Or just another stooge being set up for a fall when this, like previous hopes of if not a settlement, then a rapprochement of some kind with the Americans inevitably broke down? 
 
    Problematically, the man was asking him what he thought about a subject that was so stratospherically above his head he had been careful not to offer even the hint of a personal opinion…until now. 
 
    Understandably, he hesitated. 
 
    Gorbachev smiled ruefully: “The Central Committee has received good reports of your work on Malta. You will be aware that while I have recommended changes in personnel at several of our overseas legations, I am very impressed with the work you have done establishing our mission on this island.  I view your appointment as a long-term investment; much as Ambassador Dobrynin’s has been in Washington.  You are clearly one of the Motherland’s key diplomats; if you and I cannot be frank with each other, who can we be frank with?” 
 
    This briefly rendered Troyanovsky speechless. 
 
    He was a man who had, literally, been born into the Soviet diplomatic ‘family’; the son of the USSR’s first Ambassador to the United States.  During his father’s period in America, he had been educated at a Quaker school, Sidwell Friends, in Washington and spent a year at Swarthmore College outside Philadelphia.  When his father’s four-year term had finished in 1938, returning home to Moscow he had studied at the Institute of Philosophy, Literature and History, before going into the Red Army, joining the Foreign Ministry in 1944, and later serving as a translator for both Stalin and Khrushchev.  Famously, in respect of his time with the latter he had gained a reputation for judiciously ‘toning down’ his principal’s undiplomatic language.  He had been a high-flier from the outset; posted to the London Embassy between 1944 and 1947, recalled to Moscow where he had been a secretary at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and in 1958 he had been promoted an Assistant to the Chairman of the Council of Ministers.  In other words, he had been a senior advisor to Khrushchev at the time of the October War, when serendipitously, he had been on a trade mission in Tokyo, and in his absence, his wife Tatyana and daughter Maria, had by chance been visiting friends in the countryside a hundred kilometres from Moscow and thus, survived the cataclysm. 
 
    In the aftermath of the war the family had not been reunited again for nearly eighteen, unutterably dreadful months.  Nobody had to tell the Troyanovskys or their teenage daughter that another war with the Americans was unthinkable. 
 
    The Ambassador nodded thoughtfully and took his courage in both hands: “It is my fervent hope that the Politburo exhaustively explores every possibility of exploiting the naivety of the present incumbent in the White House to ensure we never repeat the events of 1962, Comrade Minister,” he said neutrally. 
 
    Gorbachev contemplated a moment. 
 
    “I don’t think you or I believe for a moment that President Brenckmann is a naïve man.”  He shrugged, smiling an oddly saturnine smile.  “To the contrary, I think he is a man with the native wisdom to make sure that he has everybody he needs around him in the room when he makes any important decision.” 
 
    Oleg Troyanovsky absorbed this like a chess grandmaster rationalising his opponent’s underlying game strategy after being momentarily lulled in a sense of false security, by a sequence of bland, formulaic opening moves. 
 
    He replied: “The talk of summitry between our leaders may be premature but we should recognise that the Americans have installed a highly competent, well-connected career diplomat here on Malta as their ambassador.  That is significant.  Likewise, although circumstances in the United States prevent a higher-level representation at the Independence Day ceremony, President Brenckmann has insured that both Doctor Kissinger, and his daughter-in-law are here, presumably each pursuing their own agendas.”  He hesitated.  “I think that President Brenckmann may be largely sincere in his sentiments and that his letter should be regarded as a useful first step in securing a peaceful settlement to our differences.” 
 
    Gorbachev mulled this, remaining silent. 
 
    They were almost outside the Grandmaster’s Palace. 
 
    Troyanovsky decided to risk one further observation. 
 
    “I respectfully suggest that we should treat the letter as a sincere bid to take the diplomatic initiative and trump it, Comrade Foreign Minister, with one of our own.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 30 
 
      
 
    Situation Room 
 
    Defence Ministry Building 
 
    Headington Quarry, Oxford 
 
      
 
    Denis Healey would have complained about being summoned to another early morning conference; had it been practical to return to his official residence overnight.  Like many of the other men in the room he was grey, ashen with weariness and aching with a vague, nameless guilt.  After all the Party’s dreams on election night only that May, good intentions et al, they had come to…this. 
 
    The Prime Minister returned to the table, nodding mute thanks to the secretary who had just served another round of strong, black coffees to the three politicians and the two, recently arrived naval officers, who, having taken their seats were no less grim-faced than their political masters. 
 
    Peter Shore had decided that the ‘decision circle’ should be kept as small as possible.  Moving the overnight ‘discussion’ to the most secure bunker on the Headington Quarry Government Estate had become axiomatic; Churchill House and its leaky secretariat, staffed with Party hacks who owed their allegiance not to him but to any number of competing factions, sponsoring trades unions or to one or other of Shore’s detractors in the Cabinet, had become untenable once the Americans had dropped their bombshell. 
 
    “Admiral Fieldhouse,” he said quietly, visibly rousing himself and making an attempt to sit up straight in his chair.  “Now that you’ve been briefed by the Chief of the Defence Staff, I’d be glad to hear your thoughts on the situation and the range of options available to us?” 
 
    Vice Admiral John Fieldhouse, Flag Officer, Submarines, had flown down from Scotland last night and had been closeted with General Sir Peter Hunt and members of C-in-C Fleet’s Staff ever since.  The First Sea Lord was presently in the air, returning from Washington; he and Fieldhouse having spoken at length over a transatlantic hook-up prior to the latter’s departure for Oxford.  All-in-all, the submariner felt he had a good grasp of the dimensions of the monumental cock-up he was about to be asked to try to sort out. 
 
    “The situation is unfortunate, sir,” he observed, meaning no disrespect and trying to avoid being ironic although, in the circumstances, that was easier said than done.  “However, if I may I shall restate my understanding of where we are now before I speak to the nub of the matter.” 
 
    Peter Shore nodded, raising his steaming coffee cup to his lips hoping it might distract those around him from the toll the last few hours had taken on him. 
 
    What was it the Lady used to say? 
 
    Whatever doesn’t kill you makes you stronger… 
 
    Right now, he was having trouble believing that! 
 
    “It is my understanding,” Fieldhouse remarked, “that due to a, er, communication issue, a seaborne CIA electronic surveillance operation has been by design, or more likely inadvertently been hijacked by a second, altogether riskier covert operation in which the crew of a Red Navy November class SSN may, or may not, have mutinied.  Which clause applies is, frankly, secondary to the reality that a Soviet SSN has entered the Mediterranean via the Straits of Gibraltar and attempted, stealthily by its lights, to penetrate waters where no Soviet vessel has been welcome since October 1962.  Pertinent to this, it is happening at the same time as Malta is celebrating its forthcoming independence.  My Staff’s assessment is that the enemy SSN’s rendezvous with the Balvenie Castle was not coincidental.  Either we must believe that the two operations were, or are in some way coordinated, which our friends at Langley and their cousins at the National Security Agency and US Naval Intelligence hotly refute, or a mole, or moles in DC have compromised either OPERATION CARRYBACK, and, or Red Navy officers and men have been subverted by another, unknown third party.  Actually, this latter does not matter to us.  The situation is what it is.  All we can know with a degree of confidence is that the Balvenie Castle’s mission is compromised.  How precisely that mission is terminated is not a decision within my purview.  As to whether the November class SSN – provisionally identified as the K-14 by sound profiling - poses a clear and present danger to our interests in the Central Mediterranean, or represents a genuine attempt by those on board her, to attempt to seek political asylum is clearly a matter for debate.  Obviously, if the K-14 surfaces in the middle of the Grand Harbour it is going cause a major diplomatic incident.  I can see why the Americans don’t want that happening, especially while Doctor Kissinger and Comrade Gorbachev are in the middle of their summit.” 
 
    Peter Shore nodded, deciding not to say anything until Fieldhouse, looking as fresh as a daisy beside Captain Max Forton, the Assistant Director of Submarine Warfare Policy, bearded and piratical, opened a blue Manilla folder and passed his superior a single, closely typed sheet. 
 
    Fieldhouse made eye contacts around the table. 
 
    “I have no view on whether it is current Red Navy policy to equip its operational boats with a single nuclear-tipped torpedo.  It is, however, my recommendation that we assume the K-14 is equipped with at least one such weapon.” 
 
    He waited several seconds before continuing. 
 
    “Given the sensitivity of this discussion,” Flag Officer, Submarines continued, “I have not copied this document to ministers.  However, as advised and mandated, in no uncertain terms I should add, by the First Sea Lord, I have taken legal advice from the Attorney General’s Office to confirm the prima facie legality of the options I have brought to the table this morning.” 
 
    The Prime Minister nodded again. 
 
    Understandably, the Admiralty had insisted that the Government’s senior law officer was brought into the need to know circle because if this blew up, as it might, literally, in their faces, it did not want any naval officer finding himself indicted as a War Criminal. 
 
    “The advice I have received,” Fieldhouse explained, “is that the exculpatory imperative applicable to officers obeying orders issued over my signature, if formally directed by an officer of the Crown of ministerial competence within the Ministry of Defence, will be per se, legitimate if they are issued pursuant to saving the lives of British or Commonwealth citizens, or to frustrate a third party’s potentially military or violent interference with the rights and prerogatives of an allied power, in this case, that of the Maltese Archipelago regardless of whether at the time of the said use of appropriate force it was still a dependent territory or an independent member of the Commonwealth, with whom in any event, we have a mutual defence obligation under the Commonwealth Mutual Assistance and Trade Agreement.” 
 
    The Secretary of Defence, Reginald Prentice vented a sigh of exasperation. 
 
    “We know all this, Admiral!” 
 
    John Fieldhouse gave him a long, inscrutable look that was more eloquent than any direct rebuttal. 
 
    “Option One,” he said, not looking down at his notes.  “Do nothing; wait and see what happens next.  That is, establish if the Soviets’ intentions are overtly hostile before deciding what to do next.” 
 
    He paused, looked around the table. 
 
    Denis Healey was strangely impassive.  The Foreign Secretary’s emotional disengagement might simply have been a symptom of his exhaustion but Fieldhouse thought not, suspecting that it was because he alone of the politicians truly understood exactly what had to be done.  No man who had been the ‘beach master’ of the Allied landings at Anzio could have any illusions about the realities of war.  Prentice, too, had seen service in the Second War, mainly in Italy, and at the end, in Austria, but of the three ministers, Healey was the one who had seen real action, and a lot of it in his four years with the Royal Artillery in North Africa, Sicily and throughout the Italian campaign. 
 
    “Option Two.  Terminate OPERATION CARRYBACK, the Balvenie Castle’s mission when she reaches Malta, quietly offload her CIA technicians, remove the offending spying equipment and thereafter allow the ship to go about her normal ‘merchant’ business.” 
 
    John Fieldhouse guessed the politicians wanted a dozen ‘options’.  He was not going to give them what they wanted because to do so was to put the Courageous in wholly avoidable clear and present danger. 
 
    “Option Three.”  He let this hang in the air for several seconds, aware that he was not about to so much let the cat out of the bag as a herd of rampaging fighting bulls.  “We comply with the US request to order the Courageous, or if circumstances permit, aircraft from the Eagle or based on Malta to attack and sink the K-14 without warning, ideally in deep water to mitigate against any radiation leak and to make it impossible for the Soviets, or anybody else, to inspect the wreck in the foreseeable future.” 
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    As agreed, Lady Rachel French had walked onto the old stone bridge from Floriana to the entrance to the ramparted citadel of Valletta shortly after nine-o’clock that morning.  She had told her husband she needed to go for a walk to clear her head, which was not exactly a lie as it turned out.  And anyway, it was not as if Dan did not know that she and Denzil Williams were ‘up to no good’.  Their marriage, more life partnership where each covered the other’s back, had worked so well exactly because they did not ask each other too many, or in fact, any awkward questions. 
 
    Dan always enjoyed a hearty breakfast, she not.  She was more a lunch with cocktails sort of girl, so most mornings she sipped coffee and nibbled at a croissant while her husband tucked in as if it was his last meal; much as he had as a younger man before all those dreadful night missions to Germany in the Second War when he was the pilot of a Lancaster bomber. 
 
    Hence, this meeting had been scheduled relatively early in the day. 
 
    Lately, she had resumed a carefully scaled-down version of her old morning exercise regime, even begun to run again even though she knew she would never be the supple, whipcord-fit woman she had been for so many years before her last officially-sanctioned mission for British Intelligence, here to Malta in 1965. 
 
    In retrospect, that unplanned rendezvous on this very bridge seven years ago with Denzil Williams – at the time the very pissed off Head of Station on Malta who really did not want her causing trouble on his turf – who was now in charge of MI6’s whole Mediterranean operation, had been the true denouement of her first career as an assassin.  In their ignorance, people had no idea how close to the bone Ian Fleming’s books about a man with a licence to kill had been back in those unreal, half-remembered days before the Cataclysm.  She had never met the author of the Bond novels but she, and Denzil Williams, had both known people who could have been if not Commander James Bond in every particular, then his anonymous doppelgangers in many other respects. 
 
    That night in 1965 on this bridge she had been stumbling into the tertiary stages of a breakdown that had, she had honestly believed, changed her forever.  Then, of course, there had been that nightmare in Washington in 1968; thinking about it she had no idea how she had allowed herself to be suckered back into James Jesus Angleton’s sick little games, or how his enemies had turned his increasingly insane machinations into a trap that had snapped shut, with the Locksmith vomiting blood, viscera and miscellaneous brain material all over her at the Lincoln Memorial… 
 
    She had had a breakdown after that. 
 
    And no, she had never been the same after it. 
 
    But she had, inevitably, eventually resumed her former career; and the weirdest part of it all was that Dan understood.  Yes, it helped that they never, specifically, talked about what she did on her ‘little trips’, or about those days or weekends when she needed to drop out of sight but then she never interrogated him about his dealings with the serial criminals who ran the big US aerospace corporations, or those well-connected snake oil salesmen in DC or Oxford who had fingers in all the big contracts.  They both served, each in their own ways to the best of their abilities.  Each had special gifts, talents and it would have been a pity to waste them by just…retiring. 
 
    And now, here she was again on the old stone bridge over Valletta’s ancient dry moat, waiting to find out what the latest in a long line of commissioning spymasters wanted, or worse, expected her to do for him. 
 
    Dick White – the late Sir Richard ‘Dick’ Goldsmith White – the young MI5 tyro who had been a star of the secret war against the Nazis in the Second War and later, successively the Head of MI5 (the Security Service), MI6 (the Secret Intelligence Service) and Margaret Thatcher’s all-powerful Director General of the National Intelligence Service (both organisations and every imaginable secret organ of British and Commonwealth intelligence work), Rachel’s first and only boss in her seventeen year career as an ‘unacknowledged special asset’ of British Intelligence, had once told her: ‘people who say old agents just fade away don’t know what they are talking about.  That doesn’t happen, and in our hearts, you and I know that…’ 
 
    He was right, Dick was always right. 
 
    Even when he was wrong, she thought, a ghost of a smile creasing her lips as she leaned on the low stone parapet mid-bridge between Floriana and Valletta gazing to the north where a yacht, which she assumed to be the Aysha II, was nosing out of Msida Creek, presumably taking another gang of VIPs joyriding before the morning breeze abated off Dragut Point. 
 
    “I honestly didn’t know if you’d come today,” Denzil Williams remarked, rolling to a halt, from habit, a foot or so out of reach of a scything kick or straight-armed punch to the throat. 
 
    Obviously, he knew that she could finish him with a knife in a heartbeat but there was nothing he could have done about that, so, there was no reason to worry about it. 
 
    Rachel sighed her amusement. 
 
    “Really,” she breathed. 
 
    Feeling a little foolish, the man moved hesitantly into her kill zone. 
 
    “Yes, well, you and I haven’t always seen eye to eye about,” he shrugged, “things.” 
 
    Rachel carried on staring out across Marsamxett Anchorage, studying the new villas rising on the rocky headland beyond and the cranes swinging above the old bomb sites of Gzira near the now rebuilt Empire – soon to be renamed Commonwealth - Stadium where that autumn, as part of the run up to independence, the England soccer team, no longer the World Champions having lost to Brazil in the 1970 final, had beaten a Malta XI by a mere two goals to nil in front of a packed house of some twenty thousand ecstatic locals. 
 
    “I didn’t know that your wife had been killed in the war,” Rachel said, feeling she owed the man an apology without knowing why.  “Not back in sixty-four and sixty-five when we last met.  I only found out later.  I’m sorry, that must have been awful for you.” 
 
    The truth was she would not have understood how badly a thing like that could hit one, not then.  But at the time she had never actually loved anybody, not until she was married to Dan.  At first he had just been a good man; she had owed it to herself to sleep with at least one good man before she died.  That it had turned into something else, well, nobody had been more surprised than her.  It was, truly, a funny old world sometimes. 
 
    The man shrugged, and pulled out a pack of cigarettes. 
 
    He lit up, looking away, avoiding eye contact. 
 
    “Some things you don’t get over,” he said.  “But then I guess I don’t have to explain that to you.” 
 
    That was the trouble, these days the world was full of damaged people; everything was messed up still and would be until a new generation came through.  A generation untainted by the October War; a generation who had never known the old world, who could have no real understanding of what was lost. 
 
    “No,” she agreed.  “Maybe not.” 
 
    “Does Dan know you still work for us?”  The man asked abruptly. 
 
    “Yes, I think he does.  I should imagine he guessed a while ago.” 
 
    Strictly speaking, us had, of course, ceased to be British Intelligence back in 1962 but that was just another of their dirty little secrets; and it was not as if the cause, such as it was had ever been particularly national, let alone patriotic.  Not only was it a funny old world; it was a complicated world also and if it was not for people like them, it would be an even more dangerous place. 
 
    Anyway, that was what she used to tell herself. 
 
    Nowadays, well, she did what she did because well…what else would she do with herself?  
 
    She half-turned to face the rotund spymaster.  That he presented himself like an unkempt, heavy drinking, clumsy oaf who might have stepped straight out of a bar or a betting shop, was part of the disguise.  Nobody gave Denzil Williams a second look; not unless he was standing – or rather, slouching – next to a tall, willowy woman who might, not so many years ago, have easily graced a fashionable Paris or Milan catwalk. 
 
    “So,” she asked, “what’s the contract?” 
 
    “Do you care?” 
 
    “Yes, and no.  I assume we wouldn’t be having this conversation if somebody hadn’t panicked in Oxford and decided the job needed to be done in an ungodly rush.” 
 
    “Ah, there’s been a change of plan, actually.  There’s no rush,” the man retorted mildly.  “Our guests won’t be here in time for the celebrations at the weekend after all.” 
 
    Rachel raised an eyebrow. 
 
    You could always tell a real MI6 man, the old Special Intelligence Service veterans; they talked in riddles, they could not help it. 
 
    She said nothing. 
 
    “Different target.  But it can’t look like a hit,” Denzil Williams explained.  “And this independence nonsense needs to be got out of the way first.  The dust needs to settle, and all that.” 
 
    Making people go away without leaving a big bullet hole somewhere in their chest or head, or detectable signs of garrotting, or stab wounds was always…problematic.  She was good but she was not a magician.  Ergo, that implied some kind of team effort.  For example, since they were on an island, it might be that the body needed to turn up floating face down in the sea with no glaringly obvious signs of trauma, with an absence of toxic or suspicious narcotic traces in his, or her, blood.  Assuming, that was, the body was ever discovered… 
 
    Which prompted an obvious question. 
 
    “Do you need a body?”  She inquired. 
 
    “Unfortunately, yes.” 
 
    “Do we have a name yet?” 
 
    This prompted a shake of the head. 
 
    “Do you have a name?”  Rachel asked, a second time, unemotionally, just for clarity. 
 
    Denzil Williams nodded. 
 
    “Yes,” he conceded reluctantly.  “You’ll have a ninety-day window for the job when you get the name.” 
 
    “Why the delay?” 
 
    The man gave her a quizzical look as if he did not know whether to take the question seriously.  Rachel held up a hand, realising she was asking the wrong question. 
 
    “Where?  Here on Malta presumably?” 
 
    Another confirmatory nod. 
 
    She was staring back towards Msida Creek again; the Number Two Boat, flying a rage of brightly-coloured flags was moving east into Marsamxett Anchorage.  Perhaps, if she asked nicely, Marija would speak to Peter, and she and Dan would receive an invite for one of the ‘joy rides’ planned in the next week? 
 
    “That works for me,” she decided.  “Dan and I will be buying a villa on Gozo, we’ll be spending two or three months here every year.  I meant it when I told the people at the Circus,” she grimaced, a little melodramatically as she coined the derisive ‘circus’ nickname for the new Headquarters of the Ministry for National Security, recently opened within its own, high-walled compound near Woodstock, “that I was in semi-retirement.” 
 
    “Understood.” 
 
    “Is the Circus the contractor on this one?” 
 
    Denzil Williams shook his head. 
 
    Rachel contemplated this.  Okay…  This was another off the books job and she needed to stop asking too many questions. 
 
    “We’ll settle my fee when I know who the target is,” she stipulated. 
 
    “There won’t be an arm-wrestle over this one,” she was assured.  “But…” 
 
    “Don’t get greedy?” 
 
    Rachel smiled, stifling an inadvertent laugh. 
 
    “No,” the SIS man said quickly, misinterpreting her reaction as he tried very hard to over-ride his suddenly over-stimulated flight or fight reflex.  “That wasn’t what I was going to say.  Never mind…” 
 
    There was a rough and ready set rate for these jobs; even his principles in England understood if you paid bananas you got monkeys and in this line of business, employing Chimpanzees simply did not cut the mustard.  In any event, the people using him as their cut-out had deeper purses than his bosses in Oxford; unlike those idiots, they understood that the top people earned top rates, money was never an issue once the middle men had taken their commissions. 
 
    And Rachel was the best… 
 
    “I won’t get greedy,” she promised.  She reached out and touched his arm – a thing she would never have done in the old days - and was pleasantly surprised when the man did not visibly flinch. 
 
    Rachel checked her watch. 
 
    “Are we done?” 
 
    “We’ll be in touch when the kill window opens,” the MI6 man confirmed. 
 
    They parted, she walking on into Valletta, he westward to Kingsgate bus station to travel to Mdina, where he rented a small, nondescript office whenever he was on Malta. 
 
    Once seated on the bus, near but not at the back, Denzil Williams watched who got on and off.  Nobody was following him, or if somebody had been they had latched onto Rachel.  If they had, that might be the worst decision they had ever made. 
 
    But that was their problem, not his. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 32 
 
      
 
    San Anton Palace 
 
    Attard 
 
      
 
    Given that there was no Kissinger spouse, Gretchen Brenckmann had been recruited to ‘even up the numbers’ at the much-publicised coffee morning jointly hosted by Marija and Lady Florence Foot. 
 
    Cindy Caruna had arrived with her two elder daughters, aged fourteen and twelve, and the wives of the Soviet Foreign Minister and Ambassador, each with their own teenage daughters.  Both Russian girls spoke English, Maria Troyanovsky fluently, and Irina Gorbachev a little haltingly, while Christa and Helen Caruna could hold their own in Maltese.  Initially, because Raisa Gorbacheva was not a confident or fluent English speaker, Maria Troyanovsky did her best to act as translator when Irina struggled.  Notwithstanding, there was much gentle laughter and the conversation flowed easily. 
 
    Gretchen found herself watching Raisa Gorbacheva, aware that her curiosity was reciprocated, quietly, unobtrusively.  With the wife of the Soviet Ambassador and Cindy Caruna she was dealing with intelligent, supportive spouses of successful men; but she strongly suspected that the wife of the Soviet Foreign Minister was more than that. 
 
    The State Department had given her a disappointingly thin background folder about the Soviet Foreign Minister, and an even thinner one about Raisa, and she wished she knew more about them both. 
 
    “Is it right that you met your husband at university in Moscow, Raisa?”  Gretchen asked, trusting nothing she had read in the State Department digest.  Marija had introduced everybody by their first names and insisted that was the way the event continued. 
 
    “Yes, that is true.” 
 
    “But you don’t come from that region of the Soviet Union?” 
 
    “No.”  The Foreign Minister’s wife thought for some seconds about how much of herself she wanted to reveal.  “I was born Raisa Maximovna Titarenko in a city in the Altai, Rubtsovsk in Siberia.  My father was from the Ukraine, a railway engineer; my mother was a Siberian.  I and my two siblings were brought up in the Ural Mountains during the Great Patriotic War and afterwards.” 
 
    “Your subject was philosophy?” 
 
    Raisa nodded: “And you qualified as an attorney at law?” 
 
    “I did,” Gretchen smiled, “and it has come in really, really useful in the last few years!” 
 
    Raisa Gorbacheva raised an eyebrow and caught her interlocutor off balance with an unexpected, smiling retort: “When you defended Nazis and Red Dawn madmen?” 
 
    Gretchen nodded, beginning to enjoy herself. 
 
    “And one guy – a real flake, a Walter Mitty character - who thought he was working for your government.  Everybody deserves their day in court,” she concluded. 
 
    Raisa would not be drawn on this. 
 
    “I earned my degree at Moscow State University,” she continued.  “Mikhail and I moved to Stavropol, that’s in the south, when we married.  That was in 1953, it was a time of great change.  Stalin had died and the first of Khrushchev’s reforms were beginning to impact the collective farming system, and other areas of economic and political life.  I taught Marxist-Leninist Philosophy.  My degree thesis had been based on my research into life on a collective farm, it caused a little bit of a stir, even though it was very dry material.  It is a myth that there is no dissent or internal discussion within the Soviet system, it is just that much of it is behind closed doors, even under the present leadership.” 
 
    Gretchen realised she was being told something important; she listened harder, trying to work out what it was. 
 
    The other woman went on: “When my husband was Commissar Governor in the Far East I carried on teaching, official engagements apart, full-time in schools and at the Soviet State College in Vladivostok.  Sadly, since Mikhail became a member of the Politburo and we moved to Sverdlovsk, my teaching career has again taken something of a back seat.” 
 
    “That must be very frustrating?” 
 
    The two women were having one conversation, meanwhile, around the table a couple of others were always in progress. 
 
    Raisa shrugged as if to say “it is what it is and I’m fine with that.”  However, what she actually said was: “While Irina was young, I was reluctant to travel overmuch with Mikhail.  Especially, when we were in the Far East; even before the Cuban Missiles War large areas of the region were still a little like the Wild West.” 
 
    This last observation she delivered with another winning smile. 
 
    “And now,” Raisa went on, “Irina is older and able to accompany us abroad, we can be a real family more often.” 
 
    Gretchen had a sudden pang of guilt leaving her two youngsters at home in Washington.  But only a pang.  She loved her kids but she was never going to be an endlessly doting, over-protective mother bear with them.  That was just not her and besides, she had married a guy who had a nurturing streak a mile wide. 
 
    “Tell me about your father-in-law?”  Raisa asked suddenly. 
 
    “What do you want to know?” 
 
    “Everything, the KGB will want to know everything.” 
 
    Gretchen missed the joke until she saw the other woman’s daughter struggling to keep a straight face. 
 
    “Oh, right.  I get it,” she relaxed.  “The President was tight with my father since way back in the thirties, and my father was tight with the Kennedy boys and trust me, that was like walking a tightrope between two skyscrapers.  The President is a conciliator right up to the moment he discovers somebody is taking him for a ride, then you really don’t want to be on his bad side.” 
 
    Raisa frowned as if baffled by the idiom and the suddenly tautological twist of the exchange.  Gretchen decided she would continue being oblique for a while and see where it took her. 
 
    “There’s a famous story that my father gave JFK a yacht, the Gretchen Louise – named after me - to make sure he got the message that I was out of bounds.  Like I said, he was tight with old Joe Kennedy and I honestly think he loved JFK and RFK like nephews – not so sure about Teddy – but he wasn’t having any daughter of his marrying into that family.  Take it from me, President Brenckmann isn’t anything like the Kennedys.  More like LBJ, maybe, except without the rough edges and if Nelson Rockefeller hadn’t pardoned Richard Nixon, trust me, he would have sent him to jail.  The President is incorruptible; he’ll always do what he believes is right and he never wants any other family to ever go through what his did on the night of the October War.” 
 
    Raisa could have been excused for thinking Gretchen was talking in riddles.  The trouble was that nothing had so frustrated a meaningful US-Soviet dialogue since the Great Patriotic War as the lack of a common geopolitical lexicon.  Other than when both sides were shouting at each other neither understood what the other was really trying to say. 
 
    Gretchen kept at the task. 
 
    “You asked me about my father-in-law.  The wisest person I’ve ever met in my whole life is the First Lady, Joanne is the mother-in-law from paradise but I’ll tell you for nothing that if she thinks the President is about to do something dumb, she’ll tell him.  What do the women of the Soviet Union do when their menfolk screw up?” 
 
    This caught Raisa unawares, everybody looked at her when the conversation with Gretchen seemed to stall.  She recovered herself, raised a hand and smiled ruefully. 
 
    Her husband had shown her President Brenckmann’s letter and she knew, thankfully distantly, of the ongoing debate in the Politburo between the pragmatists, the ideologues and the old Bolsheviks, who still wanted revenge at any cost.  Until recently Chairman Shelepin had been content to let the Party hierarchy exhaust itself with in-fighting rather than have it challenging him about a second poor harvest in as many years, and a stagnant national economy approximately barely a third of the size of the pre-1962 level which was as fragmented and dysfunctional now as it had been five years ago, following the modest recovery successes of the first post-October War Five-Year Plan. 
 
    Gretchen used the hiatus to probe from a new angle. 
 
    “I’ve talked about my father-in-law; talk to me about Comrade Chairman Shelepin?” 
 
    Tatyana Troyanovsky froze. 
 
    All talk stumbled to a halt. 
 
    Marija half-frowned at her friend. 
 
    “You promised to leave Congresswoman Gretchen back at the hotel, Mrs Brenckmann,” she scolded good-naturedly with what by her lights, less than wholly contained vexation. 
 
    “I did, Madam President elect,” Gretchen apologised.  “I apologise, Madam Gorbacheva.” 
 
    Raisa was fascinated by the exchange between the two friends.  Lady Marija and the spikey American heiress clearly had one of those unlikely relationships in which either woman could say, more or less, whatever she wanted to the other without either taking umbrage. 
 
    Instinctively, she liked these people. 
 
    They were grown up, tempered rather than incurably damaged by everything they had been through. 
 
    “I am not offended, Gretchen,” Raisa said.  “Your question is a fair one.  I am a loyal comrade to Chairman Shelepin; he saved my country in a very dark hour and has guided us wisely in the last eight years.  That not all our problems are surmountable is in no way due to any fault on his part; I dread to think what would have become of us without his strong leadership.  Please, you must remember that after October 1962, life for we survivors in the USSR did not go on with a few minor adjustments as it did in most American cities.  That day was, as your military says, ‘ground zero’ for us.  Day zero, the day when we had to start all over again.  Most of our industrial cities remain boneyards, two-thirds of my countrymen and women died in the war, many millions have perished since.  Chairman Shelepin has managed an unimaginable crisis for the long years he has been at the helm.  Do not think that we, in the USSR rail against a tyrant; Comrade Shelepin is our saviour and in him we place all our faith going forward.” 
 
    Gretchen was blinking.  Only some of that qualified as a straightforward repetition, as if by rote, of the ‘Party line’; within it there was a genuine implied rebuke as if the older woman was quietly taking her to task for her failure to understand the nuances of ideas and solutions which might be digestible by both sides of the renewed global Cold War. 
 
    “Forgive me, I did not mean to impugn your loyalty or to score cheap political points.” 
 
    Raisa nodded, this time accepting the apology. 
 
    “If the West is serious about a generational settlement,” she went on, smiling thinly, “and laying a true foundation for future mutual peaceful co-existence then shipments of North American grain this winter, followed by bulk fertilisers and technical support in the spring to begin to bring the Ukraine back into large-scale agricultural production would send a message that every Soviet citizen will understand.” 
 
    Marija opened her mouth, thought better of it. 
 
    “What numbers do you have in mind?”  Gretchen inquired, without missing a heartbeat. 
 
    “In terms of grain, several million tons delivered via the Baltic, the Black Sea and the ports of the Far East.  I would need to consult an agronomist to speak to the type and tonnage of fertilisers but again the figures would be in the millions of tons, I should imagine.” 
 
    Gretchen nodded, thinking the proposition through. 
 
    “I take it as read that this would be more acceptable to Comrade Shelepin, and to your husband if the offer of such aid came directly, unbidden from the White House?  No strings attached?” 
 
    “Yes, there would still be sensitivities but,” Raisa gave a tiny shrug, “undoubtedly, by this time next year certain channels of communication would have been re-opened.” 
 
    Gretchen met the older woman’s gaze and held it. 
 
    “With your permission, I will speak to the President.  Please do not expect him to make any public announcement until after the election on 7th November.” 
 
    Everybody had been holding their breath. 
 
    The relaxation of tension was as palpable as the communal exhalation.  Fortunately, the arrival soon afterwards of Rosa and Alan Hannay and their bambinos broke what ice remained, prompting Marija to summon her own little ones, led by an uncharacteristically bashful Elisabetta. 
 
    Alan made his excuses and departed by car for a pre-arranged luncheon at the Phoenicia Hotel with Marija’s husband and her father.  The President elect allowed herself a tiny sigh; she would have loved to have talked, gossiped the afternoon away with ‘the boys’, with the conversation ranging over the America’s Cup, the Admiralty Dockyards, all manner of ship lore and the Royal Navy’s ongoing tribulations as its future ships, and its role in the world came under the fiercest of microscopic scrutiny.  It was not to be, she had other appointments that day, so many that she would not have a chance to interrogate her husband about the men’s ‘shop talk’ until this evening, assuming they did not both fall directly into bed exhausted. 
 
    Photographers were called in to take pictures of the women and the children.  After the farewells Mary Griffin took Marija’s elbow and began to brief her about her next engagement; greeting several VIP late arrivals, including the Chief Minister of Singapore, the Prime Minister of Ceylon and the South African Minister of External Affairs at Luqa. 
 
    Marija started saying how fascinating it was that both India and Ceylon should have elected female Prime Ministers, in the case of the latter, the redoubtable Sirima Ratwatte Dias Bandaranaike, whose primary motives for travelling to Malta were two scheduled twenty-minute meetings respectively with Henry Kissinger, and Mikhail Gorbachev. 
 
    Mary, a little acerbically, cut her friend off in mid-stream. 
 
    “Yes, it is interesting but I warned you I was afraid Gretchen would go rogue like she did this morning.  I don’t think she did any harm, quite the opposite but we can’t ever let her do that again in a forum chaired by you.” 
 
    “I was hosting a coffee morning, not chairing a meeting,” Marija objected serenely. 
 
    Marija’s Chief of Staff rolled her eyes. 
 
    She was more than a little vexed. 
 
    “You are, or you will be in a day or two, the President!  When you are in any room on this archipelago; you are chairing, knocking heads together, making peace or whatever in that room, Marija!” 
 
    “Yes, yes, I know.  The buck stops with me.” 
 
    Mary Griffin frowned. 
 
    “Actually, it stops with your Prime Minister and that’s a problem because you and I both know he’s a shifty little slime-ball.  He’s never going to take responsibility for anything unless he thought of it first, and it went exactly the way he wanted it to go.  Gretchen started doing politics in your house.  She can’t do that.  Will you tell her, or shall I?” 
 
    Marija understood why her friend was upset. 
 
    “I should have just invited the Russians,” she conceded. 
 
    “Or the Americans.” 
 
    But not both! 
 
    A few minutes later, Marija was staring out of the window as her car drove south out of Attard to where it would pick up the road to Luqa.  No road on Malta went directly to anywhere else, or at least that was what most visitors complained about.  The supposedly harsh imperial overlords, the British, had always been too respectful of existing boundaries, no new Romans they, bulldozing through and over all obstacles to ensure that their highways were arrow-straight from A to B. 
 
    “Peter says the worst thing about being captain of a ship is that you have to get used to the idea that nobody else on board is your friend,” she said, a little distractedly.  “I could never live that way.” 
 
    Mary reached over and touched her friend’s hand but said nothing, already regretting what she had said earlier even though she knew she was right and that it had needed to be said. 
 
    “Don’t worry, I will speak to Gretchen,” Marija said, and with that the two women moved on. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 33 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    67 nautical miles east of Pantelleria 
 
      
 
    Initially, and for several minutes afterwards, the Soviet submarine had not reacted at all when Courageous had moved across her bow at a range of just under two miles and actively, and repeatedly, pinged her with her sonar.  The November class boat had held its course and when it came abreast of the Royal Navy submarine – at which time both vessels were beam to beam about a mile apart – she had tried to turn to get onto Courageous’s stern. 
 
    “Cheeky blighter!”  Noel Haggard had guffawed.  Then ordered: “HARD RIGHT RUDDER!”  With which the two great steel whales had commenced a circling duel which, after about twenty minutes, had proved conclusively, at least to the satisfaction of the men in Courageous’s control room, that despite being the larger vessel by the best part of around two thousand tons, she was significantly the nimbler of the two SSNs. 
 
    Haggard’s Soviet counterpart was not, however, a man easily deterred, even when it was obvious Courageous was effortlessly turning ‘inside’ him and was therefore, going to be impossible to shake off his tail. 
 
    “I think this bloke might want to joust with us, sir,” Tim Dunbar-Naismith put to his captain. 
 
    By then Courageous was two miles astern, gliding comfortably in the dying eddies of the Soviet submarine’s wake. 
 
    Noel Haggard had been thinking similar thoughts. 
 
    “He might but we’re too close now.” 
 
    A classic manoeuvre if one believed that another submarine was trailing along in one’s wake was to execute a sharp turn and to steer a reciprocal course.  It was ‘underwater chicken’, an evolution the US Navy called a ‘Crazy Ivan’, risking a collision but as an act of last resort it had much to recommend it.  Although not, perhaps, in this situation.  Unless of course, Haggard’s opponent in the command chair in the Soviet submarine’s control room was paranoid or under the impression he was actually at war. 
 
    However, although Haggard did not get the feeling that the other man was about to do anything that drastic, one never knew until it happened.  
 
    The November class boat had two, very old-fashioned screws that made a dreadful racket whenever the revolutions increased past slow ahead.  In comparison, Courageous’s single screw was multi-bladed, skew-backed virtually eliminating the phenomenon of cavitation, a stealthy submariner’s nightmare.  Moreover, the enlarged diameter of that screw meant it did not have to turn as fast as a smaller propeller, its seven scimitar-like swept back blades nullifying its propensity to induce the formation of tiny, explosive – and noisy - bubbles of air on its leading edges, the aforementioned ‘cavitation’ effect. 
 
    The Soviet boat’s designers had not addressed the problem; so, even had its machinery been as quiet as Courageous’s which it was not by a long chalk, it would still have moved through the water with all the stealth of a steam train passing through a tunnel. 
 
    Cavitation was the direct result of a propellor of a given cross-section and configuration spinning too fast; under high load the pressure on the forward side of the blades drops below the pressure of the surrounding medium, be it water for a ship or submarine and the atmosphere for an aeroplane, resulting in the screw spinning in a lower-pressure water or air environment, and progressively losing thrust as a coefficient of the power transmitted to its drive shaft.  In water, this effect not only wastes a lot of power but the bubbling it causes accelerates the erosion of a screw’s surface, creating a barrage of small, localised shock waves.  The greater the depth at which a boat operated the less significant this became but the effect and its by-product, was the noise created by the explosive collapse of the air bubbles caused by the underlying phenomenon. 
 
    With conventionally-shaped propellers, other than at very, very low speeds of rotation, cavitation was inevitable whereas Courageous’s fifteen-feet diameter multi-bladed screw was intrinsically ‘quiet’, because it did not have to turn as fast as the Soviet boat’s two much smaller propellors to produce the same forward thrust vector.  In dry dock, the scimitar-like tilting of the blades rearward along the longitudinal axis of the submarine gave the propellor a serrated cup-like profile.  The configuration was engineered to absolutely minimise cavitation even at relatively high speeds, that is, up to and including around twenty-three knots.  In other words, Courageous could literally disappear into the void while her sonarmen were deafened by the clatter of their adversary stumbling around like a drunk in a china shop. 
 
    Which was not to say her November class counterpart was completely at her mercy.  For example, it could disengage her turbines and drift, silently like any old-style pig boat, or if the water was shallow enough, ground herself, become a part of the sea floor and virtually impossible to detect other than by active ‘pinging’ which, of course, betrayed the location of the ‘pinging’ submarine.  All of which pre-supposed the two boats were, or remained in contact; and after an hour of their dance as the Balvenie Castle and the Tarlton rumbled over them, completely unaware of the underwater drama hundreds of feet beneath their keels, the Soviet captain wearied of the slow-motion waltz and roared off to the south east at the best part of thirty knots, initially making a racket likely to awaken each and every ghost of the men lost in these treacherous waters in the 1945 war. 
 
    Haggard had hoped the game would last a little longer.  There was nothing like jousting with a real bad guy to sharpen up a crew’s reflexes.  Once or twice the Soviet boat had had a window of opportunity to jink this way or that, to break the circling contest but she had never attempted the obvious ploy, to stop dead in the water and attempt to outwait Courageous in a hovering duel, testing which boat lost buoyancy or trim first. 
 
    Was that a trick his counterpart was keeping up his sleeve? 
 
    The real conundrum was why the other boat had turned up again, much in the fashion of a bad penny, shadowing the Balvenie Castle?  Unable to resolve the puzzle, Courageous’s commander determining to seek advice and guidance from Fleet Headquarters in his next twenty-four hour patrol report, stood the boat down to Cruising Stations and ordered the officer of the watch to place the vessel in a slow eastward-moving search box quartering twenty miles on each side to the south and ahead of the Liberty Ship and her attendant minesweeper’s track until further notice.  
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 34 
 
      
 
    The Phoenicia Hotel 
 
    Floriana, Malta 
 
      
 
    This time last year, Boutros Boutros-Ghali could not have foreseen his rapid advancement within the Egyptian Ministry of Foreign Affairs; but then the sudden death of the Republic’s founding father and patriarch, Gamal Abdel Nasser, struck down by the impossible pressures of his office and congenital heart disease at the tragically early age of fifty-two, had changed everything.  Not just in the ruling party but in the very soul of his nation. 
 
    Nasser’s successor, Anwar Sadat, in many ways a tougher-minded, more pragmatic man with a longer memory for those whose loyalty might have wavered, had wasted no time sweeping away the dead hand of the old Free Officers Movement, the brotherhood which had been instrumental in the overthrow of King Farouk in 1952, in retrospect, the key stepping stone on the road to true independence.  Into the vacuum of power, a new generation of officers, civil servants, administrators, and lawyer-academics like Boutros-Boutros-Ghali had been inducted, and before they knew it, they had been intimately involved at the heart of the new state Sadat was building. 
 
    Fifty-one-years-old, Boutros Boutros-Ghali was a cosmopolitan man.  He was the grandson of a former Prime Minister of Egypt, Boutros Ghali Bey who had been assassinated while in office in 1910, his mother, Safela, was the daughter of the historian Mikhail Sharubim, and he had been brought up by a Slovenian nanny, Milena, whom he had regarded as his closest friend and confident throughout his early life.  His wife, Leia Maria had been born into and Egyptian-Jewish family in Alexandria, converting to Catholicism in her youth.  As if to emphasise that he was – at least in the context of contemporary Egyptian public affairs – a liberal internationalist with an intellectual and cultural perspective that extended far beyond the boundaries of his own native land, his family observed the orthodoxy of the Coptic Christian Church, and while he had earned his degree at Cairo University, he had also been awarded a PhD in international law and a diploma in International Relations at the Paris Institute of Political Studies, where he had studied between 1946 and 1949.  Moreover, a Professor of Law and International Relations at Cairo University from 1949 onwards, he had been a Fulbright Research Scholar at Columbia University in 1953 and 1954, and at the time the October War intervened, he had been about to take up an appointment as Director of Research at the Hague Academy of International Law.  In the mid-1960s he had found himself Minister of State at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs for two relatively short stints, each abbreviated by factional in-fighting within Nasser’s troubled regime as the stresses created by the republic’s western and southern territorial aggrandisement, and the ever-present tensions with Israel, and other neighbouring ‘Pan-Arab brother’ states simmered, returning after each fraught interlude in government to the blissful, reflective calm of his academic duties at Cairo University. 
 
    Upon his succession, Anwar Sadat had wasted no time declaring a unilateral cessation of the republic’s territorial ambitions; the map had been re-drawn and that, was that.  Notwithstanding this had been taken with a pinch of salt - particularly by the Gulf Emirates, vocally led by the Kuwaitis, acting as Saudi proxies – it had undoubtedly prevented a precipitate breakdown of relations with the British, and more importantly, the Americans.  The British were still, on paper, treaty allies and the latter, intensely watchful in their stated neutrality. This had hardly been incidental to Boutros Boutros-Ghali’s rapid advancement to the top table of Egyptian politics.  Sadat had brought him onto the Central Committee of the Arab Socialist Union, the ruling party which still, in theory, still adhered to the Nasserist Principles of Arab Socialism – just twenty days after Nasser’s state funeral.  Since then, he had been spreading the message of Pan-Arab moderation, and proclaiming the self-evident benefits of unity under the wise leadership of…Anwar Sadat. 
 
    Sadat wanted to avoid a Middle Eastern war at all costs; or rather, to avoid a conflict that was not fought on his terms or to his timetable when he believed Egypt was best prepared to fight it.  A practical man, he had made it clear to his Foreign Minister that this might never happen, that the stars might never align in its favour; therefore, the object of the exercise was to be ready and to be diplomatically positioned if, and when, that moment arrived.  Sadat’s first preference was for peace with his neighbours; the trouble was he remembered the 1948 and 1956 wars – and was intuitively suspicious not only of the militaristic Israelis but of the oil-rich Gulf States and the Saudis and also of the slow rise of the region’s one other potential ‘local’ superpower, the semi-theocratic Iranians. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali wholly agreed with Sadat that if only the Russians could be persuaded, or more likely induced, to abandon their ever-shrinking hold on the battlefield that was Iraq, that would greatly contribute to the short-term security of the region.  If only because it would reduce the reliance of the Kuwaitis and the Saudis on American military support, and hopefully, hasten the British departure from Oman and Abadan. 
 
    An aide coughed, snapping the Egyptian Foreign Minister out of the circle of his thoughts.  His guest had arrived, it seemed.  Rising to his feet he greeted the Chief Officer, soon to be Prime Minister, of Malta. 
 
    The airy, upper-floor penthouse suite had proven to be an excellent venue for a number of interesting and informative meetings in recent days.  If the talk grew terse there were always marvellous views over towards the Grand Harbour, from where in the picture windows coffee and other libations could be offered, changing the tone of uncomfortable conversations and breaking layers of icy intransigence threatening to accumulate, unnecessarily clogging the wheels of diplomacy. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali could immediately tell that Dom Mintoff was in a particularly combative mood, starting to flex his political muscles now that his life-long ambitions were about to be fulfilled.  He stifled a sigh of resignation. 
 
    The contemplative Egyptian politician-academic tended towards the view that his guest ought, possibly, to have been a little more careful about what he wished for.  That said, in the circumstances the little man’s hubris was hardly inexplicable, he had after all proved that he was, in his own way a moderately capable administrator, albeit one over-partial to pleasing his friends rather than seeking new allies and to Boutros-Ghali’s, and the majority of the other foreign diplomats on the archipelago, he remained somewhat more in the global shade of a certain Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher than he, or most of his peers, was willing or capable of acknowledging. 
 
    That extraordinary young woman – people forgot that she was still only thirty-six – had it in her to be a major player, a peacemaker possibly, on the world stage in the years to come whereas ‘the Dom’ as his supporters and many detractors called him, was destined to be a big fish only in his own parochial gold fish bowl.  Not that a casual observer would think it from the little man’s blustering, frowning demeanour as he sought to command this, as he did, every room he walked into seemingly impervious to the offence it often gave men, and women, most of whom in the lead up to the Independence Day celebrations were significantly more consequential actors on the regional diplomatic stage. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali smiled and extended his hand. 
 
    Mintoff’s grip was brief and a little clammy; the Egyptian had to make an effort not to wipe his palm on his jacket tail. 
 
    Chairs were drawn up, aides took their places and strong coffee was served.  In taking over the suite, Boutros-Ghali’s staff had re-arranged the furniture and hung several portraits on the wall behind where he sat: one was of Nasser, that was a given, another below his mentor and friend’s right shoulder, of President Sadat, and another of Sadat meeting President Brenckmann at the White House that summer, a visit that to date was the single great coup of Boutros-Ghali’s diplomatic career and which, he liked to think had undoubtedly lowered the temperature of the residual existential angst roiling between the two republics. 
 
    Small talk rambled for some minutes. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali knew why Mintoff had come to see him. 
 
    Or rather, that he had come to the Phoenicia Hotel to make it look as if he was having significant discussions with several foreign leaders, legates and humble ministers of his own ilk.  The little man wanted to convey an aura of being ‘presidential’.  Needless to say, he was going about it the wrong way; the eyes of the global media were not on him, they were focused almost exclusively on President-designate Lady Marija.  The little man could not compete with that woman or her heroic husband, and every time he tried to upstage her he…well, looked a little silly. 
 
    Partly, this was because of Mintoff’s obsession with going everywhere with a gang of toughs in tow, dockyard bully boys in badly-fitting suits as if he was terrified of his own shadow.  Mostly, it was because he had a self-evidently over-inflated view of his own consequentiality and the powers he imagined he was about to inherit as independent Malta’s first Prime Minister. 
 
    Today, there was only one item on the pre-Independence Day agenda: preferential, or near ‘free trade’ with Egypt for the new republic.  It was a non-issue, as of course, were the majority of all ‘diplomatic’ issues, in normal circumstances an excuse to discuss other matters if both parties were amenable. 
 
    President Sadat saw no need to negotiate a new trade agreement with Malta, Egyptian officials would simply read Malta as an adjunct, an abbreviation for ‘United Kingdom’ and everything would proceed as before under Cairo’s existing arrangements under which it was deemed to be an ‘Associate Trading Member’ of CMAFTA.  It was not as if the British were going anywhere, not while Lady Marija was President which meant the Egyptian Navy and Air Force was not about to get access to Maltese ports, or the air base at Luqa, or overflight rights any time in the next seven years.  That was fine, none of Egypt’s regional competitors or potential enemies were going to get those rights either and as every diplomat worth his salt understood, stasis, the status quo was invariably had a great deal to recommend it.  No, the way Egyptian influence might eventually subvert Malta was not martial, it was commercial and in the fullness of time, Boutros-Ghali suspected that the future probably belonged to the archipelago’s nationalists, not its half-hearted pseudo-socialists like Mintoff. 
 
    Only time would tell if he was reading the runes aright… 
 
    New republics always searched for their soul in the years immediately after their independence; and out of that struggle many were the ‘issues’ which found their own, natural solution.  The trouble was that if Mintoff had his way the transition would almost certainly be a great deal more painful than it needed to be. 
 
    “I place the highest priority on redrawing the treaty provisions with all of Malta’s neighbours,” the little man was saying. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali was tempted to ask him: “Why?” 
 
    The British had guaranteed the archipelago’s security for the next ten years and Malta’s economy was on a modest, upward growth curve. 
 
    Why rock the boat? 
 
    In a decade the world might – in fact, if the last ten years were anything to go by, it would almost certainly - be a very different place, even though it was inevitable that the American Eagle would probably bestride what remained of Europe as stridently as it had before the October War, and that the part of the Mediterranean in which Malta sat would still be an American lake.  Ironically, the self-important little man was about to inherit the sort of trade and diplomatic framework most former island colonies dreamed of; why on earth did he want to tinker with it when there were so many, many other more pressing things he ought to be getting on with?  He was about to become Prime Minister of a country with the highest adult literacy for thousands of miles to the south and east, a country nobody would dare to invade which, it now seemed possible, might be short-listed to host the new permanent home of the re-born United Nations. 
 
    It seemed to Boutros-Ghali that Mintoff – when he was not looking over his shoulder, unnerved by his own shadow – simply did not, as the British would say, ‘have his eye on the ball’. 
 
    “That is commendable,” he replied, in English. 
 
    Mintoff had wanted the meeting to be conducted in Maltese with a small army of translators filling the room.  That was absurd, even the Soviets understood that the language of post-Cataclysm diplomacy was English. 
 
    The Egyptian Foreign Minister would have been happier if there had been fewer people in the room.  It was never a good idea to be less than diplomatic in front of so many witnesses; President Sadat had been insistent that: ‘If we are going to have a crisis over Malta, I do not want it now or any time soon!’ 
 
    “I fear this conference,” he explained patiently, trying not to smile that ‘I have bad news for you’ smile he used to no little effect on students and post-doctoral candidates who had failed to come up to the required standard, “may have come about because of a mistaken understanding of my country’s stance east of Cyrenaica.  We will not make any fresh diplomatic commitments which might offend our Tunisian brothers, or the governments of Sicily or of the southern Italian provinces.  Moreover, our armed forces have no need of, nor do they covet bases or facilities on your archipelago.  Above all, we seek friendly, peaceful co-existence with all legitimate foreign interests at play in the Eastern Mediterranean.  Therefore, while we are happy to carry over extant treaty provisions and obligations agreed with the British colonial power in recent years, which viewed from Cairo, still work satisfactorily for both parties, we see little room for variance and revision of the same in the coming years.” 
 
    Dom Mintoff stared at him, his jaw slack. 
 
    “But we shall soon be an independent country…” 
 
    “Yes,” Boutros-Ghali concurred politely. 
 
    “We have a right to make our own treaties.” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    The Egyptian Foreign Minister did not think there was anything further to be said on the subject, so he said nothing. 
 
    Independent Malta had three things going for it: one, it had a guarantee of security and even in its current, debilitated state nobody wanted to go to war with the British; two, at one minute past midnight on Friday morning it automatically became, to all intents, a full member of the Commonwealth Free Trade and Mutual Assistance (CMAFTA) Treaty; and three, it had Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher. 
 
    It was clear to the Egyptian Foreign Minister that Dom Mintoff had not, and possibly never would, come to terms with this and was going to spend the rest of his political career, trying to undermine the three great boons about to be bestowed on independent Malta.  Truly, there was no saving some people from themselves.  Idly, he wondered if the British would tolerate the little man overlong once he started trying to dismantle their Central Mediterranean legacy? 
 
    If there had ever been such a thing as a British sense of fair play; all that had gone by the board in recent years. Did Mintoff honestly think they would allow him to embarrass them? 
 
    The world had very nearly blown itself up – whole countries had as good as been obliterated and hundreds of millions of people had died – because the men, predominantly it was middle- to old-aged men, had allowed it to happen.  Misunderstandings, accidents or whatever, the ‘great men’ had allowed the cataclysm to happen and there was a general consensus among serious students of international affairs that Boutros-Ghali’s generation was not going to let recent history repeat itself on their watch. 
 
    Thus, a lot of things which would have been unthinkable before the October War were now standard tools in the re-written play book of international diplomacy. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali was in many ways a reluctant, almost accidental diplomat.  He was an academic drawn into the political wheel of Egyptian politics as much by duty as inclination, he did not think in terms of revolution or religious fervour, factors that had sometimes addled the minds of Nasser’s closest acolytes, led to so many bloody conflicts within his regime, and driven its conquests in the name of Pan-Arabism.  He understood the ‘great man theory’ of history, leant an ear to Marxist determinism and understood, even if he did not empathise with, the American sense of manifest destiny.  He believed colonialism of any colour was, and had been a misguided aberration that the Second War had thankfully undermined in respect of the old European Empires, and incited in the two great victors of that war, the United States and the Soviet Union to ultimately march down the road to the October War.  It seemed axiomatic to him that clearly, something had to change after the greatest disaster in human history. 
 
    Unlike many of his colleagues in government, Boutros-Ghali had never wholly discounted whispers and rumours that the Gihaz El Mukhabarat El ‘Amma – the Egyptian General Intelligence Service, commonly known as the ‘Mukhabarat’ – periodically passed across his desk speculating about the existence of a shadowy, clandestine ‘off the books’ of any recognised nationally-sanctioned intelligence organisation, mercenary-type operation funded by wealthy tycoons and the so-called ‘dirty tricks departments’ of several great multinational corporations.  From Boutros-Ghali’s perspective, as a man brought up under what many would regard as the British imperial yoke, it was hardly a giant leap of imagination to suspect that British and American oil and shipping companies, or that any number of the great industrial monoliths of the globally-dominant North American economy, its automobile, steel and chemical combines, and mighty banks, all run by men with the moral code of medieval money-lenders would not do everything within their power to circumvent another such disastrous disruption to ‘business as normal’ as had occurred in October 1962, irrespective of the best, or worst intentions of their nominal political leaders. 
 
    As to the plausibility of how such an organisation could operate outside of the customary boundaries of any particular nation state, secretly seeking to manipulate world affairs and without a blink of the eye, conducting extra-judicial killings and executing all manner of corrupt tricks, traps and stratagems, well, that was a non sequitur.  Only a few years ago nobody had believed that there was such a thing as Red Dawn, and yet it had been in front of them for years before the cataclysm, actively working to undermine the leadership of countries both friendly to, and hostile to the Soviet Union as an adjunct to the NKVD and its successor, the KGB’s global operations.  Even now, the curse of Krasnaya Zarya was fomenting theocratic extremism, jihadist insanity in his own country and throughout the Middle East, poisoning the well of good sense and traducing the words of the Book to stir the civil war in Iraq and to undermine the generally West-friendly, otherwise unaligned Iranians and Saudis. 
 
    No, it was no kind of intellectual ‘stretch’ to conceive that the West might have its own, carefully engineered, capitalist version of Red Dawn, operating more or less with impunity in its own, and borderland areas of interest around the world.  Such an ‘apparat’ would be especially effective in countries where the Central Intelligence Agency was an intrinsic part of over-large US diplomatic missions, or where the British still maintained major embassies and consular presences.  If the spies were to be believed, the British – notwithstanding the antics of their recent governments - had hugely sharpened up their act in the last few years; transforming their ramshackle, notoriously leaky foreign intelligence (MI6) operation beyond recognition from its former, clubbish incompetence of the post Second War years.  Presumably, they had been greatly assisted in this by the elimination of a large number of public school-educated NKVD-recruited, and KGB-owned spies and ‘sleeper’ assets wiped out by those Soviet bombs that destroyed Greater London in October 1962. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali realised he had allowed his attention to waver. 
 
    Dom Mintoff was talking. 
 
    Not that the Egyptian Minister was overly worried he might have missed something important, or failed to divine a crucially subtle nuance because the Prime Minister elect of Malta rarely voiced either.  He was one of those little men who was only really interested in what he had to say, regardless of what his interlocutor might think or believe. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali held up a hand and smiled benignly. 
 
    “Of course, as I understand it, any treaty revision would, ultimately, require the signature of the President of the Republic, Lady Marija?” 
 
    Mintoff looked at him blankly for a moment. 
 
    “Her role is purely constitutional,” he said, unable to contain a suggestion of impatience.  “Whatever her advisers tell her.” 
 
    Boutros-Ghali tried not to frown. 
 
    Not for the first time, he wondered if the little man had actually read the carefully crafted constitution of his new nation.  His soon to be President – a worldly wise, much travelled woman far better versed in the intricacies of international relations than him – was surrounded by a tight clique of men and women who would, literally, die for her and likewise, most of them were a great deal worldlier than this jumped-up former labour union fixer and middle-ranking colonial administrator, who had egregiously spent much of the money granted to Malta for post-Second War reconstruction not on re-housing the homeless, or building essential infrastructure like roads, electricity grids, clean water systems and the like but on a handful of costly, high-profile public buildings most of which now housed organs of government, banks and hotels of little or no utility to the average Maltese citizen. 
 
    Looking around present-day Valletta and Floriana, many of these fine new edifices still stood surrounded by slums or bomb sites and the roads, even around the Grand Harbour were still pot-holed nightmares.  Understandably, the waft of corruption and the fingerprints of organised crime, home grown albeit a shadow of the model prevalent on nearby Sicily, lingered in the streets of the capital and around the Admiralty Dockyards. 
 
    The days when a substantial tithe of the ‘reconstruction’ and ‘development aide’ money automatically went into the pockets of half-a-dozen Maltese families were coming to an end.  The October War had seen to that, and latterly, the ascendency and the well-informed oversight of the ‘Lady Marija faction’ in the archipelago’s internal affairs.  The future was writ plain for all to see; although not it seemed, to the little man gabbling fresh nonsense at him.  Boutros-Ghali’s information was that American government, and philanthropic funders – like the Betancourt Foundation – and much of the promised British ‘support’ that would be spent ‘directly’ in Malta by US and other ‘overseas’ registered non-governmental organisations.  Shrinkingly few of the incoming dollars would ever ‘touch the political sides’ between donor and recipient; granted, graft was inevitable once monies passed into the broader Maltese economy but that in future would tend to happen after the object of the funding had received very nearly one hundred percent of the planned injections of hard currency.  In future, there would be no automatic rake-off among the ruling families, the major political parties, or to the labour bosses in the dockyards and if the donors uncovered fraudulent behaviour, the unspoken threat was that the money tap could, and probably would be turned off immediately. 
 
    Independence was a tricky thing; overnight, borders were created, new customs protocols instituted, financial regulations imposed and suddenly, a country was exposed to a level of scrutiny to which it was wholly unaccustomed.  Similarly, its political classes no longer had an external bad guy to blame for their own inadequacies and serial bungling.  Dom Mintoff was a man who had done a lot of bungling in his time in public office.  Not that his political foes, the Nationalists – still tarred by their venal association with Fascist Italy before the Second War, and conveniently decimated in April 1964 – had held themselves to a notably superior standard of probity and competence in the years before the war in 1962.  At least in respect of Mintoff’s counterpart, Ċensu Tabone, Boutros-Ghali was receiving good reports.  Tabone, it seemed, was under no illusion that he was in a position, or qualified, even had he been that callow, to attempt to ride the wave of goodwill Lady Marija had, pretty much single-handed, generated in the West in the last two years.  Unlike Mintoff, the ‘Good Doctor’ fully comprehended that because of her, Malta was embarking upon its independence solvent, virtually debt free, with its food and fuel supplies guaranteed in the coming years, with a phalanx of foreign philanthropists funding the building of new hospitals and schools, and an influx of US and British-trained doctors, nurses, teachers, engineers and academics to shore up the new republic’s crumbling public infrastructure and administration.  Whereas, elsewhere the British had upped sticks and departed, other former colonies with empty coffers robbed of the expatriate-funded ‘experts’ and ‘professionals’ who had actually been running the show; Malta commenced its independence in the kindest of circumstances. 
 
    It was no secret that none of that was Dom Mintoff or his ruling Labour Party’s doing; it had happened in spite of, not because of them.  Conveniently, the little man had forgotten that already. 
 
    “Forgive me, my friend,” Boutros-Ghali interjected gently.  “You will find that ministers who denigrate their leaders in the presence of outsiders, carry little credence with their listeners.  I must tell you that my President has the highest regard for Lady Marija, and looks forward to inviting her to visit Cairo in the near future as a gesture of the warm and fruitful relations he hopes to engender with the free peoples of Malta.” 
 
    Mintoff opened his mouth to object and thought better of it.  Fish-like, his lips opened and shut as if he was gasping for air, out of water, lost for words. 
 
    “I will look forward to visiting Cairo,” he said eventually. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali blinked at him. 
 
    Was the man deaf? 
 
    Heads of State dealt with other Heads of State, not their messenger boys. 
 
    The little man understood nothing! 
 
    “It will, of course,” he said, trying to veil his incredulity and knowing he was failing, “be a matter for Lady Marija if she feels it proper to be accompanied by a partisan subordinate political leader when she visits Egypt, Mister Mintoff.” 
 
    With this, Boutros-Ghali rose to his feet, signalling that the audience was over.  He planned to remain in Malta until Sunday, when he looked forward – with no little anticipation – to enjoying a breakfast meeting with President Calleja-Christopher.  It would be a relatively early morning affair, Lady Marija was due to attend three religious services that day: firstly, at the Catholic Cathedral in Mdina, secondly, at a Protestant church in Mostar, and later, after paying her respects to the Imam of the archipelago’s small Muslim community, thirdly, to attend Mass at St John’s Cathedral in Valletta. 
 
    From the outset she was to be the President of all the Maltese. 
 
    The Egyptian minister suspected that Dom Mintoff did not even know what that looked like.  It would be fascinating to see how long he remained upon the scene, he reflected as hands were shaken and thankfully, after another minute or so, he was alone again with his staffers. 
 
    He groaned a sigh. 
 
    “How on earth does that delightful woman put up with him?” 
 
    It was not unknown for him to vent his exasperation in mildly spoken rhetorical questions.  Usually, his aides left such questions unanswered, hanging in the air. 
 
    “I think she may well be a saint, sir,” one man offered ruefully. 
 
    Boutros-Ghali laughed. 
 
    “I think she’ll need to be in the coming years!” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 35 
 
      
 
    Thursday 26th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    74 nautical miles due west of Malta 
 
      
 
    Noel Haggard had called a conference around the plot, summoning his second-in-command, the boat’s youthful Torpedo Officer and the Courageous’s senior sonarman into the huddle.  The submarine’s captain made no attempt to keep the discussion ‘confidential’, ensuring that everybody in the control room could hear every word.  This would save a lot of unnecessary explanation later if urgent action was required.  Submariners were, as a breed, a profoundly pragmatic lot. 
 
    “Okay, gentlemen,” Haggard began.  “I haven’t a clue what my opposite number in the control room of that November class boat is up to.” 
 
    There was no profit in beating about the bush; he was baffled and frankly, he had every right to be.  Their Soviet friend had sidled back into range of the boat’s hydrophones and was presently, quietly for a Red Navy boat, pacing Courageous less than three miles off her starboard bow quarter. 
 
    “The fellow must have worked out that we don’t have complete freedom of manoeuvre because whatever he does we put ourselves between him and the Balvenie Castle.  So, I suppose the question is: What the Devil is he playing at remaining in contact when plainly, we can run rings around him and put a fish in his gills any time we want?” 
 
    Haggard posed this rhetorically before looking at the veteran sonarman. 
 
    Forty-four-year-old Chief Petty Officer Norm McGiven, an Ulsterman whose father and grandfather had spent their whole working lives working at Harland and Wolff, had been with Simon Collingwood on the Dreadnought’s first two patrols, and later worked as chief ‘sound man’ with Sandy Woodward on the Perisher course, before finding his way onto the Warspite for her controversial cruise in the South Atlantic in 1969. 
 
    “Mister McGiven?”  Haggard prompted. 
 
    Signals from Fleet Headquarters had offered him no insights, let alone guidance on how to proceed if the Soviet submarine continued to stalk Courageous or the merchantman she was still, nominally, escorting, albeit now some eighty miles ahead of the lumbering old Liberty Ship and her accompanying minesweeper. 
 
    The other man was silent for some seconds. 
 
    “He ought to have pinged us back, sir,” he said eventually. 
 
    That was the unwritten convention; what you did when you were discovered skulking around where you ought not to be.  It was submariner talk for ‘you’ve got me, well done,’ and a quasi-confirmation that you are not about to launch half-a-dozen fish. 
 
    “But,” McGiven grunted, “about then, and at times during the tail chase he was making a lot of unnecessary noise.” 
 
    Haggard had listened to sections of the sound recording, the other boat could not have been making a bigger racket if crew members had been hammering on the deck plates… 
 
    The four men looked at each other, each wondering if the same penny had just dropped. 
 
    There were four Russian-speakers on the boat. 
 
    “My apologies and compliments to Mister Troubridge,” Haggard grimaced.  He had only just sent the boat’s exhausted Navigator to his bunk after the younger man had been in the Control Room sixteen straight hours.  “But would he join us at his earliest convenience.” 
 
    Sam Troubridge was somewhat dishevelled when he stumbled into their midst.  By then Norm McGiven had called for a sound tape recorded the previous day. 
 
    The Pilot blinked. 
 
    Only the sonarmen on duty and the veteran petty officer had previously listened to the faint cacophony, distorted by its transmission through the water column with the volume set at maximum.  The disembodied clunking and clanking were background noise; sound travelled many miles under water, whales could allegedly call each other over hundreds of miles.  The trouble was you needed to know the code, and to understand each element of the soundscape.  Identifying propellor and machinery sounds was one thing, as to all the other echoes and possible mechanical reverberations, that was literally, another kettle of fish. 
 
    That was why Noel Haggard had ‘pinged’ the other boat. 
 
    That was unambiguous, especially at the frequency Courageous had used to target the Soviet submarine.  That ping must have sounded like gravel scratching across the pressure hull like a cat’s claws raking glass. 
 
    “Okay,” he sighed, “that’s a stretch, suspecting the Russians were trying to signal us.  Why didn’t they just ping us, Chief?” 
 
    This he put to Norm McGovern, who shrugged apologetically. 
 
    “Hang on,” Tim Dunbar-Naismith interjected quietly.  “How about this,” he prefaced, “what if their active sonar isn’t working, or there’s nobody on board who knows how to work the set?” 
 
    “Somebody’s on their hydrophones,” this from the Courageous’s boyish Torpedo Officer, a small, effervescent man of short, positively Nelsonic stature only eighteen months out of Dartmouth.  “And we know that whoever’s conning that November boat has enough about him to sit under the Balvenie Castle for five or six hours to get into the Med, sir.” 
 
    Sam Troubridge had worked out where this was going. 
 
    “I suggest we send drug ili vrag,” he suggested.  “Friend or foe.” 
 
    SSNs tended not to use their sophisticated sonar arrays to send morse code messages to other submarines.  Primarily, this was because everybody, all the way to the horizon and beyond, was liable to intercept and triangulate the position of the transmitting boat and that was never good. 
 
    “What do you think, Number One?”  Haggard put to his Executive officer. 
 
    “This is a damned peculiar situation, sir,” his second-in-command observed.  “But I think we need to find out what that fellow,” he gestured to port where, somewhere in the middle distance their shadow was pacing them, “is up to before we get much closer to Malta.  I imagine our signals must have already sounded a few alarms at Fleet Headquarters by now.” 
 
    He paused to make eye contacts around the circle of faces. 
 
    It was agreed. 
 
    “We’ll close the range to about a mile if ‘chummy’ lets us and come up to about a hundred feet.  At that point we’ll attempt to ping ‘friend or foe’ at him,” Noel Haggard decided, feeling better immediately. 
 
    No submariner liked an itch he could not scratch: in the old Second War days after a short time at sea that itch would have been a parasite or a skin infection, these days it was purely psychological, and perhaps, even more dangerous not to know exactly what was going on around one in the water column. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 36 
 
      
 
    San Anton Palace 
 
    Attard 
 
      
 
    Rosa Hannay had known her sister’s mask of sangfroid was a paper-thin mask as the big day approached.  Marija would get over it but right now she was struggling to hold herself together.  Of course, because it was Marija, little of this was visible to a casual, or even a keen observer from outside of her immediate family circle.  Marija might be the most serene person Rosa had ever met in her whole life but there were limits and right now, the weight of the world was literally bearing down on her shoulders and while everybody around her tried to take their personal share of the load, understandably as the pressure mounted she had been, for her, a little ‘snappy’ in recent days. 
 
    Not that anybody was taking this to heart.  Marija had confessed to Rosa that she was mortified to have taken out her gathering angst on ‘poor Peter’ several times in the last month.  In turn, Rosa had pointed out to her sister that her prince of a husband could ‘take it’, he had after all survived being shot at by the Russians and the Argentines, among others during the eight-and-a-half years of their marriage. 
 
    This had registered for a moment and instantly been blown away by the next wave of anxiety assailing the soon to be President of Malta.  It was as if the reality of her situation had, somehow, not really sunk in until now.  Much that in hindsight, her whole life might have been a carefully crafted preparation for coping with and discharging the duties she would assume at one minute past midnight in a lot less than sixteen hours, this knowledge was no defence against a new blizzard of self-doubt in the quickening rush towards that afternoon’s and evening’s Independence Galas in Floriana and Valletta, culminating in the declaration of Independence and the signing of the Instrument of Separation from the British Colonial Administration. 
 
    All things considered, Marija had every right to be a little at sea. 
 
    It was not stage fright, more mental exhaustion, Rosa guessed.  That was certainly Mary Griffin’s take on things.  Their sister had driven herself into the ground laying the foundations for her new nation; only once tonight was over and done with, could she catch her breath, rest and hopefully, be herself again. 
 
    “I will be fine,” Marija assured Rosa, her tone rather more matronly than it could ever have been a year ago.  “Peter will catch me if I fall!” 
 
    Rosa had to concede that this was probably true; he always had in the past. 
 
    “Sit down, drink your tea and be normal for five minutes,” Rosa retorted, proving that when provoked, perfectly capable of finding her own inner matron. 
 
    The two women scowled at each other. 
 
    They had not done that very often since their shared trial by fire in 1964.  However, when they had first been sisters-in-law and it had been abundantly clear that Rosa’s family – and possible Rosa herself – had come to the conclusion that she had married ‘beneath herself’ in wedding Marija’s elder brother, Samuel.  Ridiculously, the two women had not liked each other at all back then; how bizarre that seemed now? 
 
    Rosa rightly concluded that her sister needed a hug. 
 
    Marija fell shivering into her arms and she clung to her. 
 
    Mary had asked Rosa to ‘slow’ Marija down: ‘She’s getting a little manic and Peter’s not a lot better,’ their American sister had explained worriedly.  ‘Her bones are aching but she won’t admit it and she won’t take aspirin or codeine to take the edge of it!’ 
 
    That was never a good sign with Marija.  It was no use reminding her that when she was a teenager her doctors had warned her she might never walk again without crutches or steel leg braces, or that despite now being the mother of four young bambinos, not to put too pedantic a point on it she was ‘physically fragile some days’, and that she needed to pace herself. 
 
    Of course, she would have none of it. 
 
    That said, at the end of the reception at the Presidential Residence last night – Marija and Peter both loathed the appellation ‘palace’ – the moment the last of the guests had departed, the door had shut behind them and they were all just friends alone, Marija’s husband had picked her up in his arms and heedless of his wife’s protests, carried her back into the house and gently planted her on a chez longue to rest her obviously seriously ‘aching’ bones, thereupon sitting down next to her and firmly hanging onto her left hand to make sure she did not start a new round of limping perambulations, fretting about possible last-minute alterations to today’s schedule. 
 
    Rosa seriously doubted her sister had slept a wink last night. 
 
    Mary had taken the precaution of asking the Governor’s wife, Lady Florence Foot, to put a call through to the San Anton Palace that morning.  Marija and the older woman liked and respected each other and Lady Florence was one of those old-fashioned imperial wives who moved around in a personal bubble of serenity. 
 
    The call had helped, a little. 
 
    “I am being silly,” Marija confessed to her friend and Appointments Secretary; soon to be her official Chief of Staff, running the Office of the President of Malta. 
 
    “Yes,” Mary agreed wryly. 
 
    The women giggled and so did Rosa, except only with a sigh of relief as she rocked one-year-old Margo Constance Calleja-Christopher in her arms.  Only the family’s elder children, nearly eight-year-old Elisabetta and six-year-old Miles would be at the midnight declaration of independence. 
 
    Rosa’s job – for which she had happily volunteered - was to ‘mind’ the eldest Calleja-Christopher and her younger brother and infant siblings throughout this momentous day before handing over Elisabetta and Miles to their grandparents, with whom they would sit in places of honour behind the dais where Marija would be sworn in and as the midnight hour approached review the march past of British and Commonwealth troops, and a two-hour-long, inevitably cacophonous, joyful procession of men, women, boys and girls, tradesmen, fishermen, union men, housewives and a score of school bands and flag-waving children from every corner of the archipelago celebrating the new era beneath a night sky. 
 
    A night sky that would be filled with exploding fireworks with their starry tracery painting the heavens above the world’s newest democracy. 
 
    There would be more fireworks in every town and village on the archipelago, each community competing with its neighbour to put on the most spectacular, loudest and most explosive display. 
 
    Wisely, Marija and Peter had a pre-arranged signal; if she thought she was going to fall over or faint she would momentarily rest her left hand on her hip and he would, as unobtrusively as possible grab her and escort her to a chair which, miraculously, would be placed front and centre on that low dais. 
 
    Everything that could reasonably be foreseen had, it was hoped, been planned for and now all that the President elect had to do was to trust the people who loved her. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 37 
 
      
 
    HMS Eagle 
 
    Off Malta 
 
      
 
    Insofar as it was possible for a fifty thousand ton aircraft carrier to leave harbour like a wraith in the night with an absolute minimum of fanfare, the Eagle, escorted by the guided missile destroyer Norfolk had, with very little ceremony, raised steam and passed through the Grand Harbour breakwaters about thirty minutes before dawn that morning. 
 
    Desmond Cassidi, the carrier’s commanding officer and for the forthcoming deployment Flag Officer, Eagle Battle Group which was to be supplemented by as many as three US warships in the coming hours, had bidden farewell to David Penberthy, who having been obliged to stay behind in Malta had hurriedly shifted his flag to the Talavera, albeit leaving three-quarters of his operations staffers on the Eagle, for the duration of the Independence Day weekend. 
 
    ‘You know the drill, Desmond,’ the older man had half-smiled.  ‘Do what you think you have to do.  Hopefully, nobody will do anything stupid.’ 
 
    Penberthy had given him only general orders, caveating his directions with the statement ‘I have full confidence in you’ and ‘I take full responsibility for the outcome of OPERATION AYSHA.’ 
 
    The two men had chuckled about that name. 
 
    ‘Well, we ought to honour young Peter’s derring-do over there in the Lost Colonies, don’t you think?’ 
 
    ‘Not to mention his father’s favourite mistress!’  Cassidi had retorted. 
 
    Apparently, many years ago, the Fighting Admiral had confessed, to the then Prime Minister, that his yacht – the original Aysha – for whom all subsequent America’s Cup challengers had been and would be named, had been christened thus in memory of a certain Eurasian lady with whom he had been thoroughly infatuated during his spell in Singapore before the Second War. 
 
    Of course, by the time the carrier was easing past the quarter-mile long curving northern arm of the King Edward VII northern breakwater, eying its winking lighthouse, Desmond Cassidi had put that conversation aside and armed with copies of the Courageous’s communications with Fleet Headquarters in England, was entirely focused on the job in hand.  In other circumstances, he might have cavilled having to leave the Talavera and the Yarmouth, Leander class frigates with more than serviceable, fairly modern sonar equipment behind but…those two ships represented something priceless to the people of the archipelago and they had a different role to play in today’s drama whatever awaited Eagle and the Norfolk out to sea. 
 
    The Eagle had been scheduled to go to sea later that day and to fly off every serviceable airframe available to her Air Wing of (nominally) twelve McDonnel Douglas F-4 Phantoms, of 809 Naval Air Squadron, fourteen Blackburn Buccaneer S2s of 892 NAS, five Fairey Gannet turboprop electronic warfare aircraft of 849 NAS, seven anti-submarine Sea Kings of 824 NAS, and two Wessex search and rescue helicopters in a series of fly pasts and air displays over Valletta and Mdina.  Remarkably, ten Phantoms, eleven Buccaneers, three Gannets, four Sea Kings and miraculously, both Wessexes were actually airworthy according to the Air Wing Readiness Board, seemingly an excellent good omen for the ‘Independence Day Flight Exercise’. 
 
    Twenty-nine out of a possible forty airframes was by far the highest serviceability level the Eagle had achieved since her modernisation refit at Brooklyn in 1969. 
 
    However, of the planned program of flying operations, that afternoon’s and evening’s flying operations, separate fly pasts over the Grand Harbour and several hours later, just before dusk over the great parade ground with its banks of temporary seating at Floriana – forever afterwards to be known as Independence Square – were still, so far as Cassidi knew, to go ahead but the Eagle’s Gannets and Sea Kings had other work to do in the meantime, and if necessary, the carrier’s Phantoms and Buccaneers might yet be diverted to ensure that the seas around the archipelago were well and truly closed to unwelcome interlopers.  Specifically, two Soviet destroyers, one which had left Alexandria where it had been on a so-called goodwill visit, and the other from the Aegean, both of which had been racing towards Malta since yesterday afternoon. 
 
    The US Sixth Fleet had been ordered to stand off; something to do with the summitry between the Americans and the Soviets on Malta; but Her Majesty’s Government, having granted the archipelago its freedom, and guaranteed its security, fully intended to prevent the Red Navy causing an incident over the possible defection of one of its SSNs! 
 
    There was speculation that the number two man in Sverdlovsk, the formidable Deputy Chairman of the Communist Party of the USSR, Minister of Defence and Admiral of the Fleet Sergey Georgyevich Gorshkov, Chairman Shelepin’s faithful henchman for the last eight years, had taken particular umbrage at the possible mutiny and treachery of one of his handful of nuclear-boat crews and there was no reasoning with him.  That was the trouble with old Bolsheviks, Gorshkov was in his sixty-third year, a hero of the Battle for Leningrad in the Second War, and just about the last leading figure of the generation born before the Revolution in 1917. 
 
    Personally, Desmond Cassidi thought the notion that the crew of a Soviet submarine might defect en masse was fanciful, and as for it steaming all the way to the Central Mediterranean from its Arctic base that was well, frankly implausible.  However, nobody could be in any doubt that something decidedly odd was afoot. 
 
    Two Phantoms had been brought up on deck as soon as it was fully light; flown off to fly a combat air patrol (CAP) to the east while the ship’s CAG – Combat Air Commander – redrew the day’s flying schedule and the deck crews got on with the mechanics of their revised, much more complicated flight deck tasking.  It was going to be a very, very long day down in the Eagle’s double hangar and topsides on the flight deck, frantically busy. 
 
    While Cassidi had his doubts about rogue Soviet submarines, destroyers burning their bunkers empty and the threat of other, likely conventional Red Navy diesel-electric submarines trespassing in the waters hereabouts; today was a heaven-sent opportunity to stretch each and every sinew of his fighting squadrons, the seven hundred plus men who maintained and armed their aircraft and the near three-hundred strong deck crew who brought the fighting aircraft up from below, moved them around the flight deck, sent them on their way and recovered them night and day, fair weather or foul.  Now and in the coming days all restrictions on fuel consumption, flying hours and the raft of economy-motivated peacetime restrictions arbitrarily inflicted on his great command, had been rescinded and he fully intended to enjoy this unexpected breath of freedom. 
 
    The Eagle’s CAG had promised Cassidi a fifth sub-hunting Sea King would be ‘on the flight roster’ by that evening, rather optimistically he thought, given that one of the aircraft in question’s two Rolls-Royce H1400-2 Gnome turboshaft engines was presently in pieces on the hangar deck around it.  Notwithstanding, as the Eagle worked up speed, looking for the north easterly wind – the ‘gregale’ as the locals called it – to put another fifteen to twenty knots across her flight deck to allow her to launch her Phantoms and Buccaneers with full fuel tanks, and standard weapons loads, Desmond Cassidi was finding it hard to be pessimistic about anything.  These were the days one looked forward to throughout one’s career; days when one remembered exactly why one had always wanted to be a naval officer. 
 
    It was even better when one did not seriously believe anybody was going to be shooting at one.  This whole exercise seemed to him like a fool’s errand, something and nothing, and he was not ruling out the possibility it might turn out to be a cunning wheeze thought up by somebody on the Fleet Staff back in England to give the Eagle, the Royal Navy’s only, and possibly last, operational aircraft carrier a chance to demonstrate to the ‘peaceniks’ in the Labour Government exactly what she was capable of. 
 
    One of the carrier’s search and rescue Wessex IIIs had lifted off the stern and moved to pace the ship some fifty yards off her port side.  In the middle distance the Norfolk held station, her upperworks gleaming now and then as the low sun glinted.  If the weather got any worse the cruiser-sized County class destroyer would occasionally find herself shipping green water over her bow.  On land, the sky had been quiet, still before daybreak but out here, even less than thirty miles offshore, the moods of the sea were capricious and the scudding clouds threatened spits of rain.  In the Mediterranean a Navy man soon learned that weather could be very, very local.  Old Pacific hands talked about navigating between squalls in the tropics; granted, it was not quite that extreme in these latitudes, nonetheless, the forecast for Malta contained none of the spit of the gusting winds out in open water less than two hours steaming from the Grand Harbour breakwaters. 
 
    Flight Operations on the deck below the Compass Platform requested permission to commence ASW evolutions.  The Eagle’s Officer of the Watch stepped to the port side of the bridge, visually checking the flight deck, and, nodding to the Quartermaster Bridge Speaker said: “Carry on.” 
 
    Eagle was putting up three of her serviceable Sea Kings, planning to form a ‘dipping’ line some miles to the south and west, trailing their sonars through the water.  It was a good exercise as games of blind man’s bluff went; going through the motions while they waited for the next contact report, if it ever came, from the Courageous.  In the meantime, the Eagle and the Norfolk would by late afternoon stand some miles off the south eastern coast of Malta, flying CAPs, making the battle group’s presence felt as the bulk of her fixed-wing air group participated in the Independence Day flypasts over Floriana. 
 
    It was a moot point as to what Desmond Cassidi was supposed to do if 824 Squadron’s Sea Kings stumbled across unidentified submarine contacts in international waters.  Granted, it would be fair enough to warn it off with practice depth charges – underwater hand grenades - if the contact happened inside the twelve-mile limit, or in extremis, to force him to surface.  Otherwise, it was very hard to foresee any circumstances in which he would authorise the Fleet Air Arm to launch one of the 12.75-inch Mark 46 homing torpedoes carried by each Sea King; the world had moved on from the days when one launched first and asked questions later. 
 
    Or at least…he hoped it had. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 38 
 
      
 
    Verdala Palace 
 
    Malta 
 
      
 
    David Owen, Minister of State at the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, was beginning to feel as if he had been on Malta half his life.  The visit had been both highly instructive; and somewhat unnerving.  He felt a little bit like a schoolboy in a man’s world.  A week ago, he had thought he knew what he knew, specifically, what awaited him in the Mediterranean; now he was not so certain he had known anything about the real state of US-Soviet, British and Arab, or Middle Eastern relations.  He had certainly not appreciated that most Maltese firmly believed that if Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher attempted to walk on water it was even money she would succeed, and if her feet got wet then at least she would have tried her best, with a smile on her face. 
 
    He had been looking forward to the handover ceremony in Floriana that evening; and sometime over the weekend, quietly cadging a lift on an RAF flight back to Oxford where his wife was expecting their second child any day now.  Their two-year-old son, Anthony, had died in the influenza epidemic of the winter of 1969-70, adding poignancy and any amount of worry to this pregnancy. 
 
    The couple had met while Owen was studying medicine at Sidney Sussex College in Cambridge in the late 1950s, Francine, had been training to be a teacher.  Then, as often happens, they had gone their separate ways, not encountering each other again, coincidentally, accidentally, or perhaps it was just fate, until the summer of 1965, marrying a month later.  It had seemed the right thing to do and like so many couples, they had made the best of things, trying always to look forward to the better times everybody hoped would come.  He felt horribly guilty deserting Francine, a thing made all the worse because with Maltese independence pending, all the telephone lines back to England were pre-booked weeks in advance. 
 
    Granted, there were diplomatic and governmental channels but politicians caught abusing the system tended to get their comeuppance in a hurry these days; a legacy of the sleaze, incompetence and general malaise of the Du Cann years, courtesy of a corrupt and to be fair, utterly exhausted, National Conservative Party which had never come to terms with the brutality of their ‘great’ war leader’s death in Cheltenham. 
 
    True, by then they had already stabbed her in the back but the manner of her passing had in some, unholy way, kicked out the last remaining keystone of the party and the government which had probably, been the salvation of the country in the middle years of the last decade.  For a once great political party to drift, rudderless for two long, dispiriting years and then face virtual annihilation at a general election at the hands of an almost equally disunited and fragmented Labour Movement, had been doubly humiliating. 
 
    Come what may, he and Francine had agreed that the last thing they needed was for him to get involved in a scandal ‘throwing his weight around’ on Malta, or for there to be any suggestion that he was getting special treatment in private, rather than official affairs.  Nonetheless, it was maddening to be so far away at the very time his wife needed him the most. 
 
    Somehow, Lady Marija and Sir Peter had got wind of his wife’s imminent confinement.  She had inquired politely, empathetically at that dinner at the San Anton Palace, he had sympathised with his situation, knowing what it was like to be called away on duty, feeling like a complete cad being hundreds or thousands of miles away at such a time.  It was odd how sharing angst, even with people who were still strangers to him, helped lighten the load in some undefinable way. 
 
    Still, having awakened early that morning feeling just as guilty as the night before, David Owen had briefly been grateful to have his attention wholly seized by the urgent telegram handed to him at the breakfast table.  It had come in from Oxford overnight but only belatedly been de-crypted by an over-worked communications room in the basement of the palace. 
 
    The Governor had already read it. 
 
    “Food for thought, what?” 
 
    It seemed that one of Her Majesty’s Submarines was playing an underwater game of hide and seek with a ‘rogue’ Soviet boat in waters west of Malta.  The Russians had been shadowing a merchant vessel, the Balvenie Castle and a Royal Navy minesweeper making passage from Gibraltar, and when the submarine, the Courageous, had attempted to frighten off the other boat, some hours later it had re-appeared and bizarrely, attempted to transmit some kind of indecipherable signal, using random sonar ‘pings’, and hammerings on its own hull to attempt to communicate with her. 
 
    “I’m not terribly up on submarine tactics but this seems a little peculiar to me,” Owen confessed thoughtfully. 
 
    “Positively bizarre, according to David Penberthy!”  The Governor had retorted. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 39 
 
      
 
    Upper Barraka Gardens 
 
    Valletta 
 
      
 
    The Gorbachevs had arrived first, their somewhat wheezing black Zil rumbling over the narrow bridge into Valletta from Floriana, where they disembarked with relatively little fanfare adjacent to the ruined site of the old Opera House, and walked up the gentle slope to the south to enjoy again what everybody agreed was probably the ‘best view in the Mediterranean’, of the Grand Harbour in all its sunlit glory, seemingly filled with warships and merchantmen, every vessel flying colourful flags from every available halyard, jackstay, mast and rail.  The couple’s daughter skipped on ahead, like them, seduced by the unthreatening, welcoming atmosphere of Malta and its people.  Husband and wife suppressed grins of amusement as the dark-suited KGB security men from the legation scurried along in fifteen-year-old Irina Mikhailovna’s footsteps as if she was making a break for freedom to the West. 
 
    US Secretary of State Henry Kissinger and his entourage swept into Valletta a few minutes later, his bodyguards suspiciously eying the Gorbachevs as greetings were effected with handshakes and polite pleasantries as Raisa Gorbacheva stepped out of camera shot to join her daughter at the parapet above the recently reconstructed saluting platform to savour anew the view of the great harbour and the towns and anchorages on the opposite, southern side of the harbour. 
 
    The two leading men in the drama had business to conduct. 
 
    The heads of the United States’ and the New USSR’s diplomatic missions on Malta, had established themselves in two separate enclaves ahead of their leaders, now Soviet Ambassador, Oleg Alexandrovich Troyanovsky and his American counterpart, John Caruna joined the – remarkably relaxed huddle – braced to act as translators if required. 
 
    “Customarily, we would indulge in a ‘bidding war’, as I believe your great magnates call it, Doctor Kissinger,” Mikhail Gorbachev began, a ghost of a smile in his eyes, “but I think that there is something in the air on this island that quietens all our souls.  So, may I suggest we simply agree upon that which we can agree about, and perhaps, agree to differ on other, less tractable matters that are best deferred to a later date?” 
 
    Henry Kissinger was not by nature a man who believed in giving his enemies the benefit of the doubt.  However, there was something about the stocky, cheerful man in front of him which was unsettlingly disarming.  Most Soviet diplomats acted as if they would cut your throat the moment you turned your back on them; but this man, well, one sensed that was simply not the way he liked to do business. 
 
    Gorbachev was right, in the past great powers had competed to bribe newly independent countries to support or tolerate their presence on their soil, buying influence, deliberately setting out from day one to traduce and corrupt the new rulers of former colonies, seeking proxies and compliant clients.  There was plenty of scope for that here on Malta, that was undeniable but whether it was in either the United States’ or the Soviet Union’s interest to pursue such a strategy, was another question.  The Malta Accords had given them a place to meet, and fixtures in their realpolitik calendar where if they chose, they could ventilate their mutual angst against the other without resorting to violence.  In the context of the events of that dreadful weekend nearly a decade ago, the anniversary of which fell tomorrow, Malta was almost too good to be true. 
 
    “Where do we stand on the United Nations?”  Kissinger asked bluntly. 
 
    Mikhail Gorbachev shrugged, then gestured about them. 
 
    “The Soviet Union will never go back to the bad old days in New York, Mister Secretary.  Here is as good a place as any to build anew.  Do you not agree?” 
 
    Kissinger had his doubts even if his President did not. 
 
    Pragmatically, how exactly an archipelago the size of Malta could satisfactorily accommodate several thousand diplomats, staffers and their families remained a very, very moot point and the State Department had no intention of picking up the multi-million dollar tab for it.  He also had serious reservations about the way Congress would view such a project but in the final analysis that was the President’s problem, not his. 
 
    “This is my country’s provisional,” he hesitated, his gravelly baritone pitched so low as to be inaudible beyond the nearest members of the diplomatic huddle, “position on a new, permanent headquarters for the United Nations.  Further, it is my understanding that the non-aligned movement would be happy to short-list Malta for this honour.” 
 
    The truth was that if the United States funded a significant part of the project, it would happen.  The golden rule was, as they said, ‘the golden rule’, he who has the gold calls the tune.  This, and the fact nobody else could agree about any of the other candidates, Singapore, San Francisco where the peripatetic ‘new’ United Nations had been re-born, or a notional International ‘village’ built in the ruins of London or Peking, as potential hosts for the General Assembly, meant that none of them were viable contenders. 
 
    The peripatetic assemblies on the converted ocean liners of the travelling UN Flotilla had not been particularly onerous for the diplomats, albeit the novelty had worn off for staffers with families ashore, and as important, few ports were queuing up to bear the fast-inflating expense of hosting the ‘cruising’ fleet. 
 
    All in all, the United Nations needed a home, somewhere it and its attendant diplomatic community could put down roots and by a process of elimination, Malta was the least unacceptable option for a majority of the one hundred or so countries willing to give the ‘new’ UN, a chance to become the engine of peace and cooperation that the old one had never been. 
 
    Photographers flocked around the group, capturing the supposedly informal meeting, unaware that the delegations had been able to agree something as stunningly significant as the new home for the United Nations General Assembly, before the Independence Day jamboree took over the archipelago for the next week. 
 
    “The British have raised no objections,” Kissinger remarked, electing to gaze across the spellbinding vista of the finest natural harbour in the Mediterranean.  “They see it as a win-win scenario that is going to save them a lot of money that they don’t have.” 
 
    “If not the British, then who guarantees the security of these islands?” Gorbachev inquired, curious to discover if the other man interpreted this as a challenge. 
 
    “The United States,” Kissinger said, through clenched teeth. 
 
    Gorbachev smiled: “The Egyptians will have something to say about that?” 
 
    Both men knew they were dancing around a proverbial mulberry bush.  Realpolitik and the power of the US dollar were the keys to this particular debate which, in any event, would inevitably be revisited time and again in the coming decades. 
 
    “They have something to say about most things in this part of the world,” the US Secretary of State grunted irritably. 
 
    “Yes, they do, don’t they?” 
 
    “So,” Henry Kissinger sighed.  “We release Communique Two then?” 
 
    Their staffers had drawn up three communiques to bookend the US-Soviet meetings in the last week.  The first papered over summitry in which nothing substantial other than that the parties agreed to respect the CCEDMZ and planned to meet again in Malta one year hence. 
 
    The third document did not mention the United Nations and contented itself with noting the desirability of ‘confidence building’ measures and the continuation of an ‘ongoing dialogue’ between East and West. 
 
    The second communique was a longer statement which included the phrase: ‘both parties support in principle the establishment of a permanent United Nations bureaucracy and General Assembly on the Maltese archipelago and suggest that the inaugural session of the same should be hosted by the President of that country.’ 
 
    “Yes,” Gorbachev confirmed, extending his right hand to Kissinger. 
 
    The two men shook on the deal. 
 
    The Gorbachevs chatted lowly as their party unhurriedly returned to the cars on the other side of the Opera House ruins, not noticing when an aide trotted, sweating, up to Oleg Troyanovsky, and whispering breathlessly in his ear, passed him a note. 
 
    To his credit the Ambassador glanced at the crumpled sheet of paper and without breaking stride, waved away the red-faced apparatchik.  It was only as they came to the cars that he suggested to Mikhail Gorbachev: “Might I ride with you back to the legation, Comrade Minister.” 
 
    He dropped into the front passenger seat and waited for the husband, wife and their teenage daughter to settle in the rear of the Zil, and the doors to clunk shut. 
 
    “Start the engine,” he murmured to the driver.  Only then did he deliver his news.  Turning in his seat to face his boss he said: “One of our nuclear submarines, believed to be the K-14, one of only two operational vessels of its type and class operating out of the new underground base at Polyarny situated in the Kola Fjord, has been out of contact with Northern Fleet headquarters for twenty-one days.  It is suspected that its crew has mutinied and may be attempting to surrender to the Americans or the British.”  He paused, letting his words take effect.  “It is suspected that the K-14 is here, now, in the Mediterranean and may already be under the protection of the British Royal Navy.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 40 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    43 Miles West of Malta 
 
      
 
    “He said what?”  Noel Haggard frowned. 
 
    The submarine’s commanding officer was not alone in his irritation.  He was tip-toeing along the ragged edge of his patrol orders and about to metaphorically walk the plank in terms of his standard rules of engagement; and the latest response from the Russian November class boat was not helping! 
 
    “I think he meant podnimat'sya, sir,” Sam Troubridge, the Pilot, repeated apologetically, his face mirroring his captain’s perplexity.  “Which probably translates as ‘rise’.” 
 
    “The beggar wants to surface?”  Tim Dunbar-Naismith, Courageous’s Executive Officer speculated. 
 
    The painfully slow exchange of ‘pinged’ messages between the two boats had gone on, sporadically for about thirty minutes.  Either because nobody onboard the Soviet boat knew what they were doing, or her skipper was being deliberately obtuse, or perhaps, playing some other kind of game. 
 
    This latter possibility meant that Haggard had mentally had his finger on the trigger for some minutes. 
 
    “If we surfaced,” Sam Troubridge offered, “we could communicate via signal lamp?” 
 
    Noel Haggard had no intention of surfacing unless the other boat was already bobbing about in the swell with her engines stopped and her torpedo tube doors locked.  Even then, if the other boat threatened to point in his direction he was shooting first and asking questions later. 
 
    Literally, there were no rules for situations like this. 
 
    More to the point, assuming that the Red Navy had not ripped up its old play book, that November class boat was almost certainly carrying at least one nuclear-tipped fish; like the one that had started the October War ten years, damned nearly to the day and hour ago. 
 
    The three men’s cogitations were interrupted. 
 
    “BANDIT ONE HAS BLOWN HER MAIN BALLAST TANKS, SIR!” 
 
    The report from the sonar room was like a jolt of electricity, the shock momentarily jarring Haggard’s preconceptions about what might, or might not be going on. 
 
    “SHE’S BLOWN EVERYTHING SHE’S GOT!  SHE MUST BE RISING LIKE A CORK IN A BOTTLE, SIR!” 
 
    The Courageous’s commanding officer acknowledged the second, somewhat irregular report. 
 
    “Very good.” 
 
    A submarine customarily rose through the water column by incremental stages, then, at the surface, checked its surroundings with its periscope, listened some more and only when absolutely certain that it had the vicinity to itself, flushed, as quietly as possible, air into selected tanks to increase the vessel’s buoyancy so that it came up like a ghost, rather than a breaching whale.  The other fellow was doing the exact opposite; making a lot of noise and likely, coming up so fast the boat momentarily tried to get airborne as it broke surface. 
 
    Haggard still had no intention of surfacing. 
 
    “Give me a bearing, I want to have a look at this chap through the attack scope!” 
 
    “ONE-TWO-ZERO-ZERO YARDS!  RIGHT ZERO-EIGHT-FIVE DEGREES TRUE, SIR!” 
 
    In olden days submarine captains had to get down on their knees or stand tall as the periscope went up and down in the ocean swell.  That sort of thing had been done away with, nowadays, the business end of the periscope mast extended and descended in its well as he stood, only slightly hunched, pressing his brow against the sight rest, with lens magnification and vectoring controlled by what looked like old fashioned motor cycle ‘grips’, his right index finger poised over the film/photograph toggle. 
 
    He dialled up the magnification. 
 
    Checked the rangefinder. 
 
    And tried not to stare at the rusty sail of a November class Soviet SSN, suddenly brought so close he could almost touch it by dint of the precision optics of the work of art that was the modern submarine periscope. 
 
    He heard the control room team repeating the ranges and bearings, feeding them into the submarine’s weapons and navigation systems as he manipulated the scope.  He started a film recording as he held the Russian submarine in the scope’s crosshairs. 
 
    A lamp blinked frenetically at the top of the other boat’s rounded sail, where he could just make out blurry shapes, men, other submariners like himself. 
 
    “Pilot, take the main scope,” Haggard ordered tersely.  “Tell me what the blighters are trying to signal to us!” 
 
    That was when it got even more unreal. 
 
    Or rather…surreal. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 41 
 
      
 
    San Anton Palace 
 
    Attard 
 
      
 
    Peter Christopher had been scheduled to return to Attard early that afternoon, he and his wife’s diaries coalescing at around two o’clock and remaining synchronised for the next forty-eight hours, he, rightly being at her side throughout the Independence ceremonies and the celebrations until, at the beginning of next week he resumed his ‘skippering’ duties, entertaining foreign dignitaries and leading citizens of the new republic as the party gradually wound down and a new, ‘independent’ reality began to assert itself across the archipelago. 
 
    It happened that his car ground to a halt virtually in the tracks of the Governor’s Bentley, from which David Owen, the visiting Minister of State from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office was just emerging. 
 
    “Sir Peter.” 
 
    “Minister.” 
 
    Not expecting to encounter each other until later that evening, neither man was entirely sure what to make of finding themselves face to face. 
 
    “What brings you to Attard, sir?”  Peter asked affably. 
 
    The other man pursed his lips, and flicked his eyes towards the front door, in which a staffer, seeing activity outside now stood. 
 
    “I’m damned if I know, David Penberthy will be here in a few minutes, as will the Soviet Ambassador…” 
 
    Peter raised an eyebrow. 
 
    Had he not still been - strictly speaking – a serving naval officer, he might have been tempted to ask more questions.  He refrained from so doing; he would soon find out what had gone wrong, nobody ever called meetings at short notice and ‘on the hoof’ if everything was going well. 
 
    “They won’t tell me what’s going on!”  Marija complained, taking her husband to one side after she had greeted her unexpected visitors.  “Mary is having to re-schedule everything this afternoon!” 
 
    Peter knew his wife’s Chief of Staff would not be a happy bunny.  There was not a lot of scope for changing anything on this, of all days.  He was accompanying Marija to Valletta at five o’clock and from then on, the next couple of days were set in stone; a procession of receptions, official meetings, the Independence Day ceremony that evening in Floriana, church services, children’s events, flypasts, et al, fortunately Mary Griffin had the diary otherwise they would be utterly lost. 
 
    Whatever was going to be discussed, or happen, was going to have to be decided in the next two hours. 
 
    “Sir Hugh phoned,” Marija explained. 
 
    Peter did not ask why the Governor of Malta, albeit for less than half-a-day now, was not here given the personages he already knew to be present or on their way to Attard. 
 
    “He was very apologetic but he said ‘the parties’ needed somewhere private to talk.  There is some sort of ‘security’ issue that nobody wants to talk about,” his wife went on, trying valiantly not to be exasperated, “on ‘partisan’ ground!” 
 
    Peter was silent. 
 
    “Hugh says if he left the Verdala Palace too many tongues would wag!”  He was informed.  When her husband continued to ruminate she briefly lost her composure: “It’s ridiculous!”  This latter she blurted in Maltese. 
 
    “Quite so, wife,” Peter agreed.  “Why do they want me here?” 
 
    Marija blinked at him. 
 
    She had not thought about that. 
 
    Now she was suddenly worried. 
 
    “Peter…” 
 
    Quickly, he shook his head. 
 
    “No, no, it wouldn’t be anything like that,” he reassured her.  Nobody was sending him out to sea in the Number Two Boat to stop a new invasion fleet.  “I suspect it is more like making sure that there is an additional layer of diplomatic cover for whatever is going on, that’s all.  This is the last day HMG can do that to us, my love.” 
 
    The Soviet Ambassador’s arrival cut short further debate. 
 
    “Oh dear, you look a little glum Oleg Alexandrovich,” Peter observed ruefully, as he shook Oleg Troyanovsky’s hand. 
 
    “Thank God you are here!”  The Russian grimaced. 
 
    Peter did not think that sounded very good, and from his wife’s expression, neither did she.  He smiled askance of the other man. 
 
    “You must make them do what must be done!”  The Russian implored him. 
 
    Overhearing this, David Owen visibly blanched. 
 
    His namesake, Flag Officer, Malta, David Penberthy’s appearance, looking unusually preoccupied a few minutes later seemed, apparently, to complete the cast of characters. 
 
    “Lady Marija, I would be obliged if you and Peter would join Mister Owen, Ambassador Troyanovsky and I.  Our business will not take long to resolve but I suspect all parties will welcome the presence of independent witnesses.”  
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 42 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
      
 
    The message was garbled but nonetheless the gist of what the men on the Soviet submarine were attempting to communicate – sincerely or otherwise, and Noel Haggard wanted to believe the former – soon became apparent. 
 
    Submarine K-14…  Mutiny…  Original mission…sink Balvenie Castle in the entrance to the Grand Harbour…  Boat now commanded…by its navigation officer… 
 
    But that was not the best, or the most incredible thing. 
 
    Political asylum… 
 
    We surrender to you! 
 
    Haggard had recorded the Soviet morse-coded messages blinking on film for posterity and Sam Troubridge, who had acknowledged the K-14’s signals employing the main periscope’s own ‘blinker’, was as confident as he could be – in the circumstances – of the translation.  Meanwhile, the other boat was still lolling in the three-feet swells as from the west, the distant grinding of the Balvenie Castle’s ancient reciprocating engine grew louder in the ears of the men listening to the Courageous’s hydrophones. 
 
    Haggard had called for the boat’s Communications Officer. 
 
    “Most Secret and Immediate, C-in-C Fleet and Flag Officer, Submarines, copy to USCINCFLTMED.  Append time stamp and position.  I am in contact with a surfaced November class Soviet boat whose crew have indicated…” 
 
    He tried to keep the signal short, sweet and very much to the point but it was a challenge, and he was in a crashing hurry.  The Eagle Battle Group was exercising somewhere to the east of Malta, her helicopters would be dipping their sonars into the water and for all he knew her fast jets could be overhead within minutes.  This thing was a nightmare already and one did not need to be a rocket scientist to work out that there was a real and present danger of somebody making a catastrophic blunder, a-la October 1962.  There was a reason why no British SSN carried arc-light capable munitions; it was an accident waiting to happen and these days nobody wanted to unnecessarily risk inadvertently tripping another doomsday switch. 
 
    “Code that as fast as you can and get it off.” 
 
    He had hesitated a moment before including the C-in-C US Sixth Fleet in the circulation list but actually, not talking to the Americans was not really an option.  The Mediterranean was their sea these days. 
 
    Haggard went back to the attack scope. 
 
    The other submarine was riding relatively high in the water, deceptively a little bow high but that, he guessed, was just an illusion, or something about the underwater configuration of the Novembers.  The waves were not breaking across her casing forward of her sail. 
 
    “Sam,” he said, coming to a decision.  “I want to see the K-14’s crew on the forward casing.  They can leave a skeleton engine and control room crew down below but I want to see everybody else topsides.” 
 
    Now, he thought to himself, we will discover how seriously the Russians want to play ball! 
 
    Haggard began to get twitchy, very twitchy after about ten minutes of what seemed like inconclusive, halting signalling as the Courageous circled less than a mile off the K-14’s port side.  He contained his mounting angst, hoping he was making a masterful job of concealing his roiling emotions. 
 
    “I think they’ve finally got the message, sir,” Sam Troubridge reported, who was clearly finding the ongoing drama as enervating as his commanding officer.  The difference was that he could afford to let his impatience and vexation show, albeit just a little, a stiff upper lip permitted of no more.  “I get the impression they are having enough trouble keeping that scow of theirs afloat with everybody working overtime!” 
 
    Haggard shrugged. 
 
    Whoever was in command of the K-14 had pulled a number of middlingly ‘nifty’ stunts in the last few days; so, whatever his manning and operational difficulties, they were obviously not insurmountable.  That said, for all he knew the Soviet boat was being run by committee, and that never worked at sea. 
 
    “There are men on the casing, sir!” 
 
    Haggard cranked up the magnification on the attack periscope. 
 
    Men were indeed clambering out into the daylight from what he assumed was the torpedo room hatch, and from another at the base of the sail. 
 
    “Bloody hell,” he muttered under his breath. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 43 
 
      
 
    Churchill House 
 
    Headington Quarry 
 
    Oxford 
 
      
 
    It was the third time that Peter Shore had spoken to President Brenckmann in the last twenty-four hours. 
 
    The opening pleasantries concluded, he tried to shut out the psychological background noise and to ignore the presence of his senior military officers in the Cabinet Room.  As to his own coterie of ministerial colleagues, well, he knew he was alone.  If this went wrong they would be queuing up to plunge the first knife into his back.  That was politics, he understood that, whereas issues of war and diplomacy were not his stamping grounds; there were no clear dividing lines, rules that mattered, standards that applied other than self-preservation and morally, he felt as if he was moving blindly through a vacuum. 
 
    “Ten years ago, a US destroyer captain pushed a Soviet submarine captain too far,” Walter Brenckmann said gravely, his voice terse over the surprisingly clean, clear transatlantic line.  From where he sat, at the same Resolute Desk from which John F. Kennedy had ordered an all-out thermonuclear strike on the Soviet Union and its Warsaw Pact allies on that fateful night in late October 1962, surrounded by his closest military and political advisors, he was under no illusion that the world had stumbled upon another, dangerous crossroads.  However, there was no hesitation, no underlying doubt or lack of conviction in his words.  “That didn’t work out so well for any of us.  I will not let that happen again, Mister Shore.” 
 
    “It cannot be allowed to happen again,” the British Prime Minister agreed, beset by stultifying waves of deep, despairing weariness. 
 
    Peter Shore inadvertently made eye contact with the First Sea Lord, recently returned from Washington.  Grim-faced, Sir Henry Leach smiled the tightest, of tight-lipped smiles at him knowing better than any other man in the room that right now, his Prime Minister needed every ounce of support he could get. 
 
    “I believe,” Walter Brenckmann asserted, “that in the Malta Accords, the reconstitution of the United Nations, the fact on the ground of the Central European De-militarised Zone, and the possibility of initiating a genuine dialogue with the Sverdlovsk Kremlin, that we may have made a start to repairing some, a little anyway, of the damage done by the October War.  We cannot allow the chance to cement a meaningful post-war settlement, literally peace in our time, to slip through our fingers.  I think that you and I are of one mind on this, Mister Shore?” 
 
    The Prime Minister hesitated. 
 
    He did not allow himself to look around the room, or to risk making new eye contacts. 
 
    The talking was over. 
 
    Nevertheless, the US President spelled it out: “Unless those Red Navy destroyers heading for Malta are turned back in the next few hours, contact with Allied forces in the Central Mediterranean might be unavoidable.” 
 
    Peter Shore had initially regarded the story coming out of Washington; specifically, that the K-14 had been launched on a suicide mission against Malta by dissidents who had mounted a coup against the authorities in the vast northern Arkhangelsk Oblast of the new USSR, with no little scepticism.  It seemed too incredible; dissidents, had seized the surviving remnants of the once mighty Northern Fleet and were intent on creating a new, independent Soviet Republic. 
 
    And so on… 
 
    It all sounded if not fanciful, then very speculative based on no evidence that anybody had seen fit to share with any of the intelligence organs that he, as Prime Minister of the United Kingdom had access to.  Even Airey Neave, the Lady’s legendary spymaster, thought it sounded like ‘a farrago of half-truths and suppositions’.  Not that he discounted it all, if only because: ‘nothing surprises me these days!’ 
 
    Peter Shore collected his thoughts. 
 
    “You will understand that I am in something of a quandary, Mister President,” he declared, sitting straighter in his chair.  “I have heard several different accounts, or more accurately, suggestions as to what is actually going on in the Mediterranean at the moment.  Frankly, I am not convinced that I have got to the bottom of what the role of the Royal Navy has been in this affair; clearly, HMS Courageous is not where she is now by accident.  As to whether the K-14 may or may not be carrying nuclear-tipped torpedoes is, to say the least, an open question.  Forgive me if I seem hesitant, perhaps indecisive.  I have never sent men to war and, I confess, every sinew in my body rebels against doing it now.” 
 
    He paused, switched the handset from his left hand to his right.  He had been holding the phone so hard his arm had cramped.  Men in another room would be recording the call, and listening in but he had taken the phone off ‘speaker’ mode in the Cabinet Room, much to the frustration of his audience.  They had given him half-a-dozen kinds of advice, baffled him with contradictory options and right now, he desperately needed clarity. 
 
    “This is very simple, Prime Minister,” Walter Brenckmann said, almost with a sigh, “if the price of avoiding another war with the Russians is the obliteration of Malta; that would be a price I am willing to pay.  The good of the many outweighs the good of the few.  I don’t pretend that justifies anything but none of the choices you or I get to make are the choices we would want to make in an ideal world.  The world is as it is.  However, I cannot, I will not order American forces in the Mediterranean to interdict, or to attack that submarine.  I will not risk all that has been achieved in the last ten years over the lives of a few Red Navy officers and men, or even the lives of tens of thousands of innocents on Malta.  The Sixth Fleet will stand aside until this thing is over, one way or another.  As to what you decide you must do; that, sir, is a matter for your own conscience.” 
 
    Peter Shore had not anticipated this.  Normally, a loquacious and effortlessly eloquent, elegant speaker in private conversation or on a public stage, he found himself lost for words as his thoughts looped in his head.  Into the silence he imagined he heard a grunt or a grumble of amusement at the other end of the line. 
 
    “I guess your people told you I was going to strong-arm you?”  Walter Brenckmann put to him.  “Do what Ike did to Anthony Eden in 1956 over Suez?  Ike and Eden knew each other from the Second War of course, they were friends of a kind but that doesn’t count when you do the top job.  But no, whatever you’ve heard about my, and my predecessors relations with your predecessors, that Suez thing was a one-off.  Ike knew Eden had lost it, that he wasn’t thinking straight.  You and the French had already lost that damned canal and because you hadn’t accepted it, we lost the chance to save Hungary from a thousand kinds of Hell.  The October War started in Budapest in October 1956, it came several steps closer in 1961 when the Berlin Wall went up.  Cuba was just the straw that broke the camel’s back.  So, no, I’m not going to give you any kind of ultimatum.  Call me old-fashioned, but I’ve learned that the best thing to do is: when in doubt, trust good people to do the right thing.” 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 44 
 
      
 
    San Anton Palace 
 
    Attard 
 
      
 
    Given that Marija had just been informed that a pirate Soviet submarine might be on its way to blow up Malta on the very day of its long-awaited independence; she was outwardly remarkably calm and collected. 
 
    The Soviet Ambassador had insisted that the rogue submarine should be immediately handed over to the Red Navy flotilla presently steaming at maximum, bunker-emptying speed, for the archipelago. 
 
    Whereupon, the President elect’s husband had politely pointed out the practical obstacles to arresting a nuclear submarine at sea to Oleg Troyanovsky, and indicated to him that it was in nobody’s interest to allow it to get anywhere near Malta. 
 
    ‘The First Sea Lord has recommended that we sink that submarine forthwith,’ David Penberthy had reported.  ‘I agree with him.  As to the other Soviet vessels making for the central Mediterranean, whether above or below the waves, they should turn around as soon as possible to avoid an inadvertent ‘interaction’ with the ships and the aircraft of the Eagle Battle Group.’ 
 
    Ultimately, the decision as to what to do next would have to come from Oxford. 
 
    And Sverdlovsk… 
 
    ‘Until midnight,’ Marija had reminded the parties.  This she had put to David Owen, presently the Minister responsible, and subsequently, in a telephone call to the outgoing Governor, Sir Hugh Foot.  “From one second after midnight British and Commonwealth, any armed forces on this island will be responsible to me for their actions.’ 
 
    The angry intensity of her manner had rather shocked her visitors. 
 
    Then, she had dismissed her visitors. 
 
    She had an Independence Day ceremony to prepare for! 
 
    “How can you be so calm?”  She demanded of her husband as he joined her in their rooms to don their finery, she one of the special gowns, a red bodice over a pale pink dress worn under a modern, lightweight version of the traditional Faldetta, a hooded cloak unique to the archipelago. 
 
    Knowing she would be surrounded by military men in their whites and countless Maltese men and their wives in drab suits and frocks, Marija planned to stand out in the crowd in every possible way. 
 
    Carmelo Boffa, long since fully recovered from the wounds he suffered in the South Atlantic, her husband’s devoted valet when he was not supervising the kitchens of the San Anton residence, had already laid out Peter’s uniform – ceremonial day dress with his sword, his father’s – ready for him. 
 
    Peter thought about his wife’s question. 
 
    He stepped closer, even though he knew that right now Marija was too upset to be hugged. 
 
    “I am calm because I know that the Navy is taking care of us,” he said.  “And,” he added philosophically, “there’s absolutely nothing we can do about this particular FUBAR.” 
 
    Marija frowned. 
 
    She really wanted to scowl but she had never mastered the mechanics of it. 
 
    “FUBAR!” 
 
    She knew exactly what the acronym famously, and frequently deployed by Curtis LeMay meant.  Personally, she did not believe that anything in life was Fucked Up Beyond All Repair; you could always do something.  But then she had been shot at marginally less times than her husband, so she was not about to debate the semantics of the proposition. 
 
    Another time, perhaps… 
 
    “So, what?  We just carry on as normal?”  She inquired. 
 
    Her husband smiled wanly. 
 
    “This is normal?”  He retorted gently, spreading his arms as he glanced sidelong at her gowns and his uniforms hanging about them and the scabbarded sword lying on the bed.  “Madam President?” 
 
    Somewhere in the near distance they could hear Elisabetta rushing around the house, and possibly the shrieks of delight of their son, Miles and no doubt, other of their first born’s little playmates wreaking havoc while the grown-ups were contemplating the worst as they prepared for the great Independence Day jamboree which would officially kick-off in just a couple of hours from now. 
 
    “I have to have my hair done,” Marija declared. 
 
    Peter reached out, touched her arm. 
 
    Their eyes met. 
 
    “It’ll be okay.  Trust me, it’ll be okay.” 
 
    His wife’s frown softened, she stepped close, patted his chest with her left hand and leaning into him, rested her cheek on his shoulder.  Just for a moment, her hairdressers were waiting in the adjacent first floor annexe.  Sometimes, just sometimes, the world had to be left to get on with its business by itself. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 45 
 
      
 
    HMS Eagle 
 
    33 miles south east of Malta 
 
      
 
    Desmond Cassidi had summoned the Eagle’s Executive Officer and Combat Air Group Commander to his cabin and handed them the communication he had received from Fleet Headquarters fifteen minutes ago. 
 
    “Signals was as taken aback by this as you now are,” he observed ruefully.  The Most Secret and Immediate coding of the operational ‘re-tasking’ orders had meant that the carrier’s Communications Officer had had to decrypt it personally in a locked compartment before running to deliver the same to Cassidi.  “My interpretation is to be ready to launch aircraft and sink that sub at thirty minutes’ notice.” 
 
    “That’s going to be problematic if Courageous is still in close contact with it, sir,” the Eagle’s CAG observed. 
 
    “Yes,” Cassidi agreed tersely. 
 
    They were all old hands; they could read between the lines.  Eagle was the Admiralty’s backstop.  The K-14 was not to be permitted, under any circumstances to approach closer than twenty-five nautical miles to any point of the Maltese Archipelago.  If it did, the Battle Group’s rules of engagement became ‘shoot on sight’, or in this case, to drop a clutch of homing torpedoes in the waters around the Soviet submarine. 
 
    Presently, Courageous was ‘marking’ the K-14 west of Malta, some eighty miles away. 
 
    As to the approach of two Red Navy destroyers and – possibly - a small, unspecified number of conventional hostile diesel-electric submarines, Eagle was directed to ‘ensure they do not infringe territorial or such waters deemed to be within a two hundred mile diameter exclusion zone centred on Valletta. 
 
    This latter directive would have irritated Desmond Cassidi in any other circumstances.  The US Sixth Fleet would have been hard pressed to blockade and sanitise the thousands of square miles of ocean to the east; so, how he was supposed to do it with just one carrier and a single – granted, very lethal – guided missile destroyer, the Norfolk, was beyond his ken. 
 
    However, he got the message; his Phantoms and Buccaneers were authorised to take out those destroyers if they got too close to Malta.  As to the Soviet submarines, that was another conundrum.  He only had sufficient serviceable Sea Kings to ‘cordon off’ the K-14 but not to police the great expanse of the eastern approaches to Malta; and the potentially hostile rogue SSN was the ‘main thing’. 
 
    “Okay,” he decided.  “Bring back our Sea Kings, refuel them, re-brief their crews.  I’ll write up revised rules of engagement.”  A glance at the chronometer above the hatch.  “We’ll go to Air Defence Stations One in ten minutes.” 
 
    “What about the fly past over the Grand Harbour, sir?” The carrier’s CAG inquired. 
 
    The planned flypast, timed to occur just before dusk that evening, having been initially conceived as a spectacular involving practically every available airframe had been scaled down that morning to six Phantoms and six Buccaneers. 
 
    “That goes ahead,” Cassidi decided.  Most of the aircraft were already parked on deck, their crews prepped.  “We’ll bring all our birds back on board after dark, top off their tanks and put them on sixty-minute readiness.” 
 
    It would never do to give the impression that the small RAF flight of seven antiquated Sea Vixens and Scimitar sub-sonic fighters still based at Luqa had totally taken over from the Senior Service. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 46 
 
      
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
      
 
    Noel Haggard toggled the IRV - Infra-Red Vision – switch on the attack periscope.  Had he been standing on top of the periscope he would have been able to see nothing but the heaving black loom of the nearest swell; through the advanced optics there was just enough moon and starlight to enable the IRV to paint the seascape almost but not quite as if it was daylight.  He could see men hunched on the casing of the K-14, roped together, most of the figures too insubstantial to have been wearing cumbersome Soviet life-preservers. 
 
    Around midnight, the Tarlton and the Balvenie Castle would be within short-range VHF TBS – Talk Between Ships – range.  He had planned to order Tarlton to divert to pick up the ‘poor sods’ who would, by then, probably be wet to the skin and veritably freezing their balls off. 
 
    But that was not going to happen now. 
 
    Around him the mood in the control room was quiet, sombre.  Nobody was taking pleasure in their work.  Especially not Sam Troubridge, whose job it was to send a reassuring blinked message to the drifting K-14. 
 
    “WE ARE AWAITING ORDERS!  A SHIP IS COMING TO OFFLOAD YOUR CREW AROUND MIDNIGHT!” 
 
    All lies, of course. 
 
    There was hard intelligence that the Soviet submarine was on a clandestine ‘arc light’ operation under the direction of the so-called People’s Soviet of the North, believed to be one of several surviving branches of the infamous Red Dawn ‘apparat’.  K-14 was crewed by fanatics bent on revenge who would stop at nothing to complete their mission, believed to be to explode at least one, perhaps two or more ‘large’ nuclear devices in or as close as possible to Malta’s Grand Harbour. 
 
    “THE LAUNCH BOARD IS GREEN, SIR!” 
 
    The doors of Tubes One and Three were open and respectively, within them a Mark 23 homing fish and a heavyweight Mark VIII ship-killer were live, spooled up ready to launch. 
 
    Haggard had slowly opened the range to eleven hundred yards in the last thirty minutes and orientated the Courageous almost bow on to the port stern quarter of the Soviet submarine.  Two more torpedoes were ready in Tubes Two and Four if needed and the engine room primed to pile on the revolutions if by some extraordinarily remote chance the K-14 had somehow managed to ready a retaliatory homing fish of her own if her skipper belatedly smelled a rat.  Another, bad, very bad stray thought was that the moment Courageous’s first launch was detected the Soviet boat might light up its payload of nuclear warheads… 
 
    But the captain of the Courageous did not dwell on this particular thought.  It fell into the category of ‘nothing I can do about it’, so it was not worth wasting time worrying about it. 
 
    “IT IS FULLY DARK TOPSIDES, SIR,” Sam Troubridge reported quietly. 
 
    To be precise, given that it was some forty-five minutes after nautical sunset, it had been ‘night’ for some minutes. 
 
    “Very good,” Noel Haggard acknowledged. 
 
    He looked to the Torpedo Officer. 
 
    “You may execute Fire Plan Alpha.  Proceed, if you please.” 
 
    First away was the Mark 23 in Tube Three. 
 
    The boat barely trembled as it was expelled from the tube, the compressed air charge instantly swallowed within the tube as it exited. 
 
    The clock started to run. 
 
    The seconds were called from the Torpedo Panel. 
 
    ONE…TWO…THREE…FOUR…FIVE…SIX…SEVEN… 
 
    “NUMBER ONE NOMINAL ACROSS THE BOARD!”  Confirmed the Torpedo Officer, who took a breath and ordered: “LAUNCH THREE!” 
 
    “NUMBER THREE RUNNING TRUE!” 
 
    The hydrophone operator chimed: “NO RETALIATORY LAUNCH!  TARGET REMAINS SILENT!  NO MACHINERY NOISE…” 
 
    It took forty-four seconds for the Mark VIII to cross the distance to the K-14, thereafter the slower Mark 23 homed in on the broken carcass of the Soviet SSN. 
 
    The sickening sounds of the other submarine breaking up as it fell into the abyssal depths beneath Courageous’s keel could be heard, distantly throughout the boat as she tumbled to her grave far, far below. 
 
    It was cold-blooded murder. 
 
    Or a job well done in the name of saving thousands of lives and preserving the fragile global peace of recent years. 
 
    Only history would tell which clause applied. 
 
    “Send to C-in-C Fleet and Flag Officer, Submarines: K-14 destroyed stop.  append sinking position stop.  after action report to follow.  message ends.” 
 
    This said, he turned to his second-in-command. 
 
    “You have the con, Number One.” 
 
    “I have the con, sir,” Tim Dunbar-Naismith acknowledged. 
 
    “Take us deep, if you please.  Five hundred feet.  Make revolutions for twenty knots and take us back to a position from where we can shadow the Balvenie Castle and the Tarlton overnight.” 
 
    There would probably be a handful of survivors in the water, freezing, drowning in the cold autumnal waters of the Mediterranean but Noel Haggard’s orders specifically forbade him ‘endangering his command’ by surfacing to assist the men now dying in the night less than a mile away. 
 
    Noel Haggard left the control room to return to his cabin. 
 
    He had a report to write; any conversation with his conscience would have to wait for later. 
 
    

  

 
   
    Chapter 47 
 
      
 
    Friday 27th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    Independence Square 
 
    Floriana, Malta 
 
      
 
    Marija’s hand shook a little as she took the pen from Sir Hugh Foot and with a glance up to her husband, duly reassured, she appended her signature to the formal Instrument of Separation from the Old Country. 
 
    By then, it was two minutes after midnight and the fireworks were already bursting over Valletta, Floriana, the Grand Harbour and above a score of other cities, towns and villages from Birżebbuġa in the south to Victoria on Gozo in the north.  The sky was full of star bursts and cascading rainbows of glittering, whirling fire. 
 
    The outgoing imperial pro-consul bowed. 
 
    “Congratulations, Madam President,” Sir Hugh said, a paternal smile playing on his lips as his wife, Lady Florence stepped forward and in a very un-British gesture, hugged Marija and then her husband. 
 
    “Good luck,” was all she said, with tears in her eyes. 
 
    Behind the new First Couple of the world’s youngest republic, Malta’s Prime Minister, Dom Mintoff visible preened, suddenly six inches taller and clearly feeling even more mightily important than he usually did.  At his shoulder, his Nationalist counterpart, Ċensu Tabone was simply enjoying the moment and if he was glowing with self-satisfaction, it was mostly out of pride for his country and the young woman he had known all his life in whose hands all their fates now lay. 
 
    Marija had turned to shake her Prime Minister’s hand on the crowded dais set apart from the main stand, the better for everybody in the brilliantly floodlit square to view the proceedings and to spy the leading participants. 
 
    To the Dom’s surprise and consternation, his President embraced him. 
 
    “This is a great day for us all,” Marija half-laughed in his ear.  “The future is what we make of it, Prime Minister.” 
 
    Mintoff had no idea what to say; a first for him. 
 
    Eventually, he mumbled: “Yes, My Lady…” 
 
    Marija had moved on into a clinch with his rival and Mintoff discovered his hand suddenly grasped in the iron-hard, dry grip of the President’s husband, who seemed to tower so high above him that he suspected he was about to get a crick in his neck meeting his gaze. 
 
    Dom Mintoff had not expected the day to rush by in an insane blur; somehow, he had imagined that there would be ample opportunity to pause, to bask in the reflected glory of the occasion as events unfolded and the people of the archipelago paraded, marched, sang and chanted as they waved the republic’s new flag and that…he would be the object of…so little attention. 
 
    He was surplus to…requirements. 
 
    Anonymous… 
 
    And yet, as Lady Marija Calleja-Christopher stepped up to the wall of microphones to address her people, the first Prime Minister of an independent Maltese Republic felt…side-lined, peripheral to the celebrations. 
 
    He vowed then and there that he would never forgive her. 
 
    The marching bands and troops had fallen silent in their ranks across the great square – a Second War undeveloped bomb site levelled with temporary stands built on three sides in the last year – as Marija took several final, calming breaths. 
 
    It was less than thirty minutes since a young officer on Rear Admiral David Penberthy’s Staff had unobtrusively sidled through the crowds to whisper in her husband’s ear that ‘the Navy has done its duty’, and that the unreal, incredible threat that the infant nation might be still-born in a raging atomic fireball, had, as if by magic, gone away.  Not that, to be truthful, she had been overly distracted by the supposed thermonuclear sword of Damocles hanging over all their heads.  Peter was right, there was nothing they could do about it and ‘the Navy’ was ‘on the job’.  And besides, it would take more than an improbable, possibly fanciful ‘intelligence scare’ to shake her faith in a merciful God. 
 
    The fireworks display reached a long crescendo after some five deafening minutes, with the atmosphere soon tainted with burnt black powder, cordite and the acrid mix of chemicals exploding overhead. 
 
    “Tonight, is the tenth anniversary of the most terrible war in human history,” she declaimed. 
 
    Her quietly-spoken words boomed and echoed around Floriana and possibly, carried the length and breadth of the Valletta isthmus, down into the Grand Harbour and far and wide across Marsamxett, perhaps whispering all the way to her family’s old home on Tower Street, overlooking Sliema Creek where on that night in October 1962, she and her brother had gone down to watch, in shock and disbelief, the ships of the 7th Destroyer Squadron desperately trying to raise steam to escape out to sea. 
 
    Several desultory rockets whooshed skyward. 
 
    The fury of the main display was over; it remained only for a few exuberant souls to launch their own celebratory missiles into the night sky. 
 
    “Goodness me,” Marija said, gentle laughter in her voice, speaking in her native tongue, “haven’t we come a long way in the last ten years?” 
 
    This was to be no stuffy, formulaic speech lauding the historic rights – or not – of the archipelago’s peoples.  There would be time for more pomp and circumstance another day, for the moment, the joyousness of the occasion was not to be subsumed by self-congratulatory hubris, or pompous vain glory.  Well, certainly not on her part. 
 
    She switched back into English, mindful that this occasion was being filmed and her words would be transmitted, hopefully, around the whole English-speaking world, and many, many other places where the language of the former mother land would still be a common lingua-franca. 
 
    “It happened that our independence was delayed but back in October 1962, who among us could have foreseen the struggles to come in a world changed beyond recognition.  Yet, here we are, united as never before in common purpose.  We are our own masters; yet still a full member of a great Commonwealth of freedom-loving nations.  We are free to find our own path; yet we hold dear the values and the affection of the Old Country.  We are independent; yet we are far from friendless.  Now we must dedicate ourselves to the great task of building our nation.  A great friend of mine once told me that the best advice she had ever been given was that: ‘It is not enough to just survive; we owe it to our children and the generations to come to be better than that.’ 
 
    Marija paused. 
 
    “That will be my guiding principle in the years to come.  That and my faith in our merciful God.” 
 
    She glanced sideways to where Joseph Cauchi, the Metropolitan Archbishop of Malta sat, stern-faced less than ten feet away. 
 
    “If I may, she continued, “I will share with you the prayer with which I start every day.” 
 
    The square was suddenly, unnaturally hushed. 
 
    Silent almost, other than for the occasional, distant concussion of a lonely firework. 
 
    “I make no apology for having taken its inspiration from the Prayer of the Order of Saint John.” 
 
    Marija bowed her head, as did her husband and after a brief interregnum the other members of the stage party. 
 
    “Lord Jesus, thou hast seen fit to enlist me for thy service in the Order of Malta.  I humbly entreat Thee, through the intercession of the most Holy Virgin and all the saints, to keep me faithful to the traditions of the Church.  Be it mine to practice and to defend the Catholic, the Apostolic, the true Roman faith against sacrilege. Be it mine to practice charity towards my neighbours, especially the children, and the poor and the sick.  Please give me the strength I need to carry out this my resolve, humbly forgetful of myself, learning ever from the wisdom of Thy Holy Gospel and a spirit of deep and generous Christian devotion; striving ever to promote God’s Glory, the world’s peace, and all that may benefit the people of Malta.” 
 
    All around the square the throng echoed her ‘Amen’. 
 
    As she did whenever she concluded her prayer, Marija genuflected.  Others around her, including her husband, also crossed themselves. 
 
    “We have much to do, my friends,” she went on after some seconds, reaching out her right hand to her side.  Peter stepped forward and took it, squeezing very, very gently.  “My strength is my family; once my family was my mother and father, my aunts and uncles, nieces and nephews, and my brothers.  Then it was my husband and my bambinos.” 
 
    She looked up into Peter’s eyes. 
 
    Drawing strength, she looked away, gazing out into the night. 
 
    “Now my family is the people of Malta; let us go forward in peace, harmony and love!” 
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 Epilogue 
 
      
 
    Saturday 28th October 1972 
 
    ________ 
 
      
 
    02:01 Hours GMT 
 
    HMS Courageous 
 
    23 nautical miles south of Malta 
 
      
 
    The soundwave of the huge explosion reached the submarine moments before the, thankfully, eddying shockwave.  Hydrophone operators ripped off their headsets, and shouted: “BRACE!” 
 
    The four-thousand-ton steel shark juddered and then rocked, pitching slightly bow down as if her trim was suddenly out of kilter, men staggered, grabbed for the nearest handhold or leaned into an adjacent bulkhead.  Other than for a few bruises, nobody was hurt and after about a minute the water column stabilised and the officer of the watch in the control room was able to restore the boat’s fore and aft balance. 
 
    “Neutral bubble, sir,” Sam Troubridge reported to Noel Haggard as he stepped through the compartment’s forward hatch.  He had been conducting an impromptu ‘Captain’s walkabout’, speaking with the boat’s life science’s specialist – the Petty Officer responsible, for among other things, testing air and water quality and maintaining radiological records – when the ‘big bang’ happened. 
 
    “Very good.”  He eyed the depth meter.  Courageous’s keel was riding at two-hundred-and-eighty-eight feet, slowly rising back towards two-hundred-and-seventy-five feet, as per the watch’s last cruising orders.  “Let’s go up and see what we can see.  Periscope depth, if you please.  The boat will come to Attack Stations.” 
 
    These days, the manual specified Alert Level 1 for ‘battle stations’ but Noel Haggard was something of a traditionalist in these things. 
 
    So, ‘Attack Stations’ it was on board his boat. 
 
    “I fell out of my bloody bunk!”  Tim Dunbar-Naismith complained, moving to Haggard’s side at the plot. 
 
    His commanding officer grinned ruefully. 
 
    Not that he had been feeling in a terribly cheerful mood even before the recent…disturbance.  If anything, he was feeling sick to his soul. 
 
    A big bomb had just gone off and it had not been on board the wreck of the K-14, the November class supposedly renegade Red Dawn suicide boat he had torpedoed and sunk, probably with all hands, yesterday. 
 
    It could only have been on board the Balvenie Castle. 
 
    If the Tarlton had been anywhere near the old Liberty Ship, she would be gone also. 
 
    Courageous had been about three miles off the minesweeper’s starboard bow quarter, with the Balvenie Castle about eighteen hundred yards farther away to the north. 
 
    “All qualified personnel are to put on protective equipment and stand ready to go topsides to conduct rescue operations,” Haggard ordered before turning the submarine to bisect the newly plotted detonation position. 
 
    Presently, that plot was otherwise empty.  The shock wave had not seemed that damaging but reports were coming in of minor electrical failures; albeit backups were simultaneously kicking in and circuit breakers were being immediately reset manually. 
 
    Urgent boat-wide checks for increases in humidity, checking for the initial signature of a leak were being conducted, reassuringly coming back negative or in compartments where machinery was operating and the parameters were set to broader sensor ranges, nominal. 
 
    No leaks. 
 
    “We’re re-booting the plot and the torpedo board, sir,” he was told. 
 
    “Sonar,” Haggard rasped, “commence active three-sixty-degree sounding!” 
 
    He waited. 
 
    “One possible surface contact.  Stationary.  Range twenty-one-hundred and closing.  Possibly the Tarlton, sir!” 
 
    Noel Haggard did not allow himself a sigh of relief. 
 
    It hardly bore thinking about what shape a four-hundred-ton coastal minesweeper would be in after surviving a nearby nuclear detonation. 
 
    “Belay rising to periscope depth,” he decided.  “Surface!  Surface!” 
 
    The order was echoed around the control room. 
 
    Air flushed into the boat’s ballast tanks and she started to rise like a giant underwater elevator. 
 
    Pulling on an oxygen mask – the air could easily be radiologically lethal this close to the site of a recent atomic explosion – which he would plug in to the oxygen supply in the sail’s cockpit, he began to scramble up the ladder. 
 
    The night was cold and dark beneath an inky, star-filled sky. 
 
    “Get a search light working!” 
 
    Mercifully, the sea was in a benign mood, the swell merely lapping at the rounded flanks of the submarine as she shouldered towards the scene of the crime. 
 
    “Show some lights down there!”  He bawled at the men he saw emerging onto the forward casing. 
 
    Those men were huddled in ABC – Atomic, Biological, Chemical warfare suits – but their commanding officer had pulled off his mask to bawl at them, before pausing to connect to the clean air supply the other members of the cockpit watch were now plugged into. 
 
    “And get those safety lines secured!” 
 
    The last thing Noel Haggard wanted was one of his own people going into the water; a man would have no chance encumbered with his ABC gear. 
 
    Behind the cockpit the boat’s radar mast had risen. 
 
    “Stationary contact bearing Two-Zero-Five.  Range seven-hundred!” 
 
    Haggard would later remember that as the Courageous cautiously approached the Tarlton – or rather, her smashed, waterlogged hulk – he was thinking that there ought to have been more wreckage in the water.  But there was just an oil slick. 
 
    They reached the sinking minesweeper as her capsized hull sank, stern-first into the depths. 
 
    They searched until dawn when two of the Eagle’s Sea Kings arrived and Courageous received orders to return to Faslane ‘by underwater transit at best speed’. 
 
    There were no survivors. 
 
      
 
    [ THE END ] 
 
    

  

 
   
    Author’s Note 
 
      
 
    Thank you for reading ‘Independence Day’, I hope you enjoyed it.  If not, I am sorry.  In either event, I believe that civilisation needs people like you to keep the written word alive. 
 
    But enough of that! Readers will want me to cut to the chase! 
 
    Independence Day concludes the ten-year narrative arc I had – albeit in the back of my mind - in around 2011 or 2012 when TIMELINE 10/27/62 was simply an idea – or do I mean ‘concept?  Whatever – in my head.  At the time I was thinking ‘series’ not ‘saga’ which only goes to show what can come from a literary itch that eventually, one cannot help but scratch! 
 
    Independence Day does NOT conclude TIMELINE 10/27/62.  Far from it.  In fact, I discounted one possible title for this book ‘Gathered on the Beach’ because I concluded, back in around 2017 when I was planning the War in the South Atlantic books, that taken together, the titles of the 19th and this, the 20th book of the Main Series, Changing the Guard and Gathered on the Beach as opposed to Independence Day, might pre-signal the end of the saga. 
 
    However, after this one – Independence Day – I am taking at least a year off from TIMELINE 10/27/62 main series (for the first time since 2013) which means that Book 21 THE MISSING will not probably not see the light of day until April or perhaps, the autumn of 2024.  I already have it, and the themes of its sequel AMERICA’S CUP in hand.  After that, Book 23 will be titled VOLUNTEERS OF AMERICA and Book 24 GATHERED ON THIS BEACH. 
 
    My next Timeline project will be COUNTDOWN TO WAR, a prequel sub-series which will be published in thirteen monthly instalments starting on 27th October this year. 
 
    So, TIMELINE 10/27/62 continues! 
 
      
 
    James Philip 
 
    England, April 2023 
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